
 

Page 1 of 665 

 

AGENDA 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
MONDAY, FEBRUARY 17, 2020 

7:00 PM AT CITY HALL 

 

 
 
Call to Order by the Mayor 

Roll Call 

Approval of Minutes 

1. Regular Meeting of February 3, 2020. 

Agenda Revisions 

Special Order of Business 

2. Public hearing on the proposed FY2021 Budget for the City of Cedar Falls. 
 
a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published February 5, 2020) 
 
b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Staff presentation. 
 
d) Oral comments. 

3. Resolution approving and adopting the FY2021 Budget for the City of Cedar Falls. 

4. Public hearing on the proposed plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost for the 12th 
Street Reconstruction Project. 
 
a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published February 7, 2020) 
 
b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Staff presentation. 
 
d) Oral comments. 

5. Resolution approving and adopting the plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost for 
the 12th Street Reconstruction Project. 

New Business 

Consent Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by voice vote on a single motion without separate 
discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered separately.) 

6. Receive and file a proclamation recognizing February 14, 2020 as the 19th Amendment Centennial 
Kick-Off Day. 

7. Receive and file a proclamation recognizing February 19, 2020 as Community Main Street Volunteer 
Appreciation Day. 

1



 

Page 2 of 665 

8. Receive and file the Committee of the Whole minutes of February 3, 2020 relative to the following 
items: 
a) FY21 Budget. 
b) Bills & Payroll. 

9. Receive and file the City Council Work Session minutes of February 3, 2020 relative to Northern 
Cedar Falls Drainage Study. 

10. Receive and file the Administration Committee minutes of February 5, 2020 relative to a hearing to 
consider the appeal of an employee grievance denial. 

11. Receive and file a Petition Requesting Special Election to fill a vacancy in the office of Council 
Member At Large. 

12. Receive and file the 2019 Annual Reports of the Planning & Zoning Commission, Board of 
Adjustment, Historic Preservation Commission, Group Rental Committee/Board of Rental Housing 
Appeals, Housing Commission and Bicycle & Pedestrian Advisory Committee. 

13. Approve the following applications for liquor licenses:  
a) College Square Cinema, 6301 University Avenue, Special Class C liquor - renewal. 
b) Chad's Pizza and Restaurant, 909 West 23rd Street, Class C liquor & outdoor service - renewal. 
c) Panther Lounge, 210 East 18th Street, Class C liquor - renewal. 
d) Hy-Vee Tasting Room, 6301 University Avenue, Special Class C liquor - change in ownership. 

Resolution Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by roll call vote on a single motion without 
separate discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered 
separately.) 

14. Resolution calling for a Special Election to fill the vacancy for the office of City Council At Large. 

15. Resolution approving and adopting the FY2021 City Council Goals & Objectives. 

16. Resolution levying a final assessment for costs incurred by the City to clean up the property located 
at 1704 Parker Street. 

17. Resolution levying a final assessment for costs incurred by the City to clean up the property located 
at 804-804 1/2 Seerley Boulevard. 

18. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Consolidated Public Safety Communications 
28E Agreement with participating government agencies in Black Hawk County relative to providing 
consolidated dispatch and communications services. 

19. Resolution approving six occupancy permits prior to the acceptance of public improvements in 
Prairie Winds 4th Addition, as recommended by city staff. 

20. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement with River Place Properties, LC 
relative to conveyance of certain real estate back to the City. 

21. Resolution approving a Claim for Non-Residential Relocation Assistance Reimbursement, in 
conjunction with the West 1st Street Reconstruction Project. 

22. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Storm Water Maintenance and Repair 
Agreement with The Cedar Falls Gospel Hall Association relative to a post-construction storm water 
management plan for Lot 367 in S.A. Bishop's Replat of a part of Pacific Addition. 

23. Resolution approving and accepting the contract and bond of K. Cunningham Construction 
Company, Inc., relative to the Downtown Streetscape and Reconstruction Project. 

24. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Professional Service Agreement with Terracon 
Consultants, Inc. to complete an Iowa DNR Tier 1 Report, in conjunction with the West 1st Street 
Reconstruction Project. 

2



 

Page 3 of 665 

25. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of Supplemental Agreement No. 1 to the 
Professional Service Agreement with Terracon Consultants, Inc. for an extension of the 2019 
Construction Testing Services through the 2021 construction season. 

26. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Professional Service Agreement with Foth 
Infrastructure & Environment, LLC relative to the 2020 Bridge Inspection Project. 

27. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Professional Service Agreement with Foth 
Infrastructure & Environment, LLC relative to the West 27th Street Corridor Study-Hudson Road to 
Union Road. 

28. Resolution receiving and filing, and setting March 2, 2020 as the date of public hearing on, the 
proposed plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost for the 2020 Permeable Alley 
Project. 

29. Resolution receiving and filing, and setting March 2, 2020 as the date of public hearing on, the 
proposed plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost for the 2020 Street Construction 
Project. 

Allow Bills and Payroll 

30. Allow Bills and Payroll of February 17, 2020. 

City Council Referrals 

City Council Updates 

Staff Updates 

Public Forum. (Speakers will have one opportunity to speak for up to 5 minutes on topics germane to City 

business.) 

Adjournment 

  

3



CITY HALL 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, FEBRUARY 3, 2020 

REGULAR MEETING, CITY COUNCIL 
MAYOR ROBERT M. GREEN PRESIDING 

  
The City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, met in Regular Session, 
pursuant to law, the rules of said Council and prior notice given each member 
thereof, in the City Hall at Cedar Falls, Iowa, at 7:00 P.M. on the above date. 
Members present: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires, Taiber. Absent: 
None. 

 
52658 - It was moved by Darrah and seconded by Kruse that the minutes of the Regular 

Meeting of January 20, 2020 be approved as presented and ordered of record. 
Motion carried unanimously. 

 
52659 - City Clerk Danielsen announced that Item 12 on the Resolution Calendar was 

being removed. 
 
52660 - Mayor Green announced that in accordance with the public notice of January 22, 

2020, this was the time and place for a public hearing on the proposed maximum 
levy for affected property tax levies for FY2021. It was then moved by Miller and 
seconded by Darrah that the proof of publication of notice of hearing be received 
and placed on file. Motion carried unanimously. 

 
52661 - The Mayor then asked if there were any written communications filed to the 

proposed levy. Upon being advised that there were no written communications 
on file, the Mayor then called for oral comments. Finance and Business 
Operations Director Rodenbeck provided comments and a brief explanation of 
the proposed levy. There being no one else present wishing to speak about the 
proposed levy, the Mayor declared the hearing closed and passed to the next 
order of business. 

 
52662 -    It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding that Resolution #21,864, 

approving and adopting the maximum property tax dollars for affected property 
tax levies for FY2021, be adopted. Following due consideration by the Council, 
the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following 
named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Darrah, 
Sires, Taiber. Nay: None. Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution 
#21,864 duly passed and adopted. 

 
52663 - It was moved by Taiber and seconded by Darrah that Ordinance #2961, 

amending Section 26-118 of the Code of Ordinances by removing property 
located at 4911 University Avenue from the R-1, Residence District, and placing 
the same in the C-1, Commercial District, pursuant to provisions of a conditional 
zoning agreement, be passed upon its third and final consideration. Following 
due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the motion and 
upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, 
deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires, Taiber. Nay: None. Motion carried. The 
Mayor then declared Ordinance #2961 duly passed and adopted. 

 

4

ITEM 1.



 
 

 

- 2 - 

 

52664 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding that Ordinance #2962, 
amending Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicles, of the Code of Ordinances 
relative to establishing parking regulations, in conjunction with the 
implementation of recommendations from the Downtown and College Hill parking 
studies, be passed upon its third and final consideration. Following due 
consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon 
call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, 
Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires, Taiber. Nay: None. Motion carried. The Mayor 
then declared Ordinance #2962 duly passed and adopted. 

 
52665 - It was moved by Miller and seconded by Kruse that the following items and 

recommendations on the Consent Calendar be received, filed and approved: 
 

Receive and file the report of the Mayor relative to the appointment of the 
Administration, Public Works and Community Relations and Planning 
Committees. 
 
Receive and file the City Council Work Session minutes of January 20, 2020 
relative to the College Hill Visioning Plan. 
 
Receive and file the Committee of the Whole minutes of January 20, 2020 
relative to the following items: 
a) Role of INRCOG.  
b) Pavement Management.  
c) Washington Street Reconstruction Update.  
d) Bills & Payroll. 
 
Receive and file Departmental Monthly Reports of December 2019. 

 
Approve the following applications for beer permits and liquor licenses:  
a) Hy-Vee Gas, 6527 University Avenue, Class C beer - renewal.  
b) AmericInn Lodge and Suites, 5818 Nordic Drive, Class B beer - renewal.  
c) Panchero's Mexican Grill, 6421 University Avenue, Class B beer - renewal.  
d) Second State Brewing Company, 203 State Street, Class B beer & outdoor 

service - renewal.  
e) Cottonwood Canyon, 419 Washington Street, Special Class C liquor & outdoor 

service - renewal.  
f) Hy-Vee Tasting Room, 6301 University Avenue, Special Class C liquor - 

renewal.  
g) Hillstreet News & Tobacco, 2217 College Street, Class E liquor - renewal.  
h) Famous Dave's, 6222 University Avenue, Class C liquor - change in 

ownership.  
i) Hy-Vee Market Grille, 6301 University Avenue, Class C liquor - change in 

ownership.  
j) Jenica, LLC d/b/a/ Purse-N-Ality, 408 Main Street, Class B native wine - new. 

 
Motion carried unanimously. 

 
52666 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Miller that the following resolutions be 

introduced and adopted: 

5

ITEM 1.



 
 

 

- 3 - 

 

 
Resolution #21,865, approving and authorizing execution of the renewal of an 
Advertising Agreement with Lee Enterprises, Incorporated, d/b/a Courier 
Communications, relative to recruitment advertising. 

 
Resolution #21,866, approving and authorizing execution of three Owner 
Purchase Agreements, and approving and accepting three Temporary 
Construction Easements, in conjunction with the Oak Park Sanitary Sewer 
Repair Project. 
 
Resolution #21,867, approving the Certificate of Completion and accepting the 
work of Feldman Concrete for the 2019 Sidewalk Assessment Project, Zone 2. 
 
Resolution #21,868, approving the Final Statement of Expenditures for the 2019 
Sidewalk Assessment Project, Zone 2. 
 
Resolution #21,869, approving and authorizing execution of a Storm Water 
Maintenance and Repair Agreement with BJW Holdings, LLC relative to a post-
construction stormwater management plan for Park Ridge Estates Subdivision. 
 
Resolution #21,870, approving and accepting completion of public improvements 
in Park Ridge Estates Subdivision. 
 
Resolution #21,871, approving and adopting Project Priorities for the College Hill 
Visioning & Zoning Code Update. 
 
Resolution #21,872, setting February 17, 2020 as the date of public hearing on 
the proposed FY21 Budget for the City of Cedar Falls. 
 
Resolution #21,873, receiving and filing, and setting February 17, 2020 as the 
date of public hearing on, the proposed plans, specifications, form of contract & 
estimate of cost for the 12th Street Reconstruction Project. 
 
Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires, Taiber. Nay: None. Motion 
carried. The Mayor then declared Resolutions #21,865 through #21,873 duly 
passed and adopted. 

 
52667 - It was moved by Miller and seconded by Kruse that Resolution #21,874, 

receiving and filing the bids, and approving and accepting the low bid of K. 
Cunningham Construction Company, Inc., in the amount of $2,219,154.80, for 
the Downtown Streetscape and Reconstruction Project, be adopted. Following a 
question by Councilmember Taiber and response by Public Works Director 
Schrage, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the 
following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, 
Darrah, Sires, Taiber. Nay: None. Motion carried. The Mayor then declared 
Resolution #21,874 duly passed and adopted. 

 
52668 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by deBuhr that the bills and payroll of 

6

ITEM 1.



 
 

 

- 4 - 

 

February 3, 2020 be allowed as presented, and that the Controller/City Treasurer 
be authorized to issue City checks in the proper amounts and on the proper 
funds in payment of the same. Upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires, 
Taiber. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

 
52669 -    Mayor Green responded to a request by Councilmember Miller to avoid 

scheduling future City Council meetings on Caucus nights. 
 
      It was moved by Taiber and seconded by Darrah to refer to the Committee of the 

Whole the maintenance of certain trails in the winter. Following questions by 
Councilmembers Kruse and Miller, and response by City Administrator Gaines, 
the motion carried unanimously. 

 
      It was then moved by deBuhr and seconded by Sires to refer to the Committee of 

the Whole the issue of competing events during the Sturgis Falls Celebration. 
The motion carried unanimously.  

 
   Public Safety Services Director Olson responded to comments by 

Councilmember Darrah regarding safety concerns in school drop-off zones. 
 
52670 -    Councilmember Taiber and Mayor Green announced an upcoming City Council 

Work Session on February 17, 2020 to provide an update on the Public Safety 
model. 

 
52671 -    Public Safety Services Director Olson commented on voluntary registration of 

private cameras for assisting police in solving neighborhood crimes, and 
explained how individuals can register their cameras if they wish to participate.   

 
52672 -    Sturgis Falls Celebration President Jay Stoddard, 228 Maryhill Drive, commented 

on the earlier referral by City Council to discuss competing events during the 
Sturgis Falls Celebration.  

 
52673 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Miller that the meeting be adjourned at 

7:23 P.M.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
     _________________________________ 

  Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

7

ITEM 1.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 

 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

220 CLAY STREET 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 

319-273-8600 

FAX 319-268-5126 
     I N T E R O F F I C E   M E M O R A N D U M 

 

 TO: Mayor Green and City Council Members 

 FROM: Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & Business Operations 

 DATE: February 11, 2020 

 SUBJECT: FY2021 Budget 

 
Attached are the state budget forms for the FY21 budget.  This sets the $11.43 rate 
that was presented at the Committee of the Whole meeting on February 3rd and the 
maximum budget amount of $86,755,350 that the hearing was set for.  This hearing is 
the second hearing as required by the new state requirements.  This hearing actually 
approves the FY21 budget.  The budget, as proposed will cause a 1.00% increase on 
residential properties, a 4.38% increase on commercial & industrial properties, and a 
.84% decrease on multi-residential properties.  
 
The complete budget document was included in the committee packet for the February 
3rd council meeting and therefore is not included again in this packet.  Once the budget 
is formally approved, new books will be printed and published on our website.   
 
If you have any questions about the budget or the budget process, please feel free to 
contact me.  
 
 
 

8

ITEM 2.



9

ITEM 2.



10

ITEM 2.



11

ITEM 2.



12

ITEM 2.



13

ITEM 2.



14

ITEM 2.



15

ITEM 2.



16

ITEM 2.



17

ITEM 2.



18

ITEM 2.



19

ITEM 2.



20

ITEM 2.



21

ITEM 2.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Jon Fitch, PE, Principal Engineer 
 
 DATE: February 12, 2020 
 
 SUBJECT: 12th Street Reconstruction Project 
  Project No. RC-059-3196 
  Public Hearing 
 
This project involves the removal and replacement of 12th St from College St to Tremont 
St as well as Walnut St from 11th St to 12th St. Walnut St is being lowered to improve 
sight distance to the 12th St intersection.  In addition to full street reconstruction, the 
project will look to improve storm sewer and water main infrastructure.  The intersection 
when completed will become a 4-way stop.  
 

The total estimated cost for the construction of this project is $1,160,000.00. The project 
will be funded by Local Option Sales Tax, Street Construction Fund and Cedar Falls 
Utilities funding sources.  
 

The Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of Costs and Quantities are available for your 
review at the City Clerk's office or the Engineering Division of the Public Works 
Department. 
 
 
 
xc: David Wicke, City Engineer 
 Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 

22

ITEM 4.



ITEM 
#

DESCRIPTION UNIT QUANTITY UNIT PRICE
EXTENDED 

PRICE

1 Clearing and Grubbing UNIT 486 40.00$          19,440.00$        
2 Topsoil, On-site CY 517 12.00$          6,204.00$          
3 Excavation, Class 10 CY 3569 10.00$          35,690.00$        
4 Excavation, Class 12 CY 50 30.00$          1,500.00$          
5 Excavation, Class 10, Unsuitable or Unstable CY 362.4 15.00$          5,436.00$          
6 Subgrade Preparation SY 7247.5 2.00$            14,495.00$        
7 Subgrade Treatment, Geogrid, Type 2 SY 362.4 5.00$            1,812.00$          
8 Subbase, Modified, 12" SY 7247.5 11.00$          79,722.50$        
9 Compaction Testing LS 1 2,500.00$     2,500.00$          

10 Trench Compaction Testing LS 1 1,000.00$     1,000.00$          
11 Storm Sewer, Trenched,  RCP, 15" LF 394 50.00$          19,700.00$        
12 Storm Sewer, Trenched,  RCP, 18" LF 155 55.00$          8,525.00$          
13 Storm Sewer, Trenched,  RCAP, Eq. Dia. 24" LF 139 120.00$        16,680.00$        
14 Storm Sewer, Trenched,  PVC, 15" LF 200 65.00$          13,000.00$        
15 Removal of Storm Sewer, All Types and Sizes LF 388 20.00$          7,760.00$          
16 Subdrain, Type 1, HDPE, 6" LF 2056 11.50$          23,644.00$        
17 Subdrain Cleanout, Type A-2, 6" EA 13 500.00$        6,500.00$          
18 Subdrain Outlets and Connections, CMP, 6" EA 7 250.00$        1,750.00$          
19 Storm Sewer Service Stub, PVC, 4" LF 142 50.00$          7,100.00$          
20 Water Main, Trenched,  DIP, 4" (w/ Nitrile Gaskets) LF 12 70.00$          840.00$             
21 Water Main, Trenched,  DIP, 6" (w/ Nitrile Gaskets) LF 61 62.50$          3,812.50$          
22 Water Main, Trenched,  DIP, 8" (w/ Nitrile Gaskets) LF 356 67.50$          24,030.00$        
23 Water Main, Trenched,  DIP, 10" (w/ Nitrile Gaskets) LF 6 75.00$          450.00$             
24 Water Main, Trenched,  DIP, 12" (w/ Nitrile Gaskets) LF 310 85.00$          26,350.00$        
25 Fitting, DIP, 4" MJ Cap EA 4 150.00$        600.00$             
26 Fitting, DIP, 6" MJ Cap EA 8 175.00$        1,400.00$          
27 Fitting, DIP, 10" MJ Cap EA 1 200.00$        200.00$             
28 Fitting, DIP, 12" MJ Cap EA 4 225.00$        900.00$             
29 Fitting, DIP, 4" MJ 90° Bend EA 3 250.00$        750.00$             
30 Fitting, DIP, 6" MJ 90° Bend EA 1 300.00$        300.00$             
31 Fitting, DIP, 10" MJ 90° Bend EA 2 375.00$        750.00$             
32 Fitting, DIP, 12" MJ 45° Bend EA 4 400.00$        1,600.00$          
33 Fitting, DIP, 2"x1.5" MJ Reducer EA 1 250.00$        250.00$             
34 Fitting, DIP, 6"x2" MJ Reducer EA 1 325.00$        325.00$             
35 Fitting, DIP, 6"x4" MJ Reducer EA 2 350.00$        700.00$             
36 Fitting, DIP, 10"x8" MJ Reducer EA 1 1,000.00$     1,000.00$          
37 Fitting, DIP, 12"x6" MJ Tee EA 3 1,000.00$     3,000.00$          
38 Water Service Stub, Copper, 3/4" (Short Side) EA 9 1,500.00$     13,500.00$        
39 Water Service Stub, Copper, 3/4" (Long Side) EA 12 1,850.00$     22,200.00$        
40 Water Service Stub, Copper, 1" (Short Side) EA 1 1,600.00$     1,600.00$          
41 Water Service Stub, Copper, 1.5" (Long Side) EA 1 2,500.00$     2,500.00$          
42 Valve, Gate, 6" EA 1 1,900.00$     1,900.00$          
43 Valve, Gate, 8" EA 1 2,100.00$     2,100.00$          
44 Valve, Gate, 12" EA 2 2,500.00$     5,000.00$          
45 Tapping Valve Assembly, 12"X6" EA 1 4,000.00$     4,000.00$          
46 Tapping Valve Assembly, 12"X8" EA 1 4,500.00$     4,500.00$          
47 Fire Hydrant Assembly EA 2 5,000.00$     10,000.00$        
48 Flushing Device (Blowoff), 10" EA 2 4,000.00$     8,000.00$          
49 Fire Hydrant Adjustment EA 1 2,500.00$     2,500.00$          
50 Fire Hydrant Assembly Removal EA 1 1,250.00$     1,250.00$          
51 Valve Removal EA 1 250.00$        250.00$             
52 Air Release Valve EA 1 5,000.00$     5,000.00$          
53 Intake, SW-505 EA 9 5,500.00$     49,500.00$        
54 Intake, SW-506 EA 2 7,500.00$     15,000.00$        
55 Manhole Adjustment, Minor EA 3 500.00$        1,500.00$          

OPINION OF PROBABLE PROJECT COSTS
12TH STREET RECONSTRUCTION

FROM COLLEGE STREET TO TREMONT STREET
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA

RC-059-3196

V:\Projects\2018\118.1174.08\Projects\12thSt_Recon\Design\EOPC_12thSt.xls
January 28, 2020

Page 1 of 2

23

ITEM 4.



ITEM 
#

DESCRIPTION UNIT QUANTITY UNIT PRICE
EXTENDED 

PRICE

OPINION OF PROBABLE PROJECT COSTS
12TH STREET RECONSTRUCTION

FROM COLLEGE STREET TO TREMONT STREET
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA

RC-059-3196

56 Manhole Adjustment, Major EA 1 1,000.00$     1,000.00$          
57 Remove Intake EA 4 500.00$        2,000.00$          
58 Pavement, PCC, 8" SY 6539 48.00$          313,872.00$      
59 Removal of Sidewalk SY 370.3 7.50$            2,777.25$          
60 Removal of Driveway SY 378.8 5.00$            1,894.00$          
61 Sidewalk, PCC, 4" SY 106.9 45.00$          4,810.50$          
62 Sidewalk, PCC, 6" SY 114 55.00$          6,270.00$          
63 Detectable Warning, Cast Iron SF 160 50.00$          8,000.00$          
64 Driveway, Paved, PCC, 6" SY 416.9 50.00$          20,845.00$        
65 Driveway, Granular TON 26.9 27.50$          739.75$             
66 Pavement Removal SY 6566.1 7.50$            49,245.75$        
67 Painted Pavement Markings, Waterborne or Solvent-based STA 13.11 150.00$        1,966.50$          
68 Painted Symbols and Legends, Waterborne or Solvent-based EA 8 250.00$        2,000.00$          
69 Temporary Traffic Control LS 1 20,000.00$   20,000.00$        
70 Sign Panels SF 78.25 20.00$          1,565.00$          
71 Sign Posts LF 140 12.50$          1,750.00$          
72 Hydraulic Seeding, Seeding, Fertilizing, and Mulching AC 0.6 4,000.00$     2,400.00$          
73 Sod SQ 260 75.00$          19,500.00$        
74 Filter Socks, 8" LF 3250 3.50$            11,375.00$        
75 Filter Socks, Removal LF 3250 1.50$            4,875.00$          
76 Combined Concrete Sidewalk and Retaining Wall CY 94.7 1,100.00$     104,170.00$      
77 Concrete Steps, Type B SF 159 100.00$        15,900.00$        
78 Handrail, Aluminum LF 62 100.00$        6,200.00$          
79 Mobilization LS 1 60,000.00$   60,000.00$        
80 Maintenance of Postal Service LS 1 1,500.00$     1,500.00$          
81 Maintenance of Solid Waste Collection LS 1 1,500.00$     1,500.00$          
82 Concrete Washout LS 1 2,500.00$     2,500.00$         

Subtotal: 1,158,671.75$   

CONSTRUCTION TOTAL: 1,160,000.00$   

V:\Projects\2018\118.1174.08\Projects\12thSt_Recon\Design\EOPC_12thSt.xls
January 28, 2020

Page 2 of 2

24

ITEM 4.



25

ITEM 6.



26

ITEM 7.



COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE 
City Hall – Council Chambers  

February 3, 2020 
 

The Committee of the Whole met in the Council Chambers at 6:00 p.m. on February 3, 
2020, with the following Committee persons in attendance:  Mayor Robert M. Green, 
Frank Darrah, Susan deBuhr, Simon Harding, Daryl Kruse, Mark Miller, and Dave Sires. 
Staff members attended from all City Departments as well as members of the 
community. 

Mayor Green called the meeting to order and introduced the first item on the agenda, 
FY2021 Budget.  Jennifer Rodenbeck Director of Finance and Business Operations 
reviewed the budget process and the steps leading up tonight.  She explained new 
legislation was passed in 2019 (SF634) requiring an additional hearing and a resolution 
establishing the maximum property tax levy dollars, it also extended the deadline to 
March 31 rather than March 15. She reviewed the property valuations and stated 
assessed valuations increased $153 million from last year.  She stated for the FY2021 
budget staff is proposing the property tax rate of $11.43, which is up from $10.95.   She 
said residential properties will see a 1% increase, commercial/industrial properties will 
see a 4.38% increase and multi-residential properties will see a .84% decrease.  Ms. 
Rodenbeck stated the new step of the maximum levy doesn’t show the whole picture of 
the budget, since it doesn’t include all the levies.  She continued with the review of other 
budget factors, including salary increase, benefits, and viewed department staffing. She 
also reviewed outside agency funding and stated the requested 2.75% increase to MET 
was included in the FY2021 budget.  Ms. Rodenbeck explained the Maximum Levy 
Public Hearing will be held tonight February 3, the Public Hearing for the FY2021 
Budget will be held on February 17 and we must certify the budget to Black Hawk 
County by March 31st.   

There being no discussion, Mayor Green moved to the final item on the agenda, bills 
and payroll. Daryl Kruse moved to approve the bills and payroll as presented, and Frank 
Darrah seconded the motion.  The motion carried unanimously.  

There being no further discussion, Daryl Kruse motioned to adjourn, and Simon Haring 
seconded the motion.  Mayor Green adjourned the meeting at 6:25 p.m.  

Minutes by Lisa Roeding, Controller/City Treasurer 

27

ITEM 8.



CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION 
Cedar Falls Duke Young Conference Room  

February 3, 2020 
 

The City Council held a special work session in the Duke Young Conference room at 
5:00 p.m. on February 3, 2020, with the following persons in attendance:  Mayor Robert 
M. Green, Frank Darrah, Susan deBuhr, Simon Harding, Daryl Kruse, Mark Miller, and 
Dave Sires. Staff members attended from all City Departments, as well as members of 
the community.  

Mayor Green introduced the only item on the agenda, Northern Cedar Falls Drainage 
Study.  Chase Schrage Director of Public Works stated tonight we will review the 
Northern Cedar Falls Drainage Study completed by Snyder and Associates.  David 
Wicke City Engineer stated the situation in 2019 was from the rain, snow melt and the 
frozen ground not allowing the proper drainage. It was stated that the history of events 
in the area has been that a significant event like 2019 has only happened a few times 
that has caused damage to property.  He reviewed a map of the drainage area of 1.03 
square miles and presented 4 options that were developed by Snyder and Associates. 
Snyder was contracted to complete the drainage study and offer suggested methods to 
help mitigate the frequency of events that take place in the area. It was noted that prior 
to the area being developed and houses built dating back to the late1950’s and early 
1960’s that the natural path was an overland flow through what is now the developed 
residential neighborhood.  

Summations of the four options discussed were as follows: 

Option 1 discussed extending a storm sewer from the existing sewer on Lone 
Tree Road up to the northern end of Cypress Avenue via Center Street to Rosewood 
Drive. The cost for this option is estimated at $700,000. 

Option 2 would be the installation of a detention basin to be located in the 40 
acre farm field just west of the neighborhood. The detention basin would be sized for a 
100 year storm event to capture runoff of the most impacted 139 acres in the drainage 
basin. Currently, there exists a low lying area of the farm field where storm water 
naturally ponds after an event.  This option is currently identified in the CIP as an unmet 
need and is estimated to cost $2,500,000. 

Option 3 discussed a larger regional detention basin, sized for a 100 year event 
to capture run off for the entire 1.03 square miles drainage basin. The cost associated 
with installing Option 3 is $8,300,000. 

Both Options 2 and 3 would incorporate the storm sewer extension as discussed in 
Option 1 tying into the Lone Tree Storm Sewer. 

Option 4 reviewed to potential to buy out properties located along the flow path 
reestablishing the natural drainage way. This option is estimated at $3,100,000. 

After options were discussed, Mayor Green opened it up for public comment. A couple 
of citizens who lived in the neighborhood and was impacted by the local flooding in the 
Spring of 2019 stated that in past events when the field would pond  due to similar 
conditions that field owner/tenant would drill holes through the ice and frost layers in the 

28

ITEM 9.



field allowing water to naturally drain through the soil. Staff indicated that this would 
have to be negotiated between the neighborhood, field property owners and the field 
tenant.  

Another suggestion brought up by council included establishing an earthen berm along 
the farm field’s east property line. Staff indicated that this would not mitigate the 
potential hazard but likely redirect flow and impact the neighborhood south of the field. 

There was discussion amongst Council members reminding them that this is a private 
property drainage issue and would best be mitigated through development. 

Council consensus was to not move forward with any of the presented options by City 
staff, but to review the potential of a City incentivized (residential TIF) development of 
the 40acre parcel owned by Rebecca Huisman.  The council gave staff direction to 
review the ability to develop the area and provide City infrastructure in accordance with 
City Ordinances. Staff will return to a future committee meeting to present possible 
phasing options to install City infrastructure that will promote development in the area.   

There being no further discussion, Frank Darrah motioned to adjourn the work session, 
Daryl Kruse seconded the motion, and the motion carried unanimously. Mayor Green 
adjourned the meeting at 5:52 p.m.  

 

Minutes by Lisa Roeding, Controller/City Treasurer 

29

ITEM 9.



ADMINISTRATION COMMITTEE 
City Hall – Duke Young Conference Room  

February 5, 2020 
 

The Administration Committee met in the Duke Young Conference Room of City Hall at 
4:00 p.m. on February 5, 2020, with the following Committee members in attendance: 
Susan deBuhr (Chair), Mark Miller, Frank Darrah, Nick Taiber, Dave Sires and Simon 
Harding.  Mayor Green, Directors Rodenbeck, Schrage and Olson, and City Attorney 
Rogers were also in attendance, along with City management representative Attorney 
Mike Galloway, Firefighter Scott Dix and other members of the public. 
 
Chair deBuhr called the meeting to order and introduced the hearing to consider the 
appeal of an employee grievance denial. Mr. Dix requested in advance that the hearing 
be conducted in open session and reiterated that position at the beginning of the 
hearing. Attorney Rogers advised the Committee of their role at the hearing as outlined 
in Personnel Policy 903: Grievance Procedure. Chairperson deBuhr began the hearing 
by asking Mr. Dix to explain the grievance.  Mr. Dix began by offering into evidence an 
audio recording of the Step 3 Grievance Panel Hearing, and a document requesting an 
investigation of former Mayor Brown. Both requests were rejected due to timeliness of 
the submission (deadline of noon on February 4, 2020) and relevance to the current 
hearing. Mr. Dix was sworn in and then requested the recusal of Chair deBuhr due to 
perceived personal bias. Chair deBuhr disputed any bias and declined the request to be 
recused. 
 
Mr. Dix proceeded to respond to each of the complaints referenced in the five-page 
Employee Disciplinary Report, which was entered into evidence as Exhibit 1 along with 
eleven other pages containing documents from previous steps of the grievance 
procedure. The Employee Disciplinary Report listed seven instances of conduct by Mr. 
Dix toward other employees that were determined by city management to be violations 
of City Personnel Policies. Mr. Dix alleged throughout the hearing that the investigation 
was not timely because complaints against him dated back to June of 2019, yet no 
action or notification of the complaints were provided to him or fire management until 
September 2019, and that public safety officers assigned to fire shifts who filed 
complaints failed to follow the chain of command and should have been instructed to 
report any incidents to their immediate fire supervisor. Attorney Galloway objected to 
Mr. Dix’s allegation of improper reporting of harassment and timeliness of the 
investigation, and stated that management is required by law to investigate complaints 
of harassment and that City policy directs a victim of harassment to their supervisor, 
manager, director or city manager, and that it is common for investigators to look back 
prior to the reported incidents. Committee members asked various questions for 
clarification throughout Mr. Dix’s testimony. Mr. Dix also alleged that he was being 
singled out and retaliated against because of his request for an investigation of former 
Mayor Brown and his concerns expressed about the public safety officer model. The 
committee rejected these claims as speculative and irrelevant to the present hearing. 
 

30

ITEM 10.



Chair deBuhr announced a short break at 6:10 p.m. and reconvened the meeting at 
6:15 p.m. 
 
Public Safety Director Olson explained the process that led to the disciplinary action. 
Olson stated that he first became aware of an issue on August 9, 2019, when an 
employee came to him and reported that Mr. Dix was creating a harassing and hostile 
work environment. A formal investigation began shortly thereafter and revealed that 
eight employees reported incidents of harassing behavior, intimidation and hostile work 
environment by Mr. Dix, much of which occurred while Dix was in an acting supervisory 
role. Mr. Dix was provided with notice of the investigation on September 10, 2019. 
Olson noted that although the complaints were made by public safety officers, Dix’s 
supervisor and another firefighter that was interviewed indicated that Mr. Dix’s 
demeanor could be harassing and intimidating at times. Olson also indicated that Mr. 
Dix was talked to in the past about his behavior. The investigation revealed a number of 
instances of conduct by Dix towards other employees, which in the judgment of Olson 
and other management personnel, violated City Personnel policies and warranted a 
written warning. Olson stated that he, Fire Chief Bostwick, Battalion Chief Stensland, 
Mr. Dix and Firefighter Siems met for 2 ½ hours to serve the disciplinary report to Mr. 
Dix and discuss needed improvements by Mr. Dix. Committee members asked various 
questions for clarification throughout Director Olson’s testimony. 
 
Mr. Dix provided rebuttal that focused on lack of timeliness, lack of specificity and failure 
of witnesses to take complaints of harassment and intimidation directly to him or his 
immediate supervisor. Mr. Dix also expressed his belief that he was being treated 
differently because of who he is and that the investigation was a witch hunt to build a 
case against him. 
 
It was moved by Taiber and seconded by Darrah to adjourn to closed session for 
deliberation by the Committee. Motion carried unanimously. The Committee adjourned 
to closed session for deliberation at 6:55 p.m. 
 
Chair deBuhr reconvened to open session at 7:43 p.m. 
 
Following procedural instructions by Chair deBuhr, it was moved by Miller and 
seconded by Taiber to deny the grievance. Motion carried 5-1, with Sires voting nay. 
 
It was then moved by Taiber and seconded by Darrah to direct City Attorney Rogers to 
draft the decision. Motion carried unanimously. City Attorney Rogers indicated that a 
formal written decision would be forthcoming within 7 days. 
 
It was moved by Darrah and seconded by Miller that the meeting be adjourned at 7:45 
p.m. Motion carried unanimously.   
 
Minutes by Jacqueline Danielsen, City Clerk 

31

ITEM 10.



32

ITEM 11.



33

ITEM 11.



34

ITEM 11.



35

ITEM 11.



36

ITEM 11.



37

ITEM 11.



38

ITEM 11.



39

ITEM 11.



40

ITEM 11.



41

ITEM 11.



42

ITEM 11.



43

ITEM 11.



44

ITEM 11.



45

ITEM 11.



46

ITEM 11.



47

ITEM 11.



48

ITEM 11.



49

ITEM 11.



50

ITEM 11.



51

ITEM 11.



52

ITEM 11.



53

ITEM 11.



54

ITEM 11.



55

ITEM 11.



56

ITEM 11.



57

ITEM 11.



58

ITEM 11.



59

ITEM 11.



60

ITEM 11.



61

ITEM 11.



62

ITEM 11.



63

ITEM 11.



64

ITEM 11.



65

ITEM 11.



66

ITEM 11.



67

ITEM 11.



68

ITEM 11.



69

ITEM 11.



70

ITEM 11.



71

ITEM 11.



72

ITEM 11.



73

ITEM 11.



74

ITEM 11.



75

ITEM 11.



76

ITEM 11.



77

ITEM 11.



78

ITEM 11.



79

ITEM 11.



80

ITEM 11.



81

ITEM 11.



82

ITEM 11.



83

ITEM 11.



84

ITEM 11.



85

ITEM 11.



86

ITEM 11.



87

ITEM 11.



88

ITEM 11.



89

ITEM 11.



90

ITEM 11.



91

ITEM 11.



92

ITEM 11.



93

ITEM 11.



94

ITEM 11.



95

ITEM 11.



96

ITEM 11.



97

ITEM 11.



98

ITEM 11.



99

ITEM 11.



100

ITEM 11.



101

ITEM 11.



102

ITEM 11.



103

ITEM 11.



104

ITEM 11.



105

ITEM 11.



106

ITEM 11.



107

ITEM 11.



108

ITEM 11.



109

ITEM 11.



110

ITEM 11.



111

ITEM 11.



112

ITEM 11.



113

ITEM 11.



114

ITEM 11.



115

ITEM 11.



116

ITEM 11.



117

ITEM 11.



118

ITEM 11.



119

ITEM 11.



120

ITEM 11.



121

ITEM 11.



122

ITEM 11.



123

ITEM 11.



124

ITEM 11.



125

ITEM 11.



126

ITEM 11.



127

ITEM 11.



128

ITEM 11.



129

ITEM 11.



130

ITEM 11.



131

ITEM 11.



132

ITEM 11.



133

ITEM 11.



134

ITEM 11.



135

ITEM 11.



136

ITEM 11.



137

ITEM 11.



138

ITEM 11.



139

ITEM 11.



140

ITEM 11.



141

ITEM 11.



142

ITEM 11.



143

ITEM 11.



144

ITEM 11.



145

ITEM 11.



146

ITEM 11.



147

ITEM 11.



148

ITEM 11.



149

ITEM 11.



150

ITEM 11.



151

ITEM 11.



152

ITEM 11.



153

ITEM 11.



154

ITEM 11.



155

ITEM 11.



156

ITEM 11.



157

ITEM 11.



158

ITEM 11.



159

ITEM 11.



160

ITEM 11.



161

ITEM 11.



162

ITEM 11.



163

ITEM 11.



164

ITEM 11.



165

ITEM 11.



166

ITEM 12.



167

ITEM 12.



168

ITEM 12.



169

ITEM 12.



170

ITEM 12.



171

ITEM 12.



172

ITEM 12.



173

ITEM 12.



174

ITEM 12.



175

ITEM 12.



176

ITEM 12.



177

ITEM 12.



178

ITEM 12.



179

ITEM 12.



180

ITEM 12.



181

ITEM 12.



182

ITEM 12.



183

ITEM 12.



184

ITEM 12.



185

ITEM 12.



186

ITEM 12.



187

ITEM 12.



188

ITEM 12.



189

ITEM 12.



190

ITEM 12.



191

ITEM 12.



192

ITEM 12.



193

ITEM 12.



   DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY SERVICES 

  POLICE OPERATIONS 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 

  4600 SOUTH MAIN STREET 
  CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 

  319-273-8612 
 

MEMORANDUM 

To:  Mayor Green and City Councilmembers 

From:  Jeff Olson, Public Safety Services Director 

Craig Berte, Assistant Police Chief 

Date:  February 13, 2020 

Re:  Beer/Liquor License Applications 

Police Operations has received applications for liquor licenses and/ or wine or beer 
permits. We find no records that would prohibit these license and permits and 
recommend approval. 

Name of Applicants:  

a) College Square Cinema, 6301 University Avenue, Special Class C liquor - 
renewal. 

b) Chad's Pizza and Restaurant, 909 West 23rd Street, Class C liquor & outdoor 
service - renewal. 

c) Panther Lounge, 210 East 18th Street, Class C liquor - renewal. 

d) Hy-Vee Tasting Room, 6301 University Avenue, Special Class C liquor – change 
in ownership. 

194

ITEM 13.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

 M E M O R A N D U M 
Public Records Division 

 

 

 

 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Green and City Council 

 FROM: Jacque Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

 DATE: February 12, 2020 

 SUBJECT: Special Election 

 
As you are aware, a petition requesting a Special Election to fill the vacancy for the 

office of City Council At Large was received on January 29, 2020, and filed thereafter 

without objection. Pursuant to Iowa Code Section 372.13(b)(1), the City Council must 

now call for a Special Election.  Approval of the attached resolution is merely a formality 

to document state law. Please feel free to contact me with any questions. Thank you. 

195

ITEM 14.



RESOLUTION NO.     
 
 

RESOLUTION CALLING FOR A SPECIAL ELECTION TO FILL THE 
VACANCY FOR THE OFFICE OF CITY COUNCIL AT LARGE 

 
WHEREAS, the regular municipal election was held on November 5, 2019, in 

which a majority of the electors voted to elect At Large Councilmember Robert M. 
Green to the office of Mayor, becoming effective at noon on January 2, 2020, and 

 
WHEREAS, to assume the office of Mayor on January 2, 2020, Robert M. Green 

resigned from his office as Cedar Falls City Councilmember At Large, and in doing so, 
has created a vacancy on the City Council, and 

 
WHEREAS, the majority of the remaining members of the City Council of the City 

of Cedar Falls appointed Nick Taiber to the vacant office of Councilmember At Large on 
January 20, 2020, and 

 
WHEREAS, a petition requesting a Special Election to fill the vacancy was 

received on January 29, 2020, and filed thereafter without objection; and  
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Iowa Code Section 372.13(b)(1), the City Council of the 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, must call for a Special Election for the purpose of filling the 
vacated City Council At Large office; said election to be held at the earliest practicable 
date. 

 
NOW THEREFORE, be it resolved by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa, that a Special Election is to be held at the earliest practicable date for the purpose 
of filling the vacated City Council At Large office. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the City Clerk is hereby authorized and 

directed to provide a certified copy of this Resolution to the Black Hawk County Auditor 
and Commissioner of Elections so that a date for the Special Election may be 
established. 
 

ADOPTED this 17th day of February, 2020. 

                                                                                                                                              
_____________________ 

                                                                                       Robert M. Green, Mayor 
                                                                                                         
ATTEST: 
 
 
________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

196

ITEM 14.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 

 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

220 CLAY STREET 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 

319-273-8600 

FAX 319-268-5126 
     I N T E R O F F I C E   M E M O R A N D U M 

 

 TO: Mayor Green and City Council Members 

 FROM: Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & Business Operations 

 DATE: February 11, 2020 

 SUBJECT: FY21 Goals     

 
Each year after the Council completes the goal setting sessions, detailed goals for the 
new fiscal year are finalized.  Attached are the goals for FY21.  This document takes 
the goals from the prior year and implements any new goals or changes into the 
document that were discussed by the Council in goal setting, developing the CIP, 
developing the budget, or establishing other priorities for the upcoming year.  
 
The Mayor, City Administrator, and all directors have reviewed the document.  As part 
of that review, the Mayor did note that he thought the neighborhood association 
meetings should not have been taken out last year and did propose putting that 
statement back in the document.  You will see that it has been included in the attached 
document under Section II,C,2.  
 
After adoption, the goals are included in the budget document to be used as a 
reference during the fiscal year.  
 
If you have questions regarding the goals, please feel free to contact me. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

197

ITEM 15.



1 

 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 
CITY COUNCIL GOALS, SHORT TERM FINANCIAL PLAN & WORK PROGRAM 

FOR FISCAL YEAR 2021 
 
 
MISSION 

MAINTAIN AND IMPROVE THE SAFETY AND DESIRABILITY OF CEDAR 
FALLS THROUGH THE EFFICIENT DELIVERY OF PUBLIC SERVICES, AND 
THE ONGOING PRACTICE OF OPEN COMMUNICATION AMONG COUNCIL, 
STAFF, MAYOR, AND THE CITIZENS. 

 

 

I. ORGANIZATIONAL GOAL 1 

Continue to provide a representative system, which identifies and 
anticipates concerns, problems, and opportunities, which are effectively 
addressed with thoughtful and decisive governmental actions. 
 

A. Supporting Policies 

1. Set policies and guidelines, which provide broad direction to 
administrators who formulate management decisions to provide efficient 
service offerings and operations. 

2. As a policy-making body, interpret community needs and values and 
convey them to City staff through consistent legislative and policy actions. 

3. Continue to provide a forum for public input related to City actions through 
open public meetings, hearings, committees, commissions, task forces, 
local access cable television, and web-based media. 

4. Develop cost effective methods of informing the public of available ways to 
provide input to encourage wider participation in the various boards, 
commissions, task forces, and other support groups providing input to the 
City. 

 
B. Long Term & On-going Objectives 

 
1. Continue to hold an annual meeting with Cedar Falls Utilities to discuss 

the impacts and strategies to deal with the on-going transfer of Utility 
funds in lieu of property taxes, franchise taxes, use of right-of-way, TIF 
reimbursement, and support of entrepreneurship.  
 

2. Hold joint meetings with policy making City boards such as the Library 
Board and the Planning & Zoning Commission. 
 

3. Consider holding when timely, joint meetings with the Waterloo City 
Council, Black Hawk County Supervisors, Cedar Falls Community School 
District and the University of Northern Iowa. 

198

ITEM 15.



2 

 

4. Encourage the professional development of City Council members and 
advisory boards by providing staff facilitated work sessions, training 
sessions and innovative project presentations from other cities. 

5. Explore the potential of intergovernmental cooperation options with 
Waterloo, CFU, UNI, the County or other governmental bodies. Examples 
include:  art & culture services, airport operations, public safety services, 
transit systems, economic development coordination, emergency 
response, sewer infrastructure, shared facilities or equipment. 

6. Continue work on joint CFU, Cedar Falls Schools and UNI projects. 

7. Discuss with MET to identify options for public transportation.  

8. Continue to develop community strategic plans at 5-year intervals. 
 

C. FY21 Detailed Objectives 
 

1. City of Waterloo objectives 

a. Support the creation of a Regional Airport Authority, if initiated and 
supported by the City of Waterloo. 

b. Support the Police and Fire Chief level discussions expressing City 
support for the development of Fire and Police mutual aid 
agreements with the City of Waterloo that promote faster emergency 
response times and the reduction of callback expenses for both 
cities.  

c. Common legislative goals 

d. Waterloo use of Cedar Falls’ refuse transfer station 

e. Cooperative efforts to upgrade the consolidated public safety 
dispatch system and look for alternatives to keep dispatch costs low.  

f.       Cooperative use of sanitary sewer systems based on natural gravity 
flow basins  

g. Cooperative sewer regionalization study 
 

2. Monitor the efforts and benefit of regional economic development 
organizations 

a. Continue participation in the Grow Cedar Valley to ensure Cedar 
Falls external marketing interests are best served. 

b. Continue to monitor all economic development agencies (Community 
Main Street, College Hill Partnership, and Grow Cedar Valley) to 
determine if cash subsidies result in services of value to Cedar Falls 
citizens and businesses.  

 
 
 

199

ITEM 15.



3 

 

3. Continue to maintain a Cedar Falls Visitors & Tourism Bureau 

a. Continue to coordinate marketing and programming efforts between 
the UNI, Cedar Falls and Waterloo Visitors and Tourism Bureaus for 
all Metro tourist events. 

 
4. University of Northern Iowa objectives 

a. Enhance communication with the University of Northern Iowa to 
address public safety issues, parking, College Hill neighborhood 
issues, equitable payment for City services, sharing of facilities and 
the elimination of duplicated governmental services. 

b. Specifically study with UNI management staff the development of 
shared service contracts that involve policing, fire protection, 
dispatch, street maintenance, utilities, and recreational facility 
development or usage. 

c. Continue to coordinate the development of new City open field 
recreational uses with UNI to minimize the purchase of additional 
land allowing City funds to be used for site development. 

d. Communicate with Regional Workforce Development Agency and 
UNI to identify ways to retain recent graduates from UNI.  

 
5. Cedar Falls Schools Objectives 

a. Encourage the Cedar Falls Schools to maintain an elementary school 
in northern Cedar Falls consistent with the Northern Cedar Falls 
Citizens Visioning Committee recommendations. 

b. Assist the Cedar Falls School District with infrastructure 
improvements that create parking areas, joint City/Schools 
playgrounds, building expansion areas and resolution of drainage 
problems at the North Cedar School site. 

c. Develop designs near public schools, which improve parking and 
pedestrian traffic conditions similar to Orchard Hill, Southdale, and 
Lincoln Schools.  

d. Coordinate with the Cedar Falls Schools the completion of the new 
neighborhood elementary school and park and a new or remodeled 
high school. As part of the process, identify existing local, county and 
state of Iowa public facilities, programs and property to minimize 
duplication of services. 

 
6. Cedar Falls Utilities Objectives 

a. Annually consider repaying eligible CFU expenses (if excess TIF 
revenues exist) for projects they have completed in City TIF districts, 
subject to, CFU maintaining a fair and updated annual transfer that 

200

ITEM 15.



4 

 

equitably compensates the City for return on investment from City 
ownership, property taxes, franchise fees and use of ROW. 

b. City staff members are directed to certify the maximum amount of 
legally incurred TIF debt annually by December 1 for all completed 
City and CFU construction work within the TIF Districts to better 
position the City and CFU financially. 

c. Support CFU in the implementation of their water service programs 
as they are the sole governmental entity authorized by code to 
provide these services. 

•    Implement public water special assessment programs if 
requested by CFU to install a public water system in unserviced 
areas such as northern Cedar Falls, Viking Place, Horseshoe 
Drive and other rural areas, if requested and financially supported 
by the majority of benefited property owners. 

• The City will commit CDBG funds if eligible to pay for service line 
connection for all residents who are income eligible and property 
taxes to pay for fire hydrants (consistent with the Cherrywood 
subdivision policy); CFU will pay for all water line over-sizing and 
property owners will be responsible for all other expenses, less 
any other funding sources. 

 
d. Explore sustainability initiatives in conjunction with CFU.  
 

7. Local Governance Objectives 
 

a. Maintain the issuance of the Mayor’s “Updates” to include the status 
of accomplishing City Council priorities, major projects, upcoming 
activities and key information.  

 
b. Continue to incorporate into council agenda memos how the item 

being presented fits into the City Council’s goals and priorities 
 

c. Develop a listing of governmental units, neighborhood groups and 
outside agencies that Council members would like to periodically 
meet with to discuss common interests.  

d. Hold a meeting with a facilitator, the Mayor, City Council members 
and key staff to discuss goal-setting process/potential changes in 
format prior next year’s goal-setting sessions. 

e. Hold several special work sessions on council meeting Mondays to 
discuss larger policy issues, including Wastewater regionalization 
options, MET route restructuring, North Cedar drainage study, 
Bicycle plan update, Public Safety Model presentation, Hearst Center 

201

ITEM 15.



5 

 

study, training and role of various commissions, and reconsideration 
of council packet deadline.   

 
 

II. ORGANIZATIONAL GOAL 2 

Maintain and improve effective communications and marketing programs 
for the citizens of Cedar Falls. 
 

A. Supporting Policy 
 

1. The City will continually explore and evaluate improved methods of 
communication with its citizens for the purpose of informing them of its 
activities and accomplishments 
 

B. Long Term & On-going Objectives 

1. Continue to investigate ways to increase the use of city newsletter, 
website, cable television, social media and other technology to 
communicate with the citizens of Cedar Falls. 

2. Continue to expand the role of the communication specialist position to 
improve communications to the public about all city departments and 
activities.  

 
C. FY21 Detailed Objectives 

1. Maintain emergency response plans that: 

a. Provide for flood evacuation plans for northern Cedar Falls, downtown 
areas and other properties located on flood-prone tributaries. 

b. Provide maps and charts for public distribution that illustrate when 
select events occur during flooding. 

c. Provide text, phone, e-mail, and social media methods of providing 
notices to citizens of emergency events. 

d. Provide door-to-door notifications by firefighters and public safety 
officers. 

2. Hold a city council work session annually with representatives of 
neighborhood associations to discuss issues, concerns and priorities.  
 

III. ORGANIZATIONAL GOAL 3 

Deliver public services in a cost effective, efficient, professional, and 
timely manner. 
 

A. Supporting Policy 
 

1. Ensure that the community’s health, safety, and welfare are protected 
through the provision of essential, cost-effective public services.  

202

ITEM 15.



6 

 

 
B. Long Term & On-going Objectives 

1. Continue to monitor the City's capacity to provide adequate maintenance 
of its growing infrastructure.  Maintain a long-term maintenance plan, 
including a contingency plan to respond to reductions in maintenance 
funds if encountered in the long term. 

2. Continue to identify and investigate appropriate activities/services for 
privatization. 

3. Continue offering an annual street repair program with RUT and LOST 
available revenues.   

4. Annually ensure that basic municipal services (public safety, parks, 
sewers, roads, refuse collection) are offered while constantly developing 
methods of increasing efficiency in these essential services. 

5. Encourage citizen involvement with government to reduce costs.  
(Examples include:  picking up leaves, moving cars to assist with more 
efficient plowing of snow, cleaning sidewalks, use of volunteers (examples 
are: Library, Community Center, Hearst Center, V&T), recycling and police 
reservists & fire volunteers as supplemental support staffing.) 

6. Maintain the appropriate number of alternative staff in police and fire while 
improving services and reducing overtime costs by annually recruiting, if 
necessary new citizen reservists, volunteers, public safety officers, and 
paid on call City staff. 

7. Periodically conduct an evaluation of the costs and benefits of 
participation in the Consolidated Dispatch Center and CJIS.  Determine 
the fair share of costs that should be assigned to Cedar Falls while 
exploring a "county funded" system in the long-term. 

8. Maintain the Police Community Service Officer program to help 
supervisory personnel with office duties, allowing supervisors to work 
closer with the public and provide direction in the field supervision of 
down-line employees. 

9. Maintain staffing levels in all departments that reduce overtime by 
matching staffing levels to specific service demands as opposed to 
predetermined rigid standards. 

 
 

C. FY21 Detailed Objectives 

1. Expand the City’s Public Safety Officer (PSO) model.  Review the need for 
expanding the Paid-on-Call (POC) program appropriately for each division 
as the PSO program’s success may change the needs on the fire side.  
Review and expand other cross-training programs, such as the police 
reserve program. 

203

ITEM 15.



7 

 

a. Actively solicit and encourage Police and Fire employees to participate 
in the POC and PSO program or other cross training programs 
because their availability from shift increases the range of time they 
are readily available. 

b. Expand the use of PSO’s, part time staff, and POC’s to adequately 
staff fire stations without adding full-time staff or overtime expenses. 

c. Ensure that all Public Safety Officers (PSO), Police Officers, 
Firefighters, Police Reservists, Community Services Officers (CSO), 
and volunteers are treated as equals and with respect. 

2. Continue the use of supervisor performance measurement tools that hold 
first line supervisors accountable for daily staffing decisions.  

a. Ensure that weekends and holidays for shift personnel are fully 
scheduled productive “work days.” 

b. Continue to manage fire shift overtime in the present manner that has 
reduced unneeded callbacks or staff scheduling that has reduced this 
expense with the use of volunteers, PSO’s, POC’s,  part-time staffing 
or other cross trained positions. (Also see Goal 1, seeking to expand 
mutual aid agreements with the City of Waterloo to cover calls while 
select fire stations are deployed by either city.) 

c. Reward via the performance pay system supervisors who successfully 
respond to workload demands with decisions that adequately protect 
the safety of employees and the public while prudently spending tax 
dollars that are devoted to overtime and callback expenses. 

d. Negotiate collective bargaining contractual terms that allow the City to 
implement in Public Works and Parks 4-day, 10-hour workweeks to 
increase efficiency of operations, as appropriate. 

e. Fully exercise management rights to schedule full staffing to avoid 
overtime expenses on days where known special events (i.e. Sturgis 
Falls & UNI Homecoming) will tax personnel resources.  

f. Utilizing “calls for service”, geographic location, population, roadways, 
response time data, and other data to evaluate the best locations for 
fire stations city-wide and determine if more cost efficient options are 
available working with and without the City of Waterloo. Maintain a fire 
station staffing plan that directs personnel to stations where the highest 
number of calls for service occurs. 

3. Continue to identify and implement methods designed to better coordinate 
inspections while enforcing land use, property maintenance codes, rental 
housing, and zoning and nuisance ordinance violations citywide with 
cooperative and coordinated actions by the Public Works, Public Safety 
Services, Community Development and Finance & Business Operations 
Departments. 

204

ITEM 15.



8 

 

a. Continue to have a dedicated full time position as the Code 
Enforcement Officer position in FY21 to enforce parking, property 
maintenance codes, snow removal, zoning, housing, and building and 
nuisance codes. 

• Enforce 48-hour parking laws during and following snowfalls, when 
citizen complaints are filed, when violation is habitual or when the 
public’s safety is compromised. 

• Code enforcement should focus predominantly on health & safety, 
property maintenance and over-crowding/over-occupancy. 

• Rental inspection should be on a 3-year cycle. 

• Minimum building maintenance code inspections and enforcement 
have expanded city wide and will continue to include the College 
Hill area. 

b. Coordinate and consolidate federally subsidized rental and minimum 
rental housing inspection duties.  

• Complete any remaining unimplemented consolidated inspection 
“business processes” to form a system that offers consistent 
application and interpretation of codes while providing inspection 
services in a timely and cost effective manner. 

• Complete the restructuring of operations outlined by internal audit 
that achieves consistency in inspections, improves staffing 
efficiency, and centralizes accounting processes.  

c. Enhance Fire Prevention and Suppression programs.  

• Assign Minimum Rental Housing, Section 8 Rental and Commercial 
Inspection duties to Fire shift personnel whenever possible. 

• Improve community fire safety, without adding new fire stations, 
vehicles and manpower, by maintaining the annual citywide smoke 
detector inspection of homes and businesses, recognizing that 
smoke detectors identify fire hazards at the earliest possible time. 

• Utilizing “calls for service”, geographic location, population, 
roadways, response time data, and other data to evaluate best 
locations for fire stations city wide and determine if more cost 
efficient options are available working with and without the City of 
Waterloo. Ultimately, develop a fire station staffing plan that directs 
personnel to stations where the highest number of calls for service 
occurs. 

• Staff stations whenever possible with a combination of career, 
PSO, POC, part-time, ambulance and volunteer staff. 

205

ITEM 15.



9 

 

• Place firefighter protective gear in police patrol cars for faster 
response times and develop appropriate procedures and policies 
related to the use of this gear.  

• Consider expanding the installation of compressed air foam 
systems (CAFS) in select police vehicles to provide faster fire 
suppression response times. 

• The Fire Chief is encouraged to exercise his/her management 
authorities to implement fire station staffing plans, when timely and 
encourage the Battalion Chiefs to use management discretion in 
determining daily staffing levels using alternative staff. 

 
 

IV. ORGANIZATIONAL GOAL 4 

Equitably allocate the community's resources in a manner which cost 
effectively accomplishes the City's mission. 
 

A. Supporting Policies 
 

1. Adopt a balanced budget, which is reflective of the community's economic 
climate and needs. 

2. Maintain a budget philosophy based on maintaining self-sufficiency in all 
of the City's major funds. 

3. Adopt a Capital Improvements Program annually which coordinates major 
capital expenditures and is responsive to property tax levies and the City's 
debt restrictions. 

4. Maintain a stable property tax rate in FY21, depositing annually funds in 
excess of operations expenses, including released TIF funds, in a capital 
reserve account for projects such as the repurposing of city hall, economic 
development, public land acquisition, redevelopment or other one-time 
expenses as approved by the City Council. 

5. Evaluate each newly proposed service to determine the cost, relative 
importance and value of each service.  Utilize these reports to determine 
the presence of unnecessary duplication within and among the various 
programs offered or sponsored by the City. 

6. Study methods of saving energy within City operations and implement 
changes where it is determined to be cost effective. 

7. Cash Reserves 

a. The City will maintain an unreserved balance at year-end at a level 
determined by Council to meet cash flow requirements, emergency 
needs, and bond rating criteria.  

 

206

ITEM 15.



10 

 

b. The minimum criteria shall be: 
 

• Maintain a General Fund cash balance of 15-25%, allowing for 
the seasonal cash flows. The City Council established Resolution 
9054 that the General Fund balance be maintained between 15 
and 25% and preferably at the 20-25% level. 

 
• The Refuse Fund at 20-30%, but no less than $500,000. 
 
• The Sewer Fund at 65-75%, but no less than $1,500,000. 

 
• The Street Fund at 20-30%, but no less than $1,000,000. 

 
• The Storm Water Fund at 10-20%, but no less than $200,000. 

 
c. The City will establish an emergency fund and maintain the reserve 

balance at approximately $1.5 million.  This fund will help cash flow 
repairs and staff costs if a catastrophic event would occur.  

 
8. Revenues 

 
The revenue projection process starts with estimates submitted by the 
departments for their specific areas.  Finance reviews those estimates and 
makes informed judgments on all revenues City-wide.  Prior year’s actual and 
current year-to-date amounts are used to project both the current year and 
next year's revenues. Information received from the State, County, and Iowa 
League of Cities is utilized to project revenue trends and anticipated amounts. 
Finance using conservative interest rate projections, current balances and 
interest accrual information, projects interest earnings.  The City Administrator 
and the Mayor then review revenues, expenditures and ending fund balances 
to determine if any revenue adjustments need to be made. 
 

a. Property Taxes 
 

• The budget of the City of Cedar Falls shall be drawn so that the 
general tax levy does not exceed limits established by State law. 

 
b. Debt Service Levy 
 

• Taxes shall be levied each year under the Debt Service Levy in 
the amount equal to the general obligation principal and interest 
due in that same year, minus the portion paid by the enterprise 
funds and  Cedar Falls Utilities. 

 
c. Tort Liability Levy 

207

ITEM 15.



11 

 

 
• The City may levy for the expected costs of property and liability 

insurance policies and estimated claims losses held by the City. 
 
d. Employee Benefits Levy 

 
•   The City shall use the Employee Benefits Levy for: 

 
� The City's share of contributions to police and fire pension and 

retirement systems, at rates determined by the State of Iowa, 
for currently employed sworn officers. 

 
� The City’s share of contributions for employee benefits 

budgeted under the General Fund only if the general tax levy is 
at the $8.10 maximum.  Tax revenues under the employee 
benefits levy will be receipted into the Trust and Agency Fund 
and then transferred into the General Fund.  

 
e. Emergency Management Levy 
 

 
• Levy for all dispatch, 911 and emergency operation costs 

assigned to Cedar Falls. 
 
f. Transit Levy 
 

• Taxes levied under the transit levy shall not exceed the 95-cent 
limit established by State law.  Tax revenues from the transit levy 
will be receipted into the General Fund. 

 
g. Band Levy 
 

• Taxes levied under the Band Levy shall not exceed the 13.5-cent 
limit established by State law.  Tax revenues from the band levy 
will be receipted into the General Fund. 

 
h. Library Levy 

 
• Taxes levied under the library levy shall not exceed the 27-cent 

limit established by state law.  Tax revenues from the library levy 
will be used to support the library.  Approximately 50% of the levy 
will be used for new materials and services and approximately 
50% will be used to lower general fund support to the library. 

 
i. Other City Taxes 
 

208

ITEM 15.



12 

 

• Sales Tax: The City of Cedar Falls collects an additional 1% in 
local option sales tax.  The revenues and expenditures under this 
program are recorded in a separate fund. 

 
•   Hotel/Motel Tax: The City currently has a 7% hotel/motel tax with 

50% of the income generated by the imposition of the tax being 
devoted to the Visitors and Tourism Division.  The other 50% is 
devoted to programs related to parks, lakes, trails, and 
recreational/cultural facilities. 

 
j. Fees and Charges 
 

• The City will establish fees and charges, in accordance with 
revenue bond requirements or for covering all or part of the 
related costs of providing the services.  The City will review fees 
and charges, at a minimum, on a biannual basis. 

 
k. Investments 
 

•  The City will invest 100% of idle funds and will obtain the best 
possible return on all cash investments within the limits of the 
State law. 

 
l. Intergovernmental Revenue 

 
• Revenues from local, State and Federal governments will be used 

according to the restrictions or intent placed on each.  
 

m. Additional Revenue Sources 
 

• The City will continue to search for additional revenues as a 
method of balancing its budget. 

 
9. Expenditures 

 
a. Current Service Level: Maintaining the current level of services will 

receive first priority for funding. 
 
b. Cost Effective Programs: The City will encourage technology and 

capital investment programs, which are cost effective and reduce 
operating expenses. 

 
c. Infrastructures and Equipment: The City will continue the scheduled 

level of maintenance and replacement for its infrastructure and equip-
ment. 

 

209

ITEM 15.



13 

 

d. Local Option Sales Tax: The City will continue to spend 100% of the 
local option sales tax proceeds on street repair in accordance with the 
stipulations set by the voters and City Council resolution. City Council 
Resolution 15,596 provides that, “Zero percent (0%) of said local 
sales and services tax is to be used for property tax relief. One 
hundred percent (100%) of the revenue generated in the City of Cedar 
Falls, Iowa during each fiscal year from said local sales and services 
tax is to be allocated for reconstruction, repair or replacement of 
existing streets, curbs, structures, storm sewers and sanitary sewers 
as they relate to streets within the corporate limits of the City of Cedar 
Falls, Iowa and not as replacement funds for the present funding 
levels, as authorized by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, 
Iowa.  

 
e. Reductions: To balance the budget, the City will attempt to avoid 

service reductions.  If the situation arises, consideration will be given 
first to alternatives, which avoid employee layoffs, resist cuts in service 
and establish user fees.  If reductions are necessary, parameters for 
downsizing shall ensure that (1) no essential service be eliminated; (2) 
service with high public visibility and exposure remain intact, and (3) 
reductions be made in internal functions as a first priority. 

 
10.  Long-Term Debt 

 
a. Purpose of Debt: Debt will fund the design, inspection and 

construction of capital improvement projects; it will not be used for 
annual operating expenses. 

 
b. Debt Limit: The total general obligation debt will not exceed 5% of the 

total assessed value of real property.  
 
c. Debt Issuance: The issuance of new debt shall not exceed a replace-

ment debt level.  Whenever possible, existing debt should be 
refinanced to secure the lowest possible interest costs. 

 
d. Utilize self-financing where allowed or use of cash to fund one-time 

projects if excess cash reserves exist.  
 

11.  Capital Improvement Program Financial Policies 
 

a. The Capital Improvements Program (CIP) is a planning document and 
does not authorize or fund projects.  The projects listed in the CIP are 
summarized in the capital projects program.  The CIP is prepared by 
the Finance & Business Operations Department, is reviewed by the 
City Administrator, Mayor and Department Directors, approved by the 
Planning and Zoning Commission with final approval by the City 

210

ITEM 15.



14 

 

Council.  Detailed descriptions and a summary of the CIP are located 
in the Capital Improvement Program section of this document. 

 
b. Following is a list of policies pertaining to the Capital Improvements 

Program: 
 

• The City will make all capital improvements in accordance with an 
adopted capital improvements program. 

 
• The City will develop a multi-year plan for capital improvements and 

update it annually. 
 
• The City will enact an annual capital budget based on the multi-

year capital improvement plan.  Future capital expenditures 
necessitated by changes in population, changes in real estate 
development, or changes in economic base will be calculated and 
included in capital budget projections. 

 
• The City will coordinate development of the capital improvement 

budget with development of the operating budget.  Future operating 
costs associated with new capital improvement will be projected 
and included in operating budget forecasts.  

 
• The City will use intergovernmental assistance to finance only 

those capital improvements that are consistent with the capital 
improvement plan and City priorities and whose operating and 
maintenance costs have been included in operating budget 
forecasts. 

 
• The City will maintain all its assets at a level adequate to protect 

the City's capital investment and to minimize future maintenance 
and replacement costs. 

 
• The City will project its equipment replacement and maintenance 

needs for the next several years and will update this projection 
each year.  From this projection a maintenance and replacement 
schedule will be developed and followed. 

 
• Equipment or projects that have a projected life span less than a 

bond’s maturity will not be financed by the sale of general obligation 
bonds. 

 
• General obligation bonds or revenue bonds will not be utilized to 

finance on-going operating expenses. 
 
• The City will determine the least costly financing method for all new 

211

ITEM 15.



15 

 

projects.  
 
• Maintain a long-term financial plan to address inadequacies in “City 

managed” infrastructure in unserved areas of the City and 
progressively add them to the CIP when cost effective and if 
consistent with long range growth plans. 

 
• Adoption of the CIP shall however maintain a debt management 

strategy that emphasizes the protection of at least 25-30 percent of 
the City's debt capacity.   

 
• Develop a plan that addresses competing projects, priorities and 

timing to meet this objective jointly by soliciting input from the 
Planning and Zoning Commission to ensure that projects are 
timely, unduplicated and supportive of long-range plans.  

 
• The issuance of new debt shall not exceed a replacement debt 

level. (Typically ranging from $3.0 - $4.0 million dollars every other 
year with CFU utilizing the City’s bank qualified financing capacity 
in off bond sale years.) 

 
o In 2021, budget for a $3.0 - $4 million dollar GO bond sale. 
o Use emergency reserve funds for the projects that were 

identified on the CIP. 
 

• Incorporate when timely, properly planned, safely engineered and 
financially feasible and design appropriate street and growth 
concepts in the planning and design of all capital projects. 

 
o Additional General Fund financial support for annual 

maintenance expenses to better landscape public roadways 
should be considered. (Also addressed below in the Annual 
Budget Financial Policies)  

 
d. Adopted FY20-FY25 CIP priority projects: 

 
• General Obligation Bonds 

o Cameras ($.42 million) 
o South Main Parking Lot ($.17 million) 
o Hearst Center Expansion ($.70 million) 
o Cedar River Recreation Improvements ($.40 million) 
o Bridge & Culvert Replacements ($.55 million) 
o Infrastructure oversizing ($.30 million) 
o Sidewalks/Trails ($1.08 million) 
o Slope Repair ($.28 million) 
o Annual Street Repair Program ($.36 million) 

212

ITEM 15.



16 

 

o Cedar Heights Drive reconstruction ($.98 million) 
o Center Street Improvements & Trail ($.13 million) 
o Greenhill Road extension ($.09 million) 
o Greenhill Road & South Main intersection improvements ($1.34) 
o Main Street Reconstruction ($1.65 million) 
o Union Road Phase I ($.48 million) 
o West 1st Street ($.24 million) 
o West 23rd Street ($.05 million) 
o West 27th Street ($.10 million) 
o Fire bunker gear ($0.14 million) 
o Fire engine replacement ($.20 million) 
o Issuance expenses ($0.60 million) 
Total = $10.26 million  

 
• TIF 

o River Place Development 
o 100 Block Lot Purchase 
o Peter Melendy Park 
o Main Street Alley 
o Downtown Brick Replacement 
o Downtown Streetscape 
o Prairie Parkway & Viking Road  
o Prairie Parkway Landscaping  
o Hwy 58 and Greenhill Road Intersection 
o US 58 Interchange 
o Viking Road Reconstruction 
o Industrial Park Expansion 
o Gibson Property Development 
o Ridgeway Avenue bridge replacement 
o Ridgeway Avenue Reconstruction 
o Hudson Road/Ridgeway intersection 
o Comprehensive Plan & Zoning ordinance updates 
o Entrepreneur incentives 
o Land Acquisition 
o Landscaping, alleys, brick replacement, wayfinding signage, 

parking, lot improvements, & utility improvements associated 
with streetscape improvements in Downtown and College Hill. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

213

ITEM 15.



17 

 

• LOST 
o Annual resurfacing 
o Annual reconstruction 
o Seal coat 
o West 1st Street 
o Cedar Heights Drive 
o Center Street improvements 
o Greenhill Road improvements 
o University Avenue 
o Permeable Alley Program 
o Bridges/culverts 
o Main Street Reconstruction 
o Union Road 
o West 12th Street 
o West 22nd Street 
o West 27th Street 

 
• Sewer Fund 

o WWTP 
o Plant Digester Rehab 
o Nutrient Removal/Facility Plan 
o 1st Stage Trickling Filters 
o Slipline sewers 
o I&I reduction 
o Oak Park sewer replacement 
o West 1st Street 
o Sewer equipment 
o Infrastructure oversizing 
o Facility Master Plan Update 
o Regionalization Study 
o Park Drive Force Main 
o Sewer collection study 
o Lift station pump repairs 
o Annual Street Repair program 

 
• Refuse Fund 

o Refuse trucks 
o Recycling site expansion 
o Compaction equipment 
 

• Road Use Taxes (Street Construction Fund) 
o Street equipment 
o Permeable Alley program 
o Signalized intersection upgrades 
o Traffic planning studies 
o Bridges 

214

ITEM 15.



18 

 

o Annual Street Repair program 
o Cedar Heights Drive 
o Center Street 
o Greenhill Road 
o Main Street 
o Union Road 
o West 22nd 
o West 23rd 
o West 27th 

 
 

• Emergency Reserve Fund (Formally the Flood Recovery Fund) 
o Cedar River recreational improvements ( $1.0 million) 
o Center Street improvements ($.5 million) 

 
12.  Annual Budget Financial Policies 

 
a. Implement the following FY21 budget practices: 

 
• Continue to maintain the practice of not relying on State operating 

assistance (including backfill after FY17) by using State aid, if 
provided, to fund one-time capital expenditures or non-reoccurring 
expenses. 

 
• In FY21, if budget reductions are required, all City services should 

be prioritized. This will allow for the most cost effective use of 
Federal Aid to pay eligible “essential” service operating expenses 
as, if the operating expenses are not reoccurring or if more efficient 
staffing can be achieved.  

 
• In FY21, continue the practice of reducing City financial aid to 

outside agencies if funding shortfalls are damaging the provision of 
essential services. Retain the practice of giving agencies notice 
annually of the anticipated elimination of funding the following fiscal 
year. 

 
• Budget cuts imposed by the State of Iowa have forced State, 

University, County, School and other non-City service agencies to 
seek City financial support. Requests for aid from any group will 
only be considered once annually during the annual budget 
process. Mid-year requests will be deferred to the next fiscal year 
unless they are emergency in nature. Financial aid will only be 
provided if there is not financial hardship on City offered essential 
services and the services proposed are not duplicated.  

 

215

ITEM 15.



19 

 

• Applications for City funding support from UNI will only be accepted 
from the Vice President of Administration and Finance once 
annually. This process ensures that all UNI projects or programs 
seeking City financial aid have been approved by UNI management 
and prioritized. 

 
• Develop the FY21 budget, limiting tax increases to no more than 

the rate of inflation on residential properties for controllable costs. 
 
• Dedicate future accumulating cash generated by mid-year budget 

reductions for one-time future expenses such as the repurposing of 
City Hall or other capital projects.  

 

• Dedicate TIF release dollars generated by expired TIF areas to 
future economic development projects.  

 
• Continue to analyze cost savings initiatives: 
 

� Evaluate cost-effective alternatives to keep City departments 
staffed and functional. 

 
� Continue the review of open positions as they occur. 

 
� Succession planning. 

 
� Public Safety Officer (PSO) model and alternative employment 

practices (e.g. P.O.C or other cross training programs.). 
 

� Explore sharing services with other jurisdictions. 
 

� Investigate the concept of a fee for services for public safety 
responses. 

 
� Study privatization of select city services. 

 
• City staff members are directed to certify the maximum amount of 

legally incurred TIF debt annually by December 1st for all completed 
City and CFU construction work within the TIF Districts to better 
position the City and CFU financially. 

 
• Escrow funds annually to pay accrued liabilities.  The City will 

address annually these commitments by budgeting and depositing 
in a restricted account funds to pay these liabilities when they 
occur.  By policy the City will not unfund these liabilities.  (Escrow 
accounts include severance, payroll, liability insurance, vehicle 

216

ITEM 15.



20 

 

replacement, data processing, workmen's compensation, long-term 
disability and all pensions.) 

 
• Implement user fees for specific City services and evaluate the 

wisdom of implementing State authorized tax levies for statutory 
services, if the General Funds experiences financial limitations. 

 

• Determine if yard waste collection programs need to be altered or 
expanded based on the efficiency of material collection, customer 
satisfaction and general cost efficiency. 

 
� Re-evaluate City-operated leaf vacuum collection rates to 

determine if they are set at levels that encourage property 
owners with small volumes of leaves to compost, mulch or 
utilize “City” container  disposal methods; but ensure that the 
rate offers a cost effective option for property owners who must 
dispose of large volumes of leafs. 

 
� Evaluate how the expansion of the hours of operation for the 

yard waste drop off site has impacted revenues and 
expenditures.   

 
� Continue the City’s marketing and public relations program that 

encourages environmentally safe methods of yard waste 
disposal and clearly informs citizens of the rules that must be 
abided by under the no burning ordinance. 

 
• Review refuse fees to ensure that sufficient revenues exist to cover 

all costs related to refuse collection.  
 
• Collaborate with other municipalities in a Governance Committee to 

explore Wastewater Regionalization opportunities. 
 
• Review sewer rental fees to ensure that sufficient revenue exists in 

the next several years to pay for EPA mandated treatment plant 
improvements and other sewer projects. 

 
• Review storm water fees to determine if sufficient fees exist to pay 

for projected storm water costs outlined in the capital improvement 
program.  

 
• The Cedar Falls Health Trust Fund shall only budget expenditure of 

interest income generated by the fund minus an interest income 
contribution into the fund’s principal equal to the rate of inflation in 
health care.  Principal should only be used in negotiating a 

217

ITEM 15.



21 

 

development agreement for a new hospital or a health care 
provider.  

 
• Interest income generated from the 411 Pension reserve fund shall 

be used to pay the required City contribution to annual 411 
expenses. No portion of the principal shall be used for operating 
purposes. 

 
• Road Use taxes shall only be deposited in the Street Construction 

fund with their use limited to street operations and maintenance 
purposes. 

 
• Additional General Fund financial support for annual maintenance 

expenses to better landscape public roadways should be 
considered. (Also addressed above  in the Capital Improvements 
Financial Policies) 

 
• Maintain capital and maintenance reserve accounts generated from 

user fees set aside to pay for future capital repairs or facility 
replacement of benefit to the users contributing (examples include 
the Recreation Center, Aquatic Center, Hearst Center, Beach 
House, Big Woods Campground and golf courses). 

 
• The CFU transfer made to the City in lieu of property taxes shall be 

deposited in the General Fund to off-set the cost of supplying City 
services.  Transfer funds shall also be set aside in a capital account 
to finance various one-time capital projects. 

 
• Require that all outside agencies seeking City financial support 

submit formal applications that are reviewed by a committee of staff 
members with recommendations forwarded to the Mayor and City 
Council regarding timely reporting, performance, public benefit, 
funding options and service priority. 

 
• Maintain liability, work compensation and health insurance reserves 

as required by law or policy to support the City’s self-insurance 
programs. 

 
• Continue to monitor the impacts of the State of Iowa’s roll back of 

commercial/industrial taxable values without long-term guaranteed 
backfill funding. 

 
• Evaluate annually the ability of the Library Board to utilize 

Community Foundation Trust accounts to support select programs, 
operations and capital needs. 

 

218

ITEM 15.



22 

 

• Budget TIF qualified SSMID funds collected from Downtown and 
College Hill properties for payment to Community Main Street and 
College Hill Partnership rather than payment of City TIF debt. 

 
B. Long Term & On-going Objectives 

1. See financial policies referenced in Organizational Goal 4. 
 

2. Continue to return City-owned property to the tax base to support revenue 
and economic development 

 
 
 

C. FY21 Detailed Objectives 

1. Legislative Priorities: 

a. Maintain the strategy of utilizing the aid of various lobbying groups, 
such as the Iowa League of Cities and the City’s own lobbyist to 
influence legislative action related to municipal issues such as home 
rule, fiscal flexibility, unfunded mandates, reserve restraints ($8.10 
levy, rollback, 411 pension, etc.). Continue to oppose any changes to 
tax increment financing laws that would impair its use as an economic 
development tool and continue to support property tax reform initiatives 
that eliminate the rollback formula that shifts burdens among classes of 
property. 

b. Process Issues: 

• Continue to meet with legislators to increase rapport, gain insight 
into current legislative directions, and to apprise them of the City's 
problems with revenue generation, as well as the negative impact 
of unfunded mandates, tax exempt and rollback legislation.  
Conduct pre- and post-legislative session meetings with area 
representatives annually.  

• Continue to contract with a professional lobbyist to represent the 
interests of the City of Cedar Falls. 

c. State Issues: 

• Support fully funding the state backfill to local governments 
pursuant to the commercial property tax reduction law passed in 
2013.  

• Support the continuation of Tax Increment Financing (TIF) as the 
primary tool for communities to promote economic development.  
Also oppose elimination of state tax credits that are used for 
economic development.  

• Support state efforts of providing additional funding sources and 
flexible policies related to water, wastewater, and storm water 

219

ITEM 15.



23 

 

infrastructure to meet the demands of increased environmental 
regulation of cities.  

• Support state efforts to provide additional resources to 
communities for housing construction, including more state 
support of local housing trust funds and expansion of the 
Workforce Housing Tax Credits.   

d. Federal Issues: 

• Request federal transportation funding support for major street 
projects including Cedar Heights Drive. 

• Request EPA funding for federally mandated treatment plant 
improvements. 

• Support CFU in securing federal grants to increase regional 
electrical distribution capacity and development or access to 
redundant fiber trunk services into the greater metropolitan area. 

• Seek changes in EPA/DNR Rules Interpretation: Currently 
EPA/DNR staff in the Midwest is improperly interpreting rules 
related to sewer discharges, particularly during periods of wet 
weather that can overload treatment plants and collection systems. 
The result is forcing cities to spend millions of dollars to achieve 
compliance.  The more restrictive federal rule interpretations since 
2009 have placed Cedar Falls’ otherwise compliant facilities into a 
frequent violation status that could dictate extreme sewer system 
and treatment plant designs to address rare wet weather flows. In 
essence the EPA/DNR has created a situation where many cities 
(including Cedar Falls) will be in ongoing violation with no 
reasonable means to achieve compliance. Communities will be 
forced into large expenditures that have no relationship to 
environmental needs or technology rule compliance. 

• Continue to be a party in the Iowa League of Cities law suit against 
EPA to seek judicial intervention on rule interpretation detrimental 
to Cedar Falls. 

 
V. ORGANIZATIONAL GOAL 5 

Preserve the community’s physical, human, and aesthetic assets by 
assuring that “Quality of Life” services are available for the leisure, 
educational, cultural and personal enrichment of residents. 

 
A. Supporting Policies 

1. Actively support the development of cultural, educational, recreational, 
and natural features, which make Cedar Falls distinctive. 

2. Endorse planned community growth, which protects the unique, natural, 
and historic features of Cedar Falls. 

220

ITEM 15.



24 

 

 
B. Long Term & On-going Objectives 

 
1. Continue to review and evaluate the ways in which the City can enhance 

racial and cultural diversity and inclusion in Cedar Falls. 
 

C. FY21 Detailed Objectives 
 
1. Continue planning for Hearst Center expansion/relocation. 

2. Use information from the completed usage study to determine the viability 
to continue to design and  plan for a  Recreation Center expansion 

3. Complete the following quality of life projects in FY20 – FY21: 

a. Implement when financially feasible an enhanced riverfront as a visitor 
attraction consistent with the Northern Cedar Falls Development 
Master Plan. 

b. Purchase land for future parks in developing areas in association with 
the Cedar Falls Schools when possible. 

c. Develop master plan for Island Park. 

d. Assist in the solicitation of grants and development of the Cedar River 
including dam safety improvements, riverbank improvements, and 
recreational features. 

e. Undertake the second phase of Greenwood Cemetery and Lookout 
Park Cedar River bank stabilization. 

f. Park Master Plan update. 

4. Continue to implement portions of the park master plan for the Big Woods 
Lake, Gateway Park and Cedar City sites in 2021. 

a. Make additional improvements at the Big Woods Campground (cabins, 
playground, and landscaping) as funding becomes available and as 
floodplain development ordinances allow. 

5. Develop and fund from increased hotel/motel tax revenues an annual 
Street Right-of-Way Beautification Wayfinding signage, bike network 
signage, and City Entrance Signage & Monument Program. 

6. Consider recommendations from City staff when alternative designs are 
appropriate based on safety, roadway efficiency and financially feasible. 
Typically, these opportunities arise when a street is scheduled for 
resurfacing or reconstruction allowing the City to address issues involving 
landscaping, pedestrian movements, transit, bike and vehicular traffic. 

7. Evaluate portions of the Comprehensive Watershed and Sensitive Lands 
Study to protect these areas when financially feasible. 

221

ITEM 15.



25 

 

8. Develop a policy to determine appropriate trails marked for removal of 
snow and inform public with a map of those trail routes.  

 
 

VI. ORGANIZATIONAL GOAL 6 

 Create an environment conducive to economic development. 
 

A. Supporting Policies 

1. Function as a catalyst to encourage and assist businesses to develop and 
expand in Cedar Falls. 

2. Continue to support public and private economic development efforts in 
Cedar Falls and the metropolitan area. 

 
B. Long Term & On-going Objectives 

1. Develop initiatives, when financially feasible, to support the economic 
development goals contained in the City’s Comprehensive Plan.  

2. Implement the long-term plan for the development of future TIF districts.   
This plan should include ways to acquire land and provide adequate 
infrastructure utilizing cooperative efforts with other groups and agencies. 

3. Continue the plan for strategic purchases of flood prone properties in a 
systematic manner to retain viable areas based on quality of 
infrastructure, elevation and contiguousness. 

4. Prepare on a project–by-project basis an in-depth analysis of the long-
term economic benefits vs. public investment/risk for each private/public 
cooperative economic development venture. (The analysis must conclude 
that the long-term financial benefit derived by Cedar Falls taxpayers 
clearly out-weighs the risk of public financial assets.) 

 
C. FY21 Detailed Objectives 

1. Economic development: 

a. Offer the same type of economic development incentives as other 
cities, in an effort to remain competitive. 

b. Continue to utilize TIF increment to acquire land and develop the City 
owned land into marketable industrial lots. 

c. Utilize TIF financing as a means to provide cash incentives to 
developers and business owners, when the request in consistent with 
adopted City economic development policies. 

d. Review and analyze the establishment of a University Avenue Corridor 
TIF district.  

222

ITEM 15.



26 

 

e. Review downtown incentives following adoption of new zoning, to not 
only consider the increase in assessed value but to also incentivize 
enhanced architectural design or public benefits of a project.  

f. Consider adopting an Urban Revitalization District in the downtown 
area, following the adoption of a new zoning.  

g. Provide property tax abatement based on current schedules when the 
project meets adopted job creation and tax base growth criteria.  

h. Redevelopment utilizing TIF financing should be considered for 
projects on College Hill, in the Downtown, and in northern Cedar Falls. 
Continue to collaborate with Grow Cedar Valley and other stakeholders 
in regional Economic Inclusion initiatives. 

i. Allocate funds in the budget to expand marketing efforts.  

 

2. Comprehensive planning, zoning, engineering and building: 

a. Develop a grading ordinance for all new and existing developments. 

b. Implement the City’s Comprehensive Plan by maintaining: 

• Design standards that protect urban watersheds by encouraging 
developers to utilize natural methods of storm water control rather 
than traditional underground storm water collection and disposal 
systems. 

• Growth, streets, street connectivity and walkability standards.  

• Encouraging the inclusion of more landscaping on City ROW, if it 
has a low maintenance expense. 

• Trails and on-road accommodation of bicyclists when safely 
designed. 

c. Develop a revised Cedar Falls Zoning Ordinance.  When the ordinance 
is developed consider: 

• Developing new zoning and traffic control regulations to better 
control density and parking problems citywide by reducing the 
number of multiple family and duplex conversions.  

• Requesting that the Planning and Zoning Commission consider 
new zoning regulation changes that limit or better control the 
conversion of single-family properties to rental uses as a means of 
protecting neighborhood stability and character. 

• Requesting that the Planning and Zoning Commission develop new 
zoning regulations, policies and land use plans that restrict 
development of non-profit uses on prime commercial sites along 
arterial streets. 

223

ITEM 15.



27 

 

• A Zoning Ordinance (and Subdivision Ordinance) that better 
accommodates features that encourage mixed uses, variable 
building setbacks, walkability, sustainability and street concepts. 

• Requesting that the Planning and Zoning Commission develop as a 
part of the new zoning ordinance zoning map areas that are pre-
zoned. 

� Select properties for residential development and pre-zone them, in 
an effort to speed the developmental process, identify 
neighborhood concerns and form developmental limitations in 
respond to founded neighborhood concerns. 

d. Support the annexation of additional lands into the city if requested by 
property owners, to support community growth and development, when 
consistent with the Comprehensive Plan. 

e. Code enforcement and neighborhood preservation: 

• Evaluate annually the performance of the formally adopted the 
Landlord Accountability Ordinance. 

• Implement traffic and parking controls City-wide based on the 
results of community meetings, test cases and specific structural or 
safety limitations (street width, density, traffic flow and safety). 

• Enforce laws prohibiting illegal parking on private property (front 
yards and non-conforming lots). 

• Enforce over-occupancy regulations. 

• Continue to utilize parking restrictions on all streets less than 31’ in 
width, based on the need for public safety vehicle accessibility. 

• Analyze, when appropriate, the use of traffic calming devices to 
solve neighborhood traffic concerns. 

• Maintain a Targeted Minimum Property Maintenance Code 
Enforcement Program. (Also addressed in Goal 3, FY21 Detailed 
Objectives.)  

• Consider and implement appropriate ordinances discussed by the 
Single Family Conversion taskforce that limits the number of 
converted single family home in neighborhoods. 

f. Continue to seek ways in which to promote affordable housing 
including:  

• Review of City construction standards. 

• Determine if existing older homes can provide a market for 
affordable housing demand.  

• Target potential developers with RFPs if federal or state grants can 
be secured.  

224

ITEM 15.



28 

 

• Continue a private/public partnership with Habitat for Humanity 
developing undeveloped or city-owned lots.  

 

3. Commercial and Office Development: 

a. Support the private development of commercial (retail & wholesale), 
professional office and industrial expansions to improve the City’s 
residential to commercial/industrial land use mix from an 80/20 
assessed value split to a 50/50 assessed value split. 

b. Consider development of diagonal on street parking within 
neighborhoods when it is structurally feasible and results in increased 
parking in areas where deficiencies exist. 

c. Develop Commercial and Business Park Plans along the Relocated 
Highway 20 corridor and establish a new urban renewal area if 
appropriate. 

d. Support the annexation of property south of US Highway 20, which can 
be immediately serviced with Cedar Falls water, sewer, police and fire 
protection, if petitioned by the property owner and establish a new 
urban renewal area if appropriate 

• Study the future use, ownership and corporate jurisdiction of land 
along the Highway 20 corridor, including cooperative arrangements 
with the City of Hudson if petitioned by property owners for 
annexation. 

4. College Hill: 

a. Continue to evaluate a parking plan for this area that coordinates with 
UNI parking availability.  

5. Northern Cedar Falls: 

a. Support the development of commercial uses in the NE corner of Lone 
Tree Road and Center Street and at the Lone Tree Road interchange. 

6. Downtown: 

a.  Develop a downtown parking plan that maximizes the number of on-
street and public parking lot spaces in FY20 and consider a pay-for-
parking study. Utilize diagonal on street parking when it is structurally 
feasible and resulting in increased parking in areas where deficiencies 
exist. 

7. Industrial Development: 

a. Create a new urban renewal area by acquiring additional land in areas 
that are attractive to the private sector for industrial development yet 
can be efficiently developed at a low public cost. 

225

ITEM 15.



29 

 

b. Reserve TIF increment capacity to allow for the payment of debt 
incurred by the cooperative construction of an interchange at Viking 
Road and US 58 between the City and IDOT. 

c. Continuing to aggressively repay Industrial Park TIF debt owed to the 
City debt service, economic development and capital project funds.  

d. Annually consider repaying eligible CFU expenses (if excess TIF 
revenues exist) for projects they have completed in City TIF districts 
subject to CFU maintaining a fair and updated annual transfer that 
equitably compensates the City for return on investment from City 
ownership, property taxes, franchise fees and use of ROW. 

8. MercyOne – Cedar Falls Hospital site: 

a. Plan for the redevelopment of the MercyOne – Cedar Falls site using 
current health trust fund monies.   

b. Organize a staff and council committee to determine options and best 
uses for that site. 

9. Flood control, storm water, sanitary sewer and water improvement 
priorities: 

a. Complete select “priority” waste water treatment system 
improvements: 

• Increase sewer rental fees to cover costs of sewer infrastructure 
improvements. 

• Seek a judicial solution to EPA changes in rules interpretations or 
begin designing a treatment upgrade, prepare a financing plan, pre-
set sewer rental rates and sell bonds to finance the project. 

• Seek federal grants to fund a portion of the project mandated by 
EPA, during the Cedar Valley Coalition visit to Washington D.C. 

10. Street Improvement priorities: 

a. Develop cooperative agreements with the IDOT to improve the 
following streets using Road Use revenues, Local Option Sales tax 
revenues, and General Obligation bonds, if necessary: 

b. 1st Street (Hudson Road to Main Street) – Consider a cooperative 
agreement similar to the project completed with the IDOT from Hudson 
Rd. to Union Rd. for construction in 2019-2021. (The majority of the 
City’s match for the project will be financed with Local Option Sales tax 
revenues supplemented with General Obligation bonds, if available, for 
any expanded initiatives designed into the project.) 

c. Main Street Reconstruction – Use Local Option Sales tax, Road Use 
taxes, Stormwater, and General Obligation bonds to complete this 
project for construction 2022-2025. 

226

ITEM 15.



30 

 

d. Cedar Heights Drive – Use of MPO and State safety grants will help 
fund this project.  The City’s match will come from Local Option Sales 
tax, Road Use tax, and general obligation bonds for construction 2020-
2022. 

e. West 27th Street Improvements – Use of Road Use Tax, Local Options 
Sales Tax, and general obligation bonds to complete this project in 
FY2021-2022. 

 
VII. ORGANIZATIONAL GOAL 7 

Select, train, motivate and retain highly qualified employees who represent 
the City in a professional manner. 

 
A. Supporting Policies 

1. Provide an employee wage and benefit schedule that is competitive with 
other municipalities in the state of Iowa and private enterprise in the metro 
area. 

2. Maintain clear lines and methods of communication between policy 
makers and staff. 

3. Treat employees with respect and expect, in turn, that they will treat 
citizens with respect. 

4. Encourage and support management and supervisory employees to be 
creative and innovative. 

5. The council supports the process of continuous quality improvement in the 
city government. 

 
B. Long Term & On-going Objectives 

1. Continue to monitor the ability to attract and maintain quality staff.   

2. Maintain and adequately finance a merit pay system that rewards superior 
performance in an effort to retain key employees 

3. Expand public safety officer model and other cross-training programs for 
employees to improve service without increasing staffing. 

4. Seek methods of reducing the cost of employee health insurance by 
altering benefits, seeking greater financial contribution from employees 
and modify methods of employee health service delivery. 

 
C. FY21 Detailed Objectives 

1. Continue to evaluate whether to fill an opening or proposed newly created 
position.  

2. Identify and implement opportunities to restructure, merge, or eliminate 
unnecessary positions when retirements or vacancies occur. 

227

ITEM 15.



31 

 

3. Continue to update the city’s employment strategies by developing and 
maintaining multi-year staffing and succession plans. 

4. Implement and keep up to date the comprehensive pay plan study that 
was completed in FY18.    

5. Fund the City’s tuition assistance program.  

6. Encourage all employees to utilize the City’s wellness program.  

7. Update the staffing plan to address the impacts of employment attrition, 
retirements and the use of part-time, PSO’s, POC’s, reserves, volunteers 
or other cross training programs to respond to long-term staffing needs. 

 
 

228

ITEM 15.



229

ITEM 16.



230

ITEM 16.



231

ITEM 16.



232

ITEM 16.



233

ITEM 16.



234

ITEM 16.



235

ITEM 16.



236

ITEM 16.



237

ITEM 16.



238

ITEM 16.



239

ITEM 16.



240

ITEM 16.



241

ITEM 16.



242

ITEM 16.



243

ITEM 16.



244

ITEM 16.



245

ITEM 16.



246

ITEM 16.



247

ITEM 16.



248

ITEM 16.



249

ITEM 17.



250

ITEM 17.



251

ITEM 17.



252

ITEM 17.



253

ITEM 17.



254

ITEM 17.



255

ITEM 17.



256

ITEM 17.



257

ITEM 17.



258

ITEM 17.



259

ITEM 17.



260

ITEM 17.



261

ITEM 17.



262

ITEM 17.



263

ITEM 17.



264

ITEM 17.



265

ITEM 17.



266

ITEM 17.



267

ITEM 17.



268

ITEM 17.



269

ITEM 17.



270

ITEM 17.



271

ITEM 17.



272

ITEM 17.



273

ITEM 17.



274

ITEM 17.



275

ITEM 17.



276

ITEM 17.



   CEDAR FALLS DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY SERVICES 

  CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 
  4600 S. MAIN STREET 
  CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 
  PHONE: (319) 273-8612 
 
 

MEMORANDUM 

To:  Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

From:  Jeff Olson, Public Safety Services Director 

Date:  February 6, 2020  

Re: Consolidated Public Safety Communications 28E 

Attached is a revised Consolidated Public Safety Communications 28E Agreement.  We 
have had a 28E agreement with the Consolidated Dispatch for a number of years.  A new 
Agreement was required as the formula that the cities are required to pay has changed 
(Article 10) and an earlier date was selected for the Dispatch budget to be completed (Article 
11).  Attachment A has the two factors used for calculating the fees of all agencies that are a 
part of the center. 
 
The fee for Dispatch has changed based on a vote of the Consolidated Dispatch Board.  
The fee was based on a calls for service formula only.  The new fee is based on 90% calls 
for service and 10% population.  The formula has changed a few times since the creation of 
Consolidated Dispatch.  
 
The change in the due date of the Dispatch budget was designed to allow for the cities to 
have an earlier notice of the dispatch fees to better plan for their budgeting process. 
 
I recommend approval of the Agreement.  
 
 

277

ITEM 18.



278

ITEM 18.



279

ITEM 18.



280

ITEM 18.



281

ITEM 18.



282

ITEM 18.



283

ITEM 18.



284

ITEM 18.



285

ITEM 18.



 

 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com  

 

INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM 

Administration Division 

  

  

 

 

  

 
 TO: Mayor Green & City Council  

 FROM: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Director of Community Development 

 DATE: February 13, 2020 

 SUBJECT: Prairie Winds 4th Addition – Final Occupancy Request 

 
The Final Plat for Prairie Winds 4th Addition (Panther Farms LLC) was approved by City 
Council August 19, 2019.  During the final plat review process, staff worked with the 
developer to revise easement locations and widths, since the approved drainage plans and 
what had been completed by the contractor were found to not be achieving the needed rear 
yard positive drainage to reach the Hudson Road Culvert, as also indicated from previous 
additions.  The plat approval included a contract for completion of the remaining public 
improvements along with a performance bond.  This approach allows a developer to obtain 
building permits and is allowed by our Subdivision Code.   
 
Since the plat approval, seven permits have been issued for properties in the 4th Addition.  
Completion of development improvements has progressed slowly.  The progress of 
residential building permits has now outpaced them.    Due to frozen winter conditions, Staff 
cannot complete a walk through for a final punch list, buttoning up the project and gaining 
final acceptance.  Coordination with CFU for a water punch list remains.  The larger items 
remaining include shaping/seeding/mulching multiple drainage swales and completing all 
ADA ramps for corner sidewalks.  All utility work was completed at the end of January, 
which impacted installing the ADA ramps.  Lien waivers for all work by subcontractors are 
also needed.  In addition, payment to the City for all inspection related costs are still 
needed. 
 
Frozen conditions prevent remaining work from occurring, therefore the developer is asking 
Council’s consideration to grant building occupancy for properties under construction.  Staff 
estimates six (6) residential properties may be completed by the end of March: 1821 Reese 
Rd, 2016 Ashworth, 5022 Kara Drive, 5014 Kara Drive, 2011 Ashworth, 2013 Reese Rd. 
This is permitted by the Subdivision Code, Section 24-54(e) and has been done in the past.  
The most recent example was several homes in Arbors, where unique coordination had to 
occur due to the shared detention pond, sidewalks and road to Aldrich Elementary.   
 
The following is a map identifying the lots where final occupancy may be requested before 
the end of March 2020.  Staff is seeking Council’s approval to grant building occupancy on 
the six (6) properties identified in this memo, subject to payment of past due inspection fees 
for Prairie Winds 4th Addition.

286

ITEM 19.



 

 

Prairie Winds 4th Addition: 
 
 

 
 

287

ITEM 19.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 

Administration Division 

  

  

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 TO: Mayor Green & City Council 

 FROM: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, AICP, Director of Community Development 

 DATE: February 13, 2020 

 SUBJECT: 2nd St. East Lot 

 
The FY20-FY25 CIP (#41) included the potential transfer of the 100 block parking lot 
(2nd St. East Lot) back to City ownership and proposed a payment for the cost of 
improvements.  City staff has worked with the developer on an agreement, since that 
time.  Attached is a purchase agreement confirming the cost of improvements at 
$737,812.64.  Staff has reviewed all the project invoices and confirmed they are related 
to the public parking area only, no construction financing or platting costs to create this 
separate lot are included. 

 
Section 8.2 of the 2012 Development Agreement restricts the developer from conveying 
property to entities outside of the developer, without City review and approval.  Since 
this proposal is to transfer property back to the City and that document requires Council 
approval, staff finds that Section 8.2 of the Development Agreement would be met with 
this transaction. 
 
Staff recommends approval of the purchase agreement. 
 
 
CC:   Ron Gaines, PE, City Administrator 
 Jennifer Rodenbeck, CPA, CPFO Director of Finance and Business Operations 

 
 
 
 
 
 

288

ITEM 20.



289

ITEM 20.



290

ITEM 20.



291

ITEM 20.



292

ITEM 20.



293

ITEM 20.



294

ITEM 20.



295

ITEM 20.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

 
City of Cedar Falls  
220 Clay Street  
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613   
www.cedarfalls.com  

 
Administration Division  Planning & Community Services Division 

Phone: 319-273-8600  Fax: 319-273-8610 
 

Engineering Division  Inspection Services Division 
Phone: 319-268-5161  Fax: 319-268-5197 

 
Water Reclamation Division 

Phone: 319-273-8633  Fax: 319-268-5566 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Terra Ray, Engineer Tech II 

 DATE: February 12, 2020 

 SUBJECT: W. 1st Street Reconstruction Project  
  Project # RC-000-3118 
  State Project # STP-57-2(28)-2C-07 
 
The City of Cedar Falls is working with the Iowa Department of Transportation on the 
reconstruction to W. 1st Street from Hudson Road to the Center/Franklin Street intersection. The 
project is in the construction phase, acquisitions of the necessary right of way needs are 
underway to meet the DOT and City’s funding years for construction. The road construction will 
take place in 2019-2020. This project includes a total reconstruction of the roadway from a four 
lane to a five lane facility. The project identifies the need for total acquisitions from three (3) 
properties and partial acquisitions from 68 properties. 
 
Attached is the Claim for Relocation Reimbursement for Parcel 2. Staff recommends that the City 
Council state their support in approving the Claim for Relocation Reimbursements. 
 
 
 
 
xc: Chase Schrage, Director 
 David Sturch, Planner III 
  

296

ITEM 21.



297

ITEM 21.



298

ITEM 21.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Ben Claypool, Civil Engineer II, PhD, EI 
 
 DATE: February 12th, 2019 
 
 SUBJECT: Maintenance and Repair Agreement  
  Post-Construction Stormwater Management Plan 
  Cedar Falls Gospel Hall Association 

Lot 367 in S. A. Bishop’s Replat of a part of Pacific Addition, Cedar Falls, 
Iowa 

 
 
The Post-Construction Stormwater Control Ordinance requires a formal maintenance 
and repair agreement for the stormwater management plan. The Maintenance and 
Repair Agreement will require the benefited property to undergo, at a minimum, an 
annual inspection and to maintain records of installation, maintenance and repair 
activities of the stormwater control devices. The agreement will also create an 
easement for the City to inspect and repair the stormwater control devices if the 
property owners fail or refuse to meet the requirements of the Maintenance and Repair 
Agreement. The Maintenance and Repair Agreement is attached for your review.  
 
The Engineering Division has reviewed the stormwater management plan and 
Maintenance and Repair Agreement for the Cedar Falls Gospel Hall parking lot site, 
owned by the Cedar Falls Gospel Hall Association located at Lot 367 in S. A. Bishop’s 
Replat of a part of Pacific Addition, Cedar Falls, Iowa and finds it in accordance with 
City Code. The Engineering Division recommends the agreement be accepted by the 
City Council and recorded at the Black Hawk County Recorder’s Office.  
 
 
xc: Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, City Engineer 
 

299

ITEM 22.



300

ITEM 22.



301

ITEM 22.



302

ITEM 22.



303

ITEM 22.



304

ITEM 22.



305

ITEM 22.



306

ITEM 22.



307

ITEM 22.



308

ITEM 22.



309

ITEM 22.



310

ITEM 22.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council  
 
 FROM: Ben Claypool, Civil Engineer II, PhD, EI 
 
 DATE: February 12th, 2019 
 
 SUBJECT: Downtown Streetscape and Reconstruction Project 
  Project No. RC-000-3180 
  Contract Documents 
 
Attached for your approval are the Form of Contract, the Performance, Payment, and 
Maintenance Bonds, Certificates of Insurance, and Form of Proposal with K. 
Cunningham Construction, Inc. for the construction of the Downtown Streetscape and 
Reconstruction Project. 
 
The Department of Public Works recommends approving and executing the contract 
with K. Cunningham Construction, Inc. for the construction of the Downtown 
Streetscape and Reconstruction Project. This project involves the removal and 
replacement of the Main Street parkade brick pavers from 1st to 3rd street while 
incorporating an updated design and additional streetscaping components. In 
conjunction with this update, the two blocks of 2nd and 3rd Street between Main and 
Washington Street will be fully reconstructed, including some sanitary and water main 
reconstruction, while also incorporating various streetscaping elements to expand the 
Main Street design elements further throughout the downtown area. 
 
If you have any questions or comments feel free to contact me.  
 
 
xc:  Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, City Engineer 
 Jon Fitch, Principal Engineer 
  

 
 
 

311

ITEM 23.



312

ITEM 23.



313

ITEM 23.



314

ITEM 23.



315

ITEM 23.



316

ITEM 23.



317

ITEM 23.



318

ITEM 23.



319

ITEM 23.



320

ITEM 23.



321

ITEM 23.



322

ITEM 23.



323

ITEM 23.



324

ITEM 23.



325

ITEM 23.



326

ITEM 23.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 

 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: February 12, 2020 
 
 SUBJECT: Professional Services Agreement 
  Terracon Consultants, Inc. 
   W. 1st Street Reconstruction – Iowa DNR Tier 1 Report 
   RC-000-3118 
 
Please find attached the Professional Services Agreement with Terracon Consultants 
Inc. that outlines the scope of services and costs to complete a Tier 1 Report as a result 
of removing two orphan underground storage tanks during the W. 1st Street 
Reconstruction project with the Iowa DOT. The Tier 1 Report is required by the Iowa 
DNR and must be completed by a certified groundwater professional. 
 
The City of Cedar Falls entered into a Professional Service Agreement with Terracon 
Consultants Inc. for the 2019 Construction Inspection Services on April 1st, 2019. 
Funding for this Professional Services Agreement will be provided by the General 
Obligation Bond in the amount of $9,525.00. This project is included in the City of Cedar 
Falls’ Capital Improvements Program (#140). 
 
The Public Works Department requests your consideration and approval of this 
Professional Services Agreement with Terracon for the Tier 1 Report.  
 
If you have any questions or comments feel free to contact me.  
 
xc:  Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 

327

ITEM 24.



328

ITEM 24.



329

ITEM 24.



330

ITEM 24.



331

ITEM 24.



332

ITEM 24.



333

ITEM 24.



334

ITEM 24.



335

ITEM 24.



336

ITEM 24.



337

ITEM 24.



338

ITEM 24.



339

ITEM 24.



340

ITEM 24.



341

ITEM 24.



342

ITEM 24.



343

ITEM 24.



344

ITEM 24.



345

ITEM 24.



346

ITEM 24.



347

ITEM 24.



348

ITEM 24.



349

ITEM 24.



350

ITEM 24.



351

ITEM 24.



352

ITEM 24.



353

ITEM 24.



354

ITEM 24.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Jon Fitch, Principal Engineer, PE 
 
 DATE: February 2, 2020 
 
 SUBJECT: Professional Services Agreement, Terracon Consultants, Inc.   
  2019 Construction Testing Services 
  Supplemental Agreement No. 1 
  City Project No. EN-000-3190 
 
Please find attached Supplemental Agreement No. 1 to the Professional Services 
Agreement between the City of Cedar Falls and Terracon Consultants, Inc. for 2019 
Construction Testing Services. This agreement extends the 2019 contract an additional 
two years through the construction season 2021.   
 
The enclosed agreement provides for construction and geotechnical testing services for 
ongoing construction projects and allows for other professional testing services which 
may be required on an “as needed” basis.  
  
The Department of Public Works requests your consideration and approval of this 
Supplemental Agreement No. 1 with Terracon Consultants, Inc. for the additional two 
years of construction testing services. 
 
If you have any questions or comments feel free to contact me. 
 
xc: Chase Schrage, Public Works Director 

David Wicke, City Engineer 

355

ITEM 25.



356

ITEM 25.



357

ITEM 25.



358

ITEM 25.



359

ITEM 25.



360

ITEM 25.



361

ITEM 25.



362

ITEM 25.



363

ITEM 25.



364

ITEM 25.



365

ITEM 25.



366

ITEM 25.



367

ITEM 25.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 
 
 DATE: February 12, 2020 
 
 SUBJECT: Professional Services Agreement 
  Foth Infrastructure and Environmental, LLC 
   2020 Bridge Inspection Project 
   BR-000-3224 
 
Please find attached the Professional Services Agreement with Foth Infrastructure, LLC 
that outlines the scope of services and costs to complete the 2020 Bridge Inspection 
Project. Of the sixty-three (63) bridges within the City of Cedar Falls, thirty six (36) of 
those are on the National Bridge Inventory. The alternating year inspection program is 
required by the Iowa Department of Transportation and must be completed by a 
qualified firm.  
 
The City of Cedar Falls has previously entered into Professional Service Agreements 
with Foth Infrastructure and Environmental LLC for the preceeding three bridge 
inspection cycles in which they’ve completed successfully. Funding for this project will 
be provided by the Street Construction Fund. Total compensation for services provided 
shall be based on hourly billing rates not to exceed the total amount of Twenty-seven 
thousand two hundred seventy-nine dollars ($27,279.00.) This project is included in the 
City of Cedar Falls Capital Improvements Program (#88). 
 
The Public Works Department requests your consideration and approval of this 
Professional Services Agreement with Foth Infrastructure and Environmental, LLC.  
 
If you have any questions or comments feel free to contact me.  
 
xc:  Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 

368

ITEM 26.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls  
220 Clay Street  
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613   
www.cedarfalls.com  

 

Administration Division  Planning & Community Services Division 
Phone: 319-273-8600  Fax: 319-273-8610 

 

Engineering Division  Inspection Services Division 
Phone: 319-268-5161  Fax: 319-268-5197 

 

Water Reclamation Division 
Phone: 319-273-8633  Fax: 319-268-5566 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICE AGREEMENT 
 

2020 Bridge Inspection Project 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project Number BR-000-3224  
 

 
  
This Agreement is made and entered by and between Foth Infrastructure & Environment, LLC, 411 6th 
Avenue SE, Suite 400, Cedar Rapids, IA 50401, hereinafter referred to as “CONSULTANT" and City of 
Cedar Falls, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa, hereinafter referred to as "CLIENT.” 
 
IN CONSIDERATION of the covenants hereinafter set forth, the parties hereto mutually agree as follows: 
 
I.  SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 
 CONSULTANT shall perform professional Services (the "Services") in connection with CLIENT's 

facilities in accordance with the Scope of Services set forth in Exhibit A attached hereto. 
 
II.  CONSULTANT'S RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
 CONSULTANT shall, subject to the terms and provisions of this Agreement: 
  
 (a) Appoint one or more individuals who shall be authorized to act on behalf of CONSULTANT 

and with whom CLIENT may consult at all reasonable times, and whose instructions, 
requests, and decisions will be binding upon CONSULTANT as to all matters pertaining to 
this Agreement and the performance of the parties hereunder. 

 
 (b) Use all reasonable efforts to complete the Services within the time period mutually agreed 

upon, except for reasons beyond its control, as set forth in Exhibit A. 
 
 (c) Perform the Services in accordance with generally accepted professional engineering 

standards in existence at the time of performance of the Services. If during the two year 
period following the completion of Services, it is shown that there is an error in the Services 
solely as a result of CONSULTANT's failure to meet these standards, CONSULTANT shall 
re-perform such substandard Services as may be necessary to remedy such error at no 
cost to CLIENT. Since CONSULTANT has no control over local conditions, the cost of labor 
and materials, or over competitive bidding and market conditions, CONSULTANT does not 
guarantee the accuracy of any construction cost estimates as compared to contractor's bids 
or the actual cost to the CLIENT. CONSULTANT makes no other warranties either express 
or implied and the parties’ rights, liabilities, responsibilities and remedies with respect to the 
quality of Services, including claims alleging negligence, breach of warranty and breach of 

369

ITEM 26.



contract, shall be exclusively those set forth herein. 
 
 (d) CONSULTANT shall, if requested in writing by CLIENT, for the protection of CLIENT, 

require from all vendors and subcontractors from which CONSULTANT procures 
equipment, materials or services for the project, guarantees with respect to such 
equipment, materials and services. All such guarantees shall be made available to CLIENT 
to the full extent of the terms thereof. CONSULTANT's liability with respect to such 
equipment, and materials obtained from vendors or services from subcontractors, shall be 
limited to procuring guarantees from such vendors or subcontractors and rendering all 
reasonable assistance to CLIENT for the purpose of enforcing the same. 

 
(e) CONSULTANT will be providing estimates of costs to the CLIENT covering an extended 

period of time. CONSULTANT does not have control over any such costs, including, but not 
limited to, costs of labor, material, equipment or services furnished by others or over 
competitive bidding, marketing or negotiating conditions, or construction contractors’ 
methods of determining their prices. Accordingly, it is acknowledged and understood that 
any estimates, projections or opinions of probable project costs provided herein by 
CONSULTANT are estimates only, made on the basis of CONSULTANT’s experience and 
represent CONSULTANT’s reasonable judgment as a qualified professional. 
CONSULTANT does not guarantee that proposals, bids or actual project costs will not vary 
from the opinions of probable costs prepared by CONSULTANT, and the CLIENT waives 
any and all claims that it may have against CONSULTANT as a result of any such variance.  

 
III. CLIENT’S RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
 CLIENT shall at such times as may be required for the successful and expeditious completion of the 

Services: 
 
 (a) Provide all criteria and information as to CLIENT’s requirements; obtain all necessary 

approvals and permits required from all governmental authorities having jurisdiction over 
the project; and designate a person with authority to act on CLIENT’s behalf on all matters 
concerning the Services. 

  
 (b) Furnish to CONSULTANT all existing studies, reports and other available data pertinent to 

the Services, and obtain additional reports, data and services as may be required for the 
project. CONSULTANT shall be entitled to rely upon all such information, data and the 
results of such other services in performing its Services hereunder. 

 
IV. INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CONTRACTORS FOR THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 
  

The provisions of the document entitled, "Insurance Requirements for Contractors for the City of 
Cedar Falls," which are attached hereto, marked Exhibit B, are hereby made a part of this 
Agreement as if set out word for word herein. 
  
CONSULTANT shall furnish to CLIENT a certificate or certificates of insurance containing all 
coverages, endorsements and other provisions required by the Insurance Requirements set forth 
in Exhibit B. In the event of any conflict between the provisions of Exhibit B and the other terms of 
this Agreement, the provisions of Exhibit B shall control. 
 

 CONSULTANT shall obtain and maintain an insurance policy or policies that meet the provisions 
set out in the Insurance Requirements for Contractors for the City of Cedar Falls, attached hereto 
and marked Exhibit B. 

 
 
 
 

370

ITEM 26.



V. STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR CONTRACTS BETWEEN CONTRACTORS WHO 
PERFORM PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AND THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 

 
 The provisions of the documents entitled “Standard Terms and Conditions for Contracts Between 

Contractors Who Perform Professional Services and the City of Cedar Falls,” consisting of two 
pages are incorporated into this Agreement by the Client and attached as Exhibit C. 

 
VI. COMPENSATION AND TERMS OF PAYMENT 
 
 Compensation for the services shall be on an hourly basis in accordance with the hourly fees and 

other direct expenses in effect at the time the services are performed. Total compensation is a 
not to exceed a fee of Forty thousand three hundred thirty-nine dollars ($40,339.00). 

 
CONSULTANT may bill the CLIENT monthly for services completed at the time of billing. CLIENT 
agrees to pay CONSULTANT the full amount of such invoice within thirty (30) days after receipt 
thereof. In the event CLIENT disputes any invoice item, CLIENT shall give CONSULTANT written 
notice of such disputed item within ten (10) days after receipt of invoice and shall pay to 
CONSULTANT the undisputed portion of the invoice according to the provisions hereof. CLIENT 
agrees to abide by any applicable statutory prompt pay provisions currently in effect. 

 
VII. TERMINATION 
 
 CLIENT may, with or without cause, terminate the Services at any time upon fourteen (14) days 

written notice to CONSULTANT. The obligation to provide further Services under this Agreement 
may be terminated by either party upon fourteen (14) days' written notice in the event of substantial 
failure by the other party to perform in accordance with the terms hereof through no fault of the 
terminating party, providing such defaulting party has not cured such failure, or, in the event of a 
non-monetary default, commenced reasonable actions to cure such failure. In either case, 
CONSULTANT will be paid for all expenses incurred and Services rendered to the date of the 
termination in accordance with compensation terms of Article VI. 

 
VIII. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS 
 

(a) Sealed original drawings, specifications, final project specific calculations and other 
instruments of service which CONSULTANT prepares and delivers to CLIENT pursuant to 
this Agreement shall become the property of CLIENT when CONSULTANT has been 
compensated for Services rendered. CLIENT shall have the right to use such instruments 
of service solely for the purpose of the construction, operation and maintenance of the 
Facilities. Any other use or reuse of original or altered files shall be at CLIENT’s sole risk 
without liability or legal exposure to CONSULTANT and CLIENT agrees to release, defend 
and hold CONSULTANT harmless from and against all claims or suits asserted against 
CONSULTANT in the event such documents are used for a purpose different than originally 
prepared even though such claims or suits may be based on allegations of negligence by 
CONSULTANT. Nothing contained in this paragraph shall be construed as limiting or 
depriving CONSULTANT of its rights to use its basic knowledge and skills to design or 
carry out other projects or work for itself or others, whether or not such other projects or 
work are similar to the work to be performed pursuant to this Agreement. 

 
(b) Any files delivered in electronic medium may not work on systems and software different 

than those with which they were originally produced and CONSULTANT makes no 
warranty as to the compatibility of these files with any other system or software. Because of 
the potential degradation of electronic medium over time, in the event of a conflict between 
the sealed original drawings and the electronic files, the sealed drawings will govern. 

 
 
IX. MEANS AND METHODS 

371

ITEM 26.



 
(a) CONSULTANT shall not have control or charge of and shall not be responsible for 

construction means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures, or for safety 
measures and programs including enforcement of Federal and State safety requirements, 
in connection with construction work performed by CLIENT's construction contractors. Nor 
shall CONSULTANT be responsible for the supervision of CLIENT's construction 
contractors, subcontractors or of any of their employees, agents and representatives of 
such contractors; or for inspecting machinery, construction equipment and tools used and 
employed by contractors and subcontractors on CLIENT's construction projects and shall 
not have the right to stop or reject work without the thorough evaluation and approval of the 
CLIENT. In no event shall CONSULTANT be liable for the acts or omissions of CLIENT's 
construction contractors, subcontractors or any persons or entities performing any of the 
construction work, or for the failure of any of them to carry out construction work under 
contracts with CLIENT. 

 
X. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR 
 
 CONSULTANT shall be an independent contractor with respect to the Services to be performed 

hereunder. Neither CONSULTANT nor its subcontractors, nor the employees of either, shall be 
deemed to be the servants, employees, or agents of CLIENT. 

 
XI. PRE-EXISTING CONDITIONS 
 
 Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, CONSULTANT shall have no legal responsibility or 

liability for any and all pre-existing contamination. "Pre-existing contamination" is any hazardous or 
toxic substance present at the site or sites concerned which was not brought onto such site or sites 
by CONSULTANT. CLIENT agrees to release CONSULTANT from and against any and all liability 
to the CLIENT which may in any manner arise in any way directly or indirectly caused by such pre-
existing contamination except if such liability arises from CONSULTANT's sole negligence or willful 
misconduct. 

 
 CLIENT shall, at CLIENT’s sole expense and risk, arrange for handling, storage, transportation, 

treatment and delivery for disposal of pre-existing contamination. CLIENT shall be solely 
responsible for obtaining a disposal site for such material. CLIENT shall look to the disposal facility 
and/or transporter for any responsibility or liability arising from improper disposal or transportation of 
such waste. CONSULTANT shall not have or exert any control over CLIENT in CLIENT’s 
obligations or responsibilities as a generator in the storage, transportation, treatment or disposal of 
any pre-existing contamination. CLIENT shall complete and execute any governmentally required 
forms relating to regulated activities including, but not limited to generation, storage, handling, 
treatment, transportation, or disposal of pre-existing contamination.  

 
 For CONSULTANT's Services requiring drilling, boring, excavation or soils sampling, CLIENT shall 

approve selection of the contractors to perform such services, all site locations, and provide 
CONSULTANT with all necessary information regarding the presence of underground hazards, 
utilities, structures and conditions at the site.  
 

XII. DISPUTE RESOLUTION 
 
 If a dispute arises out of, or relates to, the breach of this Agreement and if the dispute cannot be 

settled through negotiation, then the CONSULTANT and the CLIENT agree to submit the dispute to 
mediation. In the event CONSULTANT or the CLIENT desires to mediate any dispute, that party 
shall notify the other party in writing of the dispute desired to be mediated. If the parties are unable 
to resolve their differences within 10 days of the receipt of such notice, such dispute shall be 
submitted for mediation in accordance with the procedures and rules of the American Arbitration 
Association (or any successor organization) then in effect. The deadline for submitting the dispute 
to mediation can be changed if the parties mutually agree in writing to extend the time between 

372

ITEM 26.



373

ITEM 26.



Foth Infrastructure & Environment, LLC  2020 Bridge Inspection Project 
Project No. 20C017.00  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project Number BR-000-3224 
   

  
 

Page 1 of 3 

Exhibit A – Scope of Services 

 
2020 Bridge Inspection Project 

Cedar Falls, Iowa 
City Project Number BR-000-3224 

 

 
The work to be performed by the CONSULTANT under this agreement shall encompass and include all 
detail work, services, materials, equipment and supplies necessary to complete the 2020 biannual 
National Bridge Inventory (NBI) inspections of 36 structures, the safety inspection of 27 additional 
structures and the NBI underwater bridge inspection for four (4) structures for the City of Cedar Falls. 
 
The project includes conducting the bridge safety inspections by a qualified Team Leader, recording of 
inspection data in Structure Inventory and Inspection Management System (SIIMS), bridge load rating, 
compiling a bridge inspection report, and assisting the City in managing their bridge inspection records. 
 
The scope of services to be performed by the CONSULTANT shall be completed in accordance with 
generally accepted standards of practice and shall include the services to complete the following tasks: 
 

TASK A - Basic Services of the Engineer: 
 
1.0 CONTRACT MANAGEMENT 
 
1.1 Project Management 
The project manager shall be responsible for the development and tracking of the project plan for the 
project development.  This includes task identification, staff scheduling and coordination, project 
communications, monthly progress reporting and invoicing and other important elements of the project.  
The project design duration is assumed to be three (3) months. 
 
1.2 Project Development Team Meetings 
Maintain communications with the Project Development Team and various other designated 
representatives.  The project development team will include the City of Cedar Falls and Foth.  Meet to 
review progress and to discuss specific elements of the project design (assume one (1) meeting).  The 
meetings will also serve to establish schedules, develop project goals, establish initial design parameters, 
promote a dialog between the various entities, improve the decision-making process, and expedite design 
development.  Prepare minutes of meetings and keep documentation of other communications.  For 
budget purposes, it is assumed that the meetings will be attended by one (1) staff member of the 
CONSULTANT. 
 
The following project meetings are included with the scope of work: 
Review of Bridge Inspection Report - one (1) meeting 
 
1.3 Quality Control Plan 
Establish review and checking procedures for project deliverables. Designate responsibility for 
implementation of the plan. 
 
 
2.0 PROJECT COORDINATION 
 
2.1 Public Information Meeting – (Task Not Included). 
 
2.2 Individual Property Owner Meetings – (Task Not Included). 
 
2.3 Utility Coordination Meeting – (Task Not Included). 
 
2.4 Periodic Meetings with Local Elected Officials – (Task Not Included). 

374

ITEM 26.



Foth Infrastructure & Environment, LLC  2020 Bridge Inspection Project 
Project No. 20C017.00  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project Number BR-000-3224 

 

 
 

Page 2 of 3 

 
2.5 Exhibit Preparation for Council Meetings – (Task Not Included). 
 
 
3.0 ROUTINE BRIDGE INSPECTION 
 
3.1 Prepare for Bridge Inspections 
The CONSULTANT shall review the previous inspection reports and electronic files uploaded to SIIMS.   
Plans for bridge construction and repair work completed since the 2018 inspections will be uploaded to 
SIIMS.  New reports for the current inspection cycle will be created in SIIMS and copies of these reports 
with the prior inspection data will be printed for use in the field during the inspection.  Arrangements will 
be made to rent or otherwise secure any specialized equipment not owned by the CONSULTANT and 
required to complete the inspections. 
 
3.2 In-Field Bridge Inspections 
The CONSULTANT shall perform a safety inspection of each NBI bridge conducted by a qualified Team 
Leader.  In addition to assessing all structural elements, the channel cross section will be measured and 
recorded when significant changes since previous measurement have occurred.  Underwater inspections 
are not required for this inspection cycle and therefore not included in this scope.  Any deficiencies 
observed will be noted and photographed and any significant section loss will be measured.  Existing 
element ratings on the Structure Inventory and Appraisal (SI&A) form will be reviewed and adjusted if 
necessary. 
 
In general, the inspection and evaluation process for the non-NBI structures will adhere to the approach 
outlined for the NBI structures, however information will not be reported in SIIMS since the Iowa DOT only 
maintains data on the NBI structures.  Therefore, the information gathered during the inspections will be 
recorded in a database maintained by the CONSULTANT in a format that mimics the SIIMS format.   
 
3.3 Bridge Load Rating 
Existing load rating calculations will be reviewed by a licensed Professional Engineer (PE) in the State of 
Iowa employed by the CONSULTANT.  Updates to the calculations will be made when necessary and 
any new or revised load rating calculations will be sealed by the PE and uploaded to SIIMS.  The City will 
be advised if load rating calculations indicate a bridge requires load posting. 
 
3.4 SIIMS Data Entry 
Information collected during the inspection will be uploaded to SIIMS by the CONSULTANT including all 
photographs taken, the channel cross section sketch, and any changes to existing SI&A data.  Other 
items that will be completed following the safety inspection and uploaded to SIIMS includes critical finding 
reports when applicable and the various master lists required by IM No. 2.210.  The CONSULTANT will 
also verify the bridge files are in conformance with the AASHTO Manual for Bridge Evaluation and make 
additions and/or revisions to the bridge files when necessary.   
 
3.5 Scour Plans of Action 
Review scour plans of action (POA) for the NBI bridges deemed scour critical (approximately seven (7) 
bridges).  The POA should outline the monitoring plan for each bridge and provide guidelines and 
practical information pertaining to each bridge for the purpose of monitoring foundation scour during flood 
events.   
 
3.6 Report Preparation 
The CONSULTANT shall prepare a bridge inspection report for submittal to the City.  The report will 
contain a brief description of the bridge condition documenting any observed deficiencies with 
recommendations to address each deficiency, and applicable photographs.  The report will also include 
copies of the updated SI&A forms and the local agency field data collection forms.  A tabular summary of 
the inspections will be presented and will include current and recommended load postings, sufficiency 
rating, indication if the bridge is structurally deficient and/or functionally obsolete, and recommendations 
for further action.  Three (3) copies of the bridge inspection report will be provided to the City. 
 

375

ITEM 26.



Foth Infrastructure & Environment, LLC  2020 Bridge Inspection Project 
Project No. 20C017.00  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project Number BR-000-3224 

 

 
 

Page 3 of 3 

4.0 UNDERWATER BRIDGE INSPECTION 
 
4.1 In-Field Underwater Bridge Inspections 
The underwater bridge inspections will be completed utilizing SubCONSULTANT services.  The 
CONSULTANT shall be on site during the underwater bridge inspections to fulfill the National Bridge 
Inventory Standards (NBIS) Team Leader requirement.  It is assumed the underwater bridge inspections 
for the four (4) bridges can be completed in two (2) days. 
 
4.2 Underwater Inspection Report 
The CONSULTANT shall review the underwater bridge inspection reports provided by the 
SubCONSULTANT and upload the final reports to the Structure Inventory and Inspection Management 
System (SIIMS).  The CONSULTANT shall complete the SIIMS underwater bridge inspection report. 
 

 
PROJECT DELIVERABLES 
 

The scope of services shall be considered complete upon completion and delivery of the following items 
to the satisfaction of the City Engineer: 

 Three (3) copies of the Routine Bridge Inspection Report 

 Three (3) copies of the Underwater Bridge Inspection Report 
 
 

PROJECT SCHEDULE 
 
The CONSULTANT shall complete the following phases of the Project in accordance with the schedule 
shown, assuming notice to proceed is issued by the City on or before March 2, 2020. 
 

Consultant Contract Approval     March 2, 2020  

Bridge File Review     March 6, 2020 

Routine Bridge Inspections    March 27, 2020 

Routine Inspection Data Reported to SIIMS  March 27, 2020 

Load Rating Calculations    April 17, 2020 

Draft Routine Inspection Report and QA/QC  April 17, 2020 

Final Routine Inspection Report Submittal  April 24, 2020 

Underwater Bridge Inspections    August 31, 2020 

Underwater Inspection Data Reported to SIIMS  September 14, 2020 

Final Underwater Inspection Report Submittal  September 14, 2020 

 

 

If notice to proceed is given at a later date, time of completion shall be extended accordingly. 

 

376

ITEM 26.



 

  2020 Bridge Inspection Project 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. BR-000-3224 

    

Exhibit B 
 

2020 Bridge Inspection Project 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project Number BR-000-3224 
 

  8/1/19 
 
    INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR 

CONTRACTORS FOR THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 
 
*** This document outlines the insurance requirements for all Contractors who 
perform work for the City of Cedar Falls. The term “contractor” as used in this 
document shall be defined as the general contractor, artisan contractor, or design 
contractor that will be performing work for the City of Cedar Falls under contract. 
 
 
1.  All policies of insurance required hereunder shall be with an insurer 
authorized by law to do business in Iowa.  All insurance policies shall be 
companies satisfactory to the City and have a rating of A-, VII or better in the 
current A.M. Best Rating Guide.   
 
2. All Certificates of Insurance required hereunder shall include the 
Cancellation & Material Change Endorsement.  A copy of this endorsement is 
attached in Exhibit 1. 
 
3.  Contractor shall furnish a signed Certificate of Insurance to the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa for the coverage required in Exhibit 1.  Such Certificates shall 
include copies of the following endorsements: 
 

a) Commercial General Liability policy is primary and non-contributing 
b) Commercial General Liability additional insured endorsement – See 

Exhibit 1 
c) Governmental Immunities Endorsement – See Exhibit 1 

 
Copies of additional insured endorsements, executed by an authorized 
representative from an Insurer duly licensed to transact business at the location 
of the jobsite, must be provided prior to the first payment.    
 
Contractor shall, upon request by the City, provide Certificates of Insurance for 
all subcontractors and sub-sub contractors who perform work or services 
pursuant to the provisions of this contract. 
 
4. Each certificate shall be submitted to the City of Cedar Falls. 

377

ITEM 26.



 

  2020 Bridge Inspection Project 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. BR-000-3224 

 
5. Failure to provide minimum coverage shall not be deemed a waiver of 
these requirements by the City of Cedar Falls. Failure to obtain or maintain the 
required insurance shall be considered a material breach of this agreement.   
 
6. Failure of the Contractor to maintain the required insurance shall 
constitute a default under this Contract, and at City’s option, shall allow City to 
terminate this Contract for cause and/or purchase said insurance at Contractor’s 
expense. 
 
7. Contractor shall be required to carry the following minimum 
coverage/limits or greater, if required by law or other legal agreement; as per 
Exhibit 1: 
 

 This coverage shall be written on an occurrence, not claims made form. 
All deviations or exclusions from the standard ISO commercial general 
liability form CG 001 shall be clearly identified and shall be subject to the 
review and approval of the City.  

 
 Contractor shall maintain ongoing CGL coverage for at least 2 years 

following substantial completion of the Work to cover liability arising from 
the products-completed operations hazard and liability assumed under an 
insured contract.    

 
 Governmental Immunity endorsement identical or equivalent to form 

attached. 
 

 Additional Insured Requirement – See Exhibit 1. 
The City of Cedar Falls, including all its elected and appointed officials, all 
its employees and volunteers, all its boards, commissions and/or 
authorities and their board members, employees and volunteers shall be 
named as an additional insured on General Liability Policies for all classes 
of contractors. 
 
Contractors shall include coverage for the City of Cedar Falls as an 
additional insured including ongoing and completed operations coverage 
equivalent to: ISO CG 20 10 07 04* and ISO CG 20 37 07 04** 
 

*  ISO CG 20 10 07 04 “Additional Insured – Owners, Lessees or 
Contractors – Scheduled Person or Organization” 

  
 ** ISO CG 20 37 07 04 “Additional Insured – Owners, Lessees or 

Contractors – Completed Operations”  
 
 

378

ITEM 26.



 

  2020 Bridge Inspection Project 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. BR-000-3224 

8. Errors & Omissions:  If the contract’s scope of services includes design 
work or other professional services, then Contractor shall maintain insurance 
coverage for errors, omissions and other wrongful acts or omissions (except for 
intentional acts or omissions), arising out of the professional services performed 
by Contractor. Contractor shall maintain continuous Errors & Omissions 
coverage for a period commencing no later than the date of the contract, and 
continuing for a period of no less than 2 years from the date of completion of all 
work completed or services performed under the contract.  The limit of liability 
shall not be less than $1,000,000. 
 

9. Separation of Insured’s Provision: If Contractor’s liability policies do not 
contain the standard ISO separation of insured’s provision, or a substantially 
similar clause, they shall be endorsed to provide cross-liability coverage. 
 
10. Limits: By requiring the insurance as set out in this Contract, City does not 
represent that coverage and limits will necessarily be adequate to protect 
Contractor and such coverage and limits shall not be deemed as a limitation on 
Contractor’s liability under the indemnities provided to City in this Contract.  The 
City will have the right at any time to require liability insurance greater than that 
otherwise specified in Exhibit 1. If required, the additional premium or premiums 
payable shall be added to the bid price. 
 
11. Indemnification (Hold Harmless) Provision:  To the fullest extent permitted 
by law, the Contractor agrees to defend, pay on behalf of, indemnify, and hold 
harmless the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, its elected and appointed officials, 
directors, employees, agents and volunteers working on behalf of the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa against any and all claims, demands, suits or loss, including 
any and all outlay and expense connected therewith, and for damages which 
may be asserted, claimed or recovered against or from the City of Cedar Falls, 
Iowa, its elected and appointed officials, directors, employees, agents and 
volunteers working on behalf of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, including, but not 
limited to, damages arising by reason of personal injury, including bodily injury or 
death, and property damages, which arises out of or is in any way connected or 
associated with the work and/or services provided by the Contractor to the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa pursuant to the provisions of this contract to the extent arising 
out of the errors, omissions or negligent acts of the Contractor, its agents, 
employees, subcontractors or others working on behalf of the Contractor.  It is 
the intention of the parties that the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, its elected and 
appointed officials, directors, employees, agents and volunteers working on 
behalf of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa shall not be liable or in any way 
responsible for the injury, damage, liability, loss or expense incurred by the 
Contractor, its officers, employees, subcontractors, and others affiliated with the 
Contractor due to accidents, mishaps, misconduct, negligence or injuries either in 
person or property resulting from the work and/or services performed by the 

379

ITEM 26.



 

  2020 Bridge Inspection Project 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. BR-000-3224 

Contractor pursuant to the provisions of this contract, except for and to the extent 
caused by the negligence of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa.   
 
The Contractor expressly assumes full responsibility for damages or injuries 
which may result to any person or property by reason of or in connection with the 
work and/or services provided by the Contractor to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
pursuant to this contract to the extent arising out of the errors, omissions or 
negligent acts of the Contractor, its agents, employees, subcontractors or others 
working on behalf of the Contractor, and agrees to pay the City of Cedar Falls, 
Iowa for all damages caused to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa premises resulting 
from the work and/or services of the Contractor, its officers, employees, 
subcontractors, and others affiliated with the Contractor to the extent arising out 
of such errors, omissions or negligent acts. 
 
The Contractor represents that its activities pursuant to the provisions of this 
contract will be performed and supervised by adequately trained and qualified 
personnel, and the Contractor will observe, and cause its officers, employees, 
subcontractors and others affiliated with the Contractor to observe all applicable 
safety rules. 
 
12. Performance and Payment Bonds: The City shall have the right to require 
the Contractor to furnish performance and payment bonds for the full amount of 
the Contract price.  The Contractor shall furnish, by a surety and in a form 
satisfactory to the City, such bonds to the City, prior to the start of Contractor’s 
Work, covering the performance of the Contractor and the payment of all 
obligations arising hereunder.  The Contractor, upon receipt of the bonds and 
invoice from the surety, shall pay for the cost of said bonds. Additional bond 
premium costs due to modifications to the Contract shall be included in the 
modification amount submitted by Contractor, and paid by Contractor.  
 
13. Waiver of Subrogation: To the extent permitted by law, Contractor hereby 
releases the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, its elected and appointed officials, its 
directors, employees, agents and volunteers working on behalf of the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa, from and against any and all liability or responsibility to the 
Contractor or anyone claiming through or under the Contractor by way of 
subrogation or otherwise, for any loss or damage to property caused by fire or 
any other casualty and for any loss due to bodily injury to Contractor’s 
employees. This provision shall be applicable and in full force and effect only with 
respect to loss or damage occurring during the time of this contract or arising out 
of the work performed under this contract. The Contractor’s policies of insurance 
shall contain a clause or endorsement to the effect that such release shall not 
adversely affect or impair such policies or prejudice the right of the Contractor to 
recover thereunder. 
 
 

380

ITEM 26.



 

  2020 Bridge Inspection Project 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. BR-000-3224 

Completion Checklist 
 

 Certificate of Liability Insurance (2 pages) 
 Additional Insured CG 20 10 07 04 
 Additional Insured CG 20 37 07 04 
 Governmental Immunities Endorsement 

 
 
 
  

381

ITEM 26.



 

  2020 Bridge Inspection Project 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. BR-000-3224 

EXHIBIT 1 – INSURANCE SCHEDULE 
 
 
General Liability (Occurrence Form Only): 

 Commercial General Liability 
  General Aggregate  $2,000,000 
  Products-Completed Operations Aggregate Limit $2,000,000 
  Personal and Advertising Injury Limit $1,000,000 
  Each Occurrence Limit  $1,000,000 
  Fire Damage Limit (any one occurrence) $     50,000 
  Medical Payments  $       5,000 
  

 

Automobile: (Combined Single Limit)     $1,000,000                            

If the Contractor does not own any vehicles, coverage is required on non-owned 
and hired vehicles. 
 
 
Standard Workers Compensation  
 Statutory for Coverage A 
 Employers Liability:  
 Each Accident $  500,000 
 Each Employee – Disease $  500,000 
 Policy Limit – Disease $  500,000 
 
 
Umbrella:  $3,000,000 
The Umbrella/Excess Insurance shall be written on a per occurrence basis and if 
the Umbrella/Excess is not written on a follow form basis it shall have the same 
endorsements as required of the primary policy(ies). 
 
 
Errors & Omissions: $1,000,000 
 

 
  

382

ITEM 26.



 

  2020 Bridge Inspection Project 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. BR-000-3224 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
ADDITIONAL INSURED ENDORSEMENT 

 
The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, including all its elected and appointed officials, all 
its employees and volunteers, all its boards, commissions and/or authorities and 
their board members, employees, and volunteers, are included as Additional 
Insureds, including ongoing operations CG 2010 07 04 or equivalent, and 
completed operations CG 2037 07 04 or equivalent. See Specimens. 
 
This coverage shall be primary to the Additional Insureds, and not contributing 
with any other insurance or similar protection available to the Additional Insureds, 
whether other available coverage be primary, contributing or excess. 

 
 
 

GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITIES ENDORSEMENT 
(For use when including the City as an Additional Insured) 

 

1. Nonwaiver of Government Immunity. The insurance carrier expressly 
agrees and states that the purchase of this policy and the including of the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa as an Additional Insured does not waive any of the defenses of 
governmental immunity available to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa under Code of 
Iowa Section 670.4 as it now exists and as it may be amended from time to time. 
 
2. Claims Coverage. The insurance carrier further agrees that this policy of 
insurance shall cover only those claims not subject to the defense of 
governmental immunity under the Code of Iowa Section 670.4 as it now exists 
and as it may be amended from time to time. 
 
3. Assertion of Government Immunity. The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa shall be 
responsible for asserting any defense of governmental immunity, and may do so 
at any time and shall do so upon the timely written request of the insurance 
carrier. Nothing contained in this endorsement shall prevent the carrier from 
asserting the defense of governmental immunity on behalf of the City of Cedar 
Falls, Iowa. 
 
4. Non-Denial of Coverage. The insurance carrier shall not deny coverage 
under this policy and the insurance carrier shall not deny any of the rights and 
benefits accruing to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa under this policy for reasons of 
governmental immunity unless and until a court of competent jurisdiction has 
ruled in favor of the defense(s) of governmental immunity asserted by the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa. 
 

383

ITEM 26.



 

  2020 Bridge Inspection Project 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. BR-000-3224 

5. No Other Change in Policy. The insurance carrier and the City of Cedar 
Falls, Iowa agree that the above preservation of governmental immunities shall 
not otherwise change or alter the coverage available under the policy. 

CANCELLATION AND MATERIAL CHANGES ENDORSEMENT 

 
Thirty (30) days Advance Written Notice of Cancellation, Non-Renewal, 
Reduction in coverage and/or limits and ten (10) days written notice of non-
payment of premium shall be sent to: Risk Management Office, City of Cedar 
Falls, City Hall, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613. This endorsement 
supersedes the standard cancellation statement on the Certificate of Insurance to 
which this endorsement is attached.  Contractor agrees to furnish the City with 30 
days advance written notice of cancellation, non-renewal, reduction in coverage 
and/or limits, and 10 days advance written notice of non-payment of premium. 
 
 
  

384

ITEM 26.



SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE

INSURER F :

INSURER E :

INSURER D :

INSURER C :

INSURER B :

INSURER A :

NAIC #

NAME:
CONTACT

(A/C, No):
FAX

E-MAIL
ADDRESS:

PRODUCER

(A/C, No, Ext):
PHONE

INSURED

REVISION NUMBER:CERTIFICATE NUMBER:COVERAGES

IMPORTANT:  If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement.  A statement on
this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW.  THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

OTHER:

(Per accident)

(Ea accident)

$

$

N / A

SUBR
WVD

ADDL
INSD

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED.  NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

$

$

$

$PROPERTY DAMAGE

BODILY INJURY (Per accident)

BODILY INJURY (Per person)

COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT

AUTOS ONLY

AUTOSAUTOS ONLY
NON-OWNED

SCHEDULEDOWNED

ANY AUTO

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

Y / N

WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY

OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?
(Mandatory in NH)

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below
If yes, describe under

ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE

$

$

$

E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT

E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE

E.L. EACH ACCIDENT

ER
OTH-

STATUTE
PER

LIMITS(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EXP

(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EFF

POLICY NUMBERTYPE OF INSURANCELTR
INSR

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES  (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space is required)

EXCESS LIAB

UMBRELLA LIAB $EACH OCCURRENCE

$AGGREGATE

$

OCCUR

CLAIMS-MADE

DED RETENTION $

$PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG

$GENERAL AGGREGATE

$PERSONAL & ADV INJURY

$MED EXP (Any one person)

$EACH OCCURRENCE
DAMAGE TO RENTED

$PREMISES (Ea occurrence)

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

CLAIMS-MADE OCCUR

GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER:

POLICY
PRO-
JECT LOC

CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)

CANCELLATION

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

ACORD 25 (2016/03)

© 1988-2016 ACORD CORPORATION.  All rights reserved.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

HIRED
AUTOS ONLY

Willis Towers Watson Midwest, Inc. fka Willis of Illinois, Inc.
c/o 26 Century Blvd
P.O. Box 305191
Nashville, TN   372305191  USA

Foth Infrastructure & Environment, LLC
2121 Innovation Court
 
De Pere, WI   54115      USA

The City of Cedar Falls, including all its elected and appointed officials, all its employees, its boards, commissions
and/or authorities and their board members, employees are included as Additional Insureds as respects to General
Liability.

General Liability policy shall be Primary and Non-Contributory with any other insurance in force for or which may be
purchased by Additional Insureds.

City of Cedar Falls
220 Clay Street
Cedar Falls, IA 50613

02/05/2020

1-877-945-7378 1-888-467-2378

certificates@willis.com

Lexington Insurance Company 19437

W15409753

A

1,000,000

300,000

0

1,000,000

2,000,000

2,000,000

Y Y 037205326 03/01/2019 03/01/2020

A
3,000,000

25,000

015438053 03/01/2019 03/01/2020 3,000,000

A Professional Liability Each Claim026154181 03/01/2019 03/01/2021

Aggregate

156266019218665SR ID: BATCH:

$1,000,000

$1,000,000

Willis Towers Watson Certificate Center

Page 1 of 2

385

ITEM 26.



ACORD 101 (2008/01)
The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

© 2008 ACORD CORPORATION.  All rights reserved.

THIS ADDITIONAL REMARKS FORM IS A SCHEDULE TO ACORD FORM,
FORM NUMBER: FORM TITLE:

ADDITIONAL REMARKS

ADDITIONAL REMARKS SCHEDULE Page           of

AGENCY CUSTOMER ID:
LOC #:

AGENCY

CARRIER NAIC CODE

POLICY NUMBER

NAMED INSURED

EFFECTIVE DATE:

Foth Infrastructure & Environment, LLC
2121 Innovation Court
 
De Pere, WI   54115      USA

Waiver of Subrogation applies in favor of Additional Insureds with respects to General Liability.

The Umbrella/Excess policy Follows Form.

2 2

Willis Towers Watson Midwest, Inc. fka Willis of Illinois, Inc.

See Page 1

See Page 1 See Page 1 See Page 1

25 Certificate of Liability Insurance

W15409753CERT:1562660BATCH:19218665SR ID:

386

ITEM 26.



ENDORSEMENT

This endorsement, effective 12:01 AM

Forms a part of policy no.:

Issued to:

By:

ADDITIONAL INSURED - OWNERS, LESSEES OR CONTRACTORS-SCHEDULED

(Based on CG2010  04/13)

PERSON OR ORGANIZATION

This endorsement modifies insurance provided by the following:

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY POLICY

SCHEDULE

Name of Additional Insured Person(s) Location of Covered Operations
or Organization(s)

03/01/2019

037205326

FOTH & VAN DYKE, LLC

LEXINGTON INSURANCE COMPANY

# 025

Risk Mgt. Office City Hall,  220 Clay Street
City ot Cedar Falls Cedar Falls,  Iowa  50613

All others where required by contract

Information required to complete this Schedule, if not shown above, will be shown in the Declarations

A. Section II - Who Is An Insured is amended to include as an additional insured the person(s) or 
organization(s) shown in the Schedule, but only with respect to liability for "bodily injury", "property 
damage" or "personal and advertising injury" caused, in whole or in part, by: 
1. Your acts or omissions or
2. The acts or omissions of those acting on your behalf;
in the performance of your ongoing operations for the additional insured(s) at the location(s) 
designated above.
However:

1. The insurance afforded to such additional insured only applies to the extent permitted by law; 
and

2. If coverage provided to the additional insured is required by a contract or agreement, the 
insurance afforded to such additional insured will not be broader than that which you are 
required by the contract or agreement to provide for such additional insured.

B. With respect to the insurance afforded to these additional insureds, the following additional 
exclusions apply:

LX4315 (06/14) Includes Copyrighted Information of the Insurance Services
Offices, Inc., with its permission.  All Rights Reserved.

Page  of 21 387

ITEM 26.



ENDORSEMENT

This endorsement, effective 12:01 AM

Forms a part of policy no.:

Issued to:

By:

ADDITIONAL INSURED - DESIGNATED PERSON OR ORGANIZATION
(Based on CG2026 04/13)

This endorsement modifies insurance provided by the following:

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY POLICY

SCHEDULE

Name of Additional Insured Person(s) or Organization(s)

# 024

03/01/2019

037205326

FOTH & VAN DYKE, LLC

LEXINGTON INSURANCE COMPANY

As required by written contract

Information required to complete this Schedule, if not shown above, will be shown in the Declarations

A. Section II - Who Is An Insured is amended to include as an additional insured the person(s) or 
organization(s) shown in the Schedule, but only with respect to liability for "bodily injury", "property 
damage" or "personal and advertising injury" caused, in whole or in part, by your acts or omissions 
or the acts or omissions of those acting on your behalf:
1. In the performance of your ongoing operations; or
2. In connection with your premises owned by or rented to you.
However:

1. The insurance afforded to such additional insured only applies to the extent permitted by law; 
and

2. If coverage provided to the additional insured is required by a contract or agreement, the 
insurance afforded to such additional insured will not be broader than that which you are 
required by the contract or agreement to provide for such additional insured.

B. With respect to the insurance afforded to these additional insureds, the following is added to 
Section III - Limits Of Insurance:

If coverage provided to the additional insured is required by a contract or agreement, the most we 
will pay on behalf of the additional insured is the amount of insurance:
1. Required by the contract or agreement; or

LX4309 (06/14) Includes Copyrighted Information of the Insurance Services
Offices, Inc., with its permission.  All Rights Reserved.

Page  of 21 388

ITEM 26.



ENDORSEMENT

This endorsement, effective 12:01 AM

Forms a part of policy no.:

Issued to:

By:

ADDITIONAL INSURED - OWNERS, LESSEES OR 

(Based on CG2037  04/13)

CONTRACTORS- COMPLETED OPERATIONS

This endorsement modifies insurance provided by the following:

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY POLICY

SCHEDULE

Name of Additional Insured Person(s) Location of Completed Operations
or Organization(s)

# 034

03/01/2019

037205326

FOTH & VAN DYKE, LLC

LEXINGTON INSURANCE COMPANY

Where required by contract

Information required to complete this Schedule, if not shown above, will be shown in the Declarations

A. Section II - Who Is An Insured is amended to include as an additional insured the person(s) or 
organization(s) shown in the Schedule, but only with respect to liability for "bodily injury", or 
"property damage" caused, in whole or in part, by "your work" at the location designated and 
described in the Schedule of this endorsement performed for that additional insured and included in 
the "products-completed operations hazard". 
However:

1. The insurance afforded to such additional insured only applies to the extent permitted by law; 
and

2. If coverage provided to the additional insured is required by a contract or agreement, the 
insurance afforded to such additional insured will not be broader than that which you are 
required by the contract or agreement to provide for such additional insured.

B. With respect to the insurance afforded to these additional insureds, the following is added to 
Section III - Limits Of Insurance:

If coverage provided to the additional insured is required by a contract or agreement, the most we 
will pay on behalf of the additional insured is the amount of insurance:

LX4316 (06/14) Includes Copyrighted Information of the Insurance Services
Offices, Inc., with its permission.  All Rights Reserved.

Page  of 21 389

ITEM 26.



ENDORSEMENT

This endorsement, effective 12:01 AM

Forms a part of policy no.:

Issued to:

By:

LX8960 (05/13) Page 1 of 1

Authorized Representative

ADVICE OF CANCELLATION TO ENTITIES OTHER THAN THE NAMED INSURED LIMITED

TO E-MAIL NOTIFICATION

This policy is amended as follows:

In the event that the Insurer cancels this policy for any reason other than non payment of premium, and

1. The cancellation effective date is prior to this policy's expiration date; 

2. The First Named Insured is under an existing contractual obligation to notify a certificate 
holder when this policy is canceled (hereinafter, the "Certificate Holder(s)"); and has 
provided to the Insurer, either directly or through its broker of record, the email address of 
the contact at such entity, 

and the Insurer received this information after the First Named Insured receives notice of 
cancellation of this policy and prior to this policy's cancellation effective date, via an electronic 
spreadsheet that is acceptable to the Insurer, 

the Insurer will provide advice of cancellation (the "Advice") via e-mail to such Certificate Holders.

Proof of the Insurer emailing the Advice, using the information provided by the First Named Insured, 
will serve as proof that the Insurer has fully satisfied its obligations under this endorsement.

This endorsement does not affect, in any way, coverage provided under this policy or the cancellation of 
this policy or the effective date thereof, nor shall this endorsement invest any rights in any entity not 
insured under this policy.  

The following Definitions apply to this endorsement:

1. First Named Insured means the Named Insured shown on the Declarations Page of this 
policy.

2. Insurer means the insurance company shown in the header on the Declarations Page of this 
policy.

All other terms, conditions and exclusions shall remain the same.

# 017

03/01/2019

037205326

FOTH & VAN DYKE, LLC

LEXINGTON INSURANCE COMPANY

390

ITEM 26.



ENDORSEMENT

This endorsement, effective 12:01 AM

Forms a part of policy no.:

Issued to:

By:

026

03/01/2019

026154181

FOTH & VAN DYKE, LLC

LEXINGTON INSURANCE COMPANY

#

____________________________________________________________________________________________

ADVICE OF CANCELLATION TO ENTITIES OTHER THAN THE NAMED INSURED LIMITED
TO E-MAIL NOTIFICATION

This policy is amended as follows:

In the event that the Insurer cancels this policy for any reason other than non payment of premium, 
and

1.     The cancellation effective date is prior to this policy's expiration date

2.     The  First Named Insured  is  under  an existing contractual  obligation to notify  a
certificate holder when this policy is canceled (hereinafter, the "Certificate 
Holder(s)"); and has provided to the Insurer, either directly or through its broker of 
record, the email address of the contact at such entity,

and the Insurer received this information after the First Named Insured receives notice of 
cancellation of this policy and prior to this policy's cancellation effective date, via an 
electronic spreadsheet that is acceptable to the Insurer,

the Insurer will provide advice of cancellation (the "Advice") via e-mailto such Certificate 
Holders.

Proof of the Insurer emailing the Advice, using the information provided by the First Named 
Insured, will serve as proof that the Insurer has fully satisfied its obligations under 
endorsement.

This endorsement does not affect, in any way, coverage provided under this policy or the 
cancellation of this policy or the effective date thereof, nor shall this endorsement invest any 
rights in any entity not insured under this policy.

The following Definitions apply to this endorsement:

1. First Named Insured  means  the  Named Insured  shown on the  Declaration Page of  this
    policy.
2. Insurer means the insurance company shown in the header of the Declaration Page of this
    policy.

All other terms and conditions shall remain the same.

LEXDOC021
LX0404 Authorized Representative OR

Countersignature (In states where applicable)

391

ITEM 26.



H
o

ld
e
r 

Id
e
n

ti
fi

e
r 

: 
77777
77707
07070
00777
63616
06555
33307
72637
56412
46775
07740
13555
27341
12071
77376
43653
32310
77517
36213
47732
30761
71104
76244
47007
34401
57522
34710
07560
63733
24563
30077
06013
77025
45100
77727
25202
57731
10777
77770
70007
07007
 

66666
66606
06060
00626
06466
20444
62006
02000
62620
40200
06200
02604
02622
02062
22204
06006
00220
62222
24242
04022
20600
20062
62040
00206
20220
42622
40002
06222
00424
20400
20062
20224
26200
06000
66646
06224
06644
40666
66660
60006
06006

C
e
rt

if
ic

a
te

 N
o

 :
5
7
0
0
8
0
4
5
3
6
2
3

CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
 DATE(MM/DD/YYYY)        

 02/05/2020

IMPORTANT: If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed. If 
SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to   the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement. A statement on this 
certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS 
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES 
BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED 
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

PRODUCER

Aon Risk Services Central, Inc.

Green Bay WI Office
111 N. Washington Street,  Suite 300
P. O. Box 23004
Green Bay WI 54305-3004 USA 

PHONE
(A/C. No. Ext):

E-MAIL
ADDRESS:

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE NAIC #

(920) 437-7123

INSURED 25615The Charter Oak Fire Insurance CompanyINSURER A:

25682The Travelers Indemnity Co of CTINSURER B:

INSURER C:

INSURER D:

INSURER E:

INSURER F:

FAX
(A/C. No.):

(920) 431-6345

CONTACT
NAME:

Foth Infrastructure & Environment, LLC
P.O. BOX 5095
DE PERE WI 54115-5095 USA 

COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER: 570080453623 REVISION NUMBER:
THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD 
INDICATED. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS 
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS, 
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS. Limits shown are as requested

POLICY EXP 
(MM/DD/YYYY)

POLICY EFF 
(MM/DD/YYYY)

SUBR
WVD

INSR 
LTR

ADDL 
INSD POLICY NUMBER  TYPE OF INSURANCE LIMITS

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

CLAIMS-MADE OCCUR

POLICY LOC

EACH OCCURRENCE

DAMAGE TO RENTED 
PREMISES (Ea occurrence)

MED EXP (Any one person)

PERSONAL & ADV INJURY

GENERAL AGGREGATE

PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG

GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER: 
PRO-
JECT

OTHER:

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

ANY AUTO

OWNED 
AUTOS ONLY

SCHEDULED
 AUTOS

HIRED AUTOS 
ONLY

NON-OWNED 
AUTOS ONLY

BODILY INJURY ( Per person)

PROPERTY DAMAGE
(Per accident)

X

X

X X

BODILY INJURY (Per accident)

$1,000,000A 01/01/2020 01/01/2021

BUSINESS AUTO

COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT
(Ea accident)

810-2L49594A-20

EXCESS LIAB

OCCUR 

CLAIMS-MADE AGGREGATE

EACH OCCURRENCE

DED 

UMBRELLA LIAB

RETENTION

E.L. DISEASE-EA EMPLOYEE

E.L. DISEASE-POLICY LIMIT

E.L. EACH ACCIDENT $1,000,000

X OTH-
ER

PER STATUTEB 01/01/2020 01/01/2021

WORKERS COMPENSATION

$1,000,000

Y / N

(Mandatory in NH)

ANY PROPRIETOR / PARTNER / EXECUTIVE 
OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED? N / AN

WORKERS COMPENSATION AND 
EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY

If yes, describe under 
DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below

$1,000,000

UB-9H926140-20

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space is required)

ADDITIONAL INSURED ON THE AUTO LIABILITY CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA INCLUDING ALL OF ITS ELECTED AND APPOINTED OFFICIALS, ALL 
ITS EMPLOYEES AND VOLUNTEERS, ALL ITS BOARDS, COMMISSIONS AND/OR AUTHORITIES AND THEIR BOARD MEMBERS, EMPLOYEES AND VOLUNTEERS 
AS RESPECTS TO THE WORK BEING DONE PER BLANKET ADDITIONAL INSURED ENDORSEMENT, AS REQUIRED BY WRITTEN CONTRACT. A WAIVER OF 
SUBROGATION IN FAVOR OF THE ADDITIONAL INSURED APPLIES ON AUTO AND WORKERS COMPENSATION AS REQUIRED BY WRITTEN CONTRACT. 
ENDORSED POLICIES WILL INCLUDE A 30 DAY NOTICE OF CANCELLATION/NONRENEWAL FOR ANY REASON OTHER THAN NONPAYMENT OF PREMIUM, 
PROVIDED TO THOSE PARTIES INDICATED IN THE WRITTEN CONTRACT.

CANCELLATIONCERTIFICATE HOLDER

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVECITY OF CEDAR FALLS
220 CLAY STREET
CEDAR FALLS IA 50613 USA 

ACORD 25 (2016/03)

©1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION. All rights reserved.

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE THE 

EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE 

POLICY PROVISIONS.

392

ITEM 26.



Iowa Jurisdiction:
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS

ANY PROJECT

COMMERC TOIAL AU
POLICY : ISSUE D :NUMBER ATE

THIS ENDORSEMENT CHANGES THE POLICY. PLEASE READ IT CAREFULLY.

GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY ENDORSEMENT
IOWA JURISDICTION

This endorsement i ies insurance pro ided under t folmod f v he lowing:

BUSINESS O C AGE TAUT OVER PAR

SCHEDULE

Descriptio of Project:n

The fo lowing is added tol SECT IV BUSINESSION ble for asserting any de of go menfense vern tal
AUTO C T ONS, oss Co itiONDI I A. L nd ons: i mun and must do so i requested in writm ity f ing

by us.IOWA GOV TAL IERNMEN IMMUN TY
c. For any cla m or "suit" seeking damages fro thei ma. For any cla m or "suit" seeking damages fro thei m

Iowa jurisdict scheduled in th endorsemention isIowa jurisdict scheduled in th endorsemention is
because of "bodi " or "propert da " toly injury y magebecause of co "bodil injur " or "propertyvered y y
which this insurance applies, caused by an "acci-damage" caused by an "accident" and resulting
dent" and resulting fro the ownership, ma e-m intf m the ownership, ma ntenance or use of aro i
nance or use of a co "auto" in your businessveredco "auto" in your business while on or forvered
while on or t is scheduled in thisfor any projec thatany project that is scheduled in th endorsementis
endorsement and that is located in such Iowa ju-and that is located in such Iowa jurisdiction, this
risdiction, we agree that:insurance applies only to the extent that such
(1) the purchase of this policy and includ theingclai or "suit" is not subject to any defense ofm

go menta i m ty under Code of Iowa Sec- such Iowa jurisdict lvern l m uni ion as an additiona insured
tion 670.4 and any mend that ction. under this policy does not wai any defensea ment to se ve

of go men i m ty a a lable to suchvern tal m uni v ib. For any cla m or "suit" seeking damages fro thei m
Iowa jurisdict under Code of Iowa SectionionIowa jurisdict scheduled in th endorsemention is
670.4 and any amend to ion;ment that sectbecause of "bodi " or "propert da " toly injury y mage

(2) we wil take the position that this insurancelwhich this insurance applies, caused by an "acci-
dent" and resulting fro the ownership, ma e- does not apply because of go mental im int vern m-
nance or use of a co "auto" in your business mun only a ter a cour o law ha jur s-vered ity f t f ving i
while on or t at dict o such clai or "suit" has ruled infor any projec th is scheduled in this ion ver m
endorsement and that is located in such Iowa ju- fa or o any de of go menta i mu-v f fense vern l m
risdict such Iowa jur ion wil be responsi- nity wa jurisdiction, isdict l asserted by such Io ion.

CA F0 77 03 07 2007 The Travelers Companies, Inc. Page 1 of 1

1-1-2020810-2L49594A-20

393

ITEM 26.



 

                                    2020 Bridge Inspection Project 
  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. BR-000-3224 

 

    

Exhibit C 
 

2020 Bridge Inspection Project 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project Number BR-000-3224 
 

  8/1/19 
 

STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR CONTRACTS BETWEEN 
CONTRACTORS WHO PERFORM PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AND THE CITY OF 

CEDAR FALLS 

 
 This document outlines the Standard Terms and Conditions for all Contractors 
who perform work or services for the City of Cedar Falls under a contract.  The term, 
“Contractor,” as used in this document, includes an engineer, an architect, and any other 
design professional providing professional services to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 
under a contract (but excludes construction contractors). 
 
 1. This Contract may not be modified or amended except by a writing signed 
by an authorized representative of the City of Cedar Falls and of the Contractor. 
 
 2. Time is of the essence of this Contract. 
 
 3. Contractor shall be an independent contractor with respect to the services 
to be performed under this Contract.  Neither Contractor nor its subcontractors, agents, 
or employees, shall be deemed to be employees or agents of the City. 
 
 4. Contractor shall perform all duties in accordance with all applicable 
federal, state and local laws and regulations. 
 
 5. If Contractor breaches this Contract, the City shall have all remedies 
available to it at law or in equity. 
 
 6. Severability.  If any provision of this Contract is declared invalid, illegal, or 
incapable of being enforced by any court of competent jurisdiction, all of the remaining 
provisions of this Contract shall nevertheless continue in full force and effect, and no 
provision shall be deemed dependent upon any other provision unless so expressed 
herein. 
 
 7. Assignment.  Contractor may not assign this Contract or any of its rights 
or obligations hereunder, without the prior written consent of the City, which consent 
may be withheld in the sole and absolute discretion of the City. 
 
 8. Survival of Obligations.  All obligations and duties which by their nature 
extend beyond the term of this Contract shall survive the expiration or termination of this 
Contract. 
 

394

ITEM 26.



 

                                    2020 Bridge Inspection Project 
  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. BR-000-3224 

 

 9. Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Venue and Trial.  This Contract shall be 
construed in accordance with, and all disputes hereunder shall be governed by, the laws 
of the State of Iowa, excluding its conflicts of law rules.  The parties hereto agree that 
the exclusive jurisdiction and venue shall be in the Iowa District Court for Black Hawk 
County, and in no other jurisdiction or location, and shall not be removed to federal 
court.  The parties hereby agree to waive the right to trial by jury and agree to submit all 
disputes to a trial by judge alone.  The parties agree that no disputes under this Contract 
shall be submitted to binding arbitration, but may be submitted to mediation by mutual 
consent of both parties. 
 
 10. Any failure of Contractor to comply with the Insurance Requirements for 
Contractors for the City of Cedar Falls set forth on Attachment A, shall constitute a 
default under this Contract. 
 
 11. Attorneys’ Fees.  In the event of litigation, the City shall under no 
circumstances be obligated for payment of any attorneys’ fees of Contractor or any other 
party, arising out of such litigation. 
 
 12. Payment.  Payment of Contractor’s invoices shall be due no sooner than 
thirty (30) days from the date of invoice.  In the event any invoices are not paid within 
thirty (30) days, the City shall pay interest thereon at the rate provided for by 
Section 668.13(3), Code of Iowa, computed monthly. 
 
 13. The City shall not be obligated to maintain confidentiality of Contractor 
documents or records that are furnished to the City if such documents are public records 
under the Iowa Open Records Law, Chapter 22, Code of Iowa, and the City shall have 
no responsibility to Contractor for disclosure of such records. 
 
 14. Under no circumstances shall the City waive any damages against the 
Contractor or any other party arising out of any breach of this Contract, whether 
consequential, indirect, special, or punitive damages. 
 
 15. Under no circumstances shall the Contractor’s liability to the City be 
limited to any specific amount or sum, whether that amount is the compensation paid by 
the City to the Contractor under this Contract, or the dollar amount of coverage provided 
for in the Insurance Requirements for Contractors for the City of Cedar Falls, Attachment 
A. 
 
 16. No waiver of the City’s subrogation rights against the Contractor or any 
other party shall conflict with the provisions of the City Insurance Requirements, 
Attachment A. 
 
 17. Limitations Period.  There shall be no limitation, except as provided for by 
Iowa law, on the period of time within which the City may make any claim against the 
Contractor or other party under the provisions of this Contract. 
 
 18. This Contract shall not be binding on the City unless and until approved 
by the City Council of the City at a duly constituted meeting, and signed by the Mayor 
and City Clerk of the City. 
 

395

ITEM 26.



 

                                    2020 Bridge Inspection Project 
  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. BR-000-3224 

 

 19. Warranties.  Contractor represents and warrants that all services 
furnished to the City under this Contract shall be furnished in a skilled and workmanlike 
manner, in accordance with the degree of skill and care that is required by current, good 
and sound practices applicable to the Contractor’s industry or profession, and as 
otherwise required by applicable law. 
 
 20. Force Majeure.  Neither party to this Contract shall be liable to the other 
party for delays in performing the services, or for the direct or indirect cost resulting from 
such delays, that may result from acts of God, acts of governmental authorities, 
extraordinary weather conditions or other natural catastrophes, or any other cause 
beyond the reasonable control or contemplation of either party.  Each party will take 
reasonable steps to mitigate the impact of any force majeure. 

396

ITEM 26.



Cedar Falls - 2020 Bridge Inspection Project Proj. No. BR-000-3224

Project Lead Project Admin.
Manager Engineer Engineer 1 Assistant

1.0 - Contract Management 8

2.0 - Project Coordination (Task Not Included)

3.0 - Bridge Inspection 61 73 2

Sub-total Hours 8 61 73 2

x 2016 Billing Rates $188.00 $188.00 $173.00 $60.00

Sub-total Engineering Cost $1,504.00 $11,468.00 $12,629.00 $120.00

Estimated Expenses

Total Estimated Foth Fee

FOTH INFRASTRUCTURE & ENVIRONMENT

Estimated Staff Hours

TOTAL ESTIMATED FEE $27,279.00

TASK A - BASIC SERVICES OF THE 

ENGINEER

$1,558.00

$27,279.00

c:\pw_workdir\pw_ie\jsi\d0408344\Work Elements-2020-0204-Ceder Falls Bridge Inspections.xls 397

ITEM 26.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 
 
 DATE: February 12, 2020 
 
 SUBJECT: Professional Services Agreement 
  Foth Infrastructure and Environmental, LLC 
   West 27th Street Corridor Study 
   EN-000-3229 
 
Please find attached the Professional Services Agreement with Foth Infrastructure, LLC 
that outlines the scope of services and costs to complete the West 27th Street Corridor 
Study from Hudson Road to Union Road.   
 
Foth Infrastructure and Environmental LLC was the firm selected by The Public Works 
Department. The enclosed agreement with Foth provides for the traffic impact study 
necessary to determine the existing and future roadway capacity, access points and 
safety needs of the West 27th Street corridor. Once the study is complete, we will utilize 
the recommendations from the study and implement any improvements necessary for 
the corridor.  
 
Total compensation for services provided shall be based on hourly billing rates not to 
exceed the total amount of Thirty-nine thousand three hundred dollars ($39,300.00.) 
This project falls within our budget for CIP Item #136 Traffic Planning. The funding for 
this project will be provided by Street Construction Funds. 
 
The Public Works Department requests your consideration and approval of this 
Professional Service Agreement with Foth Infrastructure and Environmental LLC for the 
West 27th Street Corridor Study.  
 
If you have any questions or comments feel free to contact me.  
 
xc:  Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
  

398

ITEM 27.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls  
220 Clay Street  
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613   
www.cedarfalls.com  

 

Administration Division  Planning & Community Services Division 
Phone: 319-273-8600  Fax: 319-273-8610 

 

Engineering Division  Inspection Services Division 
Phone: 319-268-5161  Fax: 319-268-5197 

 

Water Reclamation Division 
Phone: 319-273-8633  Fax: 319-268-5566 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICE AGREEMENT 
 

W. 27th Street Corridor Study 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project Number EN-000-3229  
 

 
  
This Agreement is made and entered by and between Foth Infrastructure & Environment, LLC, 411 6th 
Avenue SE, Suite 400, Cedar Rapids, IA 50401, hereinafter referred to as “CONSULTANT" and City of 
Cedar Falls, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa, hereinafter referred to as "CLIENT.” 
 
IN CONSIDERATION of the covenants hereinafter set forth, the parties hereto mutually agree as follows: 
 
I.  SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 
 CONSULTANT shall perform professional Services (the "Services") in connection with CLIENT's 

facilities in accordance with the Scope of Services set forth in Exhibit A attached hereto. 
 
II.  CONSULTANT'S RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
 CONSULTANT shall, subject to the terms and provisions of this Agreement: 
  
 (a) Appoint one or more individuals who shall be authorized to act on behalf of CONSULTANT 

and with whom CLIENT may consult at all reasonable times, and whose instructions, 
requests, and decisions will be binding upon CONSULTANT as to all matters pertaining to 
this Agreement and the performance of the parties hereunder. 

 
 (b) Use all reasonable efforts to complete the Services within the time period mutually agreed 

upon, except for reasons beyond its control, as set forth in Exhibit A. 
 
 (c) Perform the Services in accordance with generally accepted professional engineering 

standards in existence at the time of performance of the Services. If during the two year 
period following the completion of Services, it is shown that there is an error in the Services 
solely as a result of CONSULTANT's failure to meet these standards, CONSULTANT shall 
re-perform such substandard Services as may be necessary to remedy such error at no 
cost to CLIENT. Since CONSULTANT has no control over local conditions, the cost of labor 
and materials, or over competitive bidding and market conditions, CONSULTANT does not 
guarantee the accuracy of any construction cost estimates as compared to contractor's bids 
or the actual cost to the CLIENT. CONSULTANT makes no other warranties either express 
or implied and the parties’ rights, liabilities, responsibilities and remedies with respect to the 
quality of Services, including claims alleging negligence, breach of warranty and breach of 

399

ITEM 27.



contract, shall be exclusively those set forth herein. 
 
 (d) CONSULTANT shall, if requested in writing by CLIENT, for the protection of CLIENT, 

require from all vendors and subcontractors from which CONSULTANT procures 
equipment, materials or services for the project, guarantees with respect to such 
equipment, materials and services. All such guarantees shall be made available to CLIENT 
to the full extent of the terms thereof. CONSULTANT's liability with respect to such 
equipment, and materials obtained from vendors or services from subcontractors, shall be 
limited to procuring guarantees from such vendors or subcontractors and rendering all 
reasonable assistance to CLIENT for the purpose of enforcing the same. 

 
(e) CONSULTANT will be providing estimates of costs to the CLIENT covering an extended 

period of time. CONSULTANT does not have control over any such costs, including, but not 
limited to, costs of labor, material, equipment or services furnished by others or over 
competitive bidding, marketing or negotiating conditions, or construction contractors’ 
methods of determining their prices. Accordingly, it is acknowledged and understood that 
any estimates, projections or opinions of probable project costs provided herein by 
CONSULTANT are estimates only, made on the basis of CONSULTANT’s experience and 
represent CONSULTANT’s reasonable judgment as a qualified professional. 
CONSULTANT does not guarantee that proposals, bids or actual project costs will not vary 
from the opinions of probable costs prepared by CONSULTANT, and the CLIENT waives 
any and all claims that it may have against CONSULTANT as a result of any such variance.  

 
III. CLIENT’S RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
 CLIENT shall at such times as may be required for the successful and expeditious completion of the 

Services: 
 
 (a) Provide all criteria and information as to CLIENT’s requirements; obtain all necessary 

approvals and permits required from all governmental authorities having jurisdiction over 
the project; and designate a person with authority to act on CLIENT’s behalf on all matters 
concerning the Services. 

  
 (b) Furnish to CONSULTANT all existing studies, reports and other available data pertinent to 

the Services, and obtain additional reports, data and services as may be required for the 
project. CONSULTANT shall be entitled to rely upon all such information, data and the 
results of such other services in performing its Services hereunder. 

 
IV. INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CONTRACTORS FOR THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 
  

The provisions of the document entitled, "Insurance Requirements for Contractors for the City of 
Cedar Falls," which are attached hereto, marked Exhibit B, are hereby made a part of this 
Agreement as if set out word for word herein. 
  
CONSULTANT shall furnish to CLIENT a certificate or certificates of insurance containing all 
coverages, endorsements and other provisions required by the Insurance Requirements set forth 
in Exhibit B. In the event of any conflict between the provisions of Exhibit B and the other terms of 
this Agreement, the provisions of Exhibit B shall control. 
 

 CONSULTANT shall obtain and maintain an insurance policy or policies that meet the provisions 
set out in the Insurance Requirements for Contractors for the City of Cedar Falls, attached hereto 
and marked Exhibit B. 

 
 
 
 

400

ITEM 27.



V. STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR CONTRACTS BETWEEN CONTRACTORS WHO 
PERFORM PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AND THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 

 
 The provisions of the documents entitled “Standard Terms and Conditions for Contracts Between 

Contractors Who Perform Professional Services and the City of Cedar Falls,” consisting of two 
pages are incorporated into this Agreement by the Client and attached as Exhibit C. 

 
VI. COMPENSATION AND TERMS OF PAYMENT 
 
 Compensation for the services shall be on an hourly basis in accordance with the hourly fees and 

other direct expenses in effect at the time the services are performed. Total compensation is a 
not to exceed a fee of Thirty-nine thousand three-hundred dollars ($39,300.00). 

 
CONSULTANT may bill the CLIENT monthly for services completed at the time of billing. CLIENT 
agrees to pay CONSULTANT the full amount of such invoice within thirty (30) days after receipt 
thereof. In the event CLIENT disputes any invoice item, CLIENT shall give CONSULTANT written 
notice of such disputed item within ten (10) days after receipt of invoice and shall pay to 
CONSULTANT the undisputed portion of the invoice according to the provisions hereof. CLIENT 
agrees to abide by any applicable statutory prompt pay provisions currently in effect. 

 
VII. TERMINATION 
 
 CLIENT may, with or without cause, terminate the Services at any time upon fourteen (14) days 

written notice to CONSULTANT. The obligation to provide further Services under this Agreement 
may be terminated by either party upon fourteen (14) days' written notice in the event of substantial 
failure by the other party to perform in accordance with the terms hereof through no fault of the 
terminating party, providing such defaulting party has not cured such failure, or, in the event of a 
non-monetary default, commenced reasonable actions to cure such failure. In either case, 
CONSULTANT will be paid for all expenses incurred and Services rendered to the date of the 
termination in accordance with compensation terms of Article VI. 

 
VIII. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS 
 

(a) Sealed original drawings, specifications, final project specific calculations and other 
instruments of service which CONSULTANT prepares and delivers to CLIENT pursuant to 
this Agreement shall become the property of CLIENT when CONSULTANT has been 
compensated for Services rendered. CLIENT shall have the right to use such instruments 
of service solely for the purpose of the construction, operation and maintenance of the 
Facilities. Any other use or reuse of original or altered files shall be at CLIENT’s sole risk 
without liability or legal exposure to CONSULTANT and CLIENT agrees to release, defend 
and hold CONSULTANT harmless from and against all claims or suits asserted against 
CONSULTANT in the event such documents are used for a purpose different than originally 
prepared even though such claims or suits may be based on allegations of negligence by 
CONSULTANT. Nothing contained in this paragraph shall be construed as limiting or 
depriving CONSULTANT of its rights to use its basic knowledge and skills to design or 
carry out other projects or work for itself or others, whether or not such other projects or 
work are similar to the work to be performed pursuant to this Agreement. 

 
(b) Any files delivered in electronic medium may not work on systems and software different 

than those with which they were originally produced and CONSULTANT makes no 
warranty as to the compatibility of these files with any other system or software. Because of 
the potential degradation of electronic medium over time, in the event of a conflict between 
the sealed original drawings and the electronic files, the sealed drawings will govern. 

 
 
IX. MEANS AND METHODS 

401

ITEM 27.



 
(a) CONSULTANT shall not have control or charge of and shall not be responsible for 

construction means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures, or for safety 
measures and programs including enforcement of Federal and State safety requirements, 
in connection with construction work performed by CLIENT's construction contractors. Nor 
shall CONSULTANT be responsible for the supervision of CLIENT's construction 
contractors, subcontractors or of any of their employees, agents and representatives of 
such contractors; or for inspecting machinery, construction equipment and tools used and 
employed by contractors and subcontractors on CLIENT's construction projects and shall 
not have the right to stop or reject work without the thorough evaluation and approval of the 
CLIENT. In no event shall CONSULTANT be liable for the acts or omissions of CLIENT's 
construction contractors, subcontractors or any persons or entities performing any of the 
construction work, or for the failure of any of them to carry out construction work under 
contracts with CLIENT. 

 
X. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR 
 
 CONSULTANT shall be an independent contractor with respect to the Services to be performed 

hereunder. Neither CONSULTANT nor its subcontractors, nor the employees of either, shall be 
deemed to be the servants, employees, or agents of CLIENT. 

 
XI. PRE-EXISTING CONDITIONS 
 
 Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, CONSULTANT shall have no legal responsibility or 

liability for any and all pre-existing contamination. "Pre-existing contamination" is any hazardous or 
toxic substance present at the site or sites concerned which was not brought onto such site or sites 
by CONSULTANT. CLIENT agrees to release CONSULTANT from and against any and all liability 
to the CLIENT which may in any manner arise in any way directly or indirectly caused by such pre-
existing contamination except if such liability arises from CONSULTANT's sole negligence or willful 
misconduct. 

 
 CLIENT shall, at CLIENT’s sole expense and risk, arrange for handling, storage, transportation, 

treatment and delivery for disposal of pre-existing contamination. CLIENT shall be solely 
responsible for obtaining a disposal site for such material. CLIENT shall look to the disposal facility 
and/or transporter for any responsibility or liability arising from improper disposal or transportation of 
such waste. CONSULTANT shall not have or exert any control over CLIENT in CLIENT’s 
obligations or responsibilities as a generator in the storage, transportation, treatment or disposal of 
any pre-existing contamination. CLIENT shall complete and execute any governmentally required 
forms relating to regulated activities including, but not limited to generation, storage, handling, 
treatment, transportation, or disposal of pre-existing contamination.  

 
 For CONSULTANT's Services requiring drilling, boring, excavation or soils sampling, CLIENT shall 

approve selection of the contractors to perform such services, all site locations, and provide 
CONSULTANT with all necessary information regarding the presence of underground hazards, 
utilities, structures and conditions at the site.  
 

XII. DISPUTE RESOLUTION 
 
 If a dispute arises out of, or relates to, the breach of this Agreement and if the dispute cannot be 

settled through negotiation, then the CONSULTANT and the CLIENT agree to submit the dispute to 
mediation. In the event CONSULTANT or the CLIENT desires to mediate any dispute, that party 
shall notify the other party in writing of the dispute desired to be mediated. If the parties are unable 
to resolve their differences within 10 days of the receipt of such notice, such dispute shall be 
submitted for mediation in accordance with the procedures and rules of the American Arbitration 
Association (or any successor organization) then in effect. The deadline for submitting the dispute 
to mediation can be changed if the parties mutually agree in writing to extend the time between 

402

ITEM 27.



receipt of notice and submission to mediation. The expenses of the mediator shall be shared 50 
percent by CONSULTANT and 50 percent by the CLIENT. This requirement to seek mediation shall 
be a condition required before filing an action at law or in equity. However, prior to or during the 
negotiations or the mediation either party may initiate litigation that would otherwise be barred by a 
statute of limitations, and CONSULTANT may pursue any property liens or other rights it may have 
to obtain security for the payment of its invoices. 

 
 This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Iowa and any action at law or other 

judicial proceeding arising from this Agreement shall be instituted in Black Hawk County District 
Court, Waterloo, Iowa. 

 
XIII. MISCELLANEOUS 
 
 (a) This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties hereto and 

supersedes any oral or written representations, understandings, proposals, or 
communications heretofore entered into by or on account of the parties and may not be 
changed, modified, or amended except in writing signed by the parties hereto. In the event 
of any conflict between this contract document and any of the exhibits hereto, the terms 
and conditions of Exhibit C shall control. In the event of any conflict among the exhibits, 
Exhibit C shall control. 

 
 (b) This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Iowa. 
 
 (c) CONSULTANT may subcontract any portion of the Services to a subcontractor approved 

by CLIENT. In no case shall CLIENT's approval of any subcontract relieve CONSULTANT 
of any of its obligations under this Agreement.  

 
 (d) In the event CLIENT uses a purchase order form to administer this Agreement, the use of 

such form shall be for convenience purposes only, and any typed provision in conflict with 
the terms of this Agreement and all preprinted terms and conditions contained in or on such 
forms shall be deemed stricken and null and void. 

 
 (e) This Agreement gives no rights or benefits to anyone other than CLIENT and 

CONSULTANT and does not create any third party beneficiaries to the Agreement. 
 

(f) Except as may be explicitly set forth above, nothing contained in this Agreement or its 
exhibits limits the rights and remedies, including remedies related to damages, of either 
party that are available to either party under the law. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this agreement on the day and year written 
below. 
 
APPROVED FOR CLIENT  APPROVED FOR CONSULTANT 
 
By:  By:  
 City of Cedar Falls   Foth Infrastructure & Environment, LLC 
 
Printed Name:  Printed Name:    Aaron Moniza              
   
 
Title:  Title:         Senior Client Manager                      
 
 
Date:  Date:                       

403

ITEM 27.



 

  W. 27th Street Corridor Study 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. EN-000-3229 

    

Exhibit A 
 

W. 27th Street Corridor Study 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project Number EN-000-3229   
 

  8/1/19 
 
    SCOPE OF SERVICES 

 
This document outlines the scope of services specific for the W. 27th Street 
Corridor Study. The term “CONSULTANT” as used in this document shall be 
defined as the design contractor (Foth Infrastructure & Environment, LLC) that 
will be performing work for the City of Cedar Falls under contract, hereinafter, the 
“CITY”, under contract. 
 
A. Project Description 

Completion of traffic study for the W. 27th Street corridor from Union Road to 
Hudson Road. 
 

B. General Scope of Work 
The work to be performed by the Consultant under this agreement shall 
encompass and include detailed work, services, materials, equipment and 
supplies necessary to complete the following scope of services for the project. 
The scope of services to be performed by the Consultant shall be completed 
in accordance with generally accepted standards of practice. The following 
scope of services is based on discussions with City staff. 
 
The work to be performed by the Consultant under this agreement shall 
encompass a traffic study of the W. 27th Street corridor from Union Road to 
Hudson Road. The Consultant will complete corridor data collection, traffic 
modeling and safety analysis, and conceptual layouts. For the purpose of this 
scope of service, the study will include the following intersections: Hudson 
Road, Panther Parkway, Greenhill Road, and Union Road. There are two 
future developments planned for the corridor that will be including in the 
analysis: the new Cedar Falls High School and the West Fork Crossing 
development. 
 
Project Assumptions: 

 City to provide the Traffic Impact Study for the new Cedar Falls High 
School development 

 City to provide Traffic Impact Letter for the West Fork Crossing 
development 

 No public involvement will be required 

404

ITEM 27.



 

  W. 27th Street Corridor Study 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. EN-000-3229 

 Obtain traffic counts at the following intersections: Hudson, Panther 
Parkway, Greenhill and Union. 

 
1. Contract Management 
Task 1 - Project Management 
The project manager will be responsible for the development and tracking of 
the project plan for the project development. This includes task identification, 
staff scheduling and coordination, project communications, monthly progress 
reporting and invoicing, and other important elements of the project. The 
project duration is assumed to be approximately eight (8) weeks from the time 
the count data is processed. 
 
Task 2 – Project Review Meetings 
Maintain communications with the project development team and various 
other designated representatives. The project development team will include 
the City of Cedar Falls and the project Consultant. Meet to review progress 
and to discuss specific elements of the project feasibility. The meetings will 
also serve to establish schedules, develop project goals, establish initial 
design parameters, promote a dialog between the various entities, improve 
the decision-making process, and expedite recommendation development. 
Prepare minutes of meetings and keep documentation of other 
communications. For budget purposes, it is assumed two (2) meetings will be 
attended by two (2) staff members of the Consultant. 
 
Task 3 – Quality Control Plan 
Establish review and checking procedures for project deliverables. Designate 
responsibility for implementation of the plan. 
 
2. Data Collection 

The Consultant will perform field tasks required to collect traffic information 
deemed necessary to complete the project. 

Task 1 – Field Review 
A Field Review will be held with the City and the Consultant, if needed, to 
discuss key issues, and design concepts. The review will determine current 
vehicular and pedestrian traffic patterns, current road configurations, and 
overall site conditions. 
 
Task 2 – Traffic Counts 
The Consultant will obtain and review the Iowa Department of 
Transportation’s most current data and reports describing traffic volumes and 
patterns within the study area for possible inclusion within this study. Data 
sources will include previous traffic studies and reports as supplied by the 
City of Cedar Falls. 
 

405

ITEM 27.



 

  W. 27th Street Corridor Study 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. EN-000-3229 

The Consultant will work with the City of Cedar Falls and Iowa Northland 
Regional Council of Governments (INRCOG) and the Black Hawk County 
Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) to obtain projected future traffic 
volumes for the study area. Depending on the information available, the 
Consultant will include the future land uses established by the City to 
determine future traffic projections to calculate future background traffic 
projections. 
 
The Consultant will perform turning movement counts using Miovision 
cameras at the following intersections: 

 W. 27th Street and Hudson Road (8-hour count, weekday) 

 W. 27th Street and Panther Parkway (8-hour count, weekday) 

 W. 27th Street and Greenhill Road (8-hour count, weekday) 

 W. 27th Street and Union Road (8-hour count, weekday) 
 
The Consultant will perform a weekend turning movement count using 
Miovision cameras at the intersections of W. 27th Street and Hudson Road 
and W. 27th Street and Union Road. Two 12-hour counts, both Saturday and 
Sunday, will be recorded and processed. 
 
Note on Traffic Counts: Existing average daily traffic volumes for study 
intersections and roadways shall be estimated using 24-hour automatic 
machine counters from the Iowa Department of Transportation. Existing peak 
period intersection turning movement volumes shall be obtained using skilled 
personnel/technicians. Typical count days are Tuesday, Wednesday and 
Thursday of a typical week. Counts taken on holidays and the day before and 
after a holiday should not be used. Days with abnormal traffic conditions 
(such as rains, construction activities, road closures, etc.) must be avoided. 
Counts in the vicinity of a school or college should be taken when the school 
is in session.   
 
Peak Periods: Generally, both morning (6 a.m. to 9 a.m.) and evening (3 p.m. 
to 6 p.m.) peak periods should be used in the analysis to identify traffic 
impacts and level of service problems. An off-peak period (11 a.m. to 1 p.m.) 
may be used to complete the eight hour count needed for traffic signal 
warrant analysis. 
 
3. Traffic Study Report 
This task consists of preparation of a base traffic report for the study area. 
The primary focus will be on vehicular circulation patterns and access points 
around the proposed developments. The recommendations will incorporate 
potential elements that may affect the W. 27th Street corridor including 
impacts to intersection control. Additional alternative scenarios that are in 
need of investigation after the initial base report findings are completed will 
require an amendment for additional engineering services. 

406

ITEM 27.



 

  W. 27th Street Corridor Study 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. EN-000-3229 

 
Task 1 - Traffic Report Outline 
The traffic study report submitted to the City of Cedar Falls shall contain each 
of the following elements: 
 

1. Cover Page with an appropriate title of the study, client and preparer’s 
name and address with phone and fax numbers, and submittal date. 

2. Certification page with a statement indicating that the study has been 
prepared by, or under, the supervision of an Iowa professionally 
registered engineer, and the preparer’s signature and registration seal. 

3. Executive Summary 
4. Introduction 
5. Trip Generation and Design Hour Volumes 
6. Trip Distribution and Assignment 
7. Existing and Projected Traffic Volumes 
8. Operational/Intersection Analysis 
9. Traffic Signals and Access Locations 
10. Conclusions/Recommendations 

 
Three hardcopies of the final report along with an electronic copy in Adobe 
PDF format will be provided to the City of Cedar Falls. 
 
Task 2 – Executive Outline 
This portion of the report shall present factual and concise information relative 
to the major traffic issues. Pertinent information in this regard shall include a 
brief overview of the project, a short discussion of the expected impacts, and 
a summary of the measures necessary to mitigate these impacts. 
 
Task 3 – Introduction 
The introduction portion of the report shall contain the following: 
 

a) Project Description:  This section shall contain a description of the 
project.  This would include the type of facilities which are located 
within the study area. Exhibits shall include clear illustrations of the 
proposed building sites, adjacent streets and current driveways. Also 
under this section, if the project is proposed to be constructed in 
phases, a discussion of the development program and approximate 
time schedules shall also be included. 

b) Land Use, Site and Study Area Boundaries: This section shall contain 
a brief description of the general terrain features, and the site location 
oriented within the City of Cedar Falls. In addition, roadways that afford 
access to the site and that are included in the study area will be 
identified on an exhibit. The exact limits of the study area should be 
based on engineering judgment, and an understanding of the existing 
traffic conditions surrounding the site. The study area limits have been 

407

ITEM 27.



 

  W. 27th Street Corridor Study 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. EN-000-3229 

approved by the City. A vicinity map which shows the site and the 
study area boundaries in relationship to the surrounding transportation 
system will be included. 

c) Existing and Proposed Roadways and Intersections: This section 
should identify existing roadways, lanes, geometry and volumes on 
either City or State roadways. Any agency programmed or planned 
roadway improvements should also be identified. An exhibit should be 
prepared showing existing A.M., P.M., and other relevant peak hour 
turning traffic volumes.  

 
Task 4 – Trip Generation and Design Hour Volumes 
This section will include a summary table listing each type of land use, the 
size of the parcels involved, the average trip generation rates used (total daily 
traffic, a.m. and p.m. peaks, the resultant total trips generated, and the source 
of the trip generation rates). Trip generation will be calculated using minimum 
average data contained in the latest version of the Institute of Transportation 
Engineers (ITE) trip generation report. In the event that data for the specific 
proposed use is not available, or if other sources are used, the City must 
approve the estimated rates to be used prior to submittal of the draft traffic 
impact report. Site design peak hour volume calculations should be estimated 
by one of the following methods, listed in order of preference: 

a) Peak hour trip generation rates as published through ITE. 
b) Additional sources from other jurisdictions upon approval from the 

City of Cedar Falls. 
 
The consultant will work with the City to determine any changes to the 
Comprehensive Plan caused by the school development or West Fork 
development. Based on assumptions in land use and approximate size of 
parcels, the Consultant will perform a trip generation estimate based on the 
Comp Plan changes to incorporate into the projected future traffic volumes. 
 
Task 5 – Trip Distribution and Assignment 
This section will define the approach and departure directions for site 
generated traffic. The technical methodology and assumptions in developing 
these will be clearly stated as well as observations from existing travel 
patterns. Market studies and other information concerning origin of trips and 
attractions may be used to support study assumptions. An exhibit showing 
these percentages of site traffic by roadway will be provided. Additional 
exhibits should clearly show site generated turning volumes at all points of 
access and at all study intersections under the following conditions: 
 

a) Project Traffic under Opening Year (Partial Build of West Fork) 
b) Project Traffic projected to 10 years after opening (Full Build of 

School and West Fork) 

408

ITEM 27.



 

  W. 27th Street Corridor Study 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. EN-000-3229 

c) Project Traffic projected to future date that matches INRCOG 
model 

 
The Consultant will incorporate trips generated by changing land use of the 
surrounding properties into the distribution and assignment of the future 
years. All assumptions will be documented. 
 
Task 6 – Existing and Projected Traffic Volumes 
Existing Traffic 
The Consultant will obtain existing peak hour traffic counts within the study 
area from the City of Cedar Falls. The Consultant will provide counts as listed 
in the “Data Collection” section. The Consultant will review the data to 
determine if all necessary data is included. 
 
Future Travel Forecasts 
The Consultant will develop traffic forecasts in coordination with City of Cedar 
Falls for the routes within the study area that reflect the long-range plans. 
These forecasts will include side road, mainline, and arterial volumes 
including turning movements. The Consultant will work with the City of Cedar 
Falls to review future land use and to estimate locations of future 
development that may impact traffic volumes for the corridor. 
 
The forecast will describe Average Daily Traffic and design hour link volumes 
for the proposed building study area. The design hour volumes will include 
AM and PM peak hour and off peak hour. The design hour volumes forecast 
for the long range plan will be agreed to by the City of Cedar Falls and the 
Consultant prior to continuation with subsequent tasks. 
 
Task 7 – Operational/Intersection Analysis   
This section will include the analysis for all intersections and driveways and 
for other major roadway intersections within the study area, including 
proposed access locations for the new high school and the West Fork 
development. The A.M., P.M., and possibly alternate peak hours will be 
analyzed and capacity calculations shown for existing and projected 
conditions. The goal of this section is to indicate performance and needs at 
these locations by growth scenario. All supporting calculations will be 
provided within the Appendix. 
 
Typically, the traffic analysis methodologies for the facility types indicated 
below are recommended. On roadways that have saturated flows, the use of 
a micro-simulation model is recommended for the analysis. 
 

a) Signalized Intersections – HCM, operational analysis, SYNCHRO, 
Vistro 

409

ITEM 27.



 

  W. 27th Street Corridor Study 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. EN-000-3229 

b) Multiple Signalized Intersections along an Arterial or network – 
SYNCHRO, Vistro 

c) Roundabout Intersections – HCM, Sidra 
d) Unsignalized Intersections – HCM, operational analysis, Vistro 
e) Transit – HCM, operational analysis 
f) Pedestrians – HCM 
g) Bicycles – HCM 
h) Control Criteria/Warrants – MUTCD (stop signs, traffic signals, 

signing, marking) 
 
The following scenarios must be analyzed in the report: 
 

a) Existing Year Traffic Conditions - Current year traffic volumes and 
peak hour LOS analysis of existing study area and access 
intersections. 

b) Opening Year Cumulative Conditions - Existing Plus New 
Development Traffic (Partial Build) 

c) Cumulative Conditions Projected to 10 Years after Opening (Full 
Build) 

d) Future Projected to future date that matched INRCOG model 
 
The Consultant will perform an operational analysis and modeling of the new 
high school study area and the new West Fork development study area. The 
modeling will be conducted in a manner to serve as a tool to graphically 
illustrate roadway improvements and impacts to traffic operations. The 
analysis will include the intersections, side roads, and access locations within 
the study area. Performance measures used to assess the operation of the 
system will include delay, volume to capacity ratio, operations of adjacent 
intersections, maximum queue/storage lengths and control delay. 
 
Task 8 – Intersection Control and Access Locations 
This section will present the details of each intersection and/or access 
location along with existing and anticipated location, geometry, type of control 
(i.e stop control, traffic signal, roundabout, etc.). The Manual on Uniform 
Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD) will be a basis for selection of type of 
control and the supporting analysis will be included in the Appendix. The 
analysis will compare the measures of effectiveness between the different 
type of control options (i.e. traffic signal versus roundabout). The analysis will 
demonstrate the impacts and improvement strategies needed to provide 
acceptable signal coordination between adjacent signalized locations. 
 
Task 9 – Future Road Network/Corridor Operations 
This section will present details concerning future road connections through 
the study area based on the current City Comprehensive Plan and 
information from the City of Cedar Falls. Corridor operations will be analyzed 

410

ITEM 27.



 

  W. 27th Street Corridor Study 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. EN-000-3229 

based on the same procedures in Task 7. Capacity, speed, and level of 
service will serve as measures of effectiveness for the corridor analysis. The 
analysis will demonstrate the impacts of development on the major road 
system of the study area and outline any improvements needed. 
 
The Consultant will evaluate the existing roadway section and make 
recommendations based upon the intersection evaluations and projected 
future daily traffic provided by INRCOG and Black Hawk County MPO. 
 
Task 10 – Conclusions/Recommendations 
This section will identify the proposed improvements identified to meet the 
City’s performance requirements for all movements and scenarios associated 
with the proposed development along the corridor. As a minimum, these 
should include: 
 

a) A detailed, written list of recommended improvements for both 
roadways and intersections (including proposed signal or 
roundabout locations).  Sufficient roadway and intersection 
capacities must be assured based on the agreed to future Level of 
Service. 

b) An exhibit showing all recommended improvement locations and 
the type of improvement. 

c) Exhibits depicting individual intersection improvements, including 
the pertinent geometric features of the proposed improvements 
along with a volume/capacity and Level of Service analysis 
elements. 

 
Task 11 - Appendix 
This section shall include all relevant study data collected, analysis reports, 
and other relevant findings. The pages shall be organized into sections.  
 
4. Conceptual Design & Layout 

The conceptual design will use existing aerial imagery combined with GIS 
based right-of-way and public utility information to develop a conceptual level 
geometric improvement layout based on the traffic analysis results. 

 Development of typical road sections 

 Intersection geometry and lane configuration 

 Existing and proposed access locations 
 

C. Project Team 
  
Consultant  Scope 
Foth  Project Management, Traffic Engineering, Conceptual Layouts 

  

411

ITEM 27.



 

  W. 27th Street Corridor Study 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. EN-000-3229 

D. Schedule 
Traffic Counts    

Data Collection  5-7 working days 
Data Processing  5-10 working days 

Traffic Study   8 weeks 
Conceptual Layout  2 weeks 

 
E. Deliverables 

The scope of services shall be considered to be complete upon completion 
and delivery of the following items to the satisfaction of the City: 

 Traffic Impact Study 

 Conceptual Layout of study area 
 

F. Summary of Compensation 
1. Contract Management   $3,000 
2. Data Collection    $6,200 
3. Traffic Study Report   $26,200 
4. Conceptual Design and Layout $3,900 

Total =     $39,300 
 
G. Contingency 

If at any time during the work the Consultant determines that its actual costs 
will exceed the estimated actual costs, thus necessitating the use of a 
contingency amount, it will promptly so notify the City’s Project Manager in 
writing and describe what costs are causing the overage and the reason. The 
Consultant shall not exceed the estimated actual costs without prior written 
approval from the City’s Project Manager and Contract Administer. 
 
Items that may cause the need to utilize the Contingency include but are not 
necessarily limited to the following: Design changes, unanticipated field 
conditions (e.g. unknown utility conflicts), increases in scope item quantities 
beyond those listed herein, plan and/or propriety equipment changes, 
Contractor changes, nonperformance by subconsultants, etc. 
 

H. Additional Services 
No additional services are included at this time. They may be added as extra 
work by Supplemental Agreement when appropriate to the project schedule. 

 Additional Alternate Scenarios Analysis 

 Public Information Meetings 

 Meeting with Elected Officials 

 ADT Traffic Counts 

 Speed Data Collection 

 Design surveys 

 Environmental Evaluation, Documentation and Mitigation 

 Geotechnical Exploration 

412

ITEM 27.



 

  W. 27th Street Corridor Study 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. EN-000-3229 

 Preliminary and Final Design Engineering 

 Environmental services 

 Letting services 

 Right-of-Way services 

 Utility coordination 

 Condemnation services 

 Construction period services 

 Construction testing services 

 Record Construction Drawings 

413

ITEM 27.



 

  W. 27th Street Corridor Study 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. EN-000-3229 

    

Exhibit B 
 

W. 27th Street Corridor Study 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project Number EN-000-3229  
 

  8/1/19 
 
    INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR 

CONTRACTORS FOR THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 
 
*** This document outlines the insurance requirements for all Contractors who 
perform work for the City of Cedar Falls. The term “contractor” as used in this 
document shall be defined as the general contractor, artisan contractor, or design 
contractor that will be performing work for the City of Cedar Falls under contract. 
 
 
1.  All policies of insurance required hereunder shall be with an insurer 
authorized by law to do business in Iowa.  All insurance policies shall be 
companies satisfactory to the City and have a rating of A-, VII or better in the 
current A.M. Best Rating Guide.   
 
2. All Certificates of Insurance required hereunder shall include the 
Cancellation & Material Change Endorsement.  A copy of this endorsement is 
attached in Exhibit 1. 
 
3.  Contractor shall furnish a signed Certificate of Insurance to the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa for the coverage required in Exhibit 1.  Such Certificates shall 
include copies of the following endorsements: 
 

a) Commercial General Liability policy is primary and non-contributing 
b) Commercial General Liability additional insured endorsement – See 

Exhibit 1 
c) Governmental Immunities Endorsement – See Exhibit 1 

 
Copies of additional insured endorsements, executed by an authorized 
representative from an Insurer duly licensed to transact business at the location 
of the jobsite, must be provided prior to the first payment.    
 
Contractor shall, upon request by the City, provide Certificates of Insurance for 
all subcontractors and sub-sub contractors who perform work or services 
pursuant to the provisions of this contract. 
 
4. Each certificate shall be submitted to the City of Cedar Falls. 

414

ITEM 27.



 

  W. 27th Street Corridor Study 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. EN-000-3229 

 
5. Failure to provide minimum coverage shall not be deemed a waiver of 
these requirements by the City of Cedar Falls. Failure to obtain or maintain the 
required insurance shall be considered a material breach of this agreement.   
 
6. Failure of the Contractor to maintain the required insurance shall 
constitute a default under this Contract, and at City’s option, shall allow City to 
terminate this Contract for cause and/or purchase said insurance at Contractor’s 
expense. 
 
7. Contractor shall be required to carry the following minimum 
coverage/limits or greater, if required by law or other legal agreement; as per 
Exhibit 1: 
 

 This coverage shall be written on an occurrence, not claims made form. 
All deviations or exclusions from the standard ISO commercial general 
liability form CG 001 shall be clearly identified and shall be subject to the 
review and approval of the City.  

 
 Contractor shall maintain ongoing CGL coverage for at least 2 years 

following substantial completion of the Work to cover liability arising from 
the products-completed operations hazard and liability assumed under an 
insured contract.    

 
 Governmental Immunity endorsement identical or equivalent to form 

attached. 
 

 Additional Insured Requirement – See Exhibit 1. 
The City of Cedar Falls, including all its elected and appointed officials, all 
its employees and volunteers, all its boards, commissions and/or 
authorities and their board members, employees and volunteers shall be 
named as an additional insured on General Liability Policies for all classes 
of contractors. 
 
Contractors shall include coverage for the City of Cedar Falls as an 
additional insured including ongoing and completed operations coverage 
equivalent to: ISO CG 20 10 07 04* and ISO CG 20 37 07 04** 
 

*  ISO CG 20 10 07 04 “Additional Insured – Owners, Lessees or 
Contractors – Scheduled Person or Organization” 

  
 ** ISO CG 20 37 07 04 “Additional Insured – Owners, Lessees or 

Contractors – Completed Operations”  
 
 

415

ITEM 27.



 

  W. 27th Street Corridor Study 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. EN-000-3229 

8. Errors & Omissions:  If the contract’s scope of services includes design 
work or other professional services, then Contractor shall maintain insurance 
coverage for errors, omissions and other wrongful acts or omissions (except for 
intentional acts or omissions), arising out of the professional services performed 
by Contractor. Contractor shall maintain continuous Errors & Omissions 
coverage for a period commencing no later than the date of the contract, and 
continuing for a period of no less than 2 years from the date of completion of all 
work completed or services performed under the contract.  The limit of liability 
shall not be less than $1,000,000. 
 

9. Separation of Insured’s Provision: If Contractor’s liability policies do not 
contain the standard ISO separation of insured’s provision, or a substantially 
similar clause, they shall be endorsed to provide cross-liability coverage. 
 
10. Limits: By requiring the insurance as set out in this Contract, City does not 
represent that coverage and limits will necessarily be adequate to protect 
Contractor and such coverage and limits shall not be deemed as a limitation on 
Contractor’s liability under the indemnities provided to City in this Contract.  The 
City will have the right at any time to require liability insurance greater than that 
otherwise specified in Exhibit 1. If required, the additional premium or premiums 
payable shall be added to the bid price. 
 
11. Indemnification (Hold Harmless) Provision:  To the fullest extent permitted 
by law, the Contractor agrees to defend, pay on behalf of, indemnify, and hold 
harmless the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, its elected and appointed officials, 
directors, employees, agents and volunteers working on behalf of the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa against any and all claims, demands, suits or loss, including 
any and all outlay and expense connected therewith, and for damages which 
may be asserted, claimed or recovered against or from the City of Cedar Falls, 
Iowa, its elected and appointed officials, directors, employees, agents and 
volunteers working on behalf of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, including, but not 
limited to, damages arising by reason of personal injury, including bodily injury or 
death, and property damages, which arises out of or is in any way connected or 
associated with the work and/or services provided by the Contractor to the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa pursuant to the provisions of this contract to the extent arising 
out of the errors, omissions or negligent acts of the Contractor, its agents, 
employees, subcontractors or others working on behalf of the Contractor.  It is 
the intention of the parties that the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, its elected and 
appointed officials, directors, employees, agents and volunteers working on 
behalf of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa shall not be liable or in any way 
responsible for the injury, damage, liability, loss or expense incurred by the 
Contractor, its officers, employees, subcontractors, and others affiliated with the 
Contractor due to accidents, mishaps, misconduct, negligence or injuries either in 
person or property resulting from the work and/or services performed by the 

416

ITEM 27.



 

  W. 27th Street Corridor Study 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. EN-000-3229 

Contractor pursuant to the provisions of this contract, except for and to the extent 
caused by the negligence of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa.   
 
The Contractor expressly assumes full responsibility for damages or injuries 
which may result to any person or property by reason of or in connection with the 
work and/or services provided by the Contractor to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
pursuant to this contract to the extent arising out of the errors, omissions or 
negligent acts of the Contractor, its agents, employees, subcontractors or others 
working on behalf of the Contractor, and agrees to pay the City of Cedar Falls, 
Iowa for all damages caused to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa premises resulting 
from the work and/or services of the Contractor, its officers, employees, 
subcontractors, and others affiliated with the Contractor to the extent arising out 
of such errors, omissions or negligent acts. 
 
The Contractor represents that its activities pursuant to the provisions of this 
contract will be performed and supervised by adequately trained and qualified 
personnel, and the Contractor will observe, and cause its officers, employees, 
subcontractors and others affiliated with the Contractor to observe all applicable 
safety rules. 
 
12. Performance and Payment Bonds: The City shall have the right to require 
the Contractor to furnish performance and payment bonds for the full amount of 
the Contract price.  The Contractor shall furnish, by a surety and in a form 
satisfactory to the City, such bonds to the City, prior to the start of Contractor’s 
Work, covering the performance of the Contractor and the payment of all 
obligations arising hereunder.  The Contractor, upon receipt of the bonds and 
invoice from the surety, shall pay for the cost of said bonds. Additional bond 
premium costs due to modifications to the Contract shall be included in the 
modification amount submitted by Contractor, and paid by Contractor.  
 
13. Waiver of Subrogation: To the extent permitted by law, Contractor hereby 
releases the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, its elected and appointed officials, its 
directors, employees, agents and volunteers working on behalf of the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa, from and against any and all liability or responsibility to the 
Contractor or anyone claiming through or under the Contractor by way of 
subrogation or otherwise, for any loss or damage to property caused by fire or 
any other casualty and for any loss due to bodily injury to Contractor’s 
employees. This provision shall be applicable and in full force and effect only with 
respect to loss or damage occurring during the time of this contract or arising out 
of the work performed under this contract. The Contractor’s policies of insurance 
shall contain a clause or endorsement to the effect that such release shall not 
adversely affect or impair such policies or prejudice the right of the Contractor to 
recover thereunder. 
 
 

417

ITEM 27.



 

  W. 27th Street Corridor Study 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. EN-000-3229 

Completion Checklist 
 

 Certificate of Liability Insurance (2 pages) 
 Additional Insured CG 20 10 07 04 
 Additional Insured CG 20 37 07 04 
 Governmental Immunities Endorsement 

 
 
 
  

418

ITEM 27.



 

  W. 27th Street Corridor Study 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. EN-000-3229 

EXHIBIT 1 – INSURANCE SCHEDULE 
 
 
General Liability (Occurrence Form Only): 

 Commercial General Liability 
  General Aggregate  $2,000,000 
  Products-Completed Operations Aggregate Limit $2,000,000 
  Personal and Advertising Injury Limit $1,000,000 
  Each Occurrence Limit  $1,000,000 
  Fire Damage Limit (any one occurrence) $     50,000 
  Medical Payments  $       5,000 
  

 

Automobile: (Combined Single Limit)     $1,000,000                            

If the Contractor does not own any vehicles, coverage is required on non-owned 
and hired vehicles. 
 
 
Standard Workers Compensation  
 Statutory for Coverage A 
 Employers Liability:  
 Each Accident $  500,000 
 Each Employee – Disease $  500,000 
 Policy Limit – Disease $  500,000 
 
 
Umbrella:  $3,000,000 
The Umbrella/Excess Insurance shall be written on a per occurrence basis and if 
the Umbrella/Excess is not written on a follow form basis it shall have the same 
endorsements as required of the primary policy(ies). 
 
 
Errors & Omissions: $1,000,000 
 

 
  

419

ITEM 27.



 

  W. 27th Street Corridor Study 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. EN-000-3229 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
ADDITIONAL INSURED ENDORSEMENT 

 
The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, including all its elected and appointed officials, all 
its employees and volunteers, all its boards, commissions and/or authorities and 
their board members, employees, and volunteers, are included as Additional 
Insureds, including ongoing operations CG 2010 07 04 or equivalent, and 
completed operations CG 2037 07 04 or equivalent. See Specimens. 
 
This coverage shall be primary to the Additional Insureds, and not contributing 
with any other insurance or similar protection available to the Additional Insureds, 
whether other available coverage be primary, contributing or excess. 

 
 
 

GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITIES ENDORSEMENT 
(For use when including the City as an Additional Insured) 

 

1. Nonwaiver of Government Immunity. The insurance carrier expressly 
agrees and states that the purchase of this policy and the including of the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa as an Additional Insured does not waive any of the defenses of 
governmental immunity available to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa under Code of 
Iowa Section 670.4 as it now exists and as it may be amended from time to time. 
 
2. Claims Coverage. The insurance carrier further agrees that this policy of 
insurance shall cover only those claims not subject to the defense of 
governmental immunity under the Code of Iowa Section 670.4 as it now exists 
and as it may be amended from time to time. 
 
3. Assertion of Government Immunity. The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa shall be 
responsible for asserting any defense of governmental immunity, and may do so 
at any time and shall do so upon the timely written request of the insurance 
carrier. Nothing contained in this endorsement shall prevent the carrier from 
asserting the defense of governmental immunity on behalf of the City of Cedar 
Falls, Iowa. 
 
4. Non-Denial of Coverage. The insurance carrier shall not deny coverage 
under this policy and the insurance carrier shall not deny any of the rights and 
benefits accruing to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa under this policy for reasons of 
governmental immunity unless and until a court of competent jurisdiction has 
ruled in favor of the defense(s) of governmental immunity asserted by the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa. 
 

420

ITEM 27.



 

  W. 27th Street Corridor Study 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. EN-000-3229 

5. No Other Change in Policy. The insurance carrier and the City of Cedar 
Falls, Iowa agree that the above preservation of governmental immunities shall 
not otherwise change or alter the coverage available under the policy. 

CANCELLATION AND MATERIAL CHANGES ENDORSEMENT 

 
Thirty (30) days Advance Written Notice of Cancellation, Non-Renewal, 
Reduction in coverage and/or limits and ten (10) days written notice of non-
payment of premium shall be sent to: Risk Management Office, City of Cedar 
Falls, City Hall, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613. This endorsement 
supersedes the standard cancellation statement on the Certificate of Insurance to 
which this endorsement is attached.  Contractor agrees to furnish the City with 30 
days advance written notice of cancellation, non-renewal, reduction in coverage 
and/or limits, and 10 days advance written notice of non-payment of premium. 
 
 
  

421

ITEM 27.



 

  W. 27th Street Corridor Study 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. EN-000-3229 

 

$1,000,000 

422

ITEM 27.



 

  W. 27th Street Corridor Study 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. EN-000-3229 

  

423

ITEM 27.



 

  W. 27th Street Corridor Study 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. EN-000-3229 

 

424

ITEM 27.



 

  W. 27th Street Corridor Study 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. EN-000-3229 

 

425

ITEM 27.



 

                                    W. 27th Street Corridor Study 
  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. EN-000-3229 

 

    

Exhibit C 
 

W. 27th Street Corridor Study 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project Number EN-000-3229  
 

  8/1/19 
 

STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR CONTRACTS BETWEEN 
CONTRACTORS WHO PERFORM PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AND THE CITY OF 

CEDAR FALLS 

 
 This document outlines the Standard Terms and Conditions for all Contractors 
who perform work or services for the City of Cedar Falls under a contract.  The term, 
“Contractor,” as used in this document, includes an engineer, an architect, and any other 
design professional providing professional services to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 
under a contract (but excludes construction contractors). 
 
 1. This Contract may not be modified or amended except by a writing signed 
by an authorized representative of the City of Cedar Falls and of the Contractor. 
 
 2. Time is of the essence of this Contract. 
 
 3. Contractor shall be an independent contractor with respect to the services 
to be performed under this Contract.  Neither Contractor nor its subcontractors, agents, 
or employees, shall be deemed to be employees or agents of the City. 
 
 4. Contractor shall perform all duties in accordance with all applicable 
federal, state and local laws and regulations. 
 
 5. If Contractor breaches this Contract, the City shall have all remedies 
available to it at law or in equity. 
 
 6. Severability.  If any provision of this Contract is declared invalid, illegal, or 
incapable of being enforced by any court of competent jurisdiction, all of the remaining 
provisions of this Contract shall nevertheless continue in full force and effect, and no 
provision shall be deemed dependent upon any other provision unless so expressed 
herein. 
 
 7. Assignment.  Contractor may not assign this Contract or any of its rights 
or obligations hereunder, without the prior written consent of the City, which consent 
may be withheld in the sole and absolute discretion of the City. 
 
 8. Survival of Obligations.  All obligations and duties which by their nature 
extend beyond the term of this Contract shall survive the expiration or termination of this 
Contract. 
 

426

ITEM 27.



 

                                    W. 27th Street Corridor Study 
  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. EN-000-3229 

 

 9. Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Venue and Trial.  This Contract shall be 
construed in accordance with, and all disputes hereunder shall be governed by, the laws 
of the State of Iowa, excluding its conflicts of law rules.  The parties hereto agree that 
the exclusive jurisdiction and venue shall be in the Iowa District Court for Black Hawk 
County, and in no other jurisdiction or location, and shall not be removed to federal 
court.  The parties hereby agree to waive the right to trial by jury and agree to submit all 
disputes to a trial by judge alone.  The parties agree that no disputes under this Contract 
shall be submitted to binding arbitration, but may be submitted to mediation by mutual 
consent of both parties. 
 
 10. Any failure of Contractor to comply with the Insurance Requirements for 
Contractors for the City of Cedar Falls set forth on Attachment A, shall constitute a 
default under this Contract. 
 
 11. Attorneys’ Fees.  In the event of litigation, the City shall under no 
circumstances be obligated for payment of any attorneys’ fees of Contractor or any other 
party, arising out of such litigation. 
 
 12. Payment.  Payment of Contractor’s invoices shall be due no sooner than 
thirty (30) days from the date of invoice.  In the event any invoices are not paid within 
thirty (30) days, the City shall pay interest thereon at the rate provided for by 
Section 668.13(3), Code of Iowa, computed monthly. 
 
 13. The City shall not be obligated to maintain confidentiality of Contractor 
documents or records that are furnished to the City if such documents are public records 
under the Iowa Open Records Law, Chapter 22, Code of Iowa, and the City shall have 
no responsibility to Contractor for disclosure of such records. 
 
 14. Under no circumstances shall the City waive any damages against the 
Contractor or any other party arising out of any breach of this Contract, whether 
consequential, indirect, special, or punitive damages. 
 
 15. Under no circumstances shall the Contractor’s liability to the City be 
limited to any specific amount or sum, whether that amount is the compensation paid by 
the City to the Contractor under this Contract, or the dollar amount of coverage provided 
for in the Insurance Requirements for Contractors for the City of Cedar Falls, Attachment 
A. 
 
 16. No waiver of the City’s subrogation rights against the Contractor or any 
other party shall conflict with the provisions of the City Insurance Requirements, 
Attachment A. 
 
 17. Limitations Period.  There shall be no limitation, except as provided for by 
Iowa law, on the period of time within which the City may make any claim against the 
Contractor or other party under the provisions of this Contract. 
 
 18. This Contract shall not be binding on the City unless and until approved 
by the City Council of the City at a duly constituted meeting, and signed by the Mayor 
and City Clerk of the City. 
 

427

ITEM 27.



 

                                    W. 27th Street Corridor Study 
  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. EN-000-3229 

 

 19. Warranties.  Contractor represents and warrants that all services 
furnished to the City under this Contract shall be furnished in a skilled and workmanlike 
manner, in accordance with the degree of skill and care that is required by current, good 
and sound practices applicable to the Contractor’s industry or profession, and as 
otherwise required by applicable law. 
 
 20. Force Majeure.  Neither party to this Contract shall be liable to the other 
party for delays in performing the services, or for the direct or indirect cost resulting from 
such delays, that may result from acts of God, acts of governmental authorities, 
extraordinary weather conditions or other natural catastrophes, or any other cause 
beyond the reasonable control or contemplation of either party.  Each party will take 
reasonable steps to mitigate the impact of any force majeure. 

428

ITEM 27.



SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE

INSURER F :

INSURER E :

INSURER D :

INSURER C :

INSURER B :

INSURER A :

NAIC #

NAME:
CONTACT

(A/C, No):
FAX

E-MAIL
ADDRESS:

PRODUCER

(A/C, No, Ext):
PHONE

INSURED

REVISION NUMBER:CERTIFICATE NUMBER:COVERAGES

IMPORTANT:  If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement.  A statement on
this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW.  THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

OTHER:

(Per accident)

(Ea accident)

$

$

N / A

SUBR
WVD

ADDL
INSD

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED.  NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

$

$

$

$PROPERTY DAMAGE

BODILY INJURY (Per accident)

BODILY INJURY (Per person)

COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT

AUTOS ONLY

AUTOSAUTOS ONLY
NON-OWNED

SCHEDULEDOWNED

ANY AUTO

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

Y / N

WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY

OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?
(Mandatory in NH)

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below
If yes, describe under

ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE

$

$

$

E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT

E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE

E.L. EACH ACCIDENT

ER
OTH-

STATUTE
PER

LIMITS(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EXP

(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EFF

POLICY NUMBERTYPE OF INSURANCELTR
INSR

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES  (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space is required)

EXCESS LIAB

UMBRELLA LIAB $EACH OCCURRENCE

$AGGREGATE

$

OCCUR

CLAIMS-MADE

DED RETENTION $

$PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG

$GENERAL AGGREGATE

$PERSONAL & ADV INJURY

$MED EXP (Any one person)

$EACH OCCURRENCE
DAMAGE TO RENTED

$PREMISES (Ea occurrence)

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

CLAIMS-MADE OCCUR

GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER:

POLICY
PRO-
JECT LOC

CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)

CANCELLATION

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

ACORD 25 (2016/03)

© 1988-2016 ACORD CORPORATION.  All rights reserved.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

HIRED
AUTOS ONLY

Willis of Illinois, Inc.
c/o 26 Century Blvd
P.O. Box 305191
Nashville, TN   372305191  USA

Foth Infrastructure & Environment, LLC
2121 Innovation Court
De Pere, WI 54115

Re: Ridgeway Avenue Reconstruction, City Project Number: RC-293-3172

The City of Cedar Falls, including all its elected and appointed officials, all its employees and volunteers, all its
boards, commissions and/or authorities and their board members, employees and volunteers are included as Additional
Insureds as respects to General Liability.

City of Cedar Falls
220 Clay Street
Cedar Falls, IA 50613

02/26/2019

1-877-945-7378 1-888-467-2378

certificates@willis.com

Lexington Insurance Company 19437

W10243100

A

1,000,000

300,000

0

1,000,000

2,000,000

2,000,000

Y Y 037205326 03/01/2019 03/01/2020

A
3,000,000

25,000

015438053 03/01/2019 03/01/2020 3,000,000

A Professional Liability Each Claim026154181 03/01/2019 03/01/2021

Aggregate

108550217576950SR ID: BATCH:

$1,000,000

$1,000,000

Page 1 of 2

429

ITEM 27.



ACORD 101 (2008/01)
The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

© 2008 ACORD CORPORATION.  All rights reserved.

THIS ADDITIONAL REMARKS FORM IS A SCHEDULE TO ACORD FORM,
FORM NUMBER: FORM TITLE:

ADDITIONAL REMARKS

ADDITIONAL REMARKS SCHEDULE Page           of

AGENCY CUSTOMER ID:
LOC #:

AGENCY

CARRIER NAIC CODE

POLICY NUMBER

NAMED INSURED

EFFECTIVE DATE:

Foth Infrastructure & Environment, LLC
2121 Innovation Court
De Pere, WI 54115

General Liability policy shall be Primary and Non-contributory with any other insurance in force for or which may be
purchased by Additional Insureds.

Waiver of Subrogation applies in favor of Additional Insureds with respects to General Liability.

Umbrella/Excess Follows Form

2 2

Willis of Illinois, Inc.

See Page 1

See Page 1 See Page 1 See Page 1

25 Certificate of Liability Insurance

W10243100CERT:1085502BATCH:17576950SR ID:

430

ITEM 27.



431

ITEM 27.



432

ITEM 27.



433

ITEM 27.



434

ITEM 27.



435

ITEM 27.



436

ITEM 27.



437

ITEM 27.



ENDORSEMENT # 017 

This endorsement, effect ive 12:01 AM 03/01/2018 

Forms a part of pol icy no.: 037205326 

Issued to: FOTH &VAN DYKE, LLC 

By: LEXINGTON INSURANCE COMPANY 

ADVICE OF CANCELLATION TO ENTITIES OTHER THAN THE NAMED INSURED LIMITED 

TO E-MAIL NOTIFICATION 

This policy is amended as follov\s: 

In the event that the Insurer cancels this policy for any reason other than non payment of premium, and 

1. The cancellation effective date is prior to this policy's expiration date; 

2. The First Named Insured is under an existing contractual obligation to notify a certificate 
holder when this policy is canceled (hereinafter, the "Certificate Holder(s)"); and has 
provided to the Insurer, either directly or through its broker of record, the email address of 
the contact at such entity, 

and the Insurer received this information after the First Named Insured receives notice of 
cancellation of this policy and prior to this policy's cancellation effective date, via an electronic 
spreadsheet that is acceptable to the Insurer, 

the Insurer will provide advice of cancellation (the "Advice") via e-mail to such Certificate Holders. 

Proof of the Insurer emailing the Advice, using the information provided by the First Named Insured, 
will serve as proof that the Insurer has fully satisfied its obligations under this endorsement. 

This endorsement does not affect, in any v\ay, coverage provided under this policy or the cancellation of 
this policy or the effective date thereof, nor shall this endorsement invest any rights in any entity not 
insured under this policy. 

The following Definitions apply to this endorsement: 

1. First Named Insured means the Named Insured shown on the Declarations Page of this 
policy. 

2. Insurer means the insurance company shown in the header on the Declarations Page of this 
policy. 

All other terms, conditions and exclusions shall remain the same. 

Authorized Representative 

LX8960 (05/13) Page 1 of 1 

438

ITEM 27.



439

ITEM 27.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 

 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Jon Fitch, Principal Engineer, PE 
 
 DATE: February 12, 2020 
 
 SUBJECT: 2020 Permeable Alley Project 
  Project No. RC-000-3225 
  Request for PS&E Approval 
 
Submitted within for City Council approval are the Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of Costs 
and Quantities for the 2020 Permeable Alley Project. 
 
We recommend setting Monday, March 2nd, 2020 at 7:00 p.m. as the date and time for the 
public hearing on this project and Tuesday, March 10th, 2020 at 2:00 p.m. as the date and time 
for receiving and opening bids. We also request that the Notice to Bidders be published by 
February 18, 2020. The Plans and Specifications will be ready for distribution to contractors on 
February 18, 2020 allowing three (3) weeks of review before contract letting. 
 
This project involves the installation of two full permeable alleys. Work shall include a 
combination of excavation and backfill of the alley areas; removal of driveway and sidewalk; 
subdrain; removal and replacement of PCC curb & gutter; placement of storage and filter 
aggregate; permeable interlocking clay brick paver installation, seeding, and concrete or gravel 
driveway replacement. 
 
The total estimated cost for the construction of this project is $229,100.00. The project will be 
funded by Street Construction Fund (SCF) and Storm Water Bond (STB) funding sources.  
 
The Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of Costs and Quantities are available for your review at 
the City Clerk's office or the Engineering Division of the Public Works Department. 
 
xc: David Wicke, City Engineer 
 Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 

  

440

ITEM 28.



441

ITEM 28.



442

ITEM 28.



443

ITEM 28.



444

ITEM 28.



445

ITEM 28.



446

ITEM 28.



1. PROJECT SCHEDULE - THE CONTRACTOR SHALL PREPARE A DETAILED SCHEDULE OF WORK, WHICH SHALL BE SUBMITTED AT THE PRECONSTRUCTION CONFERENCE. THE

SCHEDULE SHALL SHOW ANTICIPATED EQUIPMENT AND MATERIAL DELIVERIES AND COMPLETION OF MAJOR TASKS IN THE PROJEC                                                

2. RIGHT-OF-WAY AND CONSTRUCTION EASEMENT - THE CONTRACTOR SHALL RESTRICT THEIR OPERATIONS TO THE DESIGNATED EXISTING R.O.W. AREAS UNLESS PRIOR

APPROVAL IS OBTAINED FROM THE ENGINEER IN WRITING.

3. ALL PROPERTY OWNERS WHO HAVE DRIVEWAYS WHICH ENTER UPON A STREET THAT IS TO BE RECONSTRUCTED SHALL BE NOTIFIED BY THE CONTRACTOR 48 HOURS

PRIOR TO ANY WORK BEING DONE.

4. THIS DESIGN ASSUMES TEMPORARY STOCKPILING OF MATERIALS CAN BE ACCOMPLISHED WITHIN THE RIGHT-OF-WAY PROVIDED FOR THIS IMPROVEMENT. NO EASEMENTS

HAVE BEEN PROVIDED SPECIFICALLY FOR STOCKPILING PURPOSES. THE CONTRACTOR MAY ELECT TO PROCURE STOCKPILE EASEMENTS OUTSIDE THE RIGHT-OF-WAY

CORRIDOR AT THEIR OWN EXPENSE TO FACILITATE THE CONSTRUCTION STAGING SEQUENCE.

5. IT SHALL BE THE CONTRACTOR'S RESPONSIBILITY (UNLESS DESIGNATED BY THE ENGINEER) TO PROVIDE WASTE AREAS OR DISPOSAL SITES FOR EXCESS MATERIAL

WHICH IS NOT DESIRABLE TO BE INCORPORATED IN THE WORK INVOLVED ON THIS PROJECT (EXCAVATION, BROKEN CONCRETE,CMP OR RCP). NO PAYMENT FOR

OVERHAUL WILL BE ALLOWED BY THE ENGINEER. OVERHAUL WILL NOT BE MEASURED OR PAID FOR BUT SHALL BE CONSIDERED INCIDENTAL TO ROADWAY EXCAVATION

ON THIS PROJECT.

6. UNLESS OTHERWISE DIRECTED OR AUTHORIZED, ALL ASPHALTIC CEMENT CONCRETE AND OTHER BITUMINOUS MATERIALS, WHICH ARE NOT SPECIFICALLY ADDRESSED

OR DESCRIBED IN THE PLANS, SHALL BECOME THE PROPERTY OF THE CONTRACTOR. THIS INCLUDES ALL PAVEMENT, ASPHALT PATCHES, DRIVEWAYS REMOVED DURING

PAVEMENT REMOVAL, TEMPORARY DRIVES, AND ASPHALT MILLINGS.

THE CONTRACTOR IN ACCORDANCE WITH CURRENT RULES AND REGULATIONS OF THE IOWA DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES MAY:

1. REMOVE THE MATERIAL FROM THE PROJECT AND STOCKPILE FOR THE CONTRACTOR'S FUTURE USE.

2. DISPOSE OF IN A LICENSED LANDFILL.

7. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL NOT DISTURB AREAS OUTSIDE THE CONSTRUCTION LIMITS. THE CONTRACTOR WILL NOT BE PERMITTED TO PARK, SERVICE VEHICLES AND

EQUIPMENT, OR USE THESE AREAS FOR STORAGE OF MATERIALS.

8. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL PLACE 6 INCHES OF TOPSOIL OVER ALL SODDING AND SEEDING AREAS DISTURBED BY THE CONSTRUCTION OF THIS PROJECT. ANY HYDRO

MULCHING FOR WINTER STABILIZATION FOR DISTURBED AREAS SHALL BE CONSIDERED INCIDENTAL TO THE PROJECT.

9. CONTRACTOR SHALL MAINTAIN SERVICE CONNECTIONS DURING CONSTRUCTION.

10. CONTRACTOR SHALL USE TESTING EQUIPMENT AND PROCEDURES THAT ARE ACCEPTABLE TO THE ENGINEER.

11. COMPACTION OF BACKFILL IN ALL TRENCHES AND EXCAVATIONS SHALL BE TO 95% STANDARD PROCTOR DENSITY.

12. CONTRACTOR SHALL NOT USE ANY PROPERTY OWNER'S WATER OR ELECTRICITY.

13. CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR MAKING SURE THAT TRUCKS TRAVELING TO AND FROM THE PROJECT SITE ARE IN GOOD WORKING ORDER AND DO NOT DROP

MATERIAL ONTO THE STREET.

IT IS THE CONTRACTOR'S RESPONSIBILITY TO ENSURE THAT ALL STREETS ADJACENT TO THE PROJECT ARE CLEAN AND FREE OF MUD AND DEBRIS GENERATED FROM

THE PROJECT. THIS INCLUDES CLEANING OF THE STREETS AT THE END OF EACH DAY'S WORK AND BEFORE AN ANTICIPATED RAIN EVENT, TO PREVENT MUD AND DEBRIS

FROM ENTERING THE STORM SEWER SYSTEM.

14. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL APPLY NECESSARY MOISTURE TO THE CONSTRUCTION AREA AND HAUL ROADS AT THE DIRECTION OF THE ENGINEER TO PREVENT THE SPREAD

OF DUST.

15. PEDESTRIAN CURB DROPS ARE TO BE CONSTRUCTED IN CURBS AT ALL LOCATIONS AS SHOWN IN THE SIDEWALK TABULATION ON THE PROJECT PLANS.

16. ESTIMATED QUANTITY FOR NEW CONCRETE PAVEMENT INCLUDES ALL INTEGRAL CURB, ALL STREET RETURNS, SPECIAL AREAS AND AREAS OF REPAIRS TO CONNECTING

PAVEMENTS.

17. COARSE AGGREGATE FOR ALL P.C. CONCRETE SHALL BE CLASS 3  DURABILITY.

18. CURING COMPOUNDS USED SHALL MEET THE REQUIREMENTS OF STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS, SECTION 7010-2.02-M.

19. TO OBTAIN THE CORRECT FORM GRADES AT LOW POINTS WHERE INTAKES ARE LOCATED, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL EXERCISE EXTREME CARE WHEN PAVING FULL WIDTH

PAVEMENTS. THIS MAY REQUIRE POURING ONE-HALF OF THE  PAVEMENT AT A TIME OR OTHER METHODS APPROVED BY THE ENGINEER.

20. SPECIAL CARE SHALL BE TAKEN WHEN FORMING AT INTERSECTIONS SO THAT THE PROFILES SHOWN ON THE PLANS ARE OBTAINED. SHORT LENGTHS OF FORMS OR

FLEXIBLE FORMS MAY BE NECESSARY AT THESE LOCATIONS.

21. THE CITY WILL FURNISH THE REQUIRED STAKES AND BENCHMARKS FOR THIS WORK. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL MAINTAIN ALL STAKES AND REPORT ANY DAMAGE TO THE

ENGINEER. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ALL GRADES, LINES, LEVELS AND DIMENSIONS AS SHOWN ON THE PLANS AND SHALL REPORT ANY ERRORS OR

INCONSISTENCIES TO THE ENGINEER PRIOR TO COMMENCING WORK. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY THE ENGINEER AT LEAST 48 HOURS PRIOR TO THE NEED FOR

SURVEY STAKES. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR PRESERVING SURVEY STAKES AND MARKS.  IF ANY SURVEY STAKES OR MARKS ARE CARELESSLY OR

WILLFULLY DESTROYED, OR DISTURBED BY THE CONTRACTOR, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE CHARGED FOR THE COST OF REPLACING THEM, INCLUDING LABOR AND

MATERIALS

22. THE COST OF CONNECTING PERFORATED SUBDRAIN TO EXISTING STRUCTURES OR TILE LINES SHALL BE CONSIDERED INCIDENTAL TO THE COST PER LINEAR FOOT OF

THE PERTINENT PIPE.

23. ALL CONTRACTORS SHALL USE CAUTION WHEN WORKING OVER AND AROUND ALL TILE LINES. BREAKS IN THE TILE LINE DUE TO THE CONTRACTOR'S CARELESSNESS

SHALL BE REPLACED AT THEIR EXPENSE WITHOUT COST TO THE CONTRACTING AUTHORITY. ANY TILE LINES BROKEN OR DISTURBED BY OUR CUT LINES WILL BE

REPLACED AS DIRECTED BY THE ENGINEER IN CHARGE OF CONSTRUCTION AND AT THE CONTRACTING AUTHORITY'S EXPENSE.

24. UTILITIES - THE LOCATION OF ALL EXISTING UTILITIES INDICATED ON THE PLANS ARE TAKEN FROM CURRENT RECORDS AND/OR FIELD SURVEYS. HOWEVER, IT IS THE

RESPONSIBILITY OF THE CONTRACTOR TO CONFIRM THE EXACT LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF ALL UTILITIES. IT SHALL BE THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE CONTRACTOR

TO NOTIFY THE RESPECTIVE UTILITY COMPANIES OF THE COMMENCEMENT OF WORK ON THE PROJECT AND TO COORDINATE NECESSARY ADJUSTMENTS. THE

CONTRACTOR SHALL EXPOSE THOSE UTILITIES AND SEWERS AS DIRECTED IN THE FIELD BY THE ENGINEER PRIOR TO BEGINNING CONSTRUCTION SO THAT EXACT

LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS MAY BE DETERMINED. NO DIRECT PAYMENT SHALL BE MADE FOR THIS WORK AND IT SHALL BE CONSIDERED INCIDENTAL TO OTHER

APPLICABLE WORK.

25. PRIOR TO OPENING AN EXCAVATION, EFFORT SHALL BE MADE TO DETERMINE WHETHER UNDERGROUND INSTALLATIONS, I.E., SEWER, WATER, FUEL, ELECTRIC LINES,

ETC., WILL BE ENCOUNTERED AND, IF SO, WHERE SUCH UNDERGROUND INSTALLATIONS ARE LOCATED. WHEN THE EXCAVATION APPROACHES THE APPROXIMATE

LOCATIONS OF SUCH AN INSTALLATION, CAREFUL PROBING OR HAND DIGGING SHALL DETERMINE THE EXACT LOCATIONS, AND WHEN IT IS UNCOVERED, ADEQUATE

PROTECTION SHALL BE PROVIDED FOR THE EXISTING INSTALLATION. ALL KNOWN OWNERS OF UNDERGROUND FACILITIES IN THE AREA CONCERNED SHALL BE ADVISED

OF PROPOSED WORK AT LEAST 48 HOURS PRIOR TO THE START OF ACTUAL EXCAVATION.

26. FOR ALL UTILITY LOCATION REQUESTS, CALL THE FOLLOWING NUMBER, IOWA ONE CALL (1-800-292-8989).

UTILITY CONTACT PERSON

CEDAR FALLS UTILITIES: JERALD LUKENSMEYER 1-319-266-1761

CENTURYLINK: DENNIS LONG 1-319-538-7215

MEDIACOM: KEVIN PARKER 1-319-232-8800

WATER RECLAMATION: MIKE NYMAN 1-319-273-8633

27. PART VI OF THE “MANUAL ON UNIFORM TRAFFIC CONTROL DEVICES” (MUTCD) 2009, SHALL APPLY. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL FURNISH ALL NECESSARY TRAFFIC CONTROL

DEVICES AND THE COST SHALL BE INCIDENTAL TO THE TRAFFIC CONTROL ITEM ON THIS PROJECT. ALL BARRICADES AND TRAFFIC CONTROL DEVICES SHALL CONFORM

TO THE MOST CURRENT “MANUAL ON UNIFORM TRAFFIC CONTROL DEVICES” AND LATEST SUPPLEMENTALS TO THE STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS.

28. ORANGE MESH SAFETY FENCE SHALL MEET THE REQUIREMENTS OF SECTION 2518.02 AND SECTION 4188.03 OF THE  I.D.O.T. SPECIFICATIONS.

29. EXISTING STREET SIGNS AND TRAFFIC SIGNS ARE TO BE REMOVED BY THE CONTRACTOR AND DELIVERED TO CEDAR FALLS TRANSFER STATION AT 16TH STREET AND

STATE STREET. PRIVATE SIGNS SHALL BE REMOVED, STORED AND INSTALLED BY THE CONTRACTOR. ANY SIGNS DAMAGED WILL BE REPLACED AT CONTRACTOR'S

EXPENSE.

30. IT IS THE CONTRACTOR'S RESPONSIBILTY TO MAINTAIN EXISTING STORM AND SANITARY SEWER SYSTEMS IN AN OPEN AND FUNCTIONING CONDITION DURING ALL PHASES

OF CONSTRUCTION. COSTS ASSOCIATED WITH MAINTAINING EXISTING SYSTEMS INCLUDING CLEANING, REMOVING DEBRIS AND REPAIRS RESULTING FROM THE

CONTRACTOR'S OPERATIONS WILL BE THE CONTRACTOR'S RESPONSIBILITY. MATERIAL STOCKPILES SHALL NOT BLOCK DRAINAGE FLOW

31. THE FOLLOWING EVENTS LISTED BELOW ARE FOR INFORMATIONAL PURPOSES AND MAY OR MAY NOT HAVE AN IMPACT ON THE CONSTRUCTION WORK PERFORMED ON

THIS PROJECT.

 MAY 8, 2020 - UNI CLASSES END

MAY 22, 2020 - LAST DAY OF SCHOOL C.F. PUBLIC SCHOOLS (TENTATIVE)

JUNE 26-28, 2020 - STURGIS FALLS CELEBRATION

AUGUST 24, 2020 - C.F. PUBLIC SCHOOLS RESUME (TENTATIVE)

AUGUST 24, 2020 - UNI CLASSES RESUME

UNI HOMECOMING - OCTOBER 17, 2020

32. LOCATIONS OF EXISTING SANITARY SEWER IS BASED ON BEST AVAILABLE CITY RECORDS. CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR LOCATING ALL SANITARY LINES AND

SERVICES. ANY DAMAGES TO SANITARY LINES ARE TO BE REPLACED AT CONTRACTOR'S EXPENSE.

33. SUBMIT PAVEMENT MIX DESIGN FOR ENGINEER APPROVAL.

34. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE POLLUTION PREVENTION PLAN AS OUTLINED IN THE SPECIAL PROVISIONS OF THE PROJECT SPECIFICATIONS.

35. THE URBAN STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS (SUDAS), 2020 EDITION, AND THE CURRENT CITY OF CEDAR FALLS SUPPLEMENTAL SPECIFICATIONS

TO SUDAS SPECIFICATIONS, SHALL APPLY TO THE CONSTRUCTION WORK PERFORMED UPON THIS PROJECT.

36. PRIMER OR TACK COAT BITUMEN WILL BE CONSIDERED INCIDENTAL TO HOT MIX ASPHALT AND WILL NOT BE MEASURED SEPARATELY FOR PAYMENT. WHEN USING TACK,

THE FOLLOWING RATES ARE SPECIFIED:

 BEFORE OTHER COURSES ARE PLACED: (UNDILUTED RATE) 0.02 TO 0.05 GAL./SQ. YD. VERTICAL FACE OF EXPOSED, LONGITUDINAL JOINTS: 0.10 TO 0.15 GAL./SQ. YD. 

 WITHIN 2 VERTICAL FEET OF HEADWALLS OF CULVERTS AND CURBS OR HANDRAILS OF BRIDGES: 0.10 GAL/S.Y. APPROVED TACKS: CSS-1 OR CSS-1H.

37. ASPHALT BINDER PG-58-28S OR 58-28H, WHICHEVER IS APPROPRIATE FOR (ST) OR (HT) HOT MIX ASPHALT, AS CALLED FOR IN THESE PLANS, SHALL BE CONSIDERED

INCIDENTAL TO HOT MIX ASPHALT BID ITEMS. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR CERTIFIED PLANT INSPECTION. CERTIFIED PLANT INSPECTION SHALL BE

DONE AS PER STANDARD SPECIFICATION SECTION 7020-3.06 A.3 AND 3.06 B.5 FOR ALL HMA ITEMS.

38. CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE A PORTABLE TOILET AT EACH ALLEY LOCATION.

447

ITEM 28.



448

ITEM 28.



449

ITEM 28.



450

ITEM 28.



451

ITEM 28.



 1 

 
 

PROJECT SPECIFICATIONS 
For 

2020 Permeable Alley Project 
 
 

Project No. ST-000-3225 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ENGINEER'S CERTIFICATION 

 

 

 
I hereby certify that this engineering document was prepared by me or 
under my direct personal supervision and that I am a duly licensed 
professional engineer under the laws of the State of Iowa. 

 
_________________________________  Date: _2/12/2020________   
Jonathan P. Fitch, P.E.                             Iowa License No. 16920 
 
My license renewal date is December  31, 2021 
Pages or sheets covered by this seal: 1-30. 

 

 
 

452

ITEM 28.



 2

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

 
    Page Number 
 
TITLE SHEET  1 
 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 2-3 
 
NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 4 
 
NOTICE TO BIDDERS 5-7 
 
DIVISION 1 – Instruction to Bidders 
 

01 Definition and Terms 8 
 02 Qualification of the Bidder 8-9 

03 Contents of the Proposal Forms 9 
04 Taxes  9 
05 Submission of the Proposal, Identity of Bidder and Bid Security 9-10 
Form of Proposal 11-13 
Bid Bond  14 
Bidder Status Form 15 
Worksheet: Authorization to Transact Business 16 
Non-Collusion Affidavit of Prime Bidder 17 
Form of Contract 18-19 
Performance, Payment and Maintenance Bond 20-23 
Notice to Proceed 24 

 
DIVISION 2 – Special Provisions 
 

01 Award of Contract 25 
02 Availability of Site 25 
03 Protection of Line and Grade Stakes 25 
04 Borrow and Waste Sites 25 
05 Subletting or Assignment of Contract 26 
06 Contract Time 26 
07 Work Progress and Schedule 26 
08 Weekly record of Working Days 26 
09 Liquidated Damages 26 
10 Progress Payments 27 
11 Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan 27-28 
12 Method of Measurement 28 
13 Basis of Payment 29 
 

453

ITEM 28.



 3

 
DIVISION 3 – Standard Specifications 
 

The City of Cedar Falls has adopted the 2020 edition of the “STATEWIDE 
URBAN DESIGN AND SPECIFICATIONS PROGRAM” (SUDAS) as the City’s 
Standard Specification. 
 
This Standard Specification is amended by the “City of Cedar Falls’ 2020 
Supplemental Specifications to the most current edition of the SUDAS 
STATEWIDE URBAN DESIGN AND SPECIFICATIONS PROGRAM” 

 
 Links to both documents can be found on the City’s website at: 
 www.cedarfalls.com/designstandards 
 
DIVISION 4 – Supplemental Plans and Specifications 29-30 
 

 
 
  

454

ITEM 28.



 4 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING ON PLANS, SPECIFICATIONS, 
FORM OF CONTRACT, AND ESTIMATE OF COST FOR THE 2020  
PERMEABLE ALLEY PROJECT, CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 
TO ALL TAXPAYERS OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND OTHER 
PERSONS INTERESTED: 
 

Public notice is hereby given that the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa, will conduct a Public Hearing on Plans, Specifications, Form of Contract, and 

Estimated total Cost for the construction of the 2020 Permeable Alley Project in said 

City at 7:00 p.m. on the 2nd day of March, 2020, said meeting to be held in the Council 

Chambers in the City Hall 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

Said Plans, Specifications, Form of Contract, and Estimated Total Cost are now 

on file in the office of the City Clerk in the City Hall in Cedar Falls, Iowa, and may be 

inspected by any persons interested. 

Any person interested may appear at said meeting of the City Council for the 

purpose of making objections to said Plans, Specifications, Contract or the estimated 

total cost of making said improvement. 

This notice is given by order of the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

   City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

    By: _______________________________ 

    Jacque Danielsen, CMC 
    City Clerk 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

455

ITEM 28.



 5

NOTICE TO BIDDERS 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT 

2020 PERMEABLE ALLEY PROJECT  
 

Time and Place for Filing Sealed Proposals: Sealed proposals will be received at the City 
Clerk's office at City Hall, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa by the City Engineer or an 
authorized representative of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, before 2:00 p.m. on the 10th day 
of March, 2020. 
 
Time and Place Sealed Proposals will be Opened and Considered: Sealed proposals will be 
opened and read at 2:00 p.m. on the 10th day of March, 2020 in the City Council Chambers 
at City Hall, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa, for consideration by the City of Cedar Falls 
City Council at its meeting at 7:00 PM on March 16th, 2020 or at such later time and place 
as may be fixed. The City of Cedar Falls reserves the right to reject any and all proposals 
including without limitation, nonconforming, nonresponsive, unbalanced or conditional bids.  
 
Time for Commencement and Completion of Work: The work under the proposed contract 
shall commence within ten (10) calendar days after the date set forth in the written Notice to 
Proceed and shall be performed regularly and diligently throughout the duration of the 
project. Contractor shall reach substantial completion no later than September 18, 2020 and 
shall fully complete close-out of the project no later than November 6, 2020. In addition, the 
alleys shall be completed with the calendar days specified in the “06 Contract Time” within 
Division 2. Calendar day allotments only apply to each alley and any remaining calendar 
days on a given alley cannot be used on another alley.  
 
Bid Security: Each Form of Proposal shall be accompanied in a separate envelope by a Bid 
Security as defined in the Instructions to Bidders - Division 1, Section 05. 
 
Performance and Payment Bonds: The successful Bidder shall furnish to the City a performance 
bond in an amount equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the contract price, guaranteeing 
faithful performance of the contract and guaranteeing the completed project against defective 
workmanship and materials for a period of two (2) years from and after completion and 
acceptance by the City. The successful Bidder shall also provide a payment bond in an amount 
equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the contract price guaranteeing payment of all persons 
supplying labor and materials, or both, in the execution of the work provided for in the contract.  
 
Contract Documents: Contract Documents: Plans, specifications, and proposal forms have 
been approved by the City Council and are now on file for public examination in the office of the 
City Clerk. Electronic contract documents will become available Tuesday, February 18, 2020 at 
no cost by clicking on the “Bid Opportunities” link at www.cedarfalls.com and choosing the 2020 
Permeable Alley project from the list. Project information, Engineer’s cost opinion, and 
planholder information is also available at no cost at this website. Downloads require the user to 
register for a free membership at www.QuestCDN.com. If required, hard copies of the project 
documents may be obtained from the City Engineer’s office, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 
50613. 
 
Contact Brett Armstrong for document distribution or any questions via phone: (319) 
243-2704, fax: (319) 268-5197, or email: brett.armstrong@cedarfalls.com. QuestCDN 
reference number 6729030. 

456

ITEM 28.



 6

If any prospective bidder is in doubt as to the true meaning of any parts of the contract 
documents, the bidder may request an interpretation from the Engineer, in writing, either 
through mail, fax or email. Questions received less than five (5) days prior to the date for 
opening bids may not be answered. 
 
Contact individuals shall be as follows: 
 
Brett Armstrong                                                                   
Cedar Falls Engineering Department                               
220 Clay Street                                                                 
Cedar Falls, IA 50613                                                       
brett.armstrong@cedarfalls.com                                                 
 
Any interpretation of the contract documents will be made in writing and only by an addendum 
duly mailed or delivered to each prospective bidder who received, or in the future requests, 
contracts documents from Jurisdiction. Only questions answered by Addenda will be binding. 
Oral and other interpretations or clarifications will be without legal effect. 
 
Addenda may be issued to clarify, correct, or change the contract documents as deemed 
advisable by Jurisdiction or the Engineer. 
 
Preference for Iowa Products and Labor:  By virtue of statutory authority, a preference will 
be given to products and provisions grown and coal produced within the State of Iowa. 
 
In accordance with Iowa statutes, a resident Bidder shall be allowed a preference as 
against a nonresident Bidder from a state or foreign country if that state or foreign country 
gives or requires any preference to Bidders from that state or foreign country, including but 
not limited to any preference to Bidders, the imposition of any type of labor force 
preference, or any other form of preferential treatment to Bidders or laborers from that state 
or foreign country. The preference allowed shall be equal to the preference given or 
required by the state or foreign country in which the nonresident Bidder is a resident. In the 
instance of a resident labor force preference, a nonresident Bidder shall apply the same 
resident labor force preference to a public improvement in this state as would be required in 
the construction of a public improvement by the state or foreign country in which the 
nonresident Bidder is a resident. 
 
Failure to submit a fully completed Bidder Status Form with the bid may result in the bid 
being deemed nonresponsive; and be rejected. 
 
Sales Tax: Contractors and approved Subcontractors will be provided a Sales Tax 
Exemption Certification to purchase building materials, supplies or equipment to be used in 
the work performance of this project. Products utilized in the construction of this project will 
be exempt from sales tax as provided by the current Code of Iowa Sections 423.2 and 
423.45. 
 
Project Description: This project involves the installation of two full permeable alleys. Work 
shall include a combination of excavation and backfill of the alley areas; removal of 
driveway and sidewalk; subdrain; removal and replacement of PCC curb & gutter; 

457

ITEM 28.



 7

placement of storage and filter aggregate; permeable interlocking clay brick paver 
installation, seeding, and concrete or gravel driveway replacement. 
 
Published upon order of the City Council of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 
 

   CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
   BY: __________________________ 
           Jacque Danielsen, CMC 
    City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

458

ITEM 28.



 8

DIVISION I – Instructions to Bidders 
 
The work comprising the 2020 Permeable Alley Project shall be constructed in 
accordance with the 2020 edition of the Statewide Urban Standard Specifications for 
Public Improvements (SUDAS) and as further modified by the City of Cedar Falls’ 2020 
Supplemental Specifications to the 2020 edition of the SUDAS and the special provision 
included in the contract documents. The terms used in the contract revision of the 
documents are defined in said Standard Specifications. 
 
Before submitting your Bid, please review the requirements of “Division One, General 
Provisions and Covenants,” in particular the sections regarding proposal requirements, 
bonding, contract execution and insurance requirements. Please be certain that all 
documents have been completed properly, as failure to complete and sign all documents 
and to comply with the requirements listed below can cause your Bid not to be read. 
 
01 Definition and Terms 
 
Add the following to the SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1010 – 1.03: 
 
Code of Iowa: The latest edition of the Iowa Code 
 
Engineer: The City Engineer of Cedar Falls, Iowa or an authorized representative. 
 
Owner: The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa acting through its City Council. 
 
Project: 2020 Permeable Alley Project   Project No. ST-000-3225 
 
02 Qualification of the Bidder 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1020 – 1.01: 
 
To demonstrate bidder’s qualifications to perform the work, within five days of the 
Owners request, bidder shall submit written evidence such as may be called for below: 
 
The address and description of the bidder’s place of business; The number of years 
engaged in the contracting business under the present firm name, and the name of the 
state where incorporated; A list of the property and equipment available to the bidder to 
evaluate if the bidder can complete the work in accordance with the bidding documents; 
A financial statement of the bidder showing that the bidder has the financial resources 
to meet all obligations incidental to the work; The bidder’s performance record giving the 
description, location, and telephone number of similar projects constructed in a 
satisfactory manner by the bidder; A list of projects presently under contract, the 
approximate contract amount and the percent of completion of each; A list of contracts 
which resulted in lawsuits; A list of contracts defaulted; A statement of the bidder 
indicating whether or not the bidder has ever filed bankruptcy while performing work of a 
like nature or magnitude;  A list of officers of the firm who, while in the employ of the firm 

459

ITEM 28.



 9

or the employ of previous firms, were associated with contracts which resulted in 
lawsuits, contracts defaulted or filed for bankruptcy; The technical experience of 
personnel guaranteed to be employed in responsible charge of the work stating whether 
the personnel have or have not performed satisfactorily on other contracts of like nature 
and magnitude or comparable difficulty at similar rate of progress; Such additional 
information as will assist the Owner in determining whether the bidder is adequately 
prepared to fulfill the contract. Owner’s decision as to qualifications of the bidder will be 
final. 
 
The Owner hereby notifies all bidders that it will affirmatively ensure that in any contract 
entered into pursuant to this advertisement, disadvantaged business enterprises will be 
afforded full opportunity to submit bids in response to this invitation and will not be 
discriminated against on the grounds of race, color or national origin in consideration for 
an award. 
 
03 Contents of the Proposal Forms 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1020 – 1.02: 
 
Plans, Specifications, and a Form of Proposal may be obtained from the City Engineer’s 
Office.  Plans, Specifications, and the Form of Proposal have been approved by the City 
Council and are now on file for public examination in the office of the City Clerk. 
 
04 Taxes 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1020 – 1.08: 
 
Contractors and approved Subcontractors will be provided a Sales Tax Exemption 
Certification to purchase building materials, supplies or equipment to be used in the 
work performance of this project. Products utilized in the construction of this project will 
be exempt from sales tax as provided by the current Code of Iowa Sections 423.2 and 
423.45. 
 
05 Submission of the Proposal, Identity of Bidder and Bid Security 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1020 – 1.12: 
 
The Bid Security must be in the minimum amount of 10% of the total bid amount including 
all add alternates (do not deduct the amount of deduct alternates). The Bid Security shall 
be in the form of a cashier's check or certified check drawn on a state-chartered or 
federally chartered bank, or a certified share draft drawn on a state-chartered or federally 
chartered credit union, or a bidder's bond with corporate surety satisfactory to the City. 
The Bid Bond must be submitted on the enclosed Bid Bond form, as no other Bid Bond 
forms are acceptable.  All signatures on the Bid Bond must be original signatures in ink; 
facsimile (fax) of any signature on the Bid Bond is not acceptable.  Bid Security other than 
said Bid Bond shall be made payable to City Clerk of the City of Cedar Falls.” 

460

ITEM 28.



 10

 
“Miscellaneous Bank checks,” as well as “Money Orders” and “Traveler’s Checks” issued 
by persons, firms or corporations licensed under Code of Iowa Chapter 533B are not 
acceptable bid security. 
 
The bid shall be submitted on the Form of Proposal included herewith or on a computer 
printed proposal. All entries on the Form of Proposal shall be filled in ink, typed or 
computer printed. The Bidder shall not alter the quantity, unit price or the extension that 
has been provided for items that have been predetermined by the contracting authority. 
 
If the proposal is computer generated, the Bidder shall submit a form titled as “Form of 
Proposal,” followed by: the project name, project number, the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
and the Bidder's name. The form shall then include the item numbers, item descriptions 
and units, and their quantities. The Bidder shall specify a unit price in figures of dollars 
and cents for all pay items, the extensions for the respective unit prices and quantities in 
figures in a column provided for each purpose, and the total amount of the proposal 
obtained by adding the cost extension for every bid item. The form shall then conclude 
with the Bidder's name, the legible printed name of its representative, and the 
representative's signature.  
 
The computer generated proposal then is to be attached to the Form of Proposal 
included herewith, which has the following entries completed: bid security sum and 
form, the name of the Bidder and its official address, and the Bidder's representative's 
legible printed name, signature, and title. The “entry area for total bid” line on the 
supplied Form of Proposal shall also be completed with the entry of "see attached". 
 
The Form of Proposal shall be submitted in a sealed envelope separate from the Bid 
Security, Bidders Status Form, and Non-Collusion Affidavit. The envelope shall bear the 
return address of the Bidder and shall be addressed as follows: 
 

To: City Clerk 
City of Cedar Falls 
City Hall 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 

 
Proposal for: 2020 Permeable Alley Project    

Project No. ST-000-3225 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

461

ITEM 28.



 11

FORM OF PROPOSAL 
2020 PERMEABLE ALLEY PROJECT  

PROJECT NO. ST-000-3225 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 
 
To the Mayor and City Council 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
 
The undersigned hereby certifies that __________________________ have personally 

and carefully examined the specifications, general conditions, and form of contract 

annexed hereto. Having made such examination, the undersigned hereby proposes to 

construct the improvements for the 2020 PERMEABLE ALLEY Project  in accordance 

with the plans and specifications on file in the office of the City Clerk, the published 

Notice to Bidders and the Form of Contract, herewith, complying with all the laws of the 

State of Iowa, and the Rules, Regulations, and Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, 

and to the satisfaction of the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, including the 

guaranteeing of this Project for a period of two (2 yrs.) years from the date of final 

acceptance thereof at the following prices, to-wit: 

 

ITEM 
NO. 

DESCRIPTION UNIT 
TOTAL 

QUANTITY 
UNIT 

PRICES 
EXTENDED 

PRICES 

1 TOPSOIL, FURNISH & SPREAD C.Y. 80   

2 
EXCAVATION, CLASS 10, 
ROADWAY WASTE 

C.Y. 589   

3 MODIFIED SUBBASE,  12” S.Y. 36   

4 
SUBDRAIN CLEANOUT, 
TYPE A-1,  6” 

EACH 4   

5 VALVE EXTENSION EACH 2   

6 
7” CURB & GUTTER, 
P.C.C.,  2.5’ WIDE 

L.F. 72   

462

ITEM 28.



 12

ITEM 
NO. 

DESCRIPTION UNIT 
TOTAL 

QUANTITY 
UNIT 

PRICES 
EXTENDED 

PRICES 

7 REMOVAL OF DRIVEWAY S.Y. 125   

8 REMOVAL OF SIDEWALK S.Y. 88   

9 SIDEWALK,  6” P.C.C. S.Y. 88   

10 DRIVEWAY,  6” P.C.C. S.Y. 289   

11 
DRIVEWAY, GRANULAR, 1” 
ROADSTONE 

S.Y. 33   

12 
PATCH, COMPOSITE HMA/ 
P.C.C. 

S.Y. 27   

13 
REMOVAL OF CURB & 
GUTTER 

L.F. 72   

14 ENGINEERING FABRIC S.Y. 1347   

15 
UNDERDRAIN, 6” PLASTIC 
PERFORATED,  TYPE S 

L.F. 954   

16 STORAGE AGGREGATE,  8” S.Y. 1155   

17 FILTER AGGREGATE,  4” S.Y. 1155   

18 
PERMEABLE INTERLOCKING 
PAVERS, CLAY BRICK 

S.F. 3393   

19 
PCC EDGE RESTRAINT, 6” 
CONCRETE SLAB,  4’ WIDE 

S.Y. 777   

20 TRAFFIC CONTROL L.S. 1   

21 HYDRAULIC SEEDING S.F. 4260   

22 WATTLE, STRAW,  9” L.F. 1870   

23 INLET PROTECTION DEVICE EACH 9   

24 
INLET PROTECTION DEVICE 
MAINTENANCE 

EACH 9   

25 MOBILIZATION L.S. 1   

  TOTAL BID  

 
 

463

ITEM 28.



 13

 
 
Bidders may not independently bid on selective items of work. In this project, all items 
constitute one indivisible work that will be let to one Bidder. Bids shall be submitted for 
all of the items (Items 1-25). The successful Bidder will be determined by evaluating the 
sum of correct unit price extensions. Failure to submit a bid on any item shall be just 
cause for disqualification of the entire proposal. Unit bids must be filled in ink, typed or 
computer generated, or the bid will be rejected. The Owner reserves the right to delete 
any part or all of any item. 
 

The Owner reserves the right to reject any and all bids, including without limitation, 
nonconforming, nonresponsive, unbalanced or conditional bids. The Owner further 
reserves the right to reject the bid of any Bidder whom it finds, after reasonable inquiry 
and evaluation, to be non-responsive. The Owner may also reject the bid of any Bidder 
if the Owner believes that it would not be in the best interest of the project to make an 
award to that Bidder. The Owner also reserves the right to waive all informalities not 
involving price time or changes in the work 
 

If written notice of approval of award is mailed, telegraphed or delivered to the 
undersigned within forty-five (45) calendar days after the bid opening thereof, or any 
time thereafter before this bid is withdrawn, the undersigned agrees to execute and 
deliver an agreement in the prescribed form and furnish the required Bond within ten 
(10) calendar days after the Contract is presented to Bidder for signature, and start work 
within ten (10) calendar days after the date as set forth in the written Notice to Proceed. 
 

Bid Security in the sum of _________________________________ in the form of 
__________________________________, is submitted herewith in accordance with 
the Instructions to Bidders. 
 

The Bidder is prepared to submit a financial and experience statement upon request. 
 

The Bidder has received the following Addendum or Addenda: 
 

Addendum No.  ______________     Date _____________ 
Addendum No.  ______________     Date _____________ 
 
The Bidder has filled in all blanks on this Proposal. 
 

Note: The Penalty for making false statements in offers is prescribed in 18 U.S.C.A., 
Section 1001. 
 
Name of bidder 
 
 
________________________________  _____________________________ 

   By 
________________________________  _____________________________  
Official Address   Title  

464

ITEM 28.



 14

BID BOND 
 

 
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that we, ___________________________________________ 
__________________________, as Principal, and ___________________________________________ 
as Surety are held and firmly bound unto the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, as Obligee, hereinafter called "OBLIGEE," 
In the penal sum of______________________________________ Dollars ($______________) lawful money of 
the United States, for the payment of which sum will and truly be made, we bind ourselves, our heirs, executors, 
administrators, and successors, jointly and severally, firmly by these presents. Whereas the Principal has submitted 
the accompanying bid dated the _______ day of_______________________, 20_____, for 
______________________________________ 
____________________________________________________________________________________. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, 
 
(a) If said Bid shall be rejected, or in the alternate, 
 
(b) If said Bid shall be accepted and the Principal shall execute and deliver a contract in the form specified and 

shall furnish a bond for the faithful performance of said contract, and for the payment of all persons 
performing labor or furnishing materials in connection therewith, and shall in all other respects perform the 
agreement created by the acceptance of said Bid, 

 
Then this obligation shall be void, otherwise the same shall remain in force and effect; it being expressly 
understood and agreed that the liability of the Surety for any and all claims hereunder shall, in no event, exceed the 
penal amount of this obligation as herein stated. 
 
By virtue of statutory authority, the full amount of this bid bond shall be forfeited to the Obligee in liquidation of 
damages sustained in the event that the Principal fails to execute the contract and provide the bond as provided in 
the specifications or by law. 
 
The Surety, for value received, hereby stipulates and agrees that the obligations of said Surety and its bond shall 
be in no way impaired or affected by any extension of the time within which the Obligee may accept such Bid or 
execute such contract; and said Surety does hereby waive notice of any such extension. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Principal and the Surety, have hereunto set their hands and seals, and such of them 
as are corporations, have caused their corporate seals to be hereto affixed and these presents to be signed by their 
proper officers this ______ day of ____________________, A.D., 20_____. 
 
 
 

_________________________________ (Seal) 
Principal 

 
 
_______________________________________ By_______________________________ (Title) 
Witness 

_________________________________ (Seal) 
Surety 

 
_______________________________________ By____________________________________ 
Witness                                  Attorney-in-fact 
 
 
 
 

465

ITEM 28.



 15

 

466

ITEM 28.



 16
467

ITEM 28.



 17

NON-COLLUSION AFFIDAVIT OF PRIME BIDDER           
PROJECT NO. ST-000-3225 

 
STATE OF _______________________  

                           ss 
COUNTY OF _____________________ 
 
 
__________________________________, being first duly sworn, deposes and says that: 
 
(1) We are _______________________________________________________ of _________________ 

         (owner, partner, officer, representative, or agent) 
 
_____________________________, the Bidder that has submitted the attached bid: 
 
(2)  We are fully informed respecting the preparation and contents of the attached bid and of all 
pertinent circumstances respecting such bid: 
 
(3)   Such bid is genuine and is not a collusive or sham bid: 
 
(4)  Neither the said Bidder nor any of its officers, partners, owners, agents, representatives, 
employees or parties in interest, including this affiant, has in any way colluded, conspired, connived or 
agreed, directly or indirectly, with any other Bidder, firm or person to submit a collusive or sham bid in 
connection with the Contract for which the attached bid has been submitted or to refrain from bidding in 
connection with such Contract, or has in any manner, directly or indirectly, sought by agreement or 
collusion or communication or conference with any other Bidder, firm or person to fix the price or prices in 
the attached bid or of any other Bidder, or, to fix any overhead, profit or cost element of the bid price of 
any other Bidder, or to secure through any collusion, conspiracy, connivance, or unlawful agreement any 
advantage against the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, or any person interested in the proposed Contract; and 
 
(5)   The price or prices quoted in the attached bid are fair and proper and are not tainted by a 
collusion, conspiracy, connivance or unlawful agreement on the part of the Bidder or any of its agents, 
representatives, owners, employees or parties in interest, including this affiant. 
 
 
 
   __________________________________________ 

Signed      
  __________________________________________ 

    Title 
 
 
Subscribed and sworn to before me 
 
this _______ day of ________________, 20_____ 
 
________________________________________ 
 
_________________________________________ 
Title 
 
My Commission expires ______________________. 

468

ITEM 28.



 18

FORM OF CONTRACT 
 

This Contract entered into in quadruplicate at Cedar Falls, Iowa, this ____ day of 

_________, 2020, by and between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, hereinafter called the 

Owner, and _______________________________________________ of 

__________________________________________, hereinafter called the Contractor. 

WITNESSETH: 

The Contractor hereby agrees to furnish all labor, tools, materials and equipment 

and construct the public improvement consisting of: 2020 PERMEABLE ALLEY 

PROJECT, Project No. ST-000-3225 all in the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, ordered to be 

constructed by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, by Resolution duly 

passed on the 17th day of February 2020, and shown and described in the Plans and 

Specifications therefore now on file with the City Clerk of said City. 

Said improvement shall be constructed strictly in accordance with said Plans and 

Specifications. 

The following parts of the Plans and Specifications for said Project No. ST-000-

3225 attached hereto shall be made a part of this contract as fully as though set out 

herein verbatim: 

a. Resolution ordering construction of the improvement 
b. Plans 
c. Notice of Public Hearing on Plans and Specifications 
d. Notice to Bidders 
e. Instructions to Bidders 
f. Supplemental Conditions 
g. General Conditions 
h. Project Specifications 
i. Form of Proposal 
j. Performance, Payment, and Maintenance Bond 
k. Form of Contract 
l. Non-collusion Affidavit of Prime Bidder 

 m. Bidder Status Form 

469

ITEM 28.



 19

 
 
In Witness whereof, this Contract has been executed in quadruplicate on the date first  
 
herein written.   
 

 __________________________ 
 Contractor 

 
 
    CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 
    By____________________________ 

    Robert M. Green, Mayor 
 
 
Attest: _________________________ 
 Jacqueline Danielsen, CMC 
 City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

470

ITEM 28.



 20 

Performance, Payment, and Maintenance Bond 
 

SURETY  BOND NO.           
 

 
 KNOW ALL BY THESE PRESENTS: 
  
 That we, __________________________, as Principal (hereinafter the “Contractor” or “Principal” and 
____________________________________________________ as Surety are held and firmly bound unto 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, as Obligee (hereinafter referred to as “the Owner”), and to all persons 
who may be injured by any breach of any of the conditions of this Bond in the penal sum of 
_________________________________________________________________________________ 
($_______________), lawful money of the United States, for the payment of which sum, well and truly to 
be made, we bind ourselves, our heirs, legal representatives and assigns, jointly or severally, firmly by these 
presents. 
  
 The conditions of the above obligations are such that whereas said Contractor entered into a contract with 
the Owner, bearing date the _______ day of __________, 2020, hereinafter the “Contract”) wherein said 
Contractor undertakes and agrees to construct the following described improvements: 
 

2020 Permeable Alley Project 
Paving / Pavers / Storm Sewer 

Project ST-000-3225 
 

and to faithfully perform all the terms and requirements of said Contract within the time therein specified, in 
a good and workmanlike manner, and in accordance with the Contract Documents.   
 
It is expressly understood and agreed by the Contractor and Surety in this bond that the following provisions 
are a part of this Bond and are binding upon said Contractor and Surety, to-wit: 
 
1. PERFORMANCE:  The Contractor shall well and faithfully observe, perform, fulfill, and abide by   

each and every covenant, condition, and part of said Contract and Contract Documents, by reference 
made a part hereof, for the above referenced improvements, and shall indemnify and save harmless 
the Owner from all outlay and expense incurred by the Owner by reason of the Contractor’s default 
or failure to perform as required.  The Contractor shall also be responsible for the default or failure to 
perform as required under the Contract and Contract Documents by all its subcontractors, suppliers, 
agents, or employees furnishing materials or providing labor in the performance of the Contract. 

     
 2. PAYMENT:  The Contractor and the Surety on this Bond hereby agreed to pay all just claims 

submitted by persons, firms, subcontractors, and corporations furnishing materials for or performing 
labor in the performance of the Contract on account of which this Bond is given, including but not 
limited to claims for all amounts due for labor, materials, lubricants, oil, gasoline, repairs on 
machinery, equipment, and tools, consumed or used by the Contractor or any subcontractor, wherein 
the same are not satisfied out of the portion of the contract price the Owner is required to retain until 
completion of the improvement, but the Contractor and Surety shall not be liable to said persons, 
firms, or corporations unless the claims of said claimants against said portion of the contract price 
shall have been established as provided by law.  The Contractor and Surety hereby bind themselves 
to the obligations and conditions set forth in Chapter 573 of the Iowa Code, which by this reference 
is made a part hereof as though fully set out herein. 

     
    3. MAINTENANCE:  The Contractor and the Surety on this Bond hereby agree, at their own expense: 

471

ITEM 28.



 21

 
A. To remedy any and all defects that may develop in or result from work to be performed 

under the Contract within the period of   2   year (s) from the date of acceptance 
of the work under the Contract, by reason of defects in workmanship or materials used 
in construction of said work; 

 
   B. To keep all work in continuous good repair; and 
 
   C. To pay the Owner’s reasonable costs of monitoring and inspection to assure that any 

defects are remedied, and to repay the Owner all outlay and expense incurred as a result 
of Contractor’s and Surety’s failure to remedy any defect as required by this section. 

 
Contractor’s and Surety’s agreement herein made extends to defects in workmanship or 
materials not discovered or known to the Owner at the time such work was accepted. 
 
 4. GENERAL:  Every Surety on this Bond shall be deemed and held bound, any contract to the 
contrary notwithstanding, to the following provisions: 
 
   A. To consent without notice to any extension of time to the Contractor in which to 

perform the Contract; 
 
   B.  To consent without notice to any change in the Contract or Contract Documents, which 

thereby increases the total contract price and the penal sum of this bond, provided that 
all such changes do not, in the aggregate, involve an increase of more than 20% of the 
total contract price, and that this bond shall then be released as to such excess increase; 
and  

 
    C. To consent without notice that this Bond shall remain in full force and effect until the 

Contract is completed, whether completed within the specified contract period, within 
an extension thereof, or within a period of time after the contract period has elapsed and 
the liquidated damage penalty is being charged against the Contractor. 

 
The Contractor and every Surety on the bond shall be deemed and held bound, any contract to the contrary 
notwithstanding, to the following provisions: 
 
        D. That no provision of this Bond or of any other contract shall be valid that limits to     

less than five years after the acceptance of the work under the Contract the right to sue 
on this Bond. 

     
        E. That as used herein, the phrase “all outlay and expense” is not to be limited in any way, 

but shall include the actual and reasonable costs and expenses incurred by the Owner 
including interest, benefits, and overhead where applicable.  Accordingly, “all outlay 
and expense” would include but not be limited to all contract or employee expense, all 
equipment usage or rental, materials, testing, outside experts, attorneys fees (including 
overhead expenses of the Owner’s staff attorneys), and all costs and expenses of 
litigation as they are incurred by the Owner.  It is intended the Contractor and Surety 
will defend and indemnify the Owner on all claims made against the Owner on account 
of Contractor’s failure to perform as required in the Contract and Contract Documents, 
that all agreements and promises set forth in the Contract and Contract Documents, in 
approved change orders, and in this Bond will be fulfilled, and that the Owner will be 
fully indemnified so that it will be put into the position it would have been in had the 
Contract been performed in the first instance as required. 

472

ITEM 28.



 22 

     
In the event the Owner incurs any “outlay and expense” in defending itself against any claim 
as to which the Contractor or Surety should have provided the defense, or in the enforcement 
of the promises given by the Contractor in the Contract, Contract Documents, or approved 
change orders, or in the enforcement of the promises given by the Contractor and Surety in 
this Bond, the Contractor and Surety agree that they will make the Owner whole for all such 
outlay and expense, provided that the Surety’s obligation under this bond shall not exceed 
125% of the penal sum of this bond. 

  
In the event that any actions or proceedings are initiated regarding this Bond, the parties agree that the venue 
thereof shall be in the Iowa District Court for Polk County, State of Iowa.  If legal action is required by the 
Owner to enforce the provisions of this Bond or to collect the monetary obligation incurring to the benefit of 
the Owner, the Contractor and the Surety agree, jointly, and severally, to pay the Owner all outlay and 
expense incurred therefor by the Owner.  All rights, powers, and remedies of the Owner hereunder shall be 
cumulative and not alternative and shall be in addition to all rights, powers, and remedies given to the 
Owner, by law.  The Owner may proceed against surety for any amount guaranteed hereunder whether 
action is brought against the Contractor or whether Contractor is joined in any such action(s) or not. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, the condition of this obligation is such that if said Principal shall faithfully perform all 
the promises of the Principal, as set forth and provided in the Contract, in the Contract Documents, and in 
this Bond, then this obligation shall be null and void, otherwise it shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
When a work, term, or phrase is used in this Bond, it shall be interpreted or construed first as defined in this 
Bond, the Contract, or the Contract Documents; second, if not defined in the Bond, Contract, or Contract 
Documents, it shall be interpreted or construed as defined in applicable provisions of the Iowa Code; third, 
if not defined in the Iowa Code, it shall be interpreted or construed according to its generally accepted 
meaning in the construction industry; and fourth, if it has no generally accepted meaning in the construction 
industry, it shall be interpreted or construed according to its common or customary usage. 
 
Failure to specify or particularize shall not exclude terms or provisions not mentioned and shall not limit 
liability hereunder.  The Contract and Contract Documents are hereby made a part of this Bond. 
 
 

473

ITEM 28.



 23 

         Project No. ST-000-3225 
 

Witness our hands, in triplicate, this _______ day of ____________, 2020. 
 
  Surety Countersigned By:                                PRINCIPAL: 
 
     ___________________________________                   _________________________________ 
      Signature of Agent                 Contractor 
  
 
 By:    _________________________________  
                                      Signature 
     ___________________________________                   _________________________________          
                  Printed Name of Agent                       Title 
 
 ___________________________________  SURETY: 
                          Company Name           
 
 ___________________________________                   _________________________________ 
                        Company Address                                       Surety Company 
 
 ___________________________________   By:    _________________________________ 
                        City, State, Zip Code                                             Signature Attorney-in-Fact Officer 
 
 ______________________________________    ____________________________________ 
                  Company Telephone Number                               Printed Name of Attorney-in-Fact Officer 
 
                                                                                            _________________________________ 
                            Company Name 
 
                                                                                         _________________________________ 
                                                Company Address 
  FORM APPROVED BY: 
                                                                                                             _________________________________ 
                     City, State, Zip Code 
 
 ________________________________________________   _____________________________________________ 
                         Attorney for Owner                                                              Company Telephone Number 
 
 

 
NOTE: 
  
 1. All signatures on this performance, payment, and maintenance bond must be original 

signatures in ink; copies, facsimile, or electronic signatures will not be accepted. 
 2.  This bond must be sealed with the Surety’s raised, embossing seal. 
 3. The Certificate or Power of Attorney accompanying this bond must be valid on its face and 

sealed with the Surety’s raised, embossing seal. 
 4. The name and signature of the Surety’s Attorney-in-Fact/Officer entered on this bond must be 

exactly as listed on the Certificate or Power of Attorney accompanying this bond. 
 
 
 
 
 

474

ITEM 28.



 24

NOTICE TO PROCEED 
TO: ______________________________ DATE: _________________________________ 
 
       ______________________________ PROJECT: 2020 PERMEABLE ALLEY 
               ST-000-3225 
       ______________________________          Cedar Falls, Iowa 
 
You are hereby notified to commence WORK in accordance with the Agreement dated 
___________________, 2020, within ten (10) calendar days of _____________________, 
2020 and you are to complete the WORK as follows: furnish all labor, material and 
equipment necessary for construction of the 2020 PERMEABLE ALLEY PROJECT. 
 
The work under the proposed contract shall commence within ten (10) calendar days after 
the date set forth in this written Notice to Proceed and shall be performed regularly and 
diligently through the duration of the project.  
 
Liquidated damages in the amount of one thousand ($1,000.00) dollars per calendar day 
will be assessed for each calendar day for each alley that is not substantially complete after 
the expiration of the contract time set forth.  The alley between 22nd St-Seerly Blvd and 
Tremont-Franklin shall be completed between June 8-August 21, 2020. Liquidated 
damages in the amount of one thousand ($1,000.00) dollars per calendar day will be 
assessed for each calendar day that any work remains uncompleted after September 18, 
2020 (substantial completion).  Substantial completion shall mean that the alley’s are fully 
open to the general public with minor work (e.g. watering) to be completed without requiring 
closures. Contractor shall fully complete the close-out process no later than November 6, 
2020. If remaining punchlist items remain after November 6, 2020, liquidated damages will 
go into effect in the amount of one thousand ($1,000.00) dollars per calendar day until 
completed.  
 
 
 
 
 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa______________ 
(OWNER) 

 
 

By_______________________________ 
 
Title______________________________ 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

475

ITEM 28.



 25 

 
DIVISION 2 – Special Provisions 

 
 
Special Provisions are intended to amend or supplement the General Provisions and Covenants of the 
SUDAS Standard Specifications. All sections that are not amended or supplemented remain in full force 
and effect. 
 
01 Award of Contract 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1030 – 1.03: 
 
The successful Bidder shall be required to furnish a Performance, Payment, and Maintenance Bond in the 
sum equal to one hundred (100%) percent of the total bid. The Maintenance Bond shall guarantee the 
maintenance of the improvements for a period of two (2 yrs.) years from and after its completion and 
acceptance by the City of Cedar Falls. 
 
02 Availability of Site 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1050 – 1.04: 
 
During construction of this project, the Contractor shall be required to coordinate all operations with the 
Contractors or Contacts of the following projects and/or events: 
 

1) Cedar Falls Utilities Gas Main and Water Main Replacement Projects 
2) Cedar Falls Utilities overhead to underground electric conversion. 
3) UNI Spring Classes End – May 8, 2020 
4) Last Day of Cedar Falls Public Schools (Tentative) – June 1, 2020 
5) Sturgis Falls Celebration – June 26-28, 2020 
6) UNI Fall Classes Resume – August 24, 2020 
7) Cedar Falls Public Schools Resume (Tentative)– August 24, 2020 
8) UNI Homecoming – October 17, 2020 
 

03 Protection of Line and Grade Stakes 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1050 – 1.10: 
 
The Contractor shall notify the Engineer at least forty-eight hours prior to the need for survey stakes. The 
Contractor shall be responsible for preserving survey stakes and marks and if any survey stakes or marks 
are destroyed or disturbed by the Contractor, Contractor shall be charged for the cost of replacing them. 
Contractor shall pay all said replacement cost(s) prior to the release of the final pay estimate. 
 
04 Borrow and Waste Sites 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1070 – 2.13: 
It shall be the Contractor's responsibility to provide waste areas or disposal sites for excess material which 
is not desirable to be incorporated in the work involved on this project (excavation or broken concrete). 
No payment for overhaul will be allowed for material hauled to these sites. The Engineer will review all 

476

ITEM 28.



 26 

disposal sites, prior to their use, to determine acceptability. Overhaul will not be measured or paid for but 
will be considered incidental to pavement removal or roadway excavation on this project. 
 
05 Subletting or Assignment of Contract 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1080 – 1.01: 
 
The Contractor's own organization shall perform work amounting to not less than fifty (50%) percent of 
the total contract cost unless otherwise specified. Any item designated as a Specialty Item may be 
performed by subcontract, and the cost of any such Specialty Item as performed by subcontract may be 
deducted from the total cost before computing the amount of work required by the Contractor's 
organization. Any items that have been selected as a Specialty Item for the contract are listed as such in 
the Special Provisions. 
 
06 Contract Time 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1080 – 1.02: 
 
The work on the Contract shall commence ten (10) calendar days after the date set forth in the written 
Notice to Proceed and shall be completed within the dates as set forth in the written Notice to Proceed. 
 
Intermediate working days for construction staging will be as follows: 

 
22nd – Seerley & Tremont - Franklin  56 calendar days 
4th – 5th & Iowa - Tremont   42 calendar days 

 
If an alley is not open to local traffic within the allotted working days, liquidated damages of $1,000.00 
per day will be assessed.  
 
07 Work Progress and Schedule 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1080 – 1.03: 
 
The progress of the work shall be such that at the expiration of one-fourth (1/4) of the working days, one-
eighth (1/8) of the work shall be completed; at the expiration of one-half (1/2) of the working days, three-
eighths (3/8) of the work shall be completed; at the expiration of three-fourths (3/4) of the working days, 
the work shall be three-fourths (3/4) completed, and the whole work shall be completed at the expiration 
of the working days. 
 
08 Weekly Record of Working Days 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1080 – 1.06: 
 
Work shall not begin before 7:00 a.m. and shall stop at sunset. Work on Sundays and Holiday’s shall only 
be allowed after prior written approval by the Engineer. 
 
09 Liquidated Damages 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1080 – 1.12: 
 

477

ITEM 28.



 27 

Liquidated damages in the amount of one thousand ($1,000.00) dollars per calendar day will be assessed 
for work not completed within the designated contract term as described in the Notice to Proceed. 
 
10 Progress Payments and Vouchers 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1090 – 1.01: 
 
Pay estimates will be submitted to the City Council for approval on the first (1st) and third (3rd) Mondays 
of each month. 
 
Payment to the Contractor will be made in cash from such cash funds of said City as may be legally used 
for said purposes, including the proceeds of the Local Option Sales Tax and General Obligation Bonds. 
Any other combination of funds may be used at the discretion of the City Council. 
 
See Division 2 – Special Provisions Section 06 – Contract time for liquidated damages for Intermediate 
calendar days. 
 
Before final payment is made, the Contractor shall furnish lien waivers with original signatures showing 
that all subcontractors and all persons furnishing labor and materials have been fully paid for such 
materials and labor. The City may retain the last pay estimate for a period of ninety (90) calendar days 
following such completion and approval, unless satisfied that materials and labor have been fully paid for. 
Electronic signatures will be accepted on lien waivers. 
 
11 Storm Water Pollution Prevention 
 
1. Site Description 
 
The proposed 2020 Permeable Alley Project involves the construction of two permeable paver alleys. The 
construction shall include a combination of excavation and backfill in the alleys, P.C.C. installation, paver 
installation, new storm sewer with connections to new intakes, curb and gutter installation, and seeding.  
 
Upon removal of pavement in any area, underground construction begins immediately, and construction 
proceeds continuously until that work section is re-opened to traffic. All areas included in the project are 
designed with positive drainage to the existing storm sewer system that eventually drains into a branch of 
the Dry Run Creek and then to the Cedar River.  
 
The Project plan set has details that are incorporated as a part of the Storm Water Pollution Prevention 
Plan. The Project plan set shows the intended construction staging plan and details of the erosion control 
measures to be included in this project. No data is recorded regarding quality of runoff from the project 
area(s).  
 
2. Erosion and Sediment Controls 
 
Construction activities that disturb subgrade soils are shown in the construction staging plan as included 
in the Project plan set. The primary means of controlling silt movement during construction is by 
minimizing the exposure of subgrade soils by way of a designated staging plan. Sediment filters shall be 
installed on intake wells in sump locations and at the low point of each construction stage. Silt dams shall 
be installed at the low point of a construction stage where necessary to prevent silt from migrating off 
site. Sediment filters shall also be placed on finished intake openings until all designated areas are sodded 
or have been paved.   
 

478

ITEM 28.



 28 

Stabilizing of all disturbed areas shall be by sodding or seeding as shown in the Project plan as soon as 
practical after completion of the backfilling of the curbs and the placement of the topsoil. The Contractor 
shall be responsible for installation and maintenance of all erosion control measures as described in the 
Project plan. The Contractor may elect to delegate portions of these tasks to Subcontractors as Contractor 
chooses. 
 
All Contractors/Subcontractors operating on the site shall take efforts to prevent contamination of storm 
water runoff, groundwater and soils by hazardous material and/or pollutants caused by their operations or 
encountered in their work. All waste building material and supplies must be removed from the site and 
disposed of legally. If construction equipment maintenance or repair is performed on the site, provisions 
must be made to capture and remove any lubricants or other fluids and dispose of legally. 
 
The Contractor shall notify the Owner immediately upon finding a hazardous material contamination 
either existing at the site or caused by any construction activities. 
 
Each and every Contractor shall be responsible to the owner to: 

1. Execute Contractor’s/Subcontractor’s part of the Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan 
as described. 

2. Conduct Contractor’s/Subcontractor’s activities to not damage any existing erosion 
control measure or stabilizing vegetation.  If damages occur, the Contractor shall make 
repairs at no additional expense to the Owner. 

3. Coordinate with the Owner for installation of additional erosion control measures that are 
needed during and at the conclusion of the work. 

 
3. Storm Water Management  
 
Storm water will be routed by means of permeable pavement, subdrain, and storm sewer. Subdrain will be 
used to channel water from the subdrain to the existing main storm sewer pipes. The storm sewer pipes 
will range in size.  Longitudinal sub-drains will be included along the centerline or off center of the 
alleys. The sub-drains will tie into the storm sewer pipes.  The aggregate storage layer will be 
hydraulically tied to the sub-drain aggregate envelope.  The storm water collection system is designed for 
the five (5 yr.) year storm event in accordance with local design standards. Temporary sediment basins 
are not incorporated because of the limited area exposed in each stage of construction. Sediment filters 
shall be incorporated in specific intakes to serve as sediment control structures during each stage. Storm 
water runoff volumes will not increase, and should decrease, as the final result of the permeable alley 
project. Storm water runoff shall be managed during construction to minimize erosion. 
 
4. Reporting and Updates 
 
The Owner or a representative is to insure compliance with the plans and will carry out regular 
inspections. Owner designated and qualified personnel will inspect disturbed areas of the construction site 
that have not reached “final stabilization” at least once every seven (7) calendar days. Owner will be 
responsible for executing the Plan towards the goal of a stabilized site. Owner will make determination of 
Contractors compliance with the plan and may direct additional measures to be taken by any Contractor. 
When a plan deficiency or the occurrence of a pollutant entering the drainage system is observed, 
corrective action shall be taken. Revisions and modifications shall be made to the control facilities as 
needed. 
 
12 METHOD OF MEASUREMENT 
 

479

ITEM 28.



 29 

The Engineer will measure the items of work that have been acceptably constructed as specified in the 
contract documents for the  2020 Permeable Alley Project No. ST-000-3225 in accordance with the 2020 
edition of the SUDAS and as further amended by the City of Cedar Falls’ 2020 Supplemental 
Specifications to the 2020 edition of the SUDAS. 
13 BASIS OF PAYMENT 
 
Payment for the items listed in the Method of Measurement shall be determined by multiplying the item 
quantity (as determined in the Method of Measurement) by the unit price as bid on the Form of Proposal 
in accordance with the 2020 edition of the SUDAS Specifications and as further amended by the City of 
Cedar Falls’ 2020 Supplemental Specifications to the 2020 edition of the SUDAS. 
 
 

 
DIVISION 4 – Supplemental Plans and Specifications 

 
All work shall be constructed as specified in the Contract documents for the 2020 Permeable Alley 
Project in accordance with the 2020 Edition of the SUDAS and as further amended by the City of Cedar 
Falls’ 2020 Supplemental Specifications to the most current edition of the SUDAS, except as amended or 
supplemented as follows: 
 
Item No. 14 – Engineering Fabric 
The contractor shall install geotextile fabric in the areas as noted in the construction plans and 
specifications. This material is to be used to separate the fines in the sub-base from the previous aggregate 
base. The Contractor shall use geotextiles that are in conformance with Iowa D.O.T. Specification 4196 
using the “Subsurface Drainage Table”. Materials IM 496.01 shall also apply for this bid item. Approved 
manufacturers and brand names are as listed in Materials IM 496.01, 5. Appendix A. 
 

1. Contractor shall place geotextile fabric on the bottom and sides of the soil subgrade. Contractor 
shall secure the geotextile fabric in place to prevent wrinkling from vehicle tires and tracks on 
equipment. 

2. Contractor shall over-lap the geotextile fabric a minimum of twelve (12“) inches in the direction 
of drainage. 

3. Contractor shall lay the geotextile fabric over the edges of the subgrade to prevent fines from 
washing into the pervious aggregate base. 

 
Item No. 18 – Permeable Interlocking Pavers, Clay Brick 
This bid item is for the furnishing and placement of permeable clay brick pavers. Pavers shall be a 
permeable clay brick paver by Belden Brick Company or approved equivalent. Paver color shall be 
Regimental Red and paver color sample shall be incidental to bid item. Pavers shall meet or exceed the 
requirements of ASTM standard C 1272; heavy vehicular paving brick. See the ASTM standard for 
additional requirements. Placement of the permeable pavers shall be as shown in the detail(s) in the 
construction documents. The permeable pavers shall be placed in a Herringbone pattern. 
 
Contractor’s placement of the permeable clay pavers shall be as follows: 

A. Where pavers are placed against a curb and gutter or other pavement, installation of an edge 
course or soldier course is required if the pavement edge is not straight. Trim pavers as required 
to compensate for deviations in the adjacent pavement edge. Do not cut pavers to less than 1/3 
their original size.  

B. Install PCC edge restraint.  
C. Place chalk lines on the bedding course to maintain straight joint lines.  

480

ITEM 28.



 30 

D. After pavers have been installed on the bedding course, and all cut pavers have been inserted to 
provide a full and complete surface, inspect pavers for damaged units and irregular joint lines. 
Remove and replace pavers as required.  

E. After inspection and replacement of damaged pavers, fill joint openings with bedding stone. 
Sweep the surface clean.  

F. Compact pavement surface with two passes of a vibratory plate compactor capable of at least 
5,000 pounds centrifugal compaction force. Do not operate plate compactor within 6 feet of an 
unrestrained pavement edge.  

G. Re-inspect pavers, and remove and replace all damaged units. Refill joint openings completely. 
Sweep pavers clean. Complete compaction with two passes of the plate compactor.  

H. Refill all paver joint openings with bedding aggregate 6 months after installation. 
 
Quality control Standards shall be as followed: 

A. Ensure horizontal alignment of the PCC edge restraint is within 1/2 inch of design alignment.  
B. Ensure final surface is within 3/8 inch when tested with a 10 foot straightedge.  
C. Ensure no greater than 1/8 inch difference in height between adjacent pavers.  
D. Maintain surface elevation within 1/4 inch above adjacent drainage inlets, gutters, and other 

appurtenances. 
 
Item No. 19 – PCC Edge Restraint, 6” Concrete Slab, 4’ Wide 
Coarse aggregate for P.C.C. shall be Class 3 durability. Seal all expansion joints. Subgrade preparation, 
compaction, forming, concrete placement, finishing, curing, jointing, and joint sealing shall be considered 
incidental to the bid item. Concrete collar(s) around pavers shall be P.C.C., 6”, Class ”C”. Horizontal 
alignment requirement shall be per SUDAS section 7080-3.10-A. 
 
Item No. 21 – Hydraulic Seeding (Type 1, Permanent Lawn Mixture)  
The subgrade area shall be free of debris and rocks; and raked smooth before applying the hydraulic 
mulch/seed mix. The seed type shall be Type 1, permanent lawn mixture. The Contractor shall follow 
SUDAS Specification 9010.305 for the site preparation and the application procedure.  

481

ITEM 28.



1 TOPSOIL, FURNISH & SPREAD 50 30 80 C.Y. $50.00 $3,800.00
2 EXCAVATION, CLASS 10, ROADWAY WASTE 411 178 589 C.Y. $18.00 $10,100.00
3 MODIFIED SUBBASE 12" 36 0 36 S.Y. $20.00 $700.00
4 SUBDRAIN CLEANOUT, TYPE A-1, 6" 2 2 4 EACH $600.00 $2,300.00
5 VALVE EXTENSION 1 1 2 EACH $250.00 $500.00
6 CURB & GUTTER, 7" P.C.C., 2.5' WIDE 24 48 72 L.F. $50.00 $3,500.00
7 REMOVAL OF DRIVEWAY 39 86 125 S.Y. $10.00 $1,200.00
8 REMOVAL OF SIDEWALK 39 49 88 S.Y. $10.00 $900.00
9 SIDEWALK, 6" P.C.C. 39 49 88 S.Y. $90.00 $7,600.00
10 DRIVEWAY, 6" P.C.C. 148 141 289 S.Y. $80.00 $22,000.00
11 DRIVEWAY, GRANULAR, 1" ROADSTONE 15 18 33 S.Y. $10.00 $400.00
12 PATCH, COMPOSTITE HMA / P.C.C. 27 0 27 S.Y. $500.00 $12,700.00
13 REMOVAL OF CURB & GUTTER 24 48 72 L.F. $10.00 $700.00
14 ENGINEERING FABRIC 931 416 1,347 S.Y. $5.00 $6,400.00
15 UNDERDRAIN, 6" PLASTIC PERFORATED, TYPE S 658 296 954 L.F. $13.00 $11,800.00
16 STORAGE AGGREGATE, 8" 798 357 1,155 S.Y. $15.00 $16,500.00
17 FILTER AGGREGATE, 4" 798 357 1,155 S.Y. $10.00 $11,000.00
18 PERMEABLE INTERLOCKING PAVERS, CLAY BRICK 2,362 1,031 3,393 S.F. $12.00 $38,700.00
19 PCC EDGE RESTRAINT, 6" CONCRETE SLAB, 4' WIDE 536 241 777 S.Y. $55.00 $40,600.00
20 TRAFFIC CONTROL 1 1 1 L.S. $5,000.00 $4,800.00
21 HYDRAULIC SEEDING 2,650 1,610 4,260 S.F. $2.00 $8,100.00
22 WATTLE, STRAW, 9" 1,254 616 1,870 L.F. $6.00 $10,700.00
23 INLET PROTECTION DEVICE 1 8 9 EACH $230.00 $2,000.00
24 INLET PROTECTION DEVICE, MAINTENANCE 1 8 9 EACH $125.00 $1,100.00
25 MOBILIZATION 1 1 1 EACH $11,000.00 $11,000.00

$149,950.00
$79,150.00

$229,100.00TOTAL PRELIMINARY ESTIMATE OF COST TOTAL:

22nd - SEERLEY & TREMONT - FRANKLIN ESTIMATED COST:
4th - 5th & IOWA - TREMONT ESTIMATED COST:

2020 PERMEABLE ALLEY PROJECT
CITY PROJECT NO. ST-000-3225

PAVERS / P.C.C. PAVING / STORM SEWER
PRELIMINARY ESTIMATE OF COST & QUANTITIES

ITEM DESCRIPTION UNITS UNIT PRICE
EXTENDED 

PRICE

22ND -
SEERLEY & 
TREMONT - 
FRANKLIN

ITEM 
NO.

TOTAL 
ESTIMATED 
QUANTITY

4TH - 5TH & 
IOWA - 

TREMONT

482

ITEM 28.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 

 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Jon Fitch, Principal Engineer, PE 
 
 DATE: February 12, 2020 
 
 SUBJECT: 2020 Street Construction Project 
  Project No. RC-000-3185 
  Request for PS&E Approval 
 
Submitted within for City Council approval are the Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of Costs 
and Quantities for the 2020 Street Construction Project. 
 
We recommend setting Monday, March 2nd, 2020 at 7:00 p.m. as the date and time for the 
public hearing on this project and Tuesday, March 10th, 2020 at 2:00 p.m. as the date and time 
for receiving and opening bids. We also request that the Notice to Bidders be published by 
February 18, 2020. The Plans and Specifications will be ready for distribution to contractors on 
February 18, 2020 allowing three (3) weeks of review before contract letting. 
 
This project involves the construction of portions of eleven (11) City streets totaling 2.74 miles. 
Work will include 10,550 SY removal and replacement of the existing pavement; 14,680 SY 
removal of HMA surfacing and milling; 5,340 ton HMA overlays; 2,590 LF of PCC Curb and 
Gutter; subgrade preparation; 3,432 LF of various sized storm sewer; 23 new storm sewer 
intakes; 1,250 LF of sanitary sewer replacement; sanitary sewer services; 2,340 LF of 4” 6” and 
8” water main relocation; 6,120 LF of subdrain installation; replacement of driveway approaches 
and pedestrian ramps. In addition, the project requires intake modifications; 14,135 SY of 5” 
cold-in-place recycled asphalt pavement; granular shouldering; pipe lining; placement of 
revetment stone; installation of signage and associated posts and striping.   
 
The total estimated cost for the construction of this project is $3,476,320.00. The project will be 
funded by Local Option Sales Tax, Street Construction Fund, GO 2020, Sanitary Sewer Rental 
Fund and Cedar Falls Utilities funding sources.  
 
The Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of Costs and Quantities are available for your review at 
the City Clerk's office or the Engineering Division of the Public Works Department. 
 
xc: David Wicke, City Engineer 
 Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 

  

483

ITEM 29.



2020 STREET CONSTRUCTION PROJECT

BLACK HAWK COUNTY

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA

PAVING/SUBDRAINAGE

484

ITEM 29.



L

I

L

L

I

P

U

T

COLLEGE

SQUARE MALL

BLACK HAWK

VILLAGE

485

ITEM 29.



486

ITEM 29.



487

ITEM 29.



ITEM # DESCRIPTION

 1 - 8    SEE GENERAL NOTES NO. 6, 7 AND 14.

 2 - 3     APPROXIMATE THICKNESS IS 3 INCHES. STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS SECTION 7040.108H. (REMOVED MATERIAL TO BECOME PROPERTY OF THE CONTRACTOR)

   4     TEMPORARY ACC WEDGE SHALL BE PLACED IN THE TAPERS UNTIL SURFACE COURSE IS PLACED. MILLED MATERIAL SHALL BECOME PROPERTY OF THE CONTRACTOR.

   6 - 8    SEE TABULATIONS ON B SHEETS.

   8    CASTINGS NOT TO BE REUSED. CASTINGS WHICH ARE IN REUSABLE CONDITION SHALL REMAIN CITY PROPERTY AND SHALL BE DELIVERED BY THE CONTRACTOR TO 

   PUBLIC WORKS STOCKPILE AT 309 E. 4TH STREET. CASTINGS THAT ARE NO LONGER IN REUSABLE CONDITION SHALL BE DELIVERED TO THE SALVAGE AREA BEHIND THE

   CEDAR FALLS TRANSFER STATION AT 16TH STREET AND STATE STREET. SEE TABULATION SHEETS B.06.

9 SAW CUTS FOR PAVEMENT REMOVAL TO BE FULL DEPTH OF EXISTING PAVEMENT. ESTIMATED SAW CUTS REQUIRED FOR NEW PAVEMENT JOINTS SHALL BE INCIDENTAL

TO THE COST PER SQUARE YARD FOR NEW PAVEMENT. SAW CUTS FOR DRIVEWAY AND SIDEWALK REMOVALS, NEW DRIVEWAY AND NEW SIDEWALK SHALL BE

INCIDENTAL TO THE COST PER SQUARE YARD. IT IS ANTICIPATED THAT MOST REMOVALS FOR THESE ITEMS SHALL BE AT EXISTING EXPANSION/CONTRACTION JOINTS. IN

ORDER TO AVOID ANY UNNECESSARY SURFACE BREAKS OR PREMATURE SPALLING, THE CONTRACTOR IS TO EXERCISE EXTREME CAUTION WHEN PERFORMING ANY OF

THE NECESSARY SAWCUTTING. ALL BREAKS OR SPALLING SHALL BE CORRECTED TO THE SATISFACTION OF THE ENGINEER AND AT THE CONTRACTOR'S EXPENSE.

SPECIAL CARE SHALL BE USED TO CAPTURE ANY AND ALL SAWCUTTING RESIDUE TO PREVENT RESIDUE FROM ENTERING EXISTING STORM SEWER SYSTEMS. REMOVAL

AND DISCARDING OF SAWCUTTING RESIDUE SHALL BE TO THE SATISFACTION OF THE ENGINEER AND SHALL BE INCIDENTAL TO THIS ITEM.

10-12 NO PAYMENT FOR OVERHAUL WILL BE ALLOWED ON THIS PROJECT, BUT SHALL BE CONSIDERED INCIDENTAL TO THE ITEM OF EXCAVATION.

    11 QUANTITY FOR UNSTABLE MATERIAL IS ESTIMATED. IF ENCOUNTERED, UNSTABLE MATERIAL WILL BE EXCAVATED, WASTED AND REPLACED WITH MODIFIED SUBBASE

AS DIRECTED BY THE ENGINEER.

13,16-18 COARSE AGGREGATE FOR P.C.C. CONCRETE SHALL BE CLASS 3 DURABILITY.ESTIMATED QUANTITY FOR NEW P.C. CONCRETE INCLUDES INTEGRAL CURB, ALL STREET

RETURNS, SPECIAL AREAS AND AREAS OF REPAIRS TO CONNECTING PAVEMENTS. TRANSVERSE JOINTS ('C' JOINTS) AT 15 FOOT SPACING EXCEPT AS NOTED ON THE

DRAWINGS, ARE INCIDENTAL TO THIS ITEM. ALL SAW CUTS REQUIRED FOR NEW P.C. CONCRETE JOINTS SHALL BE INCIDENTAL TO THE COST PER SQUARE YARD OF NEW

PAVEMENT AND SHALL BE WET SAWN AS PER STANDARD SPECIFICATION SECTION 7010-3.02J2. THIS SHALL ALSO INCLUDE REMOVAL OF WET SAWN RESIDUE ON THE

ENTIRE STREET SURFACE BY WASHING DOWN THE STREET SURFACE AFTER WET SAWING. CONCRETE SLURRY SHALL BE COLLECTED AND DISPOSED OF BY THE

CONTRACTOR. CONCRETE SLURRY SHALL NOT BE ALLOWED TO ENTER THE STORM SEWER SYSTEM. SEE SUPPLEMENTAL SPECIFICATIONS. ALL LONGITUDINAL JOINTS

TO BE SAWED AND SEALED AS PER DETAIL “D-2” OF THE STANDARD SPECIFICATION 7010.101(PV-101) (LONGITUDINAL CONTRACTION) AND SHALL BE COMPLETED

BEFORE ROAD IS OPEN TO TRAFFIC.THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR CERTIFIED PLANT INSPECTION. CERTIFIED PLANT INSPECTION SHALL BE AS PER

STANDARD SPECIFICATION SECTION 7010-3.08A. THE AIR CONTENT BEFORE THE PAVER SHALL BE 8.0% PLUS OR MINUS 2.0%. AS PER STANDARD SPECIFICATION SECTION

7010-2.02B2 AT THE CONTRACTOR'S OPTION, THE TIME FOR OPENING PAVEMENT MAY BE DETERMINED THROUGH THE USE OF THE MATURITY METHOD AS DESCRIBED IN

THE STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS SECTION 7010-3.05 AND MATERIALS I.M. 383. LILAC LANE, CLEARVIEW DRIVE AND MADISION STREET PAVEMENT SMOOTHNESS SHALL

MEET THE REQUIREMENTS OF STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS SECTION 7010-1.08C2. PROFILOGRAPH TESTING AND EVALUATION TO BE PERFORMED BY THE CONTRACTOR.

THERE WILL BE NO SMOOTHNESS INCENTIVE PAYMENT. GRINDING MAY BE REQUIRED TO MEET THE SMOOTHNESS SPECIFICATION. NO FLY ASH AFTER OCT. 15 UNLESS

APPROVED BY ENGINEER. JOINT SEALING SHALL BE COMPLETED BEFORE ROAD IS OPEN TO TRAFFIC.

  14-15 SEE TYPICAL SECTIONS FOR MINIMUM COURSE THICKNESS. QUANTITIES SHOWN ARE FOR INFORMATIONAL PURPOSES ONLY. STREETS MAY REQUIRE CROSS SLOPE

CORRECTIONS.(THIS WILL BE DONE ON THE BASE COURSE). SEE GENERAL NOTES 39 AND 40. ALL HOT MIX ASPHALT SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH SUDAS

SPECIFICATIONS CHAPTER 7020.

    19 SEE TYPICAL CROSS SECTION SHEETS C.01 TO C.02.

  20, 22 QUANTITY SHOWN IS ESTIMATED. ACTUAL QUANTITY TO BE DETERMINED IN THE FIELD.

    21 SEE TYPICAL CROSS SECTION SHEETS C.01 TO C.02 FOR LOCATION AND DEPTH. QUANTITY IS BASED ON 2 FEET BEYOND BACK OF CURB. COMPLY WITH IOWA DOT

SPECIFICATIONS 4123. ITEM MAY BE VIRGIN AGGREGATE OR CRUSHED PCC.  PCC COARSE AGGREGATE MUST BE CLASS 2 DURABILITY OR BETTER AND BE CERTIFIED

BASED ON GRADATION TESTING. DOES NOT HAVE TO BE FROM KNOWN SOURCE.

    23 TOPSOIL TO BE PLACED ON ALL AREAS AS SHOWN ON TYPICAL CROSS SECTION SHEETS C.01 TO C.02 AT A DEPTH OF SIX INCHES AT THE TIME OF PLACING. THIS ITEM

WILL BE PAID AS A FILL QUANTITY IN PLACE (NO ADJUSTMENTS FOR SHRINKAGE). SUITABLE EXCAVATION, CLASS 10, ROADWAY MAY BE USED AS DIRECTED BY THE

ENGINEER. SEE ALSO GENERAL NOTE 9. NO SEPARATE MEASUREMENT OR PAYMENT WILL BE MADE FOR “EARTH SHOULDER CONSTRUCTION” OR “EARTH SHOULDER

FINISHING”. FINISH GRADING BEHIND THE CURB SHALL BE INCIDENTAL TO TOPSOIL PLACEMENT. MATERIAL SHALL NOT HAVE SOD OR GRASS IN IT AND SHALL BE IN

ACCORDANCE WITH SPECIFICATIONS.

    24 SEE STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS 9020. PREPPING FOR SOD SHALL INCLUDE CUTTING A GOOD STRAIGHT EDGE. SOD SHALL NOT BE PLACED HIGHER THAN CURBS OR

WALKS AND SHOULD MEET SAME ELEVATION AS EXISTING GRASS.

    25 SEE STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS SECTION 9010.305. CLEAN UP SHALL BE DONE ACCORDING TO STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS 9010.309.

23 - 25 ANY HYDRO MULCHING FOR WINTER STABILIZATION FOR DISTURBED AREAS SHALL BE CONSIDERED INCIDENTAL TO THE PROJECT.

    26 TO BE APPLIED TO THE SOD AREAS. SEE STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS 9020.304. CONTRACTOR'S RESPONSIBILITY TO WATER SOD AREAS.

     27      SEE TABULATION SHEET B.06 AND DETAIL SHEET C.03. COARSE AGGREGATE FOR P.C. CONCRETE SHALL BE CLASS 3 DURABILITY. SEALING OF ALL EXPANSION JOINTS 

     SHALL BE CONSIDERED INCIDENTAL TO THE BID ITEM AND SHALL BE COMPLETED BEFORE EACH STAGE IS OPEN TO TRAFFIC. CURING COMPOUND SHALL BE REQUIRED

     AND CONSIDERED INCIDENTAL TO THE BID ITEM.

28 & 29 PEDESTRIAN RAMPS TO BE CONSTRUCTED AT LOCATIONS TABULATED. MEASUREMENT AND PAYMENT FOR PEDESTRIAN RAMPS INCLUDED IN THESE ITEMS. SEE

TABULATION SHEET B.05. COARSE AGGREGATE FOR P.C. CONCRETE SHALL BE CLASS 3 DURABILITY. P.C. CONCRETE SHALL BE "C" MIX. SEAL ALL EXPANSION JOINTS.

SEALING OF ALL EXPANSION JOINTS SHALL BE CONSIDERED INCIDENTAL TO THE BID ITEM AND SHALL BE COMPLETED BEFORE EACH STAGE IS OPEN TO TRAFFIC.

CURING COMPOUND SHALL BE REQUIRED.

    30      SEE STANDARD SPECIFICATION 7030. SEE TABULATION SHEET B.05.

    31      SAW CUTTING AND REMOVAL OF EXISTING MATERIAL INCIDENTAL TO BID ITEM. “M” MIX REQUIRED. SEE STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS 7040.

   32 SAW CUTTING AND REMOVAL OF EXISTING MATERIAL INCIDENTAL TO BID ITEM. TO BE USED FOR PATCHES AS NECESSARY AND AS DIRECTED BY THE ENGINEER. SEE

STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS 7040.

33 TO 42 SEE TYPICAL DETAILS, SHEET C.04 - C.06 AND TABULATION SHEET B.06.  AND STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS 6010. ADJUSTMENT RINGS  ARE NOT ALLOWED. NO SHIMS

ARE ALLOWED FOR TOP ADJUSTMENTS. TOP ADJUSTMENTS MUST BE FORMED AND CAST IN PLACE. SEALING OF ALL EXPANSION JOINTS SHALL BE CONSIDERED

INCIDENTAL TO THE BID ITEM AND SHALL BE COMPLETED BEFORE ROAD IS OPEN TO TRAFFIC. ALL REINFORCING BARS SHALL BE EPOXY COATED.

43 TO 45     SEE SUPPLEMENTAL SPECIFICATIONS 6010 2.10 CASTINGS. NO CHIMNEY SEALS REQUIRED. SEE ITEM NO. 110. SEE TABULATION SHEET B.06. ALL REINFORCING BARS 

         SHALL BE EPOXY COATED.

   43 SEE STANDARD SPECIFICATION 6010.108E.  NO CHIMNEY SEALS REQUIRED. SEE ITEM NO. 110. SEE TABULATION SHEET B.06. BOXOUT FOR MANHOLE SHALL HAVE 1 IN

EXPANSION JOINT. SEALING OF ALL EXPANSION JOINTS SHALL BE CONSIDERED INCIDENTAL TO THE BID ITEM AND SHALL BE COMPLETED BEFORE ROAD IS OPEN TO

TRAFFIC.

   44 SEE STANDARD SPECIFICATION 6010.

   45 SEE STANDARD SPECIFICATION 6010.

46 TO 52 SEE TABULATION SHEET B.06, AND SUPPLEMENTAL SPECIFICATIONS.

46,48,50,52 SEE SUPPLEMENTAL SPECIFICATIONS. PIPE TO BE BACKFILLED WITH POROUS MATERIAL AS TYPICAL FOR SUBDRAIN TRENCH. PIPES 12 INCHES IN DIAMETER 

OR LARGER SHALL BE BACKFILLED WITH 1 IN. CLEAN MATERIAL, INCIDENTAL TO THE PIPE. SEE DETAIL SHEET C.08, SUBDRAIN TRENCH.

   53     QUANTITIES ARE BASED ON 2' SHOULDER WIDTH.

   54     SEE STANDARD SPECIFICATION 4020.211.

  55 DURING STORM SEWER, SANITARY SEWER AND WATERMAIN  INSTALLATION, GRANULAR BACKFILL IS TO BE UTILIZED WHEN UNSUITABLE BACKFILL MATERIAL IS

ENCOUNTERED UNDER PAVEMENT AREAS, AS DIRECTED BY THE ENGINEER. THE PRICE BID PER TON SHALL INCLUDE REMOVAL AND DISPOSAL OF THE UNSUITABLE

MATERIAL DISPLACED BY THE GRANULAR BACKFILL.

56 - 58 SEE TYPICAL DETAIL SECTIONS SHEET C.07, TABULATIONS SHEET  B.05. POROUS BACKFILL TO BE INCIDENTAL TO LONGITUDINAL SUBDRAIN.

   58 TAPS ON 15" OR SMALLER PIPE SHALL HAVE A MANUFACTURED TEE FOR CONNECTION. TAPS ON PIPES LARGER THAN 15" SHALL HAVE A  INSERTA TEE OR SADDLE FOR

CONNECTION. INSERTA TEE MUST HAVE CONCRETE COLLAR AT CONNECTION.

  59 QUANTITIES FOR FIELD TILE ARE ESTIMATED. TO BE USED TO CONNECT EXISTING TILE LINES WHEN ENCOUNTERED AND AS DIRECTED BY THE ENGINEER.

60    ANY BRICK OR SPECIAL MONUMENT MAILBOXES ARE THE OWNERS RESPONSIBILITY FOR REMOVAL AND REPLACEMENT. CONTRACTOR IS    

   RESPONSIBLE FOR TEMPORARILY RELOCATING MAILBOXES DURING CONSTRUCTION AND REPLACING MAILBOXES UPON COMPLETION OF REQUIRED WORK. 

   CONTRACTOR SHALL MAKE ARRANGEMENTS WITH THE CEDAR FALLS POST OFFICE TO ENSURE THAT MAIL DELIVERY WILL NOT BE INTERRUPTED.

   61      SEE GENERAL NOTE 29, AND STANDARD SPECIFICATION SECTION 1070 PART 2-2.06.

   62      FLAGGERS TO BE USED AS DIRECTED BY THE ENGINEER AND SHALL CONFORM WITH I.D.O.T. SPECIFICATION SECTION 2528.03K.

63 VALVES TO BE ADJUSTED TO  1/8 IN. BELOW FINISHED ELEVATION. INCLUDES LABOR NECESSARY TO COMPLETE ADJUSTMENT. IF ADDITIONAL MATERIALS ARE NEEDED

TO MAKE ADJUSTMENT TO NEW ELEVATION, MATERIALS SHALL BE FURNISHED BY THE CONTRACTOR. CARE SHALL BE TAKEN SO AS NOT TO DAMAGE EXISTING

FIXTURES. VALVE BOXES DAMAGED BY THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE REPLACED WITH LIKE MATERIALS AT NO COST TO THE OWNER. SEE SUPPLEMENTAL

SPECIFICATIONS.

64 QUANTITY LISTED IS ESTIMATED, ACTUAL QUANTITY TO BE DETERMINED IN THE FIELD.

 65 & 66  MATERIALS AND PROCEDURES FOR PLACEMENT OF PAVEMENT MARKINGS AND PAINTED SYMBOLS, SHALL CONFORM TO I.D.O.T. SPECIFICATIONS SECTION 2527 AND 

     CEDAR FALLS SUPPLEMENTAL SPECIFICATIONS. SEE PLAN SHEETS G.01-G.11 FOR LOCATIONS. SEE SHEET C.10 FOR SHARROW SYMBOL AND B.07 FOR TABULATION 

     SHEET.

  67      PRICE BID SHALL INCLUDE THE INSTALLATION AND REMOVAL OF FILTER FABRIC. FILTER FABRIC TO CONFORM WITH STANDARD SPECIFICATION SECTION 9040-2.15, SILT

     FENCING.

68 SEE STANDARD SPECIFICATION 9040 AND DESIGN MANUAL 7E.20.

69 CONTRACTOR SHALL CLEAN EACH SEDIMENT FILTER BASIN AFTER EACH SIGNIFICANT RAINFALL EVENT OR AS DIRECTED BY THE ENGINEER. CLEANING SHALL INCLUDE,

BUT NOT BE LIMITED TO, REMOVAL OF ACCUMULATED SILT AND ANY OTHER DEBRIS DEPOSITED BY THE FLOW OF STORM WATER THROUGH THE SEDIMENT FILTER.

PAYMENT SHALL BE ON A PER EACH BASIS AND SHALL INCLUDE THE AREA FROM THE GUTTER TO THE CENTERLINE OF THE ROADWAY AS NEEDED TO REMOVE

ACCUMULATED SILT AND DEBRIS. ACCUMULATED SILT AND DEBRIS SHALL BE HAULED FROM THE CONSTRUCTION SITE AND DISPOSED OF AS PER GENERAL NOTE NO. 7.

70 - 72  SEE SUPPLEMENTAL SPECIFICATIONS. SEE SHEET C.10 FOR DETAILS AND B.07 FOR TABULATION.

73 STREET SWEEPING SHALL BE REQUIRED AS DIRECTED BY THE ENGINEER. SWEEPERS ARE REQUIRED TO HAVE VACUUM AND WATER TO MINIMIZE DUST. SWEEPERS ARE

TO BE ADJUSTED FREQUENTLY TO MAXIMIZE EFFICIENCY OF SWEEPING OPERATIONS. DO NOT WASH OR SWEEP ANY SEDIMENT OR DEBRIS DOWN STORM INTAKES. SEE

GENERAL NOTE NO. 15. DAY END SWEEPING WITH MOTORIZED SWEEPER IS CONSIDERED INCIDENTAL. THIS BID IS FOR SWEEPING TO CLEAN ROADS TO BE PREPARED

FOR PAINTING AND OPENING OF CLOSURES.

  74  BASE CLEANING SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH ARTICLE 2212.03B OF THE IOWA DOT STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS. GRINDING BUTT JOINTS, AS SHOWN ON PLAN

SHEETS SHALL BE INCIDENTAL TO THIS ITEM. PREPARATION WIDTH VARIES FOR PAVING ON SEAL COAT STREETS. AS DIRECTED BY THE ENGINEER. CUTTING EDGES FOR

DESIGNATED PAVING WIDTHS ON SEAL COAT STREETS SHALL BE INCIDENTAL TO THIS ITEM. EDGES TO BE CUT 2' WIDER ON EACH EDGE OF SEAL COAT STREETS FOR

SHOULDERING. ADDITIONAL QUANTITY FOR THIS WORK IS INCLUDED IN THIS ITEM.

  75 - 76 MAINLINE PIPE SHALL BE P.V.C. TRUSS PIPE SHALL CONFORM TO ASTM D2680. SERVICE LINES SHALL BE SDR 23.5. PRICE SHALL INCLUDE ALL MATERIALS, 

EQUIPMENT , SHORING AND TRENCH BOXES NEEDED TO COMPLETE JOB. SERVICE LINE SHALL BE RAN PAST BACK OF CURB TO GET  IT OUT OF THE ROADWAY.

77 - 110 AS PER STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS DIVISION 5 AND CFU SUPPLEMENTAL SPECIFICATIONS. SEE DETAIL SHEET C.08 & C.09  AND SHEETS W.01-W.06 FOR     

LOCATIONS.

  111 SHALL INCLUDE ALL EQUIPMENT, LABOR, MATERIALS, EXCAVATION, BACKFILL, HAULING, AND PROPER DISPOSAL OF REMOVED EXISTING RISERS AND CASTINGS  

LOCATED IN PAVEMENT AS SHOWN ON THE PLANS AS MR. MANHOLE SYSTEM, OR APPROVED EQUAL. CASTING TO BECOME PROPERTY OF THE CITY. ITEM INCLUDES 

REPLACING THE CASTING AND CHIMNEYS LOCATED IN PAVEMENT WITH NEW CASTINGS (CITY SPEC), WATER STOP, MODIFIEDSUBBASE, CLEANING AND PREPARING 

EXISTING SURFACE, SURFACE REPAIRS AS REQUIRED, FORM PIPE, FINISHING AND ASSOCIATED WORK INCLUDING CLEANUP. P.C.C. SHALL BE CONSIDERED 

INCIDENTAL TO ITEM. SEE DETAIL SHEET C.10 AND TABULATION SHEET B.06 FOR LOCATIONS.SEALING OF ALL EXPANSION JOINTS SHALL BE CONSIDERED INCIDENTAL

TO THE BID ITEM AND SHALL BE COMPLETED BEFORE ROAD IS OPEN TO TRAFFIC. BOXOUT FOR MANHOLE SHALL HAVE 1" EXPANSION JOINT.

    112 THIS ITEM IS FOR FOAMED ASPHALT BINDER AND SHALL COMPLY WITH I.D.O.T. SECTION 2318 TABLE 2318.02-1

    113 THIS ITEM SHALL COMPLY WITH I.D.O.T. SECTION 2318. SEE DETAIL SHEET C.11.

    114 SEE STANDARD SPECIFICATION 4030.222 FOR APRON SECTION. SEE STANDARD SPECIFICATION 4030.221 FOR APRON FOOTING. SEE STANDARD SPECIFICATION 

   4030.224 FOR PIPE APRON GUARD. GUARD AND FOOTING ARE INCIDENTAL TO BID ITEM.

    115 SEE STANDARD SPECIFICATION 9040.111 FOR PLACEMENT AND CHANNEL GRADING. ENGINEERING FABRIC IS INCIDENTAL TO BID ITEM. QUANTITY IS ESTIMATED.

    116 SEE STANDARD SPECIFICATION 4050.201.

     117 3000 LB PCC CONCRETE SHALL COMPLY WITH I.D.O.T. SPECIFICATION 2506.02. SEE SHEET C.02. CONCRETE IS INTENDED TO FILL VOID AREA (CURB MACHINE 

CLEARANCE) BETWEEN NEW 2.5' SLIP CURB AND THE PAVEMENT REMOVAL SAW CUT AT 3' FROM BACK OF CURB. ALL COARSE AGGREGATE SHALL BE CLASS III 

DURABILITY.

      118 SEE STANDARD SPECIFICATION 11020.108

488

ITEM 29.



1. PROJECT SCHEDULE - THE CONTRACTOR SHALL PREPARE A DETAILED SCHEDULE OF WORK, WHICH SHALL BE SUBMITTED AT THE PRECONSTRUCTION CONFERENCE. THE

SCHEDULE SHALL SHOW ANTICIPATED EQUIPMENT AND MATERIAL DELIVERIES AND COMPLETION OF MAJOR TASKS IN THE PROJECT.

2. DURING CONSTRUCTION OF THIS PROJECT, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE REQUIRED TO COORDINATE THEIR OPERATIONS WITH THOSE OF OTHER CONTRACTORS

WORKING WITHIN THE SAME AREA ON THE FOLLOWING PROJECTS.

3. RIGHT-OF-WAY AND CONSTRUCTION EASEMENT - THE CONTRACTOR SHALL RESTRICT THEIR OPERATIONS TO THE DESIGNATED EXISTING R.O.W. AREAS UNLESS PRIOR

APPROVAL IS OBTAINED FROM THE ENGINEER IN WRITING.

4. ALL PROPERTY OWNERS WHO HAVE DRIVEWAYS WHICH ENTER UPON A STREET THAT IS TO BE RECONSTRUCTED SHALL BE NOTIFIED BY THE CONTRACTOR 48 HOURS

PRIOR TO ANY WORK BEING DONE.

5. THIS DESIGN ASSUMES TEMPORARY STOCKPILING OF MATERIALS CAN BE ACCOMPLISHED WITHIN THE RIGHT-OF-WAY PROVIDED FOR THIS IMPROVEMENT. NO EASEMENTS

HAVE BEEN PROVIDED SPECIFICALLY FOR STOCKPILING PURPOSES. THE CONTRACTOR MAY ELECT TO PROCURE STOCKPILE EASEMENTS OUTSIDE THE RIGHT-OF-WAY

CORRIDOR AT THEIR OWN EXPENSE TO FACILITATE THE CONSTRUCTION STAGING SEQUENCE.

6. IT SHALL BE THE CONTRACTOR'S RESPONSIBILITY (UNLESS DESIGNATED BY THE ENGINEER) TO PROVIDE WASTE AREAS OR DISPOSAL SITES FOR EXCESS MATERIAL

WHICH IS NOT DESIRABLE TO BE INCORPORATED IN THE WORK INVOLVED ON THIS PROJECT (EXCAVATION, BROKEN CONCRETE,CMP OR RCP). NO PAYMENT FOR

OVERHAUL WILL BE ALLOWED BY THE ENGINEER. OVERHAUL WILL NOT BE MEASURED OR PAID FOR BUT SHALL BE CONSIDERED INCIDENTAL TO ROADWAY EXCAVATION

ON THIS PROJECT.

7. UNLESS OTHERWISE DIRECTED OR AUTHORIZED, ALL ASPHALTIC CEMENT CONCRETE AND OTHER BITUMINOUS MATERIALS, WHICH ARE NOT SPECIFICALLY ADDRESSED

OR DESCRIBED IN THE PLANS, SHALL BECOME THE PROPERTY OF THE CONTRACTOR. THIS INCLUDES ALL PAVEMENT, ASPHALT PATCHES, DRIVEWAYS REMOVED DURING

PAVEMENT REMOVAL, TEMPORARY DRIVES, AND ASPHALT MILLINGS.

THE CONTRACTOR IN ACCORDANCE WITH CURRENT RULES AND REGULATIONS OF THE IOWA DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES MAY:

1. REMOVE THE MATERIAL FROM THE PROJECT AND STOCKPILE FOR THE CONTRACTOR'S FUTURE USE.

2. DISPOSE OF IN A LICENSED LANDFILL.

8. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL NOT DISTURB AREAS OUTSIDE THE CONSTRUCTION LIMITS. THE CONTRACTOR WILL NOT BE PERMITTED TO PARK, SERVICE VEHICLES AND

EQUIPMENT, OR USE THESE AREAS FOR STORAGE OF MATERIALS.

9. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL PLACE 6 INCHES OF TOPSOIL OVER ALL SODDING AND SEEDING AREAS DISTURBED BY THE CONSTRUCTION OF THIS PROJECT. ANY HYDRO

MULCHING FOR WINTER STABILIZATION FOR DISTURBED AREAS SHALL BE CONSIDERED INCIDENTAL TO THE PROJECT.

10. CONTRACTOR SHALL MAINTAIN SERVICE CONNECTIONS DURING CONSTRUCTION.

11. CONTRACTOR SHALL USE TESTING EQUIPMENT AND PROCEDURES THAT ARE ACCEPTABLE TO THE ENGINEER.

12. COMPACTION OF BACKFILL IN ALL TRENCHES AND EXCAVATIONS SHALL BE TO 95% STANDARD PROCTOR DENSITY.

13. CONTRACTOR SHALL NOT USE ANY PROPERTY OWNER'S WATER OR ELECTRICITY.

14. CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR MAKING SURE THAT TRUCKS TRAVELING TO AND FROM THE PROJECT SITE ARE IN GOOD WORKING ORDER AND DO NOT DROP

MATERIAL ONTO THE STREET.

IT IS THE CONTRACTOR'S RESPONSIBILITY TO ENSURE THAT ALL STREETS ADJACENT TO THE PROJECT ARE CLEAN AND FREE OF MUD AND DEBRIS GENERATED FROM

THE PROJECT. THIS INCLUDES CLEANING OF THE STREETS AT THE END OF EACH DAY'S WORK AND BEFORE AN ANTICIPATED RAIN EVENT, TO PREVENT MUD AND DEBRIS

FROM ENTERING THE STORM SEWER SYSTEM.

15. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL APPLY NECESSARY MOISTURE TO THE CONSTRUCTION AREA AND HAUL ROADS AT THE DIRECTION OF THE ENGINEER TO PREVENT THE SPREAD

OF DUST.

16. PEDESTRIAN CURB DROPS ARE TO BE CONSTRUCTED IN CURBS AT ALL LOCATIONS AS SHOWN IN THE SIDEWALK TABULATION ON THE PROJECT PLANS.

17. ESTIMATED QUANTITY FOR NEW CONCRETE PAVEMENT INCLUDES ALL INTEGRAL CURB, ALL STREET RETURNS, SPECIAL AREAS AND AREAS OF REPAIRS TO CONNECTING

PAVEMENTS.

18. COARSE AGGREGATE FOR ALL P.C. CONCRETE SHALL BE CLASS 3  DURABILITY.

19. CURING COMPOUNDS USED SHALL MEET THE REQUIREMENTS OF STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS, SECTION 7010-2.02-M.

20. TO OBTAIN THE CORRECT FORM GRADES AT LOW POINTS WHERE INTAKES ARE LOCATED, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL EXERCISE EXTREME CARE WHEN PAVING FULL WIDTH

PAVEMENTS. THIS MAY REQUIRE POURING ONE-HALF OF THE  PAVEMENT AT A TIME OR OTHER METHODS APPROVED BY THE ENGINEER.

21. SPECIAL CARE SHALL BE TAKEN WHEN FORMING AT INTERSECTIONS SO THAT THE PROFILES SHOWN ON THE PLANS ARE OBTAINED. SHORT LENGTHS OF FORMS OR

FLEXIBLE FORMS MAY BE NECESSARY AT THESE LOCATIONS.

22. THE CITY WILL FURNISH THE REQUIRED STAKES AND BENCHMARKS FOR THIS WORK. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL MAINTAIN ALL STAKES AND REPORT ANY DAMAGE TO THE

ENGINEER. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ALL GRADES, LINES, LEVELS AND DIMENSIONS AS SHOWN ON THE PLANS AND SHALL REPORT ANY ERRORS OR

INCONSISTENCIES TO THE ENGINEER PRIOR TO COMMENCING WORK. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY THE ENGINEER AT LEAST 48 HOURS PRIOR TO THE NEED FOR

SURVEY STAKES. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR PRESERVING SURVEY STAKES AND MARKS.  IF ANY SURVEY STAKES OR MARKS ARE CARELESSLY OR

WILLFULLY DESTROYED, OR DISTURBED BY THE CONTRACTOR, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE CHARGED FOR THE COST OF REPLACING THEM.

23. THE COST OF CONNECTING PERFORATED SUBDRAIN TO EXISTING STRUCTURES OR TILE LINES SHALL BE CONSIDERED INCIDENTAL TO THE COST PER LINEAR FOOT OF

THE PERTINENT PIPE.

24. ALL CONTRACTORS SHALL USE CAUTION WHEN WORKING OVER AND AROUND ALL TILE LINES. BREAKS IN THE TILE LINE DUE TO THE CONTRACTOR'S CARELESSNESS

SHALL BE REPLACED AT THEIR EXPENSE WITHOUT COST TO THE CONTRACTING AUTHORITY. ANY TILE LINES BROKEN OR DISTURBED BY OUR CUT LINES WILL BE

REPLACED AS DIRECTED BY THE ENGINEER IN CHARGE OF CONSTRUCTION AND AT THE CONTRACTING AUTHORITY'S EXPENSE.

25. UTILITIES - THE LOCATION OF ALL EXISTING UTILITIES INDICATED ON THE PLANS ARE TAKEN FROM CURRENT RECORDS AND/OR FIELD SURVEYS. HOWEVER, IT IS THE

RESPONSIBILITY OF THE CONTRACTOR TO CONFIRM THE EXACT LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF ALL UTILITIES. IT SHALL BE THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE CONTRACTOR

TO NOTIFY THE RESPECTIVE UTILITY COMPANIES OF THE COMMENCEMENT OF WORK ON THE PROJECT AND TO COORDINATE NECESSARY ADJUSTMENTS. THE

CONTRACTOR SHALL EXPOSE THOSE UTILITIES AND SEWERS AS DIRECTED IN THE FIELD BY THE ENGINEER PRIOR TO BEGINNING CONSTRUCTION SO THAT EXACT

LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS MAY BE DETERMINED. NO DIRECT PAYMENT SHALL BE MADE FOR THIS WORK AND IT SHALL BE CONSIDERED INCIDENTAL TO OTHER

APPLICABLE WORK.

26. PRIOR TO OPENING AN EXCAVATION, EFFORT SHALL BE MADE TO DETERMINE WHETHER UNDERGROUND INSTALLATIONS, I.E., SEWER, WATER, FUEL, ELECTRIC LINES,

ETC., WILL BE ENCOUNTERED AND, IF SO, WHERE SUCH UNDERGROUND INSTALLATIONS ARE LOCATED. WHEN THE EXCAVATION APPROACHES THE APPROXIMATE

LOCATIONS OF SUCH AN INSTALLATION, CAREFUL PROBING OR HAND DIGGING SHALL DETERMINE THE EXACT LOCATIONS, AND WHEN IT IS UNCOVERED, ADEQUATE

PROTECTION SHALL BE PROVIDED FOR THE EXISTING INSTALLATION. ALL KNOWN OWNERS OF UNDERGROUND FACILITIES IN THE AREA CONCERNED SHALL BE ADVISED

OF PROPOSED WORK AT LEAST 48 HOURS PRIOR TO THE START OF ACTUAL EXCAVATION.

27. FOR ALL UTILITY LOCATION REQUESTS, CALL THE FOLLOWING NUMBER, IOWA ONE CALL (1-800-292-8989).

UTILITY CONTACT PERSON

CEDAR FALLS UTILITIES: JERALD LUKENSMEYER 1-319-266-1761

CENTURYLINK: DENNIS LONG 1-319-538-7215

MEDIACOM: KEVIN PARKER 1-319-232-8800

WATER RECLAMATION: MIKE NYMAN 1-319-273-8633

28. PART VI OF THE “MANUAL ON UNIFORM TRAFFIC CONTROL DEVICES” (MUTCD) 2009, SHALL APPLY. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL FURNISH ALL NECESSARY TRAFFIC CONTROL

DEVICES AND THE COST SHALL BE INCIDENTAL TO THE TRAFFIC CONTROL ITEM ON THIS PROJECT. ALL BARRICADES AND TRAFFIC CONTROL DEVICES SHALL CONFORM

TO THE MOST CURRENT “MANUAL ON UNIFORM TRAFFIC CONTROL DEVICES” AND LATEST SUPPLEMENTALS TO THE STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS.

29. ORANGE MESH SAFETY FENCE SHALL MEET THE REQUIREMENTS OF SECTION 2518.02 AND SECTION 4188.03 OF THE  I.D.O.T. SPECIFICATIONS.

30. EXISTING STREET SIGNS AND TRAFFIC SIGNS ARE TO BE REMOVED BY THE CONTRACTOR AND DELIVERED TO CEDAR FALLS TRANSFER STATION AT 16TH STREET AND

STATE STREET. PRIVATE SIGNS SHALL BE REMOVED, STORED AND INSTALLED BY THE CONTRACTOR. ANY SIGNS DAMAGED WILL BE REPLACED AT CONTRACTOR'S

EXPENSE.

31. WATERMAIN SHALL HAVE 8 MIL THICK POLYETHYLENE MATERIAL WRAPPED ON PIPE. POLYETHYLENE MATERIAL SHALL BE INSTALLED IN ACCORDANCE WITH AWWA

STANDARD C105.

32. IT IS THE CONTRACTOR'S RESPONSIBILTY TO MAINTAIN EXISTING STORM AND SANITARY SEWER SYSTEMS IN AN OPEN AND FUNCTIONING CONDITION DURING ALL PHASES

OF CONSTRUCTION. COSTS ASSOCIATED WITH MAINTAINING EXISTING SYSTEMS INCLUDING CLEANING, REMOVING DEBRIS AND REPAIRS RESULTING FROM THE

CONTRACTOR'S OPERATIONS WILL BE THE CONTRACTOR'S RESPONSIBILITY. MATERIAL STOCKPILES SHALL NOT BLOCK DRAINAGE FLOW

33. THE FOLLOWING EVENTS LISTED BELOW ARE FOR INFORMATIONAL PURPOSES AND MAY OR MAY NOT HAVE AN IMPACT ON THE CONSTRUCTION WORK PERFORMED ON

THIS PROJECT. CONTRACTOR SHALL SCHEDULE THEIR WORK ACCORDINGLY.

 MAY 8, 2020 - UNI CLASSES END

MAY 22, 2020 - LAST DAY OF SCHOOL C.F. PUBLIC SCHOOLS (TENTATIVE)

JUNE 26-28, 2020 - STURGIS FALLS DAYS CELEBRATION

AUGUST 24, 2020 - C.F. PUBLIC SCHOOLS RESUME (TENTATIVE)

AUGUST 24, 2020 (MON.) - UNI CLASSES RESUME

UNI HOMECOMING - OCTOBER 17, 2020

34. LOCATIONS OF EXISTING SANITARY SEWER IS BASED ON BEST AVAILABLE CITY RECORDS. CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR LOCATING ALL SANITARY LINES AND

SERVICES. ANY DAMAGES TO SANITARY LINES ARE TO BE REPLACED AT CONTRACTOR'S EXPENSE.

35. SUBMIT PAVEMENT MIX DESIGN FOR ENGINEER APPROVAL.

36. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE POLLUTION PREVENTION PLAN AS OUTLINED IN THE SPECIAL PROVISIONS OF THE PROJECT SPECIFICATIONS.

37. THE URBAN STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS (SUDAS), 2020 EDITION, AND THE CURRENT CITY OF CEDAR FALLS SUPPLEMENTAL SPECIFICATIONS

TO SUDAS SPECIFICATIONS, SHALL APPLY TO THE CONSTRUCTION WORK PERFORMED UPON THIS PROJECT.

38. PRIMER OR TACK COAT BITUMEN WILL BE CONSIDERED INCIDENTAL TO HOT MIX ASPHALT AND WILL NOT BE MEASURED SEPARATELY FOR PAYMENT. WHEN USING TACK,

THE FOLLOWING RATES ARE SPECIFIED:

 BEFORE OTHER COURSES ARE PLACED: (UNDILUTED RATE) 0.02 TO 0.05 GAL./SQ. YD. VERTICAL FACE OF EXPOSED, LONGITUDINAL JOINTS: 0.10 TO 0.15 GAL./SQ. YD. 

 WITHIN 2 VERTICAL FEET OF HEADWALLS OF CULVERTS AND CURBS OR HANDRAILS OF BRIDGES: 0.10 GAL/S.Y. APPROVED TACKS: CSS-1 OR CSS-1H.

39. ASPHALT BINDER PG-58-28S OR 58-28H, WHICHEVER IS APPROPRIATE FOR (ST) OR (HT) HOT MIX ASPHALT, AS CALLED FOR IN THESE PLANS, SHALL BE CONSIDERED

INCIDENTAL TO HOT MIX ASPHALT BID ITEMS. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR CERTIFIED PLANT INSPECTION. CERTIFIED PLANT INSPECTION SHALL BE

DONE AS PER STANDARD SPECIFICATION SECTION 7020-3.06 A.3 AND 3.06 B.5 FOR ALL HMA ITEMS.

40.  CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE A PORTABLE TOILET AT EACH LOCATION.

489

ITEM 29.



490

ITEM 29.



491

ITEM 29.



SCHOOLXING STOP AHEAD ONLY BIKE
LANE

X

R R O   O

EXIT

492

ITEM 29.



493

ITEM 29.



TYPICAL URBAN P.C.C. PAVEMENT SECTION

494

ITEM 29.



SEERLEY BLVD.

ASHLAND AVE.

CARLTON DRIVE

HOLMES DRIVE

26TH STREET

11TH STREET - MILL & OVERLAY

CHATEAU COURT -

HMA OVERLAY

WITH FULL DEPTH

PANEL

REPLACEMENT

WHERE SPECIFIED

495

ITEM 29.



496

ITEM 29.



STANDARD DETAIL

SINGLE FLAT INTAKE

STANDARD DETAIL

DOUBLE FLAT INTAKE

2"

3"

A

6"

JOINT DETAIL

KEYED CONSTRUCTION

.5"

1.5"

2"

2"

.5"

1.5"

497

ITEM 29.



STANDARD DETAIL

TYPE B INTAKE

STANDARD DETAIL

TYPE D INTAKE

A A

3'-8"FRT.-BK.

2"

3"

FOOTING OR WALL

(NOT TO SCALE)

FOOTING/WALL

A

A

7"

6"

KEYED CONSTRUCTION

JOINT DETAIL

(NOT TO SCALE)

498

ITEM 29.



'B' JOINT

CLEARANCE TYP.

CONCRETE

FILLET

BAR LOCATION SHAPE NO. LENGTH SPACING

4a1

4a2

4b1

4b2

4c2

BASE

BASE

WALL

WALL

INSERT

9

VARIABLE

1

8'-3"

VARIABLE

VARIABLE &

7'-3"

VARIABLE

12"

12"

12" (SIDES)

10.5" (FRT. & BK.)

12"

CEN. BTWN. FRAMES

REINFORCING BAR LIST

* NOTE  -  ALL BARS TO HAVE 2" CLEARANCE UNLESS OTERWISE SHOWN

6" CONC. WALLS

VARIABLE

VARIABLE

VARIABLE

5d1 TOP 8  VARIABLE 12"

5d2 TOP VARIABLE 7'-3" 6"

4e1 BEAM 20 1'-8" 4"

8e2 BEAM 4 6'-8"

SEE BEAM 

 DETAIL

SHOWN

15" PIPES

4c2

4a2

5d2

KEYWAY

12" MAX.

VARIABLEVARIABLEINSERT4c1

(NOT TO SCALE)

AA

1\3 INSERT WIDTH

EXISTING

PAVEMENT

AND PLACE 4c2 BAR

4c1 SEE NOTE 7

      BETWEEN ADJACENT FRAMES

 GROUT OPEN SPACES

6" CONCRETE WALLS

4b1

INCREASE PROPORTIONATELY W/ INSERT WIDTH.

** NOTE - THE HORIZONTAL LENGTH OF THE 4c2 BAR SHALL

4c2 BENT BAR DETAIL (SHOWN FOR 3'5"INSERT)

FOOTING/WALL

KEYED CONSTRUCTION

(NOT TO SCALE)

JOINT DETAIL

 BELOW PAVEMENT

4b2
SEE NOTE 6

(NOT TO SCALE)

SLOPE EXTENDED FROM

STREET TO FORM GRADE

LOCATION POINT

10"

8"

15"

8e2

BEAM DETAIL

(NOT TO SCALE)

SEE NOTE 6

TO FRAME (ALL SIDES).

MATCH CONCRETE ELEVATION 

W= 12" MIN. OR MATCH

TO EXISTING "L" JOINT

8e2

4e1 SEE

BAR DETAIL

FORM GRADE/

"EE" JOINT

SEE NOTE 4

W

W= 12" MIN. OR MATCH

TO EXISTING "L" JOINT

FORM GRADE/

LOCATION POINT

'B' JOINT

CLEARANCE TYP.

CONCRETE

FILLET

6" CONC. WALLS

SEE BEAM 

 DETAIL

SHOWN

15" PIPES

4c2

4a2

5d2

KEYWAY

AA

EXISTING

PAVEMENT

4c1 SEE NOTE 7

4b1

FOOTING/WALL

KEYED CONSTRUCTION

(NOT TO SCALE)

JOINT DETAIL

 BELOW PAVEMENT

4b2
SEE NOTE 6

SLOPE EXTENDED FROM

STREET TO FORM GRADE

LOCATION POINT

8e2

SEE NOTE 6

TO FRAME (ALL SIDES).

MATCH CONCRETE ELEVATION 

W= 12" MIN. OR MATCH

TO EXISTING "L" JOINT

8e2

4e1 SEE

BAR DETAIL

FORM GRADE/

"EE" JOINT

SEE NOTE 4

W

W= 12" MIN. OR MATCH

TO EXISTING "L" JOINT

FORM GRADE/

LOCATION POINT

1/2"

BAR LOCATION SHAPE NO. LENGTH SPACING

4a1

4a2

4b1

4b2

BASE

BASE

WALL

WALL

5

VARIABLE

4'-8"

VARIABLE

VARIABLE &

3'-8"

12"

12"

12" (SIDES)

10.5" (FRT. & BK.)

12"

REINFORCING BAR LIST

* NOTE  -  ALL BARS TO HAVE 2" CLEARANCE UNLESS OTERWISE SHOWN

VARIABLE

VARIABLE

VARIABLE

5d1 TOP 4  VARIABLE 12"

5d2 TOP VARIABLE 3'-8" 6"

4e1 BEAM 11 1'-9" 4"

8e2 BEAM 4 3'-8"

VARIABLE6INSERT4c1

1\3 INSERT WIDTH

F. BACKFILLING WITH FLOWABLE MORTAR TO MID HEIGHT OF PIPES.

   DETAIL PLANS, INCLUDING REPLACEMENT OF THE EXISTING PIPE WITH                                

B. ANY NECESSARY REMOVAL AND DISPOSAL OF EXISTING STRUCTURES.

JOINTS IN PAVEMENT ADJACENT TO INTAKE SHALL BE SHOWN ON STANDARD ROAD

OF THE FILLET SHALL SLOPE APPROXIMATELY 1"/FOOT TOWARD THE CHANNEL.

IS REQUIRED TO PROVIDE A SMOOTH CHANNEL THROUGH THE INTAKE. TOP SURFACE

AS INDICATED AND AS DIRECTED BY THE ENGINEER. SPECIAL SHAPING OF THE FILLET

ALL REINFORCING BARS SHALL BE ASTM A615, GRADE 60, EPOXY COATED.

MATERIALS AND CONSTRUCTION METHODS USED SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH

  C. SATISFACTORY CONNECTION TO NEW OR EXISTING STORM SEWER AS PER

D. FURNISHING ALL MATERIALS AND CONSTRUCTING INSERT AS DETAILED HEREON.

HEREON EXCEPT WHERE SPECIFICALLY MODIFIED BY OTHER PLAN DRAWINGS OR BY THE 

PLANS RH-50, RH-51, AND RH-52. JOINT LOCATIONS AND DOWELS SHALL BE AS INDICATED 

A CONCRETE FILLET SHALL BE PLACED IN THE BOTTOM OF THE INTAKE APPROXIMATELY

PRICE BID FOR "INTAKE, TYPE C" SHALL INCLUDE:

NEW PIPE UP TO 7.5' OF LENGTH.

A. ALL NECESSARY EXCAVATION AND BACKFILL.

CURRENT STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS.

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

8.

7.

NEENAH R-3246-A CURB INLET FRAME, CURB BOX  AND DIAGONAL

REVERSIBLE GRATE (OR APPROVED EQUAL).

4c1: 2- #4 BARS SPACED 1/3 DISTANCE FROM CASTING TO "B"\"EE"

JOINT, ON ALL SIDES, MIN. 2" CLEARANCE.

4b2 HORIZONTAL BARS TO START 6" ABOVE TOP OF FOOTING

9. PIPES (INTAKE AND OUTLET) SHALL NOT PROJECT UNECCESSARILY INTO WELL

ENGINEER.

E. CONCRETE FILLET AS PER PLAN

STANDARD DETAIL

TYPE C INTAKE

STANDARD DETAIL

TYPE E INTAKE

499

ITEM 29.



500

ITEM 29.



system.  It also shows how to splice two existing wires.
This specification shows how to add a third wire to the existing locating

Wire to Wire Connection

Wire Splice

Wire Added

Wire Connector

Vinyl Mastic Pad

Wire Connector

Vinyl Mastic Pad

501

ITEM 29.



Typical Hydrant Installation on the End of Main

Typical 90 Degree Hydrant Assembly Installation using

Locking Tee and Holding Spools

502

ITEM 29.



CITY OF CEDAR FALLS

STANDARD DETAIL

CFD.05

MR. MANHOLE

DETAIL

503

ITEM 29.



TYPICAL CROSS SECTION

HMA RESURFACING & PAVEMENT

SCARIFICATION

LOCATION STATION

TYPICAL SECTION

FOR TYPE 'B'

GRANULAR SHOULDER

FILLET FOR NON-PAVED ENTRANCES OR SIDE ROADS

504

ITEM 29.



505

ITEM 29.



506

ITEM 29.



507

ITEM 29.



508

ITEM 29.



509

ITEM 29.



510

ITEM 29.



511

ITEM 29.



512

ITEM 29.



513

ITEM 29.



514

ITEM 29.



515

ITEM 29.



516

ITEM 29.



517

ITEM 29.



518

ITEM 29.



519

ITEM 29.



520

ITEM 29.



521

ITEM 29.



2020 Street Construction Project

Construction Staging Plan

Project No. RC-000-3185

GENERAL REQUIREMENTS - APPLIES TO ALL STAGES

A. The intent of the Construction Staging Plan is to provide maximum access to the adjacent properties

and to minimize the length of time during which access to any property is inhibited.

B. Upon removal of pavement in any area, underground construction and paving shall begin

immediately, and construction shall proceed continuously until that section of road is reopened to

traffic.

C. All construction signing, barricading and/or other traffic control measures necessary for the protection

of workers and the public shall be the responsibility of the contractor and will be included in the lump

sum price bid for traffic control.

D. Any deviations from the construction staging plan as shown in these drawings must be submitted to

the City in writing for approval prior to construction.

E. A "Stage" will be considered complete when the road is ready for opening to local traffic and work has

been completed including sod, seed, signs, painting of roadway and all sealing including sidewalks,

road, driveways, intakes and manholes.

F.

1.) Division 1 - Lilac Lane from McClain Drive to Rownd Street

  Stage 1 - Lilac Lane from McClain Drive to the west property line of 1904.

Stage 2 - Lilac Lane from the west property line of 1904 to Rownd Street.

 Staging Restrictions Division 1:

        Stage 1 work on Lilac Lane shall be substantially completed and opened to traffic before beginning

stage 2 work.

See Maximum Closure Limitations, Item No. 5.

2.) Division 2 - Clearview Drive from Primrose Drive to Orchard Drive.

Stage 1 -Clearview Drive from Primrose Drive to Orchard Drive.

No Staging Restrictions Division 2:

        See Maximum Closure Limitations, Item No. 5.

3.) Division 3 - Madison Street From Valley Park Drive to Waterloo Road.

Stage 1 - Madison Street from Valley Park Drive to the midpoint of intersection at Whiteway Drive.

  Stage 2 - Madison Street from midpoint of Whiteway Drive to Waterloo Road.

        Staging Restrictions Division 3:

        Stage 1 work on Madison Street shall be substantially completed and opened to traffic before

   beginning stage 2 work.

See Maximum Closure Limitations, Item No. 5.

4.) Division 4 - 11th Street from Division Street to College Street.

Stage 1 - 11th Street from College Street to the west property line of 1019.

Stage 2 - 11th Street from Division Street to the west property line of 1019.

        Staging Restrictions Division 4:

        Stage 1 work on 11th Street shall be substantially completed and opened to traffic before beginning

stage 2 work.

See Maximum Closure Limitations, Item No. 5.

5.) Maximum Closure Limitations - Divisions 1-4.

The contractor will be limited to a maximum 5,000 lineal feet of 2-lane street closure. This total shall

apply to all Divisions and Stages under construction concurrently.

6.) Construction Staging - Intermediate Working Days.

Intermediate working days for construction staging will be as follows:

Lilac Lane Stage 1 49 Calendar days

Lilac Lane Stage 2 49 Calendar days

Clearview Drive 35 Calendar days

Madison Drive Stage 1 35 Calendar days

Madison Drive Stage 2 42 Calendar days

11th  Street Stage 1 42 Calendar days

11th  Street Stage 2 42 Calendar days

Carlton Drive 21 Calendar days

Chateau Court 28 Calendar days

26th Street 35 Calendar days

Holmes Drive 21 Calendar days

Seerley BLVD. 21 Calendar days

Ashland Avenue 14 Calendar days

Union Road 28 Calendar days

The Contractor shall be limited to a maximum 5,000 lineal feet of 2-lane street closure. This total shall

apply to all Divisions and Stages under construction concurrently.

8.) HMA Staging Notes:

Carlton Drive- No Staging Restrictions.

Chateau Court- Contractor to submit staging plan for review and approval by engineer. Contractor

shall maintain access to one lane at all times. Access to 519 Chateau Court shall be maintained at

all times with exception to asphalt operations due to vehicle charging requirements. Provide 

temporary asphalt or rock as needed.

26th Street- No Staging Restrictions.

Holmes Drive-  Contractor to submit staging plan for review and approval by engineer. 

Contractor shall start work after school is out for the summer and shall be completed by August 1,

2020.

Seerley Blvd.- Contractor to submit staging plan for review and approval by engineer. Contractor

shall maintain access to one lane at all times.

Ashland Drive- No Staging Restrictions.

Union Road-  Contractor to submit staging plan for review and approval by engineer. Contractor 

shall maintain access to one travel lane at all times.

522

ITEM 29.



523

ITEM 29.



524

ITEM 29.



525

ITEM 29.



526

ITEM 29.



527

ITEM 29.



528

ITEM 29.



529

ITEM 29.



530

ITEM 29.



531

ITEM 29.



532

ITEM 29.



533

ITEM 29.



534

ITEM 29.



535

ITEM 29.



536

ITEM 29.



537

ITEM 29.



538

ITEM 29.



539

ITEM 29.



540

ITEM 29.



541

ITEM 29.



542

ITEM 29.



543

ITEM 29.



544

ITEM 29.



545

ITEM 29.



1 

 
PROJECT SPECIFICATIONS 

FOR 
2020 STREET CONSTRUCTION 

PROJECT 
 

Project RC-000-3185 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

ENGINEER'S CERTIFICATION 

 
 
 

 
I hereby certify that this engineering document was prepared by me or 
under my direct personal supervision and that I am a duly licensed 
professional engineer under the laws of the State of Iowa. 

__ _______________________  Date: 2/12/2020 
Jonathan P. Fitch, P.E.      Iowa License No. 16920 
My license renewal date is December  31, 2021 
 
Pages or sheets covered by this seal: 1-39. 

 

 

546

ITEM 29.



 

2 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

 
    Page Number 
 
TITLE SHEET  1 
 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 2-3 
 
NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 4 
 
NOTICE TO BIDDERS 5-7 
 
DIVISION 1 – Instruction to Bidders 
 

01 Definition and Terms 8 
 02 Qualification of the Bidder 8-9 

03 Contents of the Proposal Forms 9 
04 Taxes  9 
05 Submission of the Proposal, Identity of Bidder and Bid Security 9-10 
Form of Proposal 11-17 
Bid Bond  18  
Bidder Status Form 19 
Authorization to transact business 20 
Non-Collusion Affidavit of Prime Bidder 21 
Form of Contract 22-23 

 Performance, Payment and Maintenance Bond 24-27 
 Notice to Proceed 28 
 
DIVISION 2 – Special Provisions 
 

01 Award of Contract 29 
02 Availability of Site 29 
03 Protection of Line and Grade Stakes 29 
04 Borrow and Waste Sites 29-30 
05 Subletting or Assignment of Contract 30 
06 Contract Time 30 
07 Work Progress and Schedule 30-31 
08 Weekly record of Working Days 31 
09 Liquidated Damages 31 
10 Progress Payments and Vouchers 31 
11 Storm Water Pollution Prevention 31-33 
12 Method of Measurement 33 
13 Basis of Payment                                                                              34 

547

ITEM 29.



 

3 
 

DIVISION 3 – Standard Specifications 
 

The City of Cedar Falls has adopted the 2020 Edition of the STATEWIDE 
URBAN STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR PUBLIC  IMPROVEMENTS 
(SUDAS) as the City’s Standard Specification. 
 
This Standard Specification is amended by the “City of Cedar Falls” 
Supplemental Specifications to the 2020 Edition of SUDAS.  

 
 Links to both documents can be found on the City’s website at: 
 www.cedarfalls.com/designstandards   
 
DIVISION 4 – Supplemental Plans and Specifications 
 

SUPPLEMENTAL SPECIFICATIONS - BID ITEMS 35-39 
  

548

ITEM 29.



 

4 
 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING ON PLANS, SPECIFICATIONS, 
FORM OF CONTRACT, AND ESTIMATE OF COST FOR THE  

2020 STREET CONSTRUCTION PROJECT IN THE 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 
TO ALL TAXPAYERS OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND OTHER 
PERSONS INTERESTED: 
 

Public notice is hereby given that the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa, will conduct a Public Hearing on Plans, Specifications, Form of Contract, and 

Estimated Total Cost for the construction of the 2020 STREET CONSTRUCTION 

PROJECT in said City at 7:00 p.m. on the 2nd day of March 2020, said meeting to be 

held in the Council Chambers in the City Hall, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

Said Plans, Specifications, Form of Contract, and Estimated Total Cost are now 

on file in the office of the City Clerk in the City Hall in Cedar Falls, Iowa, and may be 

inspected by any persons interested. 

Any person interested may appear at said meeting of the City Council for the 

purpose of making objections to said Plans, Specifications, Contract, or Estimated Total 

Cost of making said improvement. 

This notice given by order of the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

   City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

    By: _______________________________ 

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC  

City Clerk 

549

ITEM 29.



 

5 
 

NOTICE TO BIDDERS 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT 

2020 STREET CONSTRUCTION PROJECT 
 

Time and Place for Filing Sealed Proposals: Sealed proposals will be received at the City 
Clerk's office at City Hall, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa by the City Engineer or an 
authorized representative of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, before 2:00 p.m. on the 10th day of 
March, 2020. 
 
Time and Place Sealed Proposals will be Opened and Considered: Sealed proposals will be 
opened and read at 2:00 p.m. on the 10th day of March 2020 in the Duke Young Conference 
Room at City Hall, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa, for consideration by the City of Cedar 
Falls City Council at its meeting at 7:00 PM on March 16th, 2020 or at such later time and place 
as may be fixed. The City of Cedar Falls reserves the right to reject any and all proposals 
including without limitation, nonconforming, nonresponsive, unbalanced, or conditional bids.  
 
Time for Commencement and Completion of Work: The work under the proposed contract shall 
commence within ten (10) calendar days after the date set forth in the written Notice to Proceed 
and shall be performed regularly and diligently throughout the duration of the project. Contractor 
shall reach substantial completion no later than October 2, 2020 and shall fully complete close-
out of the project no later than November 13, 2020. In addition, certain streets shall be 
completed within the calendar days specified in the “Allowable Calendar Days” table included 
within the plans. Stages 1-2 calendar day allotments only apply to each individual stage and any 
remaining calendar days on a given stage cannot be used on another stage. 
 
Bid Security: Each Form of Proposal shall be accompanied in a separate envelope by a bid 
security as defined in the Instructions to Bidders- Division 1, Section 05. 
 
Performance and Payment Bonds: The successful Bidder shall furnish to the City a performance 
bond in an amount equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the contract price, guaranteeing 
faithful performance of the contract and guaranteeing the completed project against defective 
workmanship and materials for a period of two (2) years from and after completion and 
acceptance by the City. The successful Bidder shall also provide a payment bond in an amount 
equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the contract price guaranteeing payment of all persons 
supplying labor and materials, or both, in the execution of the work provided for in the contract.  
 
Contract Documents: Plans, specifications, and proposal forms have been approved by the City 
Council and are now on file for public examination in the office of the City Clerk. Electronic 
contract documents will become available Tuesday, February 18, 2020 at no cost by clicking on 
the “Bid Opportunities” link at www.cedarfalls.com and choosing the 2020 Street 
Reconstruction project from the list. Project information, Engineer’s cost opinion, and 
planholder information is also available at no cost at this website. Downloads require the user to 
register for a free membership at www.QuestCDN.com. If required, hard copies of the project 
documents may be obtained from the City Engineer’s office, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 
50613. 
 
Contact Jon Fitch for document distribution or any questions via phone: (319) 268-5165, 
fax: (319) 268-5197, or email: jon.fitch@cedarfalls.com. QuestCDN reference number 
6697174. 
 

550

ITEM 29.



 

6 
 

 
If any prospective bidder is in doubt as to the true meaning of any parts of the contract 
documents, the bidder may request an interpretation from the Engineer, in writing, either 
through mail, fax or email. Questions received less than five (5) days prior to the date for 
opening bids may not be answered. 
 
Contact individuals shall be as follows: 
 
Jon Fitch, P.E                                                                    
Cedar Falls Engineering Department                               
220 Clay Street                                                                 
Cedar Falls, IA 50613                                                       
Jon.fitch@cedarfalls.com                                                 
 
Any interpretation of the contract documents will be made in writing and only by an addendum 
duly mailed or delivered to each prospective bidder who received, or in the future requests, 
contracts documents from Jurisdiction. Only questions answered by Addenda will be binding. 
Oral and other interpretations or clarifications will be without legal effect. 
 
Addenda may be issued to clarify, correct, or change the contract documents as deemed 
advisable by Jurisdiction or the Engineer. 
 
Preference for Iowa Products and Labor:  By virtue of statutory authority, a preference will be 
given to products and provisions grown and coal produced within the State of Iowa. 
 
In accordance with Iowa statutes, a resident bidder shall be allowed a preference as against a 
nonresident bidder from a state or foreign country if that state or foreign country gives or 
requires any preference to bidders from that state or foreign country, including but not limited to 
any preference to bidders, the imposition of any type of labor force preference, or any other 
form of preferential treatment to bidders or laborers from that state or foreign country. The 
preference allowed shall be equal to the preference given or required by the state or foreign 
country in which the nonresident bidder is a resident. In the instance of a resident labor force 
preference, a nonresident bidder shall apply the same resident labor force preference to a 
public improvement in this state as would be required in the construction of a public 
improvement by the state or foreign country in which the nonresident bidder is a resident. 
 
Failure to submit a fully completed Bidder Status Form with the bid may result in the bid being 
deemed nonresponsive and rejected. 
 
Sales Tax: Contractors and approved subcontractors will be provided a Sales Tax Exemption 
Certification to purchase building materials, supplies or equipment to be used in the 
performance of this project. Products utilized in the construction of this project shall be exempt 
from tax as provided by Code of Iowa Sections 423.2 and 423.45. 
 
Project Description: This project involves the construction of portions of eleven (11) City streets 
totaling 2.74 miles. Work shall include 10,550 SY removal and replacement of the existing 
pavement; 14,680 SY removal of HMA surfacing and milling; 5,340 ton HMA overlays; 2,590 LF 
of PCC Curb and Gutter; subgrade preparation; 3,432 LF of various sized storm sewer; 23 new 
storm sewer intakes; 1,250 LF of sanitary sewer replacement; sanitary sewer services; 2,340 LF 
of 4” 6” and 8” water main relocation; 6,120 LF of subdrain installation; replacement of driveway 
approaches and pedestrian ramps. In addition, the project requires intake modifications; 14,135 

551

ITEM 29.



 

7 
 

SY of 5” cold-in-place recycled asphalt pavement; granular shouldering; pipe lining; placement 
of revetment stone; installation of signage and associated posts and striping.  Traffic control and 
flaggers will be required on some of this project.   
 
Published upon order of the City Council of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 
 
   CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
   BY: __________________________ 
          Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC 
           City Clerk 

  

552

ITEM 29.



 

8 
 

DIVISION I – Instructions to Bidders 
 

The work comprising the 2020 Street Construction Project shall be constructed in 
accordance with the 2020 Edition of the SUDAS and as further modified by the City of 
Cedar Falls’ Supplemental Specifications and the special provision included in the 
contract documents. The terms used in the contract revision of the documents are 
defined in said Standard Specifications. 
Before submitting your bid, please review the requirements of “Division One, General 
Provisions and Covenants”, in particular the sections regarding proposal requirements, 
bonding, contract execution, and insurance requirements.  Please be certain that all 
documents have been completed properly; as failure to complete and sign all documents 
and to comply with the requirements listed below can cause your bid not to be read. 
 
01 Definition and Terms 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1010 – 1.03: 
 
Code of Iowa: The latest edition of the Code of Iowa 
 
Engineer: The City Engineer of Cedar Falls, Iowa or an authorized representative. 
 
Owner: The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa acting through its City Council. 
 
Project: 2020 STREET CONSTRUCTION PROJECT 

Project No. RC-000-3185 
 
02 Qualification of the Bidder 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1020 – 1.01: 
 
To demonstrate bidder’s qualifications to perform the work, within five days of the 
Owners request, bidder shall submit written evidence such as may be called for below: 
 
The address and description of the bidder’s place of business; The number of years 
engaged in the contracting business under the present firm name, and the name of the 
state where incorporated; A list of the property and equipment available to the bidder to 
evaluate if the bidder can complete the work in accordance with the bidding documents; 
A financial statement of the bidder showing that the bidder has the financial resources 
to meet all obligations incidental to the work; The bidder’s performance record giving the 
description, location, and telephone number of similar projects constructed in a 
satisfactory manner by the bidder; A list of projects presently under contract, the 
approximate contract amount and the percent of completion of each; A list of contracts 
which resulted in lawsuits; A list of contracts defaulted; A statement of the bidder 
indicating whether or not the bidder has ever filed bankruptcy while performing work of a 
like nature or magnitude;  A list of officers of the firm who, while in the employ of the firm 
or the employ of previous firms, were associated with contracts which resulted in 

553

ITEM 29.



 

9 
 

lawsuits, contracts defaulted or filed for bankruptcy; The technical experience of 
personnel guaranteed to be employed in responsible charge of the work stating whether 
the personnel have or have not performed satisfactorily on other contracts of like nature 
and magnitude or comparable difficulty at similar rate of progress; Such additional 
information as will assist the Owner in determining whether the bidder is adequately 
prepared to fulfill the contract. Owner’s decision as to qualifications of the bidder will be 
final. 
 
The Owner hereby notifies all bidders that it will affirmatively ensure that in any contract 
entered into pursuant to this advertisement, disadvantaged business enterprises will be 
afforded full opportunity to submit bids in response to this invitation and will not be 
discriminated against on the grounds of race, color or national origin in consideration for 
an award. 
 
03 Contents of the Proposal Forms 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1020 – 1.02: 
 
Plans, specifications, and proposal forms may be obtained from the office of the City 
Engineer. Plans, specifications, and proposal forms have been approved by the City 
Council and are now on file for public examination in the office of the City Clerk. 
Contract documents are also available electronically through the City’s website under 
“Bid Opportunities”. 
 
04 Taxes 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1020 – 1.08: 
 
Contractors and approved subcontractors will be provided a Sales Tax Exemption 
Certification to purchase building materials, supplies or equipment to be used in the 
performance of this project. Products utilized in the construction of this project will be 
exempt from tax as provided by Code of Iowa Sections 423.2 and 423.45. 
 
05 Submission of the Proposal, Identity of Bidder and Bid Security 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1020 – 1.12: 
 
The bid security must be in the minimum amount of 10% of the total bid amount including 
all add alternates (do not deduct the amount of deduct alternates). The bid security shall 
be in the form of a cashier's check or certified check drawn on a state-chartered or 
federally chartered bank, or a certified share draft drawn on a state-chartered or federally 
chartered credit union, or a bidder's bond with corporate surety satisfactory to the City. 
The bid bond must be submitted on the enclosed Bid Bond form, as no other bid bond 
forms are acceptable.  All signatures on the bid bond must be original signatures in ink; 
facsimile (fax) of any signature on the bid bond is not acceptable.  Bid security other than 
said bid bond shall be made payable to City Clerk of the City of Cedar Falls”. 
 

554

ITEM 29.



 

10 
 

 
 
“Miscellaneous Bank checks”, as well as “Money Orders” and “Traveler’s Checks” issued 
by persons, firms or corporations licensed under Code of Iowa Chapter 533B are not 
acceptable bid security. 
 
The bid shall be submitted on the Form of Proposal included herewith or on a computer 
printed proposal. All entries on this proposal shall be filled in ink, typed or computer 
printed. The bidder shall not alter the quantity, unit price or the extension that has been 
provided for items that have been predetermined by the contracting authority. 
 
If the proposal is computer generated, the bidder shall submit a form titled as “Form of 
Proposal,” followed by: the project name, project number, the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
and the bidder's name. The form shall then include the item numbers, item descriptions, 
and units and their quantities. The bidder shall specify a unit price in figures of dollars 
and cents for all pay items, the extensions for the respective unit prices and quantities in 
figures in a column provided for the purpose, and the total amount of the proposal 
obtained by adding the amounts of the several items. The form shall then conclude with 
the bidder's name, that of its representative and the representative's signature. 
 
The computer generated proposal then is to be attached to the Form of Proposal 
included herewith, which has the following entries completed: bid security sum and 
form, the name of the bidder and its official address, and the bidder's representative's 
name, signature, and title. Also the total bid shall be completed with the entry of "see 
attached." 
 
The proposal shall be submitted in a sealed envelope separate from the bid security, 
bidders status form and non-collusion Affidavit. The envelope shall bear the return 
address of the bidder and shall be addressed as follows: 
 

To: City Clerk 
City of Cedar Falls 
City Hall 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 

 
Proposal for: 2020 STREET CONSTRUCTION PROJECT 

Project No. RC-000-3185 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

555

ITEM 29.



 

11 
 

 
 
 

FORM OF PROPOSAL 
2020 STREET CONSTRUCTION PROJECT 

PROJECT NO. RC-000-3185 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 
 
To the Mayor and City Council 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
 
The undersigned hereby certifies that __________________________ have personally 

and carefully examined the specifications, general conditions, and form of contract 

annexed hereto. Having made such examination, the undersigned hereby proposes to 

construct the improvements for the 2020 STREET CONSTRUCTION PROJECT in 

accordance with the plans and specifications on file in the office of the City Clerk, the 

published Notice to Bidders and the Form of Contract, herewith, complying with all the 

laws of the State of Iowa, and the Rules, Regulations and Ordinances of the City of 

Cedar Falls, and to the satisfaction of the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 

including the guaranteeing of this Project for a period of two (2) years from the date of 

final acceptance thereof at the following prices, to-wit: 

 
 

BID 
ITEM 

# 
DESCRIPTION UNITS QUANTITY UNIT PRICE 

EXTENDED 
PRICE 

1 Removal of Pavement S.Y. 10,564   

2 Removal of A.C.C. Surfacing S.Y. 9,029   

3 Removal A.C.C. Surfacing (Milling) S.Y. 5,648   

4 
Removal of P.C.C./A.C.C. Surface 
(Taper Milling) S.Y. 1,988   

5 Removal of Curb L.F. 2,545   

6 Removal of Driveway S.Y. 1,628   

556

ITEM 29.



 

12 
 

7 Removal of Sidewalk S.Y. 98   

BID 
ITEM 

# 
DESCRIPTION UNITS QUANTITY UNIT PRICE 

EXTENDED 
PRICE 

 
8 Removals as per plan UNITS 71.75   

9 Saw Cutting for Removals L.F. 3,844   

10 
Excavation, Class 10, Roadway 
Waste C.Y. 4,040   

11 
Excavation, Class 10, Unstable 
Material C.Y. 404   

12 Excavation, Class 12, Boulders C.Y. 25   

13 
Pavement, Stand. Or Slip-Form, 
P.C.C., 7 In., Class “C” S.Y. 10,564   

14 HMA, (ST), Surf., ½”, PG58-28S TONS 3,890   

15 HMA, (ST), Base, ¾”, PG58-28S TONS 1,448   

16 
Curb, P.C.C., 7 In. 2.5 Ft. Width,  
Type “C” Class III L.F. 2,240   

17 
Curb, P.C.C., 7 In. 3.5 Ft. Width,  
Type “C”, Class III L.F. 43   

18 
Curb, P.C.C., 7 In. 5.0 Ft. Width,  
Type “C”, Class III L.F. 305   

19 Compaction of Subgrade STA. 26   

20 Geogrid S.Y. 10,309   

21 Modified Subbase, 12 in. S.Y. 13,448   

22 Surfacing, 1 inch Roadstone TONS 30   

23 Topsoil, Furnish & Spread C.Y. 922   

24 Sod, Provide and Place S.F. 47,300   

25 Hydraulic Seeding S.F. 1,000   

26 Watering Sod M-GAL 60   

27 Driveway, P.C.C., 6 In., Class “C” S.Y. 1,552   

28 Sidewalk, P.C.C., 4 In., Class “C” S.Y. 574   

29 Sidewalk, P.C.C., 6 In., Class “C” S.Y. 88   

30 
Pedestrian Ramps, Detectable 
Warning S.F. 38   

31 Patch, P.C.C., Full Depth, “M” Mix S.Y. 50   

32 Patch, HMA (ST) Surf., ½”., PG58-28S TONS 50   

33 Intake, SW-507 EACH 2   

557

ITEM 29.



 

13 
 

34 Intake, SW-509 EACH 1   
 
 
 

BID 
ITEM # DESCRIPTION UNITS QUANTITY UNIT PRICE 

EXTENDED 
PRICE 

35 Intake, Type B EACH 2   

36 Intake, Type D EACH 18   

37 Intake, Type C Top & Insert EACH 4   

    38 Intake, Type E Top & Insert EACH 1   

39 Intake, Single Flat Insert EACH 1   

40 Intake, Double Flat Insert EACH 1   

41 Intake, Type B Insert EACH 4   

42 Intake, Type D Insert EACH 1   

43 Manhole Adjustment Minor EACH 16   

44 Manhole, Storm Sewer, SW-401 EACH 2   

45 Manhole, Sanitary Sewer, SW-301 EACH 4   

46 
Sewer, Storm, 15 In. Plastic 
Perforated L.F. 2,190   

47 Sewer, Storm, 15 In. R.C.P. 2000D L.F. 84   

48 
Sewer, Storm, 18 In. Plastic 
Perforated L.F. 406   

49 Sewer, Storm, 18 In. R.C.P. 2000D L.F. 32   

50 
Sewer, Storm, 24 In. Plastic 
Perforated L.F. 652   

51 Sewer, Storm, 24 In. R.C.P. 2000D L.F. 58   

52 
Sewer, Storm, 30 In. Plastic 
Perforated L.F. 10   

53 Granular Shouldering, Type A TONS 942   

54 Special Pipe Connections, SW-211 EACH 2   

55 Granular Backfill TONS 1,600   

56 Subdrain, Perforated, 6 In. L.F. 6,119   

57 Subdrain, Outlet, 6 IN.. C.M.P. EACH 23   

58 Subdrain Sump Pump Tap EACH 81   

59 Field Tile, 4 In. to 8 In., Field Repair L.F. 30   

558

ITEM 29.



 

14 
 

60 
Mailboxes, Relocate & Reinstall 
(Per Post) EACH 28   

61 Traffic Control L.S. 1   

BID 
ITEM # DESCRIPTION UNITS QUANTITY UNIT PRICE 

EXTENDED 
PRICE 

62 Flaggers DAYS 10   

63 Valve Adjustment EACH 10   

64 Sprinkler Heads, Remove & Plug EACH 5   

65 Pavement Markings, Painted STA. 199   

66 
Pavement Markings, Painted 
Symbols EACH 5   

67 Intake Well, Sediment Filter EACH 21   

68 Intake, Sediment Filter L.F. 396   

69 Cleaning of Sediment Filter Basins EACH 21   

70 
Sign Post, Square Tubing 14 Gauge 
2” Galvanized EACH 15   

71 
Receiver, Sign Post, Square Tubing 
12 Gauge 2-1/4” Galvanized EACH 15   

72 
 
Type A Signs, Aluminum EACH 15   

73 Street Sweeping HRS. 31   

74 Base Cleaning and Preparation S.Y. 31,842   

75 Sewer, Sanitary, 12” Truss Pipe L.F. 1,254   

76 
Sewer Services Sanitary, 4” SDR 
23.5 L.F. 440   

77 
Pipe, 4” SJ Dip (Polyethylene 
Wrapped L.F. 40   

78 
Pipe, 6” SJ Dip (Polyethylene 
Wrapped L.F. 20   

79 
Pipe, 8” SJ Dip (Polyethylene 
Wrapped L.F. 2,280   

80 Bend, 4 In. MJ 90 Degrees EACH 6   

81 Bend, 6 In. MJ 90 Degrees EACH 4   

82 Bend, 8 In. MJ 90 Degrees EACH 2   

83 Tee, 8 In. x 6 In. MJ EACH 2   

84 Tee, 8 In. x 8 In. MJ EACH 1   

85 Tee, 6 In. x 6 In. MJ x SW EACH 1   

86 Tee, 8 In. x 6 In. MJ x SW EACH 6   

559

ITEM 29.



 

15 
 

87 Cross, 6 In. x 6 In. MJ x MJ EACH 1   

88 Cross, 8 In. x 8 In. MJ x MJ EACH 1   

BID 
ITEM # DESCRIPTION UNITS QUANTITY UNIT PRICE 

EXTENDED 
PRICE 

89 Reducer, 6 In. x 4 In. MJ x PE EACH 1   

90 Reducer, 8 In. x 4 In. MJ x PE EACH 3   

91 Reducer, 8 In. x 6 In. MJ x PE EACH 1   

92 Sleeve, 4 In. x 12 In. Solid EACH 1   

93 Sleeve, 6 In. x 12 In. Solid EACH 1   

94 Sleeve, 8 In. x 12 In. Solid EACH 1   

95 Valve, 6” MJ Gate w/ Box EACH 1   

96 Valve, 8” MJ Gate w/ Box EACH 7   

97 Cap, 4 In. MJ EACH 4   

98 Cap, 6 In. MJ EACH 3   

99 Hydrant Assembly EACH 7   

100 Remove Hydrant Assembly EACH 5   

101 Mechanical Joint Restraint, 4 In. EACH 15   

102 Mechanical Joint Restraint, 6 In. EACH 11   

103 Mechanical Joint Restraint, 8 In. EACH 24   

104 Joint Restraint Gasket, 4 In. EACH 1   

105 Joint Restraint Gasket, 6 In. EACH 4   

106 Joint Restraint Gasket, 8 In. EACH 19   

107 Service Shortside, ¾” EACH 21   

108 Service Longside, ¾” EACH 20   

109 6 In. Nitrile Gaskets EACH 3   

110 8 In. Nitrile Gaskets EACH 68   

111 
Casting/ Chimney Replacement 
PCC Manholes In Pavement EACH 12   

112 Foamed Asphalt Binder 52-34S TON 78   

113 
5” Cold-In-Place Recycled Asphalt 
Pavement S.Y. 14,134   

114 Apron, Concrete 30” (Type 2) EACH 2   

560

ITEM 29.



 

16 
 

115 Revetment Stone, Class “E” TONS 20   

116 Pipe Lining, 30” RCP Storm Sewer L.S. 1   

117 3000 LB, PCC Mix C.Y. 15   

118 Mobilization L.S. 1   

    TOTAL BID  
 
 
 
 
Bidders may not independently bid on selective items of work. In this project, all items 
constitute one indivisible work that will be let to one bidder. A unit price shall be 
submitted for each of the items (Items 1-118). The successful bidder will be determined 
by evaluating the Total Bid shown above. Failure to submit a bid on any item shall be 
just cause for disqualification of the entire proposal. Unit bids must be filled in ink, typed 
or computer generated, or the bid will be rejected. The Owner reserves the right to 
delete any part or all of any item. 
 

The Owner reserves the right to reject any and all bids, including without limitation, 
nonconforming, nonresponsive, unbalanced, or conditional bids. The Owner further 
reserves the right to reject the bid of any bidder whom it finds, after reasonable inquiry 
and evaluation, to be non-responsible. The Owner may also reject the bid of any bidder 
if the Owner believes that it would not be in the best interest of the project to make an 
award to that bidder. The Owner also reserves the right to waive all informalities not 
involving price, time or changes in the work. 
 

If written notice of approval of award is mailed, telegraphed or delivered to the 
undersigned within forty-five (45) calendar days after the opening thereof, or any time 
thereafter before this bid is withdrawn, the undersigned agrees to execute and deliver 
an agreement in the prescribed form and furnish the required bond within ten (10) 
calendar days after the Contract is presented to the Contractor for signature, and start 
work within ten (10) calendar days after the date as set forth in the written Notice to 
Proceed. 
 

Bid Security in the sum of _________________________________ in the form of 
__________________________________, is submitted herewith in accordance with 
the Instructions to Bidders. 
 

The bidder is prepared to submit a financial and experience statement upon request. 
 

The bidder has received the following Addendum or Addenda: 
 

Addendum No.  ______________     Date _____________ 
  ______________ _____________ 
 

The bidder has filled in all blanks on this Proposal. 
 

561

ITEM 29.



 

17 
 

Note: The Penalty for making false statements in offers is prescribed in 18 U.S.A., 
Section 1001. 
 
Name of bidder 
________________________________  _____________________________ 

   By 
________________________________  _____________________________  
Official Address   Title  

562

ITEM 29.



 

18 
 

BID BOND 
 

 
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that we, ___________________________________________ 
__________________________, as Principal, and ___________________________________________ 
as Surety are held and firmly bound unto the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, as Obligee, hereinafter called "OBLIGEE," 
In the penal sum of______________________________________ Dollars ($______________) lawful money of 
the United States, for the payment of which sum will and truly be made, we bind ourselves, our heirs, executors, 
administrators, and successors, jointly and severally, firmly by these presents. Whereas the Principal has submitted 
the accompanying bid dated the _______ day of_______________________, 20_____, for 
___________________________________________________________________________________________
_______________________________. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, 
 
(a) If said Bid shall be rejected, or in the alternate, 
 
(b) If said Bid shall be accepted and the Principal shall execute and deliver a contract in the form specified and 

shall furnish a bond for the faithful performance of said contract, and for the payment of all persons 
performing labor or furnishing materials in connection therewith, and shall in all other respects perform the 
agreement created by the acceptance of said Bid, 

 
Then this obligation shall be void, otherwise the same shall remain in force and effect; it being expressly 
understood and agreed that the liability of the Surety for any and all claims hereunder shall, in no event, exceed the 
penal amount of this obligation as herein stated. 
 
By virtue of statutory authority, the full amount of this bid bond shall be forfeited to the Obligee in liquidation of 
damages sustained in the event that the Principal fails to execute the contract and provide the bond as provided in 
the specifications or by law. 
 
The Surety, for value received, hereby stipulates and agrees that the obligations of said Surety and its bond shall 
be in no way impaired or affected by any extension of the time within which the Obligee may accept such Bid or 
execute such contract; and said Surety does hereby waive notice of any such extension. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Principal and the Surety, have hereunto set their hands and seals, and such of them 
as are corporations, have caused their corporate seals to be hereto affixed and these presents to be signed by their 
proper officers this ______ day of ____________________, A.D., 20_____. 
 
 
 

_________________________________ (Seal) 
Principal 

 
 
_______________________________________ By_______________________________ (Title) 
Witness 

_________________________________ (Seal) 
Surety 

 
_______________________________________ By____________________________________ 
Witness                                  Attorney-in-fact 

563

ITEM 29.



 

19 
 

564

ITEM 29.



 

20 
 

565

ITEM 29.



 

21 
 

                 NON-COLLUSION AFFIDAVIT OF PRIME BIDDER           
 PROJECT NO. RC-000-3185 

 
STATE OF _______________________  

                           ss 
COUNTY OF _____________________ 
 
 
__________________________________, being first duly sworn, deposes and says that: 
 
(1)  We are _______________________________________________________ of 
______________            (Owner, partner, officer, representative, or 
agent) 
 
_____________________________, the Bidder that has submitted the attached bid: 
 
(2)  We are fully informed respecting the preparation and contents of the attached bid and of all 
pertinent circumstances respecting such bid: 
 
(3)   Such bid is genuine and is not a collusive or sham bid: 
 
(4)  Neither the said Bidder nor any of its officers, partners, Owners, agents, representatives, 
employees or parties in interest, including this affiant, has in any way colluded, conspired, connived or 
agreed, directly or indirectly, with any other Bidder, firm or person to submit a collusive or sham bid in 
connection with the Contract for which the attached bid has been submitted or to refrain from bidding in 
connection with such Contract, or has in any manner, directly or indirectly, sought by agreement or 
collusion or communication or conference with any other Bidder, firm or person to fix the price or prices in 
the attached bid or of any other Bidder, or, to fix any overhead, profit or cost element of the bid price of 
any other Bidder, or to secure through any collusion, conspiracy, connivance, or unlawful agreement any 
advantage against the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, or any person interested in the proposed Contract; and 
 
(5)   The price or prices quoted in the attached bid are fair and proper and are not tainted by a 
collusion, conspiracy, connivance or unlawful agreement on the part of the Bidder or any of its agents, 
representatives, Owners, employees or parties in interest, including this affiant. 
 
 
 
   __________________________________________ 

Signed      
  __________________________________________ 

    Title 
 
 
Subscribed and sworn to before me 
 
this _______ day of ________________, 20_____ 
 
________________________________________ 
 
_________________________________________ 
Title 
 
My Commission expires ______________________. 
  

566

ITEM 29.



 

22 
 

FORM OF CONTRACT 
 

This Contract entered into in quadruplicate at Cedar Falls, Iowa, this ____ day of 

_________, 2020, by and between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, hereinafter called the 

Owner, and_____________ of ___________________, hereinafter called the 

Contractor. 

WITNESSETH: 

The Contractor hereby agrees to furnish all labor, tools, materials and equipment 

and construct the public improvement consisting of: 2020 STREET CONSTRUCTION 

PROJECT, Project No. RC-000-3185 all in the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, ordered to be 

constructed by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, by Resolution duly 

passed on the 17th day of February, 2020, and shown and described in the Plans and 

Specifications therefore now on file with the City Clerk of said City. 

Said improvement shall be constructed strictly in accordance with said Plans and 

Specifications. 

The following parts of the Plans and Specifications for said Project No. 

RC-000-3185 attached hereto shall be made a part of this contract as fully as though 

set out herein verbatim: 

a. Resolution ordering construction of the improvement 
b. Plans 
c. Notice of Public Hearing on Plans and Specifications 
d. Notice to Bidders 
e. Instructions to Bidders 
f. Supplemental Conditions 
g. General Conditions 
h. Project Specifications 
i. Form of Proposal 
j. Performance, Payment, and Maintenance Bond 
k. Form of Contract 
l. Non-collusion Affidavit of Prime Bidder 

567

ITEM 29.



 

23 
 

 m. Bidders Status Form 
 
 
In Witness whereof, this Contract has been executed in quadruplicate on the date first  
 
herein written.   
 

 __________________________ 
 Contractor 

 
 
    CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 
    By____________________________ 

    Robert M. Green, Mayor 
 
 
Attest: _________________________ 
 Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC 
 City Clerk 

568

ITEM 29.



 

24 
 

Performance, Payment and Maintenance Bond 
 

SURETY  BOND NO.           
 

 
 KNOW ALL BY THESE PRESENTS: 
  
 That we, __________________________, as Principal (hereinafter the “Contractor” or “Principal” and 
____________________________________________________ as Surety are held and firmly bound unto 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, as Obligee (hereinafter referred to as “the Owner”), and to all persons 
who may be injured by any breach of any of the conditions of this Bond in the penal sum of 
_________________________________________________________________________________ 
($_______________), lawful money of the United States, for the payment of which sum, well and truly to 
be made, we bind ourselves, our heirs, legal representatives and assigns, jointly or severally, firmly by these 
presents. 
  
 The conditions of the above obligations are such that whereas said Contractor entered into a contract with 
the Owner, bearing date the _______ day of __________, 2020, hereinafter the “Contract”) wherein said 
Contractor undertakes and agrees to construct the following described improvements: 
 

2020 Street Construction Project 
Paving/ Subdrainage 
Project RC-000-3185 

 
and to faithfully perform all the terms and requirements of said Contract within the time therein specified, in 
a good and workmanlike manner, and in accordance with the Contract Documents.   
 
It is expressly understood and agreed by the Contractor and Surety in this bond that the following provisions 
are a part of this Bond and are binding upon said Contractor and Surety, to-wit: 
 
1. PERFORMANCE:  The Contractor shall well and faithfully observe, perform, fulfill, and abide by   

each and every covenant, condition, and part of said Contract and Contract Documents, by reference 
made a part hereof, for the above referenced improvements, and shall indemnify and save harmless 
the Owner from all outlay and expense incurred by the Owner by reason of the Contractor’s default 
or failure to perform as required.  The Contractor shall also be responsible for the default or failure to 
perform as required under the Contract and Contract Documents by all its subcontractors, suppliers, 
agents, or employees furnishing materials or providing labor in the performance of the Contract. 

     
 2. PAYMENT:  The Contractor and the Surety on this Bond hereby agreed to pay all just claims 

submitted by persons, firms, subcontractors, and corporations furnishing materials for or performing 
labor in the performance of the Contract on account of which this Bond is given, including but not 
limited to claims for all amounts due for labor, materials, lubricants, oil, gasoline, repairs on 
machinery, equipment, and tools, consumed or used by the Contractor or any subcontractor, wherein 
the same are not satisfied out of the portion of the contract price the Owner is required to retain until 
completion of the improvement, but the Contractor and Surety shall not be liable to said persons, 
firms, or corporations unless the claims of said claimants against said portion of the contract price 
shall have been established as provided by law.  The Contractor and Surety hereby bind themselves 
to the obligations and conditions set forth in Chapter 573 of the Iowa Code, which by this reference 
is made a part hereof as though fully set out herein. 

     

569

ITEM 29.



 

25 
 

    3. MAINTENANCE:  The Contractor and the Surety on this Bond hereby agree, at their own expense: 
 

A. To remedy any and all defects that may develop in or result from work to be performed 
under the Contract within the period of   2   year (s) from the date of acceptance 
of the work under the Contract, by reason of defects in workmanship or materials used 
in construction of said work; 

 
   B. To keep all work in continuous good repair; and 
 
   C. To pay the Owner’s reasonable costs of monitoring and inspection to assure that any 

defects are remedied, and to repay the Owner all outlay and expense incurred as a result 
of Contractor’s and Surety’s failure to remedy any defect as required by this section. 

 
Contractor’s and Surety’s agreement herein made extends to defects in workmanship or 
materials not discovered or known to the Owner at the time such work was accepted. 
 
 4. GENERAL:  Every Surety on this Bond shall be deemed and held bound, any contract to the 
contrary notwithstanding, to the following provisions: 
 
   A. To consent without notice to any extension of time to the Contractor in which to 

perform the Contract; 
 
   B.  To consent without notice to any change in the Contract or Contract Documents, which 

thereby increases the total contract price and the penal sum of this bond, provided that 
all such changes do not, in the aggregate, involve an increase of more than 20% of the 
total contract price, and that this bond shall then be released as to such excess increase; 
and  

 
    C. To consent without notice that this Bond shall remain in full force and effect until the 

Contract is completed, whether completed within the specified contract period, within 
an extension thereof, or within a period of time after the contract period has elapsed and 
the liquidated damage penalty is being charged against the Contractor. 

 
The Contractor and every Surety on the bond shall be deemed and held bound, any contract to the contrary 
notwithstanding, to the following provisions: 
 
        D. That no provision of this Bond or of any other contract shall be valid that limits to     

less than five years after the acceptance of the work under the Contract the right to sue 
on this Bond. 

     
        E. That as used herein, the phrase “all outlay and expense” is not to be limited in any way, 

but shall include the actual and reasonable costs and expenses incurred by the Owner 
including interest, benefits, and overhead where applicable.  Accordingly, “all outlay 
and expense” would include but not be limited to all contract or employee expense, all 
equipment usage or rental, materials, testing, outside experts, attorney’s fees (including 
overhead expenses of the Owner’s staff attorneys), and all costs and expenses of 
litigation as they are incurred by the Owner.  It is intended the Contractor and Surety 
will defend and indemnify the Owner on all claims made against the Owner on account 
of Contractor’s failure to perform as required in the Contract and Contract Documents, 
that all agreements and promises set forth in the Contract and Contract Documents, in 
approved change orders, and in this Bond will be fulfilled, and that the Owner will be 

570

ITEM 29.



 

26 
 

fully indemnified so that it will be put into the position it would have been in had the 
Contract been performed in the first instance as required. 

     
In the event the Owner incurs any “outlay and expense” in defending itself against any claim as to 
which the Contractor or Surety should have provided the defense, or in the enforcement of the 
promises given by the Contractor in the Contract, Contract Documents, or approved change orders, or 
in the enforcement of the promises given by the Contractor and Surety in this Bond, the Contractor 
and Surety agree that they will make the Owner whole for all such outlay and expense, provided that 
the Surety’s obligation under this bond shall not exceed 125% of the penal sum of this bond. 

  
In the event that any actions or proceedings are initiated regarding this Bond, the parties agree that the venue 
thereof shall be in the Iowa District Court for Polk County, State of Iowa.  If legal action is required by the 
Owner to enforce the provisions of this Bond or to collect the monetary obligation incurring to the benefit of 
the Owner, the Contractor and the Surety agree, jointly, and severally, to pay the Owner all outlay and 
expense incurred therefor by the Owner.  All rights, powers, and remedies of the Owner hereunder shall be 
cumulative and not alternative and shall be in addition to all rights, powers, and remedies given to the 
Owner, by law.  The Owner may proceed against surety for any amount guaranteed hereunder whether 
action is brought against the Contractor or whether Contractor is joined in any such action(s) or not. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, the condition of this obligation is such that if said Principal shall faithfully perform all 
the promises of the Principal, as set forth and provided in the Contract, in the Contract Documents, and in 
this Bond, then this obligation shall be null and void, otherwise it shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
When a work, term, or phrase is used in this Bond, it shall be interpreted or construed first as defined in this 
Bond, the Contract, or the Contract Documents; second, if not defined in the Bond, Contract, or Contract 
Documents, it shall be interpreted or construed as defined in applicable provisions of the Iowa Code; third, 
if not defined in the Iowa Code, it shall be interpreted or construed according to its generally accepted 
meaning in the construction industry; and fourth, if it has no generally accepted meaning in the construction 
industry, it shall be interpreted or construed according to its common or customary usage. 
 
Failure to specify or particularize shall not exclude terms or provisions not mentioned and shall not limit 
liability hereunder.  The Contract and Contract Documents are hereby made a part of this Bond. 
 
 

571

ITEM 29.



 

27 
 

         Project No. RC-000-3185 
 

Witness our hands, in triplicate, this _______ day of ____________, 2020. 
 
  Surety Countersigned By:                                PRINCIPAL: 
 
     ___________________________________                   _________________________________ 
      Signature of Agent                 Contractor 
  
 
 By:    _________________________________  
                                      Signature 
     ___________________________________                   _________________________________          
                  Printed Name of Agent                       Title 
 
 ___________________________________  SURETY: 
                          Company Name           
 
 ___________________________________                   _________________________________ 
                        Company Address                                       Surety Company 
 
 ___________________________________   By:    _________________________________ 
                        City, State, Zip Code                                             Signature Attorney-in-Fact Officer 
 
 ______________________________________    ____________________________________ 
                  Company Telephone Number                               Printed Name of Attorney-in-Fact Officer 
 
                                                                                            _________________________________ 
                            Company Name 
 
                                                                                         _________________________________ 
                                                Company Address 
  FORM APPROVED BY: 
                                                                                                             _________________________________ 
                     City, State, Zip Code 
 
 ________________________________________________   _____________________________________________ 
                         Attorney for Owner                                                              Company Telephone Number 
 
 

 
NOTE: 
  
 1. All signatures on this performance, payment, and maintenance bond must be original 

signatures in ink; copies, facsimile, or electronic signatures will not be accepted. 
 2.  This bond must be sealed with the Surety’s raised, embossing seal. 
 3. The Certificate or Power of Attorney accompanying this bond must be valid on its face and 

sealed with the Surety’s raised, embossing seal. 
 4. The name and signature of the Surety’s Attorney-in-Fact/Officer entered on this bond must be 

exactly as listed on the Certificate or Power of Attorney accompanying this bond. 
 
 
 
 
 

572

ITEM 29.



 

28 
 

NOTICE TO PROCEED 
TO: ______________________________ DATE: _________________________________ 
 
       ______________________________ PROJECT: 2020 STREET RECONSTRUCTION 
               RC-000-3185 
       ______________________________          Cedar Falls, Iowa 
 
You are hereby notified to commence WORK in accordance with the Agreement dated 
___________________, 2020, within ten (10) calendar days of _____________________, 
2020 and you are to complete the WORK as follows: furnish all labor, material and 
equipment necessary for construction of the 2020 STREET RECONSTRUCTION 
PROJECT. 
 
The work under the proposed contract shall commence within ten (10) calendar days after 
the date set forth in this written Notice to Proceed and shall be performed regularly and 
diligently through the duration of the project.  
 
Liquidated damages in the amount of one thousand ($1,000.00) dollars per calendar day 
will be assessed for each calendar day for each Street or Stage of a street (e.g. Stage 1, 2) 
that is not substantially complete after the expiration of the contract time set forth. Each 
subsequent stage will start over with the contract time shown after agreed approval with the 
owner’s representative to proceed from previous stage. Liquidated damages in the amount 
of one thousand ($1,000.00) dollars per calendar day will be assessed for each calendar 
day that any work remains uncompleted after October 2, 2020 (substantial completion) 
regardless of the status of previous stages.  Substantial completion shall mean that the 
stages are fully open to the general public with minor work (e.g. watering) to be completed 
without requiring closures. Contractor shall reach substantial completion no later than 
October 2nd, 2020 and shall fully complete the close-out process no later than November 
13, 2020. If remaining punchlist items remain after November 13, 2020, liquidated damages 
will go into effect in the amount of one thousand ($1,000.00) dollars per calendar day until 
completed.  
 
 
 
 
 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa______________ 
(OWNER) 

 
 

By_______________________________ 
 
Title______________________________ 

 
 
 
 

573

ITEM 29.



 

29 
 

 
DIVISION 2 – Special Provisions 

 
 
Special Provisions are intended to amend or supplement the General Provisions and Covenants of the 
SUDAS Standard Specifications. All sections that are not amended or supplemented remain in full force 
and effect. 
 
01 Award of Contract 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1030 – 1.03: 
 
The lowest responsive bidder shall be required to furnish a performance, payment and maintenance bond 
in the sum equal to one hundred (100%) percent of the total bid. The maintenance bond shall guarantee 
the maintenance of the improvements for a period of two (2) years from and after its completion and 
acceptance by the City of Cedar Falls. 
 
02 Availability of Site 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1050 – 1.04: 
 
During construction of this project, the Contractor shall be required to coordinate all operations with those 
of other Contractors working within the same area of the following projects and/or events: 
 

1) Cedar Falls Utilities Gas Main and Water Main Replacement Projects 
2) Cedar Falls Utilities overhead to underground electric conversion. 
3) UNI Spring Classes End – May 8, 2020 
4) Last Day of Cedar Falls Public Schools (Tentative) – June 1, 2020 
5) Sturgis Falls Celebration – June 26-28, 2020 
6) UNI Fall Classes Resume – August 24, 2020 
7) Cedar Falls Public Schools Resume (Tentative)– August 24, 2020 
8) UNI Homecoming – October 17, 2020 
9) Refer to E.01 for Intermediate Working Days 

 
 
03 Protection of Line and Grade Stakes 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1050 – 1.10: 
 
The Contractor shall notify the Engineer at least 48 hours prior to the need for survey stakes. The 
Contractor shall be responsible for preserving survey stakes and marks and if any survey stakes or marks 
are destroyed or disturbed by the Contractor, Contractor will be charged for the cost of replacing them. 
 
04 Borrow and Waste Sites 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1070 – 2.13: 
 
It shall be the Contractor's responsibility to provide waste areas or disposal sites for excess material which 
is not desirable to be incorporated in the work involved on this project (excavation or broken concrete). 
No payment for overhaul will be allowed for material hauled to these sites. The Engineer shall review all 

574

ITEM 29.



 

30 
 

proposed disposal sites and determine the acceptability of each. Overhaul will not be measured or paid for 
but will be considered incidental to pavement removal or roadway excavation on this project. 
 
05 Subletting or Assignment of Contract 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1080 – 1.01: 
 
The Contractor's own organization shall perform work amounting to not less than thirty five (35%) 
percent of the total contract cost unless otherwise specified. Item designated as a specialty item may be 
performed by subcontract, and the cost of any such specialty item as performed by subcontract may be 
deducted from the total cost before computing the amount of work required by the Contractor's 
organization.  
 
06 Contract Time 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1080 – 1.02: 
 
The work on the Contract shall commence ten calendar days after the date set forth in the written Notice 
to Proceed and shall be completed within the dates as set forth in the written Notice to Proceed. 
 
Intermediate working days for construction staging will be as follows: 
 
Lilac Lane – Stage 1    49 calendar days 
Lilac Lane – Stage 2    49 calendar days 
Clearview Drive    35 calendar days 
Madison Drive – Stage 1   35 calendar days 
Madison Drive – Stage 2   42 calendar days 
W. 11th St – Stage 1    42 calendar days 
W. 11th St – Stage 2    42 calendar days 
Carlton Dr     21 calendar days 
Chateau Court     28 calendar days 
W. 26th Street     35 calendar days 
Holmes Dr     21 calendar days 
Seerley Blvd     21 calendar days 
Ashland Ave     14 calendar days 
North Union Road – Stage 1   28 calendar days 
  
The Contractor will be limited to a maximum 5,000 lineal feet of 2-lane street closure. This total shall 
apply to all Divisions and Stages under construction concurrently. 
 
If a stage is not open to local traffic within the allotted calendar days, liquidated damages of $1,000.00 
per day will be assessed.  
 
07 Work Progress and Schedule 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1080 – 1.03: 
 
The progress of the work shall be such that at the expiration of one-fourth of the calendar days, one-
eighth of the work shall be completed; at the expiration of one-half of the calendar days, three-eighths of 

575

ITEM 29.



 

31 
 

the work shall be completed; at the expiration of three-fourths of the calendar days, the work shall be 
three-fourths completed, and the whole work shall be completed at the expiration of the calendar days. 
 
08 Weekly Record of Calendar Days 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1080 – 1.06: 
 
Work shall not begin before 7:00 a.m. and shall stop at sunset. Work on Sundays and Holiday’s shall only 
be allowed after prior written approval by the Engineer. 
 
09 Liquidated Damages 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1080 – 1.12: 
 
Liquidated damages in the amount of one thousand ($1,000.00) dollars per calendar day will be assessed 
for work not completed within the designated contract term as described in the Notice to Proceed. 
 
10 Progress Payments and Vouchers 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1090 – 1.01: 
 
Pay estimates will be submitted to the City Council for approval on the First and Third Mondays of each 
month. 
 
Payment to the Contractor will be made in cash from such cash funds of said City as may be legally used 
for said purposes, including the proceeds of the Local Option Tax and General Obligation Bonds. Any 
other combination of funds may be used at the discretion of the City Council. 
 
See Division 2 – Special Provisions Section 06- Contract time for liquidated damages for Intermediate 
calendar days. 
 
Before final payment is made, the Contractor shall furnish lien waivers with original signatures showing 
that all subcontractors and all persons furnishing labor and materials have been fully paid for such 
materials and labor. The City may retain the last month's payment for a period of ninety (90) calendar 
days following such completion and approval, unless satisfied that material and laborers have been paid in 
full. Electronic signatures will be accepted on lien waivers. 
 
11 Storm Water Pollution Prevention  
 
1. Site Description 
 
The proposed 2020 Street Construction Project involves construction of portions of Eleven (11) existing 
residential city streets by removal of the existing pavement, driveways and intakes, and replacement with 
a new P.C. Concrete or Hot Mixed Asphalt street that includes new longitudinal subdrains and a granular 
subbase. The construction of each street is staged by design to provide access to the properties within the 
closure by the fire and police departments and ambulance service in the event of an emergency. The 
staging plan also minimizes the time residents are parking outside of the closure area and walking to their 
properties. 
 

576

ITEM 29.



 

32 
 

Following are the streets included in this year’s project: 
 Lilac Lane from McClain Drive to Rownd Street 
 Madison Street from Valley Park Drive to Waterloo Road 
 Clearview Drive Primrose Drive to Orchard Drive 
 11th Street from Division Street to College Street 
 Carlton Drive from Lilac Lane to Maplewood Drive 
 Chateau Court from 4th Street to Cul-de-sac 
 26th Street from Iowa Street to Tremont Street 
 Holmes Drive from 4th Street south to Holmes Elementary 
 Seerley BLVD. from Valley Park Drive to Melrose Drive 
 Ashland Avenue from Acorn Lane to Pin Oak Drive 
 N. Union Road from 1st Street to North City Limits 

 
The construction begins by installation of the new longitudinal subdrains while the existing pavement 
remains in place. The contractor then removes the existing pavement and removes and reconstructs the 
intakes. The next phase is the excavation and removal of existing subgrade soils and the placement of the 
one-foot thick layer of granular subbase. The granular subbase completely covers the width of the 
exposed subgrade soils. The new concrete pavement is then placed full width on top of the new subbase.  
After the pavement has cured, intake tops and inserts are constructed, the driveways are replaced, and any 
sidewalk tie-ins are completed. The final step in construction is backfilling the new curbs with topsoil and 
sodding the disturbed areas from the back of curb line to the existing undisturbed grass. The Street 
Construction Project is anticipated to begin approximately April 6, 2020. 
 
The Project consists of construction of residential streets with stages intended to minimize the time of 
construction and the exposure of subgrade soils to erosion. Upon removal of pavement in any area, 
underground construction begins immediately and construction proceeds continuously until that section of 
road is re-opened to traffic. The existing soils are Kenyon-Clyde-Urban land complex, with 2 to 9 percent 
slopes. All streets included in the project are designed with positive drainage to the existing storm sewer 
system that eventually drains into various branches of Dry Run Creek and then to the Cedar River. The 
maximum area under construction is limited to 5,000 LF. 
 
The project plan set shows the intended construction staging plan and minimum details of the erosion 
control measures to be included in this project. No data is recorded regarding quality of runoff from the 
project streets. The Rational Method runoff coefficient used for the design of the storm sewer and intake 
system was 0.4 for low density residential. 
 
2. Erosion and Sediment Controls 
 
Construction activities that disturb subgrade soils are shown in the construction staging plan as included 
in the Project plan set. The primary means of controlling silt movement during construction is by 
minimizing the exposure of subgrade soils by way of a designated staging plan. In addition, sediment 
filters shall be installed on intake wells in sump locations and at the low point of the construction stage. 
Also, silt dams shall be installed at the low point of a construction stage where necessary to prevent silt 
from migrating off site. Sediment filters shall also be placed on finished intake openings until the areas 
between the back of curb and the existing undisturbed grass are sodded or have established growth from 
seeding. 
 
Stabilizing of all disturbed areas shall be by sodding, seeding or hydromulch as soon as practical after 
completion of the backfilling of the curbs and the placement of the topsoil. Hydromulch shall be 
incidental if seeding is not incorporated due to temperatures. No areas shall be left unprotected for more 

577

ITEM 29.



 

33 
 

than 14 days. The Contractor shall be responsible for installation and maintenance of all erosion control 
measures as described in the plans. The Contractor may elect to delegate portions of these tasks to 
subcontractors. 
 
All contractors operating on the site shall take efforts to prevent contamination of storm water runoff, 
groundwater and soils by hazardous material and/or pollutants caused by work operations or encountered 
in their work. All waste building materials and supplies must be removed from the site. If construction 
equipment maintenance or repair is performed on the site, provisions must be made to capture and remove 
any lubricants or other fluids. 
 
The Contractor shall notify the Owner immediately upon finding a hazardous material contamination 
either existing at the site or caused by construction activities. 
 
Each and every Contractor shall be responsible to the Owner to: 

1. Conduct all activities to not damage an existing erosion control measure or stabilizing 
vegetation.  If damages occur, the Contractor shall make repairs with no additional cost to 
the Owner. 

2. Coordinate with the Owner for installation of additional erosion control measures that 
may be needed during construction. 

 
3. Storm Water Management  
 
Storm water shall be routed by means of concrete curb intakes and storm sewer. Concrete and plastic 
pipes shall be used to channel water from curb intakes to the existing main storm sewer pipes. The storm 
sewer pipes will range in size up to 48-inch diameter.  Longitudinal sub-drains shall be included behind 
the curb line on both sides of the street. The sub-drains shall tie into the concrete curb intakes. The storm 
water collection system was designed for the 5-year storm water event in accordance with local design 
standards. Temporary sediment basins were not incorporated because of the limited area exposed in each 
stage of street construction. Sediment filters shall be incorporated in specific intakes to serve as sediment 
control structures during each stage. Storm water runoff volumes will not change as a result of the street 
construction project, but storm water runoff shall be managed during construction to minimize erosion. 
 
4. Reporting and Updates 
 
The Owner or a representative is to insure compliance with the plans and will carry out regular 
inspections. Owner designated and qualified personnel will inspect disturbed areas of the construction site 
that have not reached “final stabilization” at least once every seven (7) calendar days. Owner will be 
responsible for executing the Plan towards the goal of a stabilized site. Owner will make determination of 
Contractors compliance with the plan and may direct additional measures to be taken by any Contractor. 
When a plan deficiency or the occurrence of a pollutant entering the drainage system is observed, 
corrective action shall be taken. Revisions and modifications shall be made to the control facilities as 
needed. 
 
12      METHOD OF MEASUREMENT 
 
The Engineer will measure the items of work that have been acceptably constructed as specified in the 
contract documents for the 2020 Street Construction Project in accordance with the 2020 Edition of the 
SUDAS and as further modified by the City of Cedar Falls’ Supplemental Specifications. 
 
 

578

ITEM 29.



 

34 
 

13 BASIS OF PAYMENT 
 
Payment for the items listed in the Method of Measurement shall be determined by multiplying the item 
quantity (as determined in the Method of Measurement) by the unit price as bid on the proposal form in 
accordance with the 2019 edition of the SUDAS as amended by the City of Cedar Falls’ Supplemental 
Specifications to the 2019 edition of the SUDAS. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

579

ITEM 29.



 

35 
 

DIVISION 4 – Supplemental Plans and Specifications 
 

All work shall be constructed as specified in the Contract documents for the 2020 Street Construction 
Project in accordance with the 2019 Edition of the SUDAS as amended by the City of Cedar Falls’ 
Supplemental Specifications to the 2019 Edition of the SUDAS, except as amended or supplemented as 
follows: 
 
Item No. 9 - Saw Cutting for Removals 
Saw cutting required for pavement removal will be measured on a lineal foot basis. All saw cutting 
required for removals shall be full depth. Saw cuts required for new pavement joints shall be incidental to 
the cost per square yard for new pavement. 
 
Items No. 13 - Standard or Slip-form, P.C.C. 7 Inch Class “C” 
To allow for loss during consolidation, the air content of fresh, un-vibrated concrete when delivered or 
placed on the subbase or subgrade, as determined by materials IM 318 for gravel or crushed stone coarse 
aggregate, shall be 8.0 percent as a target, with a maximum variation of plus 2.0% or minus 2.0%.  
Saw cuts for new P.C.C. pavement joints shall meet the requirements of Standard Specification 7010-
3.02J2. Early “soft cut saws” are preferred for cutting transverse joints. All other types of saw cuts for 
new P.C.C. pavement joints shall be wet sawn as per Standard Specification Section. This shall also 
include removal of wet saw residue on the entire street surface by washing down the street surface after 
wet sawing. 
 
Standard Specification shall apply for opening the new pavement to General Traffic with the following 
modification: 

"Five (5) calendar days after placing the new P.C.C. pavement, a beam will be broken. 
With adequate flexural strength, the Contractor will be allowed on the new pavement to 
seal the pavement joints. The equipment used to seal the pavement joints shall be 
restricted to the size and weight limitations outlined in the Standard Specifications.  
General traffic shall be allowed on the new pavement as per the Standard Specifications." 

Unless otherwise specified in the contract documents, at the Contractor's option, the time for opening 
pavement may be determined through the use of the maturity method as described in Standard 
Specification Section 7010-3.08A and Materials I.M. 383. 

Lilac Lane, Clearview Drive, and Madison Street: Pavement Smoothness shall meet the requirements 
of Standard Specification Section 7010-3.08C2. Profilograph testing and evaluation shall be performed by 
the Contractor. Standard Specification Section 7010-3.08C2B for payment shall not apply to this project 
and there will be no smoothness incentive payment. Grinding may be required to meet the smoothness 
specifications. 
 
Items No. 14, 15, 32 – HMA, (ST) Surface, ½”; HMA (ST) Base, ¾”; Patch, HMA (ST) Surface, ½” 
Up to 10% of unclassified Recycled Asphalt Pavement (RAP) may be incorporated into these bid items. 
 
Item No. 19 - Compaction of Subgrade 
The portion of the subgrade to be covered by the granular subbase shall be scarified for a depth of 6 
inches. The scarified material shall be uniformly dried or wetted and re-compacted to not less than 95 
percent of standard proctor density as determined in accordance with AASHTO T-99. The price bid for 
"Compaction of Subgrade" shall be full payment for scarification, manipulation and compaction of the 
material and for furnishing all water required for the work in conformance with the plans and 
specifications. 

580

ITEM 29.



 

36 
 

 
Item No. 21 - Subbase, Modified, 12 In. 
Material for Modified Subbase shall comply with the Standard Specification, consisting of virgin crushed 
stone material. Placement and compaction shall comply with the Standard Specification Section with the 
following exception: Contractor will be allowed to utilize the completed subbase as a haul road for 
concrete delivery to the paving operation on streets without CD baskets. 
 
Item No. 24 – Sod, Provide and Place 
The Contractor shall be responsible for watering all of the new sod.   
 
 "Sod must be grown in Iowa on mineral soils and shall not be shipped any distance greater than 100 
miles. Sod damaged by heat or dry conditions or sod cut more than 18 hours before being incorporated 
into the work shall not be used.” 
 
"After sod bed preparation and prior to placing sod, the area to be sodded shall be fertilized at a rate of 10 
pounds per 1,000 square feet using a commercial fertilizer. The type of fertilizer shall be 13-13-13 (or 
equivalent), chemically combined, commercial fertilizer. The fertilizer shall be incorporated into the 
surface of the sod bed to prevent direct contact with the sod roots." 
 
Item No. 26 - Watering Sod 
Any water used from the public water supply shall be obtained through metered and backflow equipped 
connections provided by and arranged for in advance with the Cedar Falls Utilities' Water Division. The 
Contractor is responsible for all deposits and costs associated with the installation and the use of the 
connection and for all water used from the connection. Use of water without an approved connection 
device is a violation of City Code. 
 
Item No. 31 - Patch, P.C.C. Full Depth, “M” Mix 
Full depth P.C.C. patches shall be placed at the project limits as directed by the Engineer. Full depth 
P.C.C. patches are intended to replace deteriorated areas of existing P.C.C. pavements at the project 
limits. The price bid per square yard shall include the materials, equipment, and labor required for saw 
cutting, removals, subgrade preparation, and placement of the P.C.C. patch. 
 
Item No. 32 - Patch, HMA (ST) Surface ½”, PG58-28S 
Material requirements as per the Standard Specifications.  HMA patches shall be placed at project limits 
as directed by the Engineer. HMA patches are intended to transition from the new P.C.C. pavement to the 
existing pavement. The bid price per ton shall include the materials, equipment, and labor required for 
saw cutting, removals, subgrade preparation, and placement of the HMA patch. 
 
Items Nos. 33- 36 - Intake; SW-507, SW-509, Type B, Type D     
 As per Standard Specifications. 
 
An approved pre-cast base and walls may be used with a cast in-place top, insert, and fillet for the SW-
507, SW-509, Type B, and Type D. Pre-cast base and wall units shall conform to the dimensions and 
reinforcement details shown in the project plans. The Contractor is responsible for any additional 
reinforcement needed to prevent cracking during transportation and installation. The Contractor is 
responsible for verifying existing field conditions and dimensions before taking delivery of pre-cast base 
and wall units. 
 
Castings shall be “stamped” to produce raised lettering with “Dump No Waste – Drains To River” or 
any similar message assuring compliance.  

581

ITEM 29.



 

37 
 

 
Items Nos. 37 - 42 – Intake, Type C Top & Insert, Type E Top & Insert, Single Flat Insert., Double Flat 
Insert, Type B Insert, Type D Insert  
As per Standard Specifications. 
 
Castings shall be “stamped” to produce raised lettering with “Dump No Waste – Drains To River” or 
any similar message assuring compliance.  
 
Item No. 55 – Granular Backfill 
Granular Backfill material shall be natural sand meeting the requirements as per the Standard 
Specification Gradation No. 32. During storm sewer or sanitary sewer installation, granular backfill is to 
be utilized, as directed by the Engineer, when unsuitable backfill material is encountered under pavement 
areas.  The price bid per ton shall include removal and disposal of the unsuitable material displaced by the 
granular backfill. 
 
Item No. 59 - Field Tile; 4-Inch to 8-Inch, field repair 
Material for field tile and fittings shall be in accordance with Standard Specification for perforated 
corrugated polyethylene (PE) tubing and fittings. 
 
Item No. 60 – Mailboxes, Relocate & Reinstall (Per Post) 
The Contractor shall be responsible for the removal, relocation and reinstallation of all rural type 
mailboxes within the limits of the project. Relocation of mailboxes shall be measured and paid for on a 
per each post basis. The Contractor will notify the United States Postal Department before removing and 
relocating mailboxes in conflict with the work. The Contractor will relocate the mailboxes to a temporary 
location as directed by the Postmaster. The Contractor is to ensure no disruption in mail delivery during 
the contract period. The Contractor will protect mailboxes during the construction period. 
 
Item No. 61 - Traffic Control 
Traffic Control during construction shall meet the requirements of I.D.O.T. Specification Section 2528. 
 
Item No. 62 - Flaggers 
As per I.D.O.T. Specification Section 2528. 
 
Item No. 64 - Sprinkler Heads, Remove and Plug 
Where existing sprinkler systems are shown as on the plans or encountered within the construction area, it 
shall be the responsibility of the Contractor to notify the owners of the sprinkler system prior to the 
beginning of any construction. Sprinkler systems have been located from available information and 
therefore their locations must be considered approximate only. It is possible there may be others, the 
existence of which is presently not known or shown. It is the Contractor's responsibility to determine their 
existence and exact location and to avoid damage thereto. 
 
Sprinkler systems shown on the plans represent the best information available at the time of plan 
preparation. 
 
Sprinkler heads within four (4) feet of the existing curb shall be removed prior to the start of construction 
and the feed lines capped. The price bid for "Removal and Plugging of Sprinkler Heads" shall include all 
materials, labor, equipment, and any miscellaneous fittings and feed pipe necessary to complete the 
removal and plugging in conformance with plans and specifications. 
 
Items No. 65, 66 – Pavement Markings Painted; Pavement Markings Painted Symbols 
As per I.D.O.T. Specification Section 2527. 

582

ITEM 29.



 

38 
 

 
Item No. 72 – Type A Signs, Aluminum 
As per I.D.O.T. Specification Section 2524. 
 
Item No. 111 – Casting/Chimney Replacement P.C.C. Manholes in Pavement 
Chimney Liner Specifications: 
The chimney liner shall be constructed of Vylon Pipe, or its equivalent. The chimney liner must be made 
from polyvinyl chloride compounds which comply with the requirements for a minimum cell 
classification of 12364 as defined by ASTM D-1784. 
The chimney liner must also meet all the following physical requirements: 
Pipe Stiffness – minimum pipe stiffness shall be 46 psi when tested in accordance with ASTM D-2412. 
 
Impact Resistance – no visual cracking or splitting of the waterway wall shall be evidenced when tested 
in accordance with ASTM D-2444 with a 20lb. weight, tup B, flat plate holder B to a level of 220 ft. lbs. 
 
Fusion Quality – there shall be no sign of flaking or disintegration when immersed in anhydrous acetone 
for 20 minutes as described in ASTM D-2152. 
 
Air Tightness – each length of pipe shall pass a factory 3.5 psi air test as described in ASTM F-1803. 
 
Waterstop Specifications: The waterstop shall be constructed of Swellstop 3/8” x3/4” controlled 
expansion waterstop or equivalent. Swellstop is available from GREENSTREAK, 3400 Tree Court 
Industrial Blvd., St. Louis, MO. 63122. 
 
The waterstop must meet all of the following physical requirements: 
 
Specific Gravity – shall be 1.55 +/- 5% when tested in accordance with ASTM D-71. 
 
Volatile Matter – shall not exceed 1% when tested in accordance with ASTM D-6. 
Application Temperature – must be able applied from -10 degrees F to 125 degrees F as a minimum. 
 
Service Temperature – must be able to function properly in service from -30 degrees F to 180 degrees F 
as a minimum. 
 
Item No. 116 – Pipe Lining, 30” RCP Storm Sewer 
Traffic Control as per I.D.O.T. Specification Section 2528.12 shall be incidental to bid items.  The 
bypassing of storm water shall be incidental to the bid items.   The cleanup of the work site is incidental 
to the bid items including maintenance of surfaces such as paving, seeding, and gravel, as needed, if 
damaged. 
 
Resin-Impregnated Tube for Cured-In-Place Pipe (CIPP) Lining shall be used per SUDAS Section 4050 
2.05. 
 
Water-tight end seals are required.  Sealing is incidental to lining. The Contractor is responsible for using 
the following method to achieve a water-tight seal at both ends of the liner: 
 

1.  Install gasketed stainless steel bands (LMK or pre-approved equal) inside each end of the host 
pipe prior to lining.  This method shall be the only acceptable method for pipes 18” or larger in 
diameter, or those subject to hydrostatic pressure (ground water table) at any time of the year 

 

583

ITEM 29.



 

39 
 

 
The Contractor shall furnish a general purpose felt/ unsaturated polyester resin and catalyst system that 
meets ASTM Test Procedures D-638 and D-790 and the finished formed physical strengths specified 
herein.  The Formed liner shall conform to the minimum structural standards as listed below: 
 
Physical Characteristics Test Procedure Pipe Material Felt/ Resin 
Tensile Strength ASTM D-638 3,000 psi 
Tensile Modulus ASTM D-638 300,000 psi 
 
If the pipe liner fails to make at tight seal, the Contractor shall apply a seal at that point.  The seal shall be 
of a resin mixture compatible with the liner pipe material. 
 
After insertion is completed, the Contractor shall supply suitable heat source equipment.  The equipment 
shall be capable of delivering the appropriate heat source through the lining section to uniformily raise the 
temperature to effect forming of the cured-in-place liner.  This temperature shall be determined by the 
system employed. 
 
Any steam for processing shall utilize monitoring methods and forming period as recommended by the 
liner manufacturer.  If water is utilized, the water temperature in the line during the forming period shall 
be as recommended by the liner manufacturer. 
 
If the liner fails to form, the Contractor shall remover the failed liner and replace it with a new liner.  This 
work shall be performed without additional cost to Owner. 
 
Any defects which will affect in the foreseeable future or warranty period, the integrity or strength of the 
liner pipe shall be repaired at the Contractor’s expense.  Allowance shall be given for excess pipe (rib) 
when the cross-sectional area has been reduced due to offset joints, partial collapse, out of round sections, 
etc. 

584

ITEM 29.



ITEM UNIT TOTAL
NO. DESCRIPTION UNIT QUANTITY PRICE COST

1 REMOVAL OF PAVEMENT S.Y. 10564 $5.00 $50,180.00
2 REMOVAL OF A.C.C. SURFACING S.Y. 9029 $4.00 $34,320.00
3 REMOVAL OF A.C.C. SURFACING (MILLING) S.Y. 5648 $5.25 $28,170.00
4 REMOVAL OF P.C.C./A.C.C. SURFACE (TAPER MILLING) S.Y. 1988 $36.50 $68,950.00
5 REMOVAL OF CURB L.F. 2545 $10.50 $25,390.00
6 REMOVAL OF DRIVEWAY S.Y. 1628 $5.00 $7,740.00
7 REMOVAL OF SIDEWALK S.Y. 98 $8.50 $800.00
8 REMOVALS AS PER PLAN UNITS 71.75 $500.00 $34,090.00
9 SAW CUTTING FOR REMOVALS L.F. 3844 $6.00 $21,920.00
10 EXCAVATION, CLASS 10, ROADWAY, WASTE C.Y. 4040 $11.00 $42,220.00
11 EXCAVATION, CLASS 10, UNSTABLE MATERIAL C.Y. 404 $11.00 $4,220.00
12 EXCAVATION , CLASS 12, BOULDERS C.Y. 25 $30.00 $720.00
13 PAVEMENT, STAND. OR SLIP-FORM, P.C.C., 7 IN., CLASS "C" S.Y. 10564 $50.00 $501,790.00
14 HMA, (ST), SURF., 1/2", PG58-28S TON 3890 $120.00 $443,410.00
15 HMA, (ST), BASE, 3/4", PG58-28S TON 1448 $120.00 $165,020.00
16 CURB, PCC 7 IN. 2.5 FT WIDTH, TYPE "C" CLASS III L.F. 2240 $25.00 $53,200.00
17 CURB, PCC 7 IN. 3.5 FT WIDTH, TYPE "C" CLASS III L.F. 43 $33.00 $1,350.00
18 CURB, PCC 8 IN. 5.0 FT WIDTH, TYPE "C" CLASS III L.F. 305 $35.00 $10,150.00
19 COMPACTION OF SUBGRADE STA. 26 $300.00 $7,360.00
20 GEOGRID S.Y. 10309 $3.50 $34,280.00
21 MODIFIED SUBBASE, 12 IN. S.Y. 13448 $14.00 $178,870.00
22 SURFACING, 1-INCH ROADSTONE TONS 30 $30.00 $860.00
23 TOPSOIL, FURNISH & SPREAD C.Y. 922 $25.00 $21,900.00
24 SOD, PROVIDE AND PLACE S.F. 47300 $0.75 $33,710.00
25 HYDRAULIC SEEDING S.F. 1000 $0.60 $570.00
26 WATERING SOD M-GAL 60 $200.00 $11,400.00
27 DRIVEWAY, P.C.C., 6 IN., CLASS "C" S.Y. 1552 $50.00 $73,740.00
28 SIDEWALK, P.C.C., 4 IN., CLASS "C" S.Y. 574 $45.00 $24,530.00
29 SIDEWALK, P.C.C., 6 IN., CLASS "C" S.Y. 88 $60.00 $5,040.00
30 PEDESTRIAN RAMPS, DETECTABLE WARNING S.F. 38 $50.00 $1,810.00
31 PATCH, P.C.C., FULL DEPTH, "M" MIX S.Y. 50 $300.00 $14,250.00
32 PATCH, HMA (ST) SURFACE, 1/2", PG58-28S TONS 50 $200.00 $9,500.00
33 INTAKE, SW-507 EACH 2 $5,600.00 $10,640.00
34 INTAKE, SW-509 EACH 1 $6,000.00 $5,700.00
35 INTAKE, TYPE B EACH 2 $4,500.00 $8,550.00
36 INTAKE, TYPE D EACH 18 $5,500.00 $94,050.00
37 INTAKE, TYPE C TOP & INSERT EACH 4 $2,000.00 $7,600.00
38 INTAKE, TYPE E TOP & INSERT EACH 1 $6,000.00 $5,700.00
39 INTAKE, SINGLE FLAT INSERT EACH 1 $1,500.00 $1,430.00
40 INTAKE, DOUBLE FLAT INSERT EACH 1 $2,500.00 $2,380.00
41 INTAKE, TYPE B INSERT EACH 4 $2,000.00 $7,600.00
42 INTAKE, TYPE D INSERT EACH 1 $3,000.00 $2,850.00
43 MANHOLE, ADJUSTMENT, MINOR EACH 16 $1,000.00 $15,200.00
44 MANHOLE, STORM SEWER, SW-401 EACH 2 $4,250.00 $8,080.00
45 MANHOLE, SANITARY SEWER, SW-301 EACH 4 $6,000.00 $22,800.00
46 SEWER, STORM, 15 IN. HDPE L.F. 2190 $55.00 $114,430.00
47 SEWER, STORM, 15 IN. RCP, 2000D L.F. 84 $58.00 $4,630.00
48 SEWER, STORM, 18 IN. HDPE L.F. 406 $60.00 $23,150.00
49 SEWER, STORM, 18 IN. R.C.P. 2000D L.F. 32 $65.00 $1,980.00
50 SEWER, STORM, 24 IN. HDPE  L.F. 652 $70.00 $43,360.00
51 SEWER, STORM, 24 IN. R.C.P. 2000D L.F. 58 $100.00 $5,510.00
52 SEWER, STORM, 30 IN. HDPE  L.F. 10 $100.00 $950.00
53 GRANULAR SHOULDERING, TYPE A TONS 942 $35.00 $31,330.00
54 SPECIAL PIPE CONNECTIONS, SW-211 EACH 2 $700.00 $1,330.00
55 GRANULAR BACKFILL TONS 1600 $25.00 $38,000.00
56 SUBDRAIN, PERFORATED, 6 IN. L.F. 6119 $12.00 $69,760.00
57 SUBDRAIN, OUTLET, 6 IN. C.M.P. EACH 23 $400.00 $8,740.00
58 SUBDRAIN, SUMP PUMP TAP EACH 81 $400.00 $30,780.00
59 FIELD TILE, 4 IN. TO 8 IN., FIELD REPAIR L.F. 30 $25.00 $720.00
60 MAILBOXES, RELOCATE & REINSTALL (PER POST) EACH 28 $500.00 $13,300.00
61 TRAFFIC CONTROL L.S. 1 $125,000.00 $118,750.00
62 FLAGGERS DAYS 10 $1,000.00 $9,500.00
63 VALVE ADJUSTMENT EACH 10 $300.00 $2,850.00
64 SPRINKLER HEADS, REMOVE & PLUG EACH 5 $150.00 $720.00
65 PAVEMENT MARKINGS, PAINTED STA. 199 $40.00 $7,550.00
66 PAVEMENT MARKINGS, PAINTED SYMBOLS EACH 5 $75.00 $360.00
67 INTAKE WELL, SEDIMENT FILTER EACH 21 $250.00 $4,990.00
68 INTAKE, SEDIMENT FILTER L.F. 396 $15.00 $5,650.00
69 CLEANING OF SEDIMENT FILTER BASINS EACH 21 $200.00 $3,990.00
70 SIGN POST, SQUARE TUBING 14 GAUGE 2" GALVANIZED EACH 15 $175.00 $2,500.00
71 RECEIVER, SIGN POST, SQUARE TUBING 12 GAUGE 2 1/4" GALVANIZED EACH 15 $40.00 $570.00
72 TYPE A SIGNS, ALUMINUM EACH 15 $125.00 $1,790.00
73 STREET SWEEPING HRS. 31 $200.00 $5,890.00
74 BASE, CLEANING AND PREPARATION S.Y. 31842 $1.25 $37,820.00
75 SEWER, SANITARY, 12" TRUSS PIPE L.F. 1254 $70.00 $83,400.00
76 SEWER SERVICES SANITARY, 4" SDR 23.5 L.F. 440 $100.00 $41,800.00
77 PIPE, 4" SJ DIP (POLYETHYLENE WRAPPED) L.F. 40 $60.00 $2,280.00
78 PIPE, 6" SJ DIP (POLYETHYLENE WRAPPED) L.F. 20 $65.00 $1,240.00
79 PIPE 8" SJ DIP (POLYETHYLENE WRAPPED) L.F. 2280 $70.00 $151,620.00
80 BEND, 4" MJ 90° EACH 6 $250.00 $1,430.00
81 BEND, 6" MJ 90° EACH 4 $300.00 $1,140.00
82 BEND, 8" MJ 90° EACH 2 $350.00 $670.00
83 TEE, 8" X 6" MJ EACH 2 $500.00 $950.00
84 TEE, 8" X 8" MJ EACH 1 $525.00 $500.00
85 TEE, 6" X 6" MJ X SW EACH 1 $550.00 $530.00
86 TEE, 8" X 6" MJ X SW EACH 6 $450.00 $2,570.00
87 CROSS, 6" X 6" MJ X MJ  EACH 1 $500.00 $480.00
88 CROSS, 8" X 8" MJ X MJ EACH 1 $550.00 $530.00
89 REDUCER, 6" X 4" MJ X PE EACH 1 $375.00 $360.00
90 REDUCER, 8" X 4" MJ X PE EACH 3 $425.00 $1,220.00
91 REDUCER, 8" X 6" MJ X PE EACH 1 $425.00 $410.00
92 SLEEVE, 4" X 12" SOLID EACH 1 $325.00 $310.00
93 SLEEVE, 6" X 12" SOLID EACH 1 $350.00 $340.00
94 SLEEVE, 8" X 12" SOLID EACH 1 $425.00 $410.00
95 VALVE , 6" MJ GATE W/ BOX EACH 1 $2,000.00 $1,900.00
96 VALVE, 8" MJ GATE W/ BOX EACH 7 $2,200.00 $14,630.00
97 CAP, 4" MJ EACH 4 $175.00 $670.00
98 CAP, 6" MJ EACH 3 $200.00 $570.00
99 HYDRANT ASSEMBLY EACH 7 $5,200.00 $34,580.00
100 REMOVE HYDRANT ASSEMBLY EACH 5 $1,400.00 $6,650.00
101 MECHANICAL JOINT RESTRAINT, 4" EACH 15 $150.00 $2,140.00
102 MECHANICAL JOINT RESTRAINT, 6" EACH 11 $200.00 $2,090.00
103 MECHANICAL JOINT RESTRAINT, 8" EACH 24 $225.00 $5,130.00
104 JOINT RESTRAINT GASKET, 4" EACH 1 $200.00 $190.00
105 JOINT RESTRAINT GASKET, 6" EACH 4 $225.00 $860.00
106 JOINT RESTRAINT GASKET, 8" EACH 19 $275.00 $4,970.00
107 SERVICE SHORTSIDE, 3/4" EACH 21 $1,750.00 $34,920.00
108 SERVICE, LONGSIDE, 3/4" EACH 20 $2,000.00 $38,000.00
109 6" NITRILE GASKETS EACH 3 $150.00 $430.00
110 8" NITRILE GASKETS EACH 68 $175.00 $11,310.00
111 CASTING/CHIMNEY REPLACEMENT PCC MANHOLE IN PAVEMENT EACH 12 $3,500.00 $39,900.00
112 FOAMED ASPHALT BINDER 52-34S TON 78 $550.00 $40,760.00
113 COLD-IN-PLACE RECYCLED ASPHALT PAVEMENT, 5" S.Y. 14134 $5.00 $67,140.00
114 APRON, CONCRETE 30" (TYPE 2) EACH 2 $1,800.00 $3,420.00
115 REVETMENT STONE, CLASS "E" TONS 20 $50.00 $950.00
116 PIPE LINING, 30" RCP STORM SEWER L.S. 1 $10,000.00 $9,500.00
117 3000 LB, PCC MIX C.Y. 15 $180.00 $2,480.00
118 MOBILIZATION L.S. 1 $166,000.00 $166,000.00

$2,962,390.00
$187,900.00
$326,030.00

$3,476,320.00

FEBRUARY 10, 2020

2020 STREET CONSTRUCTION PROJECT
P.C.C. PAVING / SUBDRAINAGE

CITY PROJECT NO. RC - 000 - 3185
FINAL ESTIMATE OF COSTS AND QUANTITIES

TOTAL STREET RECONSTRUCTION
TOTAL SANITARY WORK

TOTAL WATER MAIN REPLACEMENT

TOTAL PROJECT ESTIMATE
585

ITEM 29.



586

ITEM 30.



587

ITEM 30.



588

ITEM 30.



589

ITEM 30.



590

ITEM 30.



591

ITEM 30.



592

ITEM 30.



593

ITEM 30.



594

ITEM 30.



595

ITEM 30.



596

ITEM 30.



597

ITEM 30.



598

ITEM 30.



599

ITEM 30.



600

ITEM 30.



601

ITEM 30.



602

ITEM 30.



603

ITEM 30.



604

ITEM 30.



605

ITEM 30.



606

ITEM 30.



607

ITEM 30.



608

ITEM 30.



609

ITEM 30.



610

ITEM 30.



611

ITEM 30.



612

ITEM 30.



613

ITEM 30.



614

ITEM 30.



615

ITEM 30.



616

ITEM 30.



617

ITEM 30.



618

ITEM 30.



619

ITEM 30.



620

ITEM 30.



621

ITEM 30.



622

ITEM 30.



623

ITEM 30.



624

ITEM 30.



625

ITEM 30.



626

ITEM 30.



627

ITEM 30.



628

ITEM 30.



629

ITEM 30.



630

ITEM 30.



631

ITEM 30.



632

ITEM 30.



633

ITEM 30.



634

ITEM 30.



635

ITEM 30.



636

ITEM 30.



637

ITEM 30.



638

ITEM 30.



639

ITEM 30.



640

ITEM 30.



641

ITEM 30.



642

ITEM 30.



643

ITEM 30.



644

ITEM 30.



645

ITEM 30.



646

ITEM 30.



647

ITEM 30.



648

ITEM 30.



649

ITEM 30.



650

ITEM 30.



651

ITEM 30.



652

ITEM 30.



653

ITEM 30.



654

ITEM 30.



655

ITEM 30.



656

ITEM 30.



657

ITEM 30.



658

ITEM 30.



659

ITEM 30.



660

ITEM 30.



661

ITEM 30.



662

ITEM 30.



663

ITEM 30.



664

ITEM 30.



665

ITEM 30.


	Top
	1. Regular meeting of February 3, 2020
	200203MINUTES

	2. PH-FY21 Budget
	6-budget hearing council #2.mem
	7-FY21 state form

	3. Res-FY2021 Budget
	4. PH-12th Street Reconstruction
	1. PH - 12th Street Reconstruction
	2. Cost Estimate_2020-01-28_12thSt_FINAL

	5. Res-12th Street Reconstruction
	6. Proclamation - 19th Amendment Centennial Kick-Off Day
	19thAmendmentProc

	7. Proclamation - Community Main Street Volunteer Appreciation Day
	CommunityMainStreetVolunteerDayProc

	8. Committee of the Whole Minutes 2/3/2020
	Comm of the Whole02 03 2020

	9. Council Work Session 2/3/2020
	Comm of the Whole (Special) 02 03 2020 

	10. Admin Committee minutes of 2/5/20
	Minutes-Admin Committee (Grievance Hearing) 02.05.20

	11. Petition for Special Election
	01.29.20-Petition Requesting Special Election

	12. P&CS Annual Report for Boards and Commissions
	2019 P&amp;CS Boards and Commissions Annual Report.final

	13. Liquor Licenses - 2/17/20
	Liquor Beer 2-17-20

	14. Res-Calling for Special Election
	memocc-special election
	Res-Call for Special Election after Petition

	15. FY21 Goals
	1-goal cover council.mem
	2-FY21 CC Goals Final

	16. 1704 Parker Street Assessment
	Supporting docs-CC

	17. 804 Seerley Blvd Assessment
	Supporting docs-CC

	18. Consolidated Dispatch 28E
	Dispatch 28E Council Memo
	Dispatch 28E

	19. Occupancy-Prairie Winds 4th Addition
	Council-Occupancy permit request 2-11-20 FINAL (2)

	20. 2nd St. East Lot
	Council memo 2-12-20
	Real Estate Offer

	21. W. 1st Street-Relocation Claim
	1.council memo on w 1st street
	2.2320_001

	22. MRA - Cedar Falls Gospel Hall
	1. Memo MRA Cedar Falls Gospel Hall
	2. MRA - Cedar Falls Gospel Hall

	23. Contracts - Downtown Streetscape and Reconstruction
	1. Downtown Streetscape and Reconstruction Memo
	2. Form of Contract
	3. Payment, Performance, and Maintenance Bond
	4. Insurance
	5. Form of Proposal

	24. PSA - Terracon Consultants Tier 1 Report
	1. Memo - Terracon Tank Report
	2. PSA - Terracon Tank Report
	3. Exhibit A - Scope
	4. Exhibit B - Insurance Req
	5. Exhibit C - Contract

	25. SA#1 - Terracon Testing Services
	1. Memo_jpf_2020.02.12
	2. PSA - SA No. 1 Terracon
	3. City of Cedar Falls Supplemental Proposal

	26. PSA-Foth-2020 Bridge Inspection
	1. Memo - Foth PSA 2020 Bridge Inspection
	2. PSA-2020 Bridge Inspection_signed

	27. PSA-Foth-W. 27th Street Corridor Study
	1. Memo - Foth PSA W. 27th St Corridor Study
	2. PSA-W 27th St Corridor Study with Exhibits
	3. Foth - Insurance Certificates

	28. Set Public Hearing - PSE - 2020 Permeable Alley Project
	1. PS&amp;E Memo - 2020 Permeable Alley
	2. 2020 PERMEABLE ALLEY PROJECT FINAL PLANS
	3. PM-2020 Permeable Alley_2020.02.12
	4. EOPC_2020.02.12_Permeable Alley_Final

	29. Set Public Hearing - PSE - 2020 Street Construction
	1. PS&amp;E Memo - 2020 Street Construction
	2. 2020 STREET CONSTRUCTION FINAL PLANS_compressed
	3. PM-2020 Street Construction_2020.2.12
	4. EOPC_2020.02.12_Street_Const_Final

	30. Allow Bills and Payroll of February 17, 2020
	1 Daily Invoices 021720
	2 Council invoices 021720

	Bottom

